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While we strived to ensure information in this publication is fairly presented and up to date at the time of 
printing, users of this publication must take cognizance that MFRSs and their interpretations change over 
time. This publication also does not show all possible accounting and disclosure requirements of the 
MFRSs. Therefore, this publication should not be relied upon to identify all disclosures and changes that 
an entity may need to make as a result of the new or amendments to MFRSs and IC Interpretations nor be 
considered to be the only acceptable form of presentation for a set of financial statements. Accordingly, 
this Illustrative Directors’ Report and Financial Statements should not be used as a substitute for reading 
the standards and interpretation themselves or for professional judgement as to fairness in presentation. 
Readers should not act upon it without seeking professional advice relevant to a particular situation.

No representation or warranty, express or implied, is made with respect to, and no reliance should be 
placed on, the accuracy, completeness or fairness of the information set out in this publication. Neither 
Baker Tilly Malaysia, its partners nor its staff shall have any liability whatsoever for any loss arising from 
any use or otherwise in connection with this publication. Furthermore, we accept no duty or responsibility 
and deny any liability to the users of this publication, whether or not this publication influences any of your 
decisions. This is in itself not an opinion document.
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Scope

This Illustrative Directors’ Report and Financial Statements is based on a company not in existence, Flying Colours 
Berhad, incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia, and listed on the Main Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad 
with financial year ended 31 December 2022.

The names of people and entities included in this publication are not real. Any resemblance to any person or entity is 
purely coincidental.

In preparing this publication, we have strived to create a realistic set of financial statements for a corporate entity 
whose activities include property development, agriculture, service concession, manufacturing and investment 
holding. In the effort to present a wide variety of scenarios, many assumptions on the figures are made, some of these 
figures are not designed to reconcile with other figures that appear in this publication and in certain cases, no figures 
are presented in the disclosures.

The disclosures contained herein are made based on a hypothetical group of companies and certain assumptions 
have been made about the applicability of the MFRSs. The disclosures are not meant to be exhaustive. Readers 
should refer to the relevant standards and regulations for specific disclosure requirements.

Flying Colours Berhad has adopted all MFRSs that are effective as at 1 January 2022. 

This publication is for the circulation to the staff, clients and associates of Baker Tilly Malaysia at their request and is 
not for public circulation.

Purpose

This publication serves to provide practical illustration and guide on the presentation and disclosure requirements of 
MFRSs and Companies Act 2016 in the financial statements of a group of companies.

Commentary

Throughout this publication, commentary is provided where additional matters may need to be considered in relation 
to a particular disclosure. The commentary is provided in grey boxes towards the end of each note/page.

Alternative accounting policies

Certain MFRSs allow a choice between two different accounting treatments for the same transaction and event. In 
such circumstances, an organisation must exercise professional judgement and care, and decide on the appropriate 
accounting treatment to be applied based on the entity’s specific circumstances.

Contact us

This publication is prepared as a general guidance only and therefore should not be relied upon as a substitute for 
seeking professional advice concerning the appropriate accounting treatments or ensuring compliance with the 
MFRSs. Users are encouraged to consult Baker Tilly Malaysia when in doubt. A list of the Baker Tilly offices in Malaysia 
is provided on the back page of this publication.
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The following abbreviations are used in this publication for the purpose of referencing: 

AAPG 1  Audit and Assurance Practice Guides 1 issued by the Malaysian Institute of 
  Accountants

App  Appendix

BC  Basis for Conclusions

Commentary The commentary explains how the requirements affect the illustrative   
  disclosure

FRSIC  Financial Reporting Standards Implementation Committee

IASB  International Accounting Standards Board

IC  Interpretation Committee

IE  Illustrative Examples

IFRS  International Financial Reporting Standards

MASB  Malaysian Accounting Standards Board, or accounting standards issued by  
  the Malaysian Accounting Standards Board, depending on the context

MFRS  Malaysian Financial Reporting Standard issued by the MASB

S2  Section 2 of the Companies Act 2016

S8  Section 8 of the Companies Act 2016

S59  Section 59 of the Companies Act 2016

S127  Section 127 of the Companies Act 2016

S251  Section 251 of the Companies Act 2016

S252  Section 252 of the Companies Act 2016

S253  Section 253 of the Companies Act 2016

ISA  International Standard on Auditing

5Sch  Fifth Schedule of the Companies Act 2016

II



Since mid-2022, the economy has slowly been steaming away and 
companies are now looking optimistically at growth and growth 
opportunities, leveraging from the lessons learnt and technologies 
adopted over the last two years.  Essentially, companies are now stronger 
and better positioned to face the challenges ahead.

For accountants, the good news is that there have been no major 
amendments to the accounting standards this year, giving us a 
much-needed breather from having to keep up with the myriad of changes 
in recent years.  Accountants can therefore focus their efforts on helping 
their companies grow in spite of the looming recession.

At Baker Tilly, we continue to play our part in shaping the accountancy 
profession through the sharing of our knowledge via our Illustrative 
Directors’ Report and Financial Statements.  As there have been no major 
amendments to the accounting standards in year 2022, this 7th edition of 
our Illustrative Directors' Report and Financial Statements, “Flying Colours 
Berhad”, sees the Quality Assurance and Technical team fine-tuning the 
examples provided therein, as well as minor updates based on the 
Malaysian Institute of Accountants latest guidelines.

As we continue to share our knowledge through the Illustrative Directors' 
Report and Financial Statements, we hope that it will continue to bring 
about consistency and improve the overall quality of financial statements.

Message from the
Group Managing Partner

Andrew Heng
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Year 2022 saw a break from the constant major changes to the accounting 
standards.  This little breather means that the preparers of financial 
statements have had a bit more time to digest and consolidate their 
understanding of all the changes over the last few years.  This is important 
to ensure that accountants have time to familiarise themselves with the 
changes to the accounting standards.

Even though there have been no major changes, our Quality Assurance and 
Technical (QAT) team has kept the momentum and continued to ensure 
that our Illustrative Directors' Report and Financial Statements, “Flying 
Colours Berhad”, is kept comprehensive, up-to-date and fine-tuned, as 
many preparers of financial statements have found the Illustrative 
Directors' Report and Financial Statements a very useful.

As with our previous editions, this 7th edition of “Flying Colours Berhad” 
also provides, among others, useful illustrations and examples on the 
various disclosures required by the accounting standards.  We hope that 
you will continue to find this Illustrative Directors’ Report and Financial 
Statements useful and informative.

Message from the
Managing Partner for Audit & Assurance

Dato’ Lock Peng Kuan
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The Quality Assurance and Technical team of Baker Tilly Malaysia is 
pleased to present the 7th edition of Flying Colours Berhad, our Illustrative 
Directors’ Report and Financial Statements prepared in accordance with 
the Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards (MFRS).

As with our previous editions, significant amount of time and effort has 
been invested in the development of our 7th edition of Flying Colours 
Berhad.

While there has been no major changes to the accounting standards in 
year 2022, we have kept the momentum going and taken time to fine-tune 
the Illustrative Directors‘ Report and Financial Statements to ensure that it 
continues to be up-to-date year-on-year.  

As proponents that the quality of the financial statements creates value 
through enhanced comparability and transparency, we continue to be 
committed in providing guidance and assistance in matters relating to the 
interpretation and application of the relevant accounting standards. We 
believe that this helps build stakeholder confidence that translates into 
higher reputation and trust.  Although it is not possible to envisage every 
possible event and circumstances, or to provide illustrations for all 
scenarios that apply to regulated or specialised industries, we hope that 
this Illustrative Directors’ Report and Financial Statements will still be an 
informative guide for organisations in the preparation of the financial 
statements generally.

Message from the
Partner of Quality Assurance and Technical

Esther Cheah
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
 
The directors hereby submit their report together with the audited financial statements of the Group and 
of the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2022. 
 
 
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES  
 
The principal activities of the Company are investment holding, property development and provision of 
construction services. The principal activities of its subsidiaries include property development, provision 
of construction services, oil palm cultivation and processing of crude palm oil and palm kernel, milling 
of crude palm oil and palm kernel, small equipment leasing, production of plastic mould products, fast 
food business and operation of power plant.  
 
There have been no significant changes in the nature of these activities during the financial year except 
for the two service concession arrangements entered, one is with the State Government of Penang in 
Malaysia to construct and operate the convention center and the other is with the State Government of 
Shenzhen in China to build and operate a power plant to supply electricity to consumers in a 
designated area. 
 
 
RESULTS 
 

Group Company
RM'000 RM'000

Profit/(loss) for the financial year, net of tax
- Continuing operations 133,900        43,700          
- Discontinued operation (2,800)           -                   

131,100        43,700          

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company 118,200        43,700          
Non-controlling interests 12,900          -                   

131,100        43,700           
 
 
DIVIDENDS  
 
The amount of dividend declared and paid by the Company since the end of the previous financial year 
were as follows: 
 

RM'000
Single tier final dividend of 5.26 sen per ordinary share
   in respect of the financial year ended 
   31 December 2021, paid on 20 April 2022 10,000          

Single tier interim dividend of 3.45 sen per ordinary 
   share in respect of the financial year ended 
   31 December 2022, paid on 18 June 2022 10,000           
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110.12 

S127(8) 
101.137(a) 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

5Sch(I)(1)(b) 

 
 
 
 
 

5Sch(I)(1)(g)
 

 
 
 
 

5Sch(I)(1)(h)
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

5Sch(I)(1)(i)
 

 
 
 
 

5Sch(I)(1)(j)(i)
 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
DIVIDENDS (CONTINUED)  
 
At the  forthcoming  Annual  General  Meeting , a single tier final dividend  of 5.17 sen  per  ordinary  share , 
amounting to RM15,000,000 in respect of the current financial year , based on the number  of outstanding 
ordinary  shares  in issue  (net  of  treasury  shares ) as at 31 December  2022 , will be proposed  for the 
shareholders ’ approval . The financial statements for the current financial year do not reflect this proposed 
dividend .  Such  dividend ,  if  approved  by  the  shareholders ,  will  be  accounted  for  in  equity  as  an  appropriation

 of  retained  earnings  in  the  financial  year  ending  31  December  2023.  
 
 
RESERVES OR PROVISIONS  
 

 
 
 

BAD AND DOUBTFUL DEBTS
 

 

Before the financial statements of the Group and of the Company were prepared , the directors took 
reasonable steps to ascertain that action had been taken in relation to the writing  off  of  bad  debts  and  the

 making  of  allowance  for  doubtful  debts  and  had  satisfied  themselves  that  all  known  bad  debts  had  been
 written  off  and  that  adequate  allowance  had  been  made  for  doubtful  debts.

 
 

At the  date  of  this  report ,  the  directors  are  not  aware  of  any  circumstances  which  would  render  the  amount
 written  off  for  bad  debts  or  the  amount  of  allowance  for  doubtful  debts  in  the  financial  statements  of

 
the

 
Group

 and  of  the  Company  inadequate  to  any  substantial  extent.
 

 
 

CURRENT ASSETS
 

 

Before the financial statements of the Group and of the Company were prepared , the directors took 
reasonable steps  to  ensure  that  any  current  assets  which  were  unlikely  to  be  realised  in  the  ordinary  course

 
of

 business  including  their  values  as  shown  in  the  accounting  records  of  the  Group  and  of  the  Company
 

had
 been  written  down  to  an  amount  which  they  might  be  expected  so  to  realise.

 
 

At the date of this report , the directors are not aware of any circumstances which would render the  values 
attributed to the  current  assets  in  the  financial  statements  of  the  Group  and  of  the  Company  misleading.

 
 
 
 
 

Commentary: 
 
 If dividend has not been paid or recommended, the illustrative disclosures are as follows: 

 
No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company since the end of the previous financial year. 
 
The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividends in respect of the financial year ended 
31 December 2022. 

  
 

1 

1 

2

                   
                                                                                                                                             

[Disclosure of amounts and particulars of any material transfers to or from reserves or provisions.]
 

There were no material transfers to or from reserves or provisions during the financial year other than a shown
below.
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5Sch(I)(1)(m) 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
VALUATION METHODS 
 
At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances which have arisen which 
render adherence to the existing method of valuation of assets or liabilities of the Group and of the 
Company misleading or inappropriate. 
 
 
CONTINGENT AND OTHER LIABILITIES  
 
At the date of this report, there does not exist: 
 
(i) any charge on the assets of the Group or of the Company which has arisen since the end of the 

financial year which secures the liabilities of any other person; and 
 
(ii) any contingent liabilities in respect of the Group or of the Company which has arisen since the end 

of the financial year. 
 
In the opinion of the directors, no contingent or other liability of the Group or of the Company has become 
enforceable, or is likely to become enforceable, within the period of twelve months after the end of the 
financial year which will or may affect the ability of the Group or of the Company to meet their obligations 
as and when they fall due.  
 
 
CHANGE OF CIRCUMSTANCES 
 
At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances not otherwise dealt with in 
this report or the financial statements of the Group and of the Company which would render any amount 
stated in the financial statements misleading. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Commentary: 
 
 In cases where the Group or the Company has material uncertainty on going concern, the 

illustrative disclosure is as follows: 
 

 

 

 
  

 

1 

1 

3

1

In the opinion of the directors, other than as described below, no contingent or other liability of 
the Group  or  of  the  Company  has  become  enforceable,  or  is  likely  to  become  enforceable,  within

 the  period  of  twelve  months  after  the  end  of  the  financial  year  which  will  or  may  affect  the
 

ability
 

of
 the  Group  or  of  the  Company  to  meet  their  obligations  as  and  when  they  fall  due.

[Description of material uncertainty on going concern]



  
 

 
 

 
 

Reference  

  

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
5Sch(I)(1)(n) 

 
 
5Sch(I)(1)(o) 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

5Sch(I)(10) 

 

 

5Sch(I)(2)(d) 

 
 

 
5Sch(I)(1)(c) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5Sch(I)(1)(p) 

 

 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
ITEMS OF MATERIAL AND UNUSUAL NATURE  
 
In the opinion of the directors,  
 
(i) the results of the operations of the Group and of the Company for the financial year were not 

substantially affected by any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature; and  
 
(ii) no item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature has arisen in the interval between the 

end of the financial year and the date of this report which is likely to affect substantially the results 
of the operations of the Group and of the Company for the financial year in which this report is 
made. 

 
 
AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION 
 
The auditors’ remuneration of the Group and the Company during the financial year were RM 438,000 
and RM 150,000 respectively.  
 
The Company has agreed to indemnify the auditors of the Company as permitted under Section 289 of 
the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia.  
 
 
ISSUE OF SHARES AND DEBENTURES  
 
During the financial year, the Company: 
 
(i) issued 25,000,000 new ordinary shares at a price of RM2 per ordinary share as partial discharge of 

the purchase consideration for the acquisition of the 80% equity interest in PT Halia Palm Oil 
pursuant to a share sale agreement dated 20 January 2022; and   

 
(ii) issued 75,000,000 new ordinary shares at a price of RM2 per ordinary share for working capital 

purposes.  
 
The new ordinary shares issued during the financial year rank pari passu in all respects with the 
existing ordinary shares of the Company. 
 
During the financial year, the Company issued 100,000,000 units of convertible bonds at a price of 
RM1.05 per unit. Each bond is convertible at any time up to maturity into 10,000,000 ordinary shares at 
the conversion price of RM2 each, which is at a rate of one ordinary share for every ten convertible 
bonds held. Unconverted bonds shall become repayable on demand. The bonds mature ten years from 
the issue date and carry a coupon interest rate of 6.5% payable on 31 December each year.  
 
 
 
 
Commentary: 
 
 Pursuant to 5Sch(I)(1)(p) of the Companies Act 2016, the directors’ report shall disclose any other 

details as determined by the Registrar. 
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Reference 

 DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)
 
Commentary (continued): 
 
 Pursuant to 5Sch(I)(1)(n) of the Companies Act 2016, the directors’ report shall state whether the 

results of the Company’s operations during the financial year were, in the opinion of the directors, 
substantially affected by any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature and, if so, 
giving particulars of that item, transaction or event and the amount or the effect of the item, 
transaction or event, if known or reasonably ascertainable. 
 
In cases where there were items, transactions or events of material and unusual nature that 
affect the results of the Group’s or of the Company’s operation (e.g. material impairment 
losses or one-off transactions/events), entities shall disclose the particulars of that item, 
transaction or event and the amount or the effect of the item, transaction or event, if known 
or reasonably ascertainable as illustrated below: 
 
Other than the impairment loss on trade and other receivables of RM XXX, in the opinion of the 
directors… 

  
 Pursuant to 5Sch(I)(10) of the Companies Act 2016, the directors’ report shall disclose the total 

amount paid to or receivable by the auditors as remuneration for their services as auditors, inclusive 
of all fees, percentages or other payments or consideration given by or from the Company or by or 
from any subsidiary of the Company. The auditors' remuneration includes audit and non-audit 
service fees. 

  
 Pursuant to 5Sch(I)(2)(d) of the Companies Act 2016, the directors’ report shall disclose the total 

amount of any indemnity given to or insurance effected for auditors of the Company. 
  
 In cases where no shares or debentures are issued, the illustrative disclosure is as follows: 

 
During the financial year, no new issue of shares or debentures were made by the Company. 

  
 “Debenture” includes debenture stock, bonds, sukuk, notes and any other securities of a 

corporation whether constituting a charge on the assets of the corporation or not. 
  
 Illustrative disclosure where the issue price is different with the fair value of shares issued 

at the date of acquisition. 
 

During the financial year, the Company issued 25,000,000 new ordinary shares at a price of RM2 
per ordinary share as partial discharge of the purchase consideration for the acquisition of the 80% 
equity interest in PT Halia Palm Oil pursuant to a share sale agreement dated 20 January 2022. 
For the purpose of accounting for the shares consideration, the fair value of RM2.20 per ordinary 
share as at the date of completion was recorded instead of issue price of RM2 per ordinary share. 

  
 
 
TREASURY SHARES 
 
Treasury shares relate to ordinary shares of the Company that are repurchased and held by the 
Company in accordance with the requirement of Section 127 of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia.  
 
There was no repurchase of the Company's issued ordinary shares, nor any resale, cancellation or 
distribution of treasury shares during the financial year.  
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 DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)
 
TREASURY SHARES (CONTINUED) 
 
As at 31 December 2022, the Company held 10,000,000 treasury shares out of its 300,000,000 issued 
and paid-up ordinary shares. Such treasury shares are held at a carrying amount of RM20,000,000.  
 
 
OPTIONS GRANTED OVER UNISSUED SHARES 
 
No options were granted to any person to take up the unissued shares of the Company during the 
financial year other than the issue of options pursuant to the Employee’s Share Option Scheme 
(“ESOS”). 
 
At an Extraordinary General Meeting held on 26 March 2019, the Company’s shareholders approved 
the establishment of an ESOS for directors who have rendered services of three years and above.  
 
The share options granted are vesting immediately and settlement is by issuance of fully paid ordinary 
shares. The exercise price in each grant is set 10% below the weighted average of the market prices of 
the Company’s ordinary shares in the last five trading days before the grant date. Option may be 
exercised any time from the date of vesting to the date of expiry. 
 
The options offered for the subscription of unissued ordinary shares and the respective exercise prices 
are as follows: 
 

At At 
Exercise 1 January 31 December

Grant date Expiry date price 2022 Granted Exercised 2022

30 June 2021 29 June 2026 RM1.75 5,000,000   - - 5,000,000     
31 October 2021 30 October 2026 RM1.85 5,000,000   - - 5,000,000     

10,000,000 - - 10,000,000   

Number of option over ordinary shares 

 
 
 
DIRECTORS 
 
The directors in office during the financial year and during the period from the end of the financial year 
to the date of this report are: 
 
Hashid Alim bin Samad*  
Lo Chun Yin  
Wong Kah Him*  
Ong Kai Jung (Appointed on 4 September 2022) 
Mohammad Ali bin Akbar (Resigned on 1 December 2022) 
 
* Directors of the Company and certain subsidiaries 
 
Other than as stated above, the names of the directors of the subsidiaries of the Company in office 
during the financial year and during the period from the end of the financial year to the date of this 
report are: 
 
Ang Swee Hooi  
Chen Hua Ting  
Ali Bin Hushin  
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS 
 
According to the Register of Directors' Shareholdings required to be kept by the Company under Section 
59 of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia, the interests of directors in office at the end of the financial 
year in shares in the Company and its related corporations during the financial year were as follows: 
 
Interests in the Company 
 

At At 
1 January 31 December

2022 Bought Sold 2022
Direct interests:

Hashid Alim bin Samad 50,000,000 10,000                  -   50,010,000

Indirect interests:
Hashid Alim bin Samad 15,000,000 (1) 10,000                  -   15,010,000 (1)

Lo Chun Yin 1,000,000 (2)                  -                    -   1,000,000 (2)

(1) Shares held through company in which the director has substantial financial interests.
(2) Shares held through spouse and/or children.

Number of ordinary shares

 
 
By virtue of his interests in the ordinary shares of the Company and pursuant to Section 8 of the 
Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia, Hashid Alim bin Samad is deemed to have an interest in the ordinary 
shares of the subsidiaries to the extent that the Company has an interest.  
 
Other than as stated above, none of the other directors in office at the end of the financial year had any 
interest in ordinary shares or debentures of the Company and its related corporations during the financial 
year. 
 

Commentary: 
 
 Pursuant to Section 8(4) of the Companies Act 2016, a person shall be deemed to have an interest 

in the Company when a body corporate holds shares in the Company and that person has a 
controlling or substantial financial interest of not less than 20% of the votes in that body corporate. 

  
 
 
DIRECTORS’ BENEFITS 
 
Since the end of the previous financial year, no director of the Company has received or become entitled 
to receive any benefit (other than benefits included in the aggregate amount of emoluments received or 
due and receivable, by the directors as shown below) by reason of a contract made by the Company or 
a related corporation with the director or with a firm of which the director is a member, or with a company 
in which the director  has a substantial  financial  interest . [other  than  any deemed   

 
 

1 

1 

7

benefit  which  arise 
from transactions as shown below.
 
Description of any deemed benefit arise.]



 
 
 
 
 
 

  Reference  

 

 
 
 
 
5Sch(I)(2)(a) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5Sch(I)(1)(d)(i) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5Sch(I)(2)(d) 

 

 

 

 

5Sch(I)(2)(d) 

 

 
 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
DIRECTORS’ BENEFITS (CONTINUED) 
 
The directors’ benefits of the Group and of the Company were as follows: 
 

Group Company
RM’000 RM’000

Directors of the Company
Executive directors
- Fees 2,000        600           
- Other emoluments 6,600        2,200        

8,600        2,800        
Non-executive directors
- Fees xxx xxx
- Other emoluments xxx xxx

xxx xxx

Directors of subsidiaries
Executive Directors
- Fees xxx xxx
- Other emoluments xxx xxx

xxx xxx

8,600        2,800         
 
Neither during, nor at the end of the financial year, was the Company a party to any arrangements where 
the object is to enable the directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or 
debentures of the Company or any other body corporate, other than those arising from the share options 
granted under the ESOS. 
 
 
INDEMNITY TO DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS  
 
During the financial year, the total amount of indemnity insurance coverage and insurance premium paid 
for the directors and officers of the Company were RMXXX and RMXXX respectively. 
 

Commentary: 
 
 Pursuant to 5Sch(I)(2)(d) of the Companies Act 2016, the directors’ report shall state the total amount 

of any indemnity given to or insurance effected for, any director or officer of the Company. The 
indemnity to auditor of the Company was disclosed under separate heading in page 10. 
 
In cases where no indemnity was given, the illustrative disclosure is as follows: 
 
During the financial year, no indemnity was given to or insurance effected for, any director or officer 
of the Company. 
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Reference  

 

 

 
 
 
 
5Sch(I)(7) 

 
 
 

5Sch(I)(8) 
 

 
5Sch(I)(9) 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

5Sch(I)(4) 

 

 

 

[Details of subsidiaries name, place of incorporation, principal activities and percentage of issued share 
capital held by the Company in each subsidiary.] 
 
The available auditors’ reports on the accounts of the subsidiaries did not contain any qualification.  
 
 
INTERESTS IN HOLDING COMPANY AND OTHER RELATED CORPORATIONS  
(applicable for disclosure in the subsidiaries’ account only)  
 
Other than as disclosed elsewhere in this report, the Company does not have any interest in shares in 
the holding company and its other related corporations during the financial year.  
 
Or 
 
Other than as disclosed elsewhere in this report, the interests of the Company in shares in the holding 
company and its other related corporation during the financial year were as follows: 
 

At At 
1 January 31 December

2022 Bought Sold 2022
Ultimate holding company
   Flying Colours Holdings Sdn Bhd xx                  -                    -   xx

Related corporation

   Flying Colours Sdn Bhd xx                  -                    -   xx

Number of ordinary shares

 
 
 
SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR 
 
[Details of significant events during the financial year.] 
 
 
SIGNIFICANT EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR 
 
[Details of significant events subsequent to the end of the financial year.] 
 
 
ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY 
 
The directors regard Flying Colours Holdings Sdn Bhd, a company incorporated in Malaysia, as the 
ultimate holding company of the Company. 
 
 

1 

2 

3 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 

SUBSIDIARIES 

The details of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows: 
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S253(3) 

5Sch(II) 
 
 

5Sch(I)(7) 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
5Sch(I)(8) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

5Sch(I)(9) 

 

 

 

S253(3) 

5Sch(II) 
 

Reference 

 DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)
 
BUSINESS REVIEW  
 
Commentary: 
 
 5Sch(I)(7) of the Companies Act 2016 states that: 

 
“The directors’ report shall specify clearly either in the profit and loss account of the holding 
company or consolidated profit and loss account of the holding company and its subsidiary 
companies the name, place of incorporation, principal activities, and percentage of issued share 
capital held by the holding company in each subsidiary to which that profit and loss account or 
other document relates.” 

  
 5Sch(I)(8) of the Companies Act 2016 states that: 

 
“If the auditors’ report on the accounts of a subsidiary company is qualified in any way, the 
consolidated balance sheet of the holding company, as the case may be, shall contain particulars 
of the manner in which the report is qualified in so far as the matter which is the subject of the 
qualification is not covered by the holding company’s own accounts and is material from the point 
of view of its members.” 

 
Illustrative disclosure where accounts of any subsidiary company is qualified 

 
Other than those subsidiaries with modified opinions in their auditors’ reports as disclosed in Note X 
to the financial statements, the available auditors’ reports on the accounts of the remaining 
subsidiaries did not contain any qualification. 

  
 Pursuant to 5Sch(I)(9) of the Companies Act 2016, disclosure shall be made under separate 

heading in the balance sheet of every subsidiary company the extent of its holding of shares in the 
holding company and in other related corporations.  

  
 1. Pursuant to S253(3) of the Companies Act 2016, the directors’ report may include a 

business review as set out in 5Sch(II) or any other reporting as prescribed. 
 
2. The business review may, to the extent necessary for an understanding of the 

development, performance or position of the Company’s business, contain: 
 
(a) a fair review of the Company’s business; 
(b) a description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing by the Company; 
(c) a balanced and comprehensive analysis of:  

(i) the development and performance of the Company’s business during the financial 
year;  

(ii) the position of the Company’s business at the end of that year, consistent with the 
size and complexity of the business; and  

(iii) the key performance indicators;  
(d) information about:  

(i) environmental matters, including the impact of the Company’s business on the 
environment;  

(ii) the Company’s employees; and 
(iii) social and community issues, including information about any policies of the 

Company in relation to those matters and the effectiveness of those policies; and 
 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

4 

10



 

 
 

 
 
S253(3) 

5Sch(II) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 

Reference 

 DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)
 
Commentary: (continued) 
 
 2. The business review may, to the extent necessary for an understanding of the 

development, performance or position of the Company’s business, contain: (continued) 
(e) subject to paragraph 7 below, information about persons with whom the Company 

has contractual or other arrangements which are essential to the business of the 
Company. 

 
3. If the review does not contain any of the information mentioned in subparagraphs 2(a), 

(b), (c) and (d) above, it shall state which of the information it does not contain. 
 

4. The review may, where appropriate, include references to, and additional explanations of, 
amounts included in the Company’s financial statements. 

 
5. In relation to a group directors’ report, this business review has effect as if the references 

to the Company include references to its subsidiary included in the consolidation. 
 

6. Nothing in the business review requires the disclosure of information about impending 
developments or matters in the course of negotiation if the disclosure would, in the 
opinion of the directors, be prejudicial to the interests of the Company. 
 

7. Nothing in subparagraph 2(e) above requires the disclosure of information about a person 
if the disclosure would, in the opinion of the directors, be prejudicial to that person and 
contrary to the public interest. 

 
8. For the purposes of this business review, “key performance indicators” means factors by 

reference to which the development, performance or position of the Company’s business 
can be measured effectively. 
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S252(2)(a) 

S252(2)(b) 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
S252(3) 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
S252(3) 
 
 
 
 

Reference 

 DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)
 
AUDITORS 
 
The auditors, Messrs Baker Tilly Monteiro Heng PLT, have expressed their willingness to continue in 
office. 
 
 
 
 
This report was approved and signed on behalf of the Board of Directors in accordance with a 
resolution of the directors. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
……………………………………… 
HASHID ALIM BIN SAMAD  
Director 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
……………………………………… 
WONG KAH HIM 
Director 
 
 
Date: (date)  
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  Reference  

 

101.10(a) 

101.10(f) 

101.51(e) 

101.54 

101.113 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
101.60 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.38-5.40 

 
 
101.60 

 
 
 

 

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2022 
 
 

Note 31.12.2022 31.12.2021 1.1.2021 31.12.2022 31.12.2021 1.1.2021
Restated Restated Restated Restated

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

ASSETS

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 5 414,400    306,800    291,700    100,400  89,500    81,400    
Investment properties 6 71,800      43,200      38,600      36,600    21,000    17,600    
Biological assets 7 47,600      23,879      26,926      -               -               -               
Inventories 8 99,700      39,203      37,228      58,500    36,100    33,000    
Intangible assets 9 200,200    63,000      67,500      106,300  4,500      4,200      
Investment in subsidiaries 10 -                  -                  -                  188,400  143,500  143,500  
Investment in associates 11 78,900      58,600      52,300      23,600    18,600    18,600    
Investment in joint ventures 12 18,500      17,900      15,200      3,200      3,200      3,200      
Deferred tax assets 13 4,500         3,700         -                  -               -               -               
Trade and other receivables 14 13,100      12,300      10,000      3,000      1,800      1,000      
Other investments 15 81,400      76,810      61,650      53,300    19,800    27,600    
Contract costs 15A xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx

Total non-current assets 1,030,100 645,392    601,104    573,300  338,000  330,100  

Current assets
Inventories 8 129,500    105,318    84,246      42,300    23,500    18,800    
Current tax assets 2,500         2,300         2,000         -               -               -               
Trade and other receivables 14 130,600    98,890      82,350      83,800    22,000    17,000    
Contract assets 16 86,400      78,400      64,300      13,400    9,800      3,200      
Contract costs 15A xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx
Other current assets 4,000         2,500         1,500         -               -               -               
Derivative financial assets 17 8,500         6,500         9,800         4,200      5,000      1,200      
Cash and short-term deposits 18 38,500      18,500      15,700      12,500    6,500      5,700      

400,000    312,408    259,896    156,200  66,800    45,900    
Assets of a disposal group 

classified as held for sale 19 25,400      -                  -                  10,000    -               -               

Total current assets 425,400    312,408    259,896    166,200  66,800    45,900    

TOTAL ASSETS 1,455,500 957,800    861,000    739,500  404,800  376,000  

Group Company
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101.10(a) 

101.10(f) 

101.51(e) 

101.54 

101.113 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
101.60 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.38-5.40 

 
101.60 

 

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2022 (CONTINUED) 
 
 

Note 31.12.2022 31.12.2021 1.1.2021 31.12.2022 31.12.2021 1.1.2021
Restated Restated Restated Restated

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity attributable to 
   owners of the Company
Share capital 20 448,000    250,000    250,000    448,000  250,000  250,000  
Treasury shares 21 (20,000)     (20,000)     (10,000)     (20,000)   (20,000)   (10,000)   
Other reserves 22 82,188      52,795      40,000      37,900    11,300    (800)        
Retained earnings 277,112    180,905    131,900    46,400    22,700    16,400    

787,300    463,700    411,900    512,300  264,000  255,600  
Non-controlling interests 94,500      71,500      64,500      -               -               -               

TOTAL EQUITY 881,800    535,200    476,400    512,300  264,000  255,600  

Non-current liabilities
Loans and borrowings 23 270,200    188,200    194,500    156,800  75,700    62,000    
Employee benefits 24 8,500         6,900         6,000         -               -               -               
Deferred income 25 15,000      10,500      11,600      3,500      1,800      1,500      
Provisions 26 11,100      11,300      9,250         2,000      500          -               
Deferred tax liabilities 13 29,400      18,800      12,800      12,100    2,200      1,500      
Trade and other payables 27 6,000         6,000         6,000         4,000      4,000      4,000      

Total non-current liabilities 340,200    241,700    240,150    178,400  84,200    69,000    

Current liabilities
Loans and borrowings 23 20,000      16,000      13,000      12,000    9,000      8,000      
Provisions 26 7,500         3,500         3,150         500          500          500          
Current tax liabilities 41,300      32,500      16,500      10,200    7,600      3,200      
Trade and other payables 27 102,500    86,200      71,800      16,800    33,400    30,200    
Contract liabilities 16 43,200      40,800      36,100      7,800      5,600      8,500      
Derivative financial liabilities 17 2,500         1,900         3,900         1,500      500          1,000      

217,000    180,900    144,450    48,800    56,600    51,400    
Liabilities of a disposal group 

classified as held for sale 19 16,500      -                  -                  -               -               -               

Total current liabilities 233,500    180,900    144,450    48,800    56,600    51,400    

TOTAL LIABILITIES 573,700    422,600    384,600    227,200  140,800  120,400  

TOTAL EQUITY AND  LIABILITIES 1,455,500 957,800    861,000    739,500  404,800  376,000  

Group Company

 
 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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 16.47(a)

 

 
 
 
 16.47(a)

 16.48

 

 

 

 
 

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2022 (CONTINUED)  
 

Commentary: 
 
 An entity shall present a third statement of financial position as at the beginning of the preceding 

period based on the following requirements: 
 

Nature 
Third statement of 
financial position Related notes 

Yes? Required by Yes? Required by 
(a) First-time adoption of MFRSs 
 

✓ MFRS 1.21 ✓ MFRS 1.21 

(b) Retrospective application * 
 

✓ MFRS 101.40A x MFRS 101.40C 

(c) Retrospective restatement * 
 

✓ MFRS 101.40A x MFRS 101.40C 

(d) Reclassification * 
 

✓ MFRS 101.40A x MFRS 101.40C 

 
*  An entity shall present a third statement of financial position if and only if the retrospective 

application, retrospective restatement or reclassification has a material effect on the information in 
the statement of financial position as at the beginning of the preceding period. 

 
In this illustrative financial statements, the retrospective application of changes in accounting policy 
is deemed to have a material effect on the information in the statements of financial position as at 
the beginning of the preceding period to illustrate the third statement of financial position. 

  
 An entity shall present current and non-current assets, and current and non-current liabilities, as 

separate classifications in its statement of financial position, except when a presentation based on 
liquidity provides information that is reliable and more relevant. When that exception applies, all 
assets and liabilities shall be presented in order of liquidity. Nevertheless, an entity is also permitted 
to present some of its assets and liabilities using a current and non-current classification and others 
in order of liquidity when this provides information that is reliable and more relevant. The need for a 
mixed basis of presentation might arise when an entity has diverse operations. 

  
 If an entity does not present right-of-use assets separately in the statement of financial position, it 

shall include right-of-use assets within the same line item as that within which the corresponding 
underlying assets would be presented as if they were owned, and disclose which line items in the 
statement of financial position include those right-of-use assets. 
 
Alternatively, an entity may choose to present right-of-use assets separately in the statement 
of financial position. Right-of-use assets that meet the definition of investment property are 
presented in the statement of financial position as investment property. 
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15.91-98 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
15.B20-15.B27 

 
 
 
 
 
 
15.105; 

15.BC320 

 
 
 15.App A

 

 15.105
 

 
 
 15.App A

 
 

 101.66(d)

 

 

 
 16.47(b)

 

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2022 (CONTINUED)  
 

Commentary (continued):  
 
 MFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers is silent on the classification of contract 

costs, namely costs to obtain a contract and costs to fulfil a contract. Therefore, entities will 
need to develop an appropriate accounting policy. There is lack of guidance in MFRS on the 
presentation of costs to obtain a contract.  

 
In view of the nature of costs to obtain a contract, these costs are presented as part of contract costs 
and its amortisation is included as part of distribution expenses. In contrast, the nature of costs to fulfil 
a contract is such that they directly affect the entity’s performance under the contract. Therefore, 
costs to fulfil a contract should be presented as a separate class of asset in the statement of financial 
position and its amortisation within cost of sales. 

  
 MFRS 15 and other standards do not specify where assets for rights to recover products from 

customers with regard to sale with a right of return should be presented. A refund asset relating to 
customers’ right to return products can be disclosed as a separate line item, ‘Right to returned goods 
asset’. In many cases entities may conclude that it is not necessary to present this balance separately 
from inventories. In such a case, separate disclosure of this balance should be made in the notes to 
the financial statements. 

  
 MFRS 15.105 states that when either party to a contract has performed, an entity shall present 

the contract in the statement of financial position as a contract asset or a contract liability, 
depending on the relationship between the entity’s performance and the customer’s payment. 
 
Contract assets refer to an entity’s right to consideration in exchange for goods or services that 
the entity has transferred to a customer when that right is conditioned on something other than 
the passage of time (for example, the entity’s future performance). Any unconditional rights to 
consideration (i.e. amounts that relate to completed performance obligations for which payment 
is due under the contract) should be presented separately as a receivable. 
 
Contract liabilities refer to an entity’s obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which 
the entity has received consideration (or the amount is due) from the customer. 

  
 An entity shall classify an asset as current when the asset is cash or a cash equivalent (as defined in 

MFRS 107) unless the asset is restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least 
twelve months after the reporting period. 

  
 If the lessee does not present lease liabilities separately in the statements of financial position, the 

lessee shall disclose which line item in the statement of financial position that include those liabilities. 
 
Alternatively, an entity may choose to present lease liabilities separately from other liabilities in the 
statement of financial position. 
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  Reference  

 

101.10(b) 

101.10A 

101.51(e) 

101.81A 

101.82 

101.99 
101.113 
 
 
 
15.2;15.113(a) 

101.82(a) 
 
 
 
 
 
 

101.82(ba) 

 
 
 
 
101.82(a) 

101.82(b) 
101.82(aa) 

 
 
101.82(ca) 

 
 
101.82(cb) 

 

 

 
101.82(c) 

101.82(c) 

 
 

101.82(d) 

 

 
101.82(ea) 

STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 
 
 

Note 2022 2021 2022 2021
Restated Restated

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000
Continuing operations
Revenue 28 1,906,300   1,191,000   250,500      154,000      
Interest revenue XX xxx xxx xxx xxx
Cost of sales 29 (1,734,730)  (1,071,900)  (163,000)     (102,900)     

Gross profit 171,570      119,100      87,500         51,100         
Other income 30 89,100         21,450         8,950           10,000         
Distribution expenses (12,400)       (13,400)       (3,400)          (2,600)          
Administrative expenses (64,960)       (27,659)       (24,889)       (24,755)       
Net impairment losses on financial 
   instruments and contract assets (2,450)          (2,458)          (635)             (577)             
Other expenses (2,150)          (1,142)          (3,165)          (2,923)          

Operating profit 178,710      95,891         64,361         30,245         
Finance income 31 3,100           3,250           1,750           1,900           
Finance costs 32 (17,140)       (14,241)       (7,911)          (4,945)          
Gains/(Losses) arising from derecognition of 
   financial assets measured at amortised 
   cost xxx xxx xxx xxx
Gains/(Losses) arising from reclassification 
   of financial assets measured at amortised 
   cost to fair value through profit or loss xxx xxx xxx xxx
Gains/(Losses) arising from reclassification 
   of  financial assets measured at fair value 
   through other comprehensive income to fair 
   value through profit or loss xxx xxx xxx xxx
Share of results of associates, net of tax 13,230         5,600           -                    -                    
Share of results of joint ventures, net of tax 600              2,700           -                    -                    

Profit before tax 33 178,500      93,200         58,200         27,200         
Income tax expense 35 (44,600)       (23,300)       (14,500)       (5,900)          
Profit for the financial year from 
   continuing operations 133,900      69,900         43,700         21,300         
(Loss)/profit for the financial year 
   from discontinued operation, net of tax 19(b) (2,800)          1,200           -                    -                    

Profit for the financial year 131,100      71,100         43,700         21,300         

Group Company
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12.12(e) 

101.10(b) 

101.10A 

101.51(e) 

101.81A 

101.82 

101.99 

101.113 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
101.81B(a) 

 

STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 (CONTINUED) 
 
 

Note 2022 2021 2022 2021
Restated Restated

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000
Other comprehensive income/(loss), net 
   of tax 36
Items that will not be reclassified 
   subsequently to profit or loss

Remeasurement of defined benefit plans 380              2,030           -                    -                    
Fair value gain of equity instruments 
   designated at fair value through other 
   comprehensive income 2,200           3,800           3,000           2,000           
Share of other comprehensive income of 
  associates 170              100              -                    -                    

2,750           5,930           3,000           2,000           
Items that may be reclassified 
   subsequently to profit or loss

Exchange differences on translation of 
   foreign operations 5,050           1,870           -                    -                    
Reclassification adjustments of exchange 
   translation reserve 10(b) (1,000)          -                    -                    -                    
Fair value gain of debt instruments at fair 
   value through other comprehensive income xxx xxx xxx xxx
Cash flow hedges 2,200           (1,700)          2,500           2,300           
Reclassification adjustments of cash flow 
  hedges (800)             400              (300)             (800)             
Share of other comprehensive income of 
  associates 1,900           600              -                    -                    

7,350           1,170           2,200           1,500           
Other comprehensive income for the 
   financial year 10,100         7,100           5,200           3,500           
Total comprehensive income for the 
   financial year 141,200      78,200         48,900         24,800         

Profit/(loss) attributable to:
Owners of the Company 118,200      61,900         43,700         21,300         
- From continuing operations 121,000      60,700         43,700         21,300         
- From discontinued operation (2,800)          1,200           -                    -                    

Non-controlling interests 12,900         9,200           -                    -                    

131,100      71,100         43,700         21,300         

Group Company
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101.10(b) 

101.10A 

101.51(e) 

101.81A 

101.82 

101.99 

101.113 
 
 
101.81B(b) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

133.66 

 

 

 
133.68 

 
 

133.66 
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STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 (CONTINUED) 
 
 

Note 2022 2021 2022 2021
Restated Restated

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000
Total comprehensive 
   income/(loss) attributable to:
Owners of the Company 126,700       68,200         48,900         24,800         
- From continuing operations 129,500       67,000         48,900         24,800         
- From discontinued operation (2,800)          1,200           -                   -                   

Non-controlling interests 14,500         10,000         -                   -                   

141,200       78,200         48,900         24,800         

37

- From continuing operations 48.4             30.4             
- From discontinued operation (1.1)              0.6               

47.3             31.0             
37

- From continuing operations 45.7             28.9             
- From discontinued operation (1.0)              0.6               

44.7             29.5             

Group Company

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share 
   attributable to ordinary equity holders
   of the Company (sen):

Basic earnings/(loss) per share  
   attributable to ordinary equity holders
   of the Company (sen):

*
*
*
*

 
 
 
* Note:  An entity uses profit or loss from continuing operations attributable to the owners of the Company 

as the control number to establish whether potential ordinary shares are dilutive or anti-dilutive. 
Potential ordinary shares are anti-dilutive when their conversion to ordinary shares would 
increase earnings per share or decrease loss per share from continuing operations. Since the 
effect of assumed conversion of potential ordinary shares from continuing operations is dilutive, 
the effect of the said assumed conversion on loss per share from discontinued operation, 
although anti-dilutive (as disclosed above), should therefore be calculated. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.  
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STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 
 
 

2022 2021 2022 2021
Restated Restated

Note RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit/(loss) before tax:
- Continuing operations 178,500  93,200    58,200    27,200    
- Discontinued operation (3,500)     1,700      -             -             

175,000  94,900    58,200    27,200    
Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 19,530    18,750    4,930      4,790      
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (500)       (800)       (500)       (300)       
Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment 1,000      1,500      -             -             
Fair value gain on investment property (4,000)     (3,000)     (2,000)     (2,100)     
Fair value (gain)/loss of produce growing on 
   bearer plants (68,600)   3,047      -             -             
Amortisation of intangible assets 7,900      4,950      6,000      2,000      
Impairment loss on intangible assets 500        3,000      -             -             
Loss recognised on remeasurement of assets 
   of disposal group 2,500      -             -             -             
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary (400)       -             -             -             
Net fair value (gain)/loss on derivatives (800)       1,850      100        (600)       
Net fair value loss/(gain) on fair value hedge 800        (1,300)     3,900      (2,200)     
Inventories written down 200        240        20          25          
Reversal of inventories written down (80)         (40)         (30)         -             
Reversal of impairment loss on trade and 
   other receivables (100)       -             -             -             

1,500      1,500      300        300        
Impairment loss on contract assets 1,050      958        335        277        
Amortisation of government grant income (8,500)     (8,000)     (2,000)     (2,000)     
Finance costs 17,140    14,241    7,911      4,945      
Finance income (3,100)     (3,250)     (1,750)     (1,900)     

(1,500)     (1,350)     (1,050)     (1,000)     
Provisions 6,500      3,000      2,500      500        
Reversal of provisions (880)       -             (250)       (15)         
Share of results of associates and joint ventures (13,830)   (8,300)     -             -             
Employee benefits 3,545      3,299      -             -             
Share-based payments -             8,600      -             8,600      
Net unrealised foreign exchange loss/(gain) 5,838      (4,968)     (200)       500        

Operating profit before changes in 
   working capital, carried forward 140,713  128,827  76,416    39,022    

Group Company

Impairment loss on trade and other receivables

Dividend income from financial assets at FVOCI
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101.10(d) 

101.113 

107.10 

107.18(b) 

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 (CONTINUED) 
 
 

2022 2021 2022 2021
Restated Restated

Note RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000
Cash flows from operating activities 
   (continued)
Operating profit before changes in 
   working capital, brought forward 140,713  128,827  76,416    39,022    
Changes in working capital:

Inventories (56,820)   (23,747)   (41,190)   (7,825)     
Trade and other receivables (28,755)   642        (60,550)   (5,155)     
Contract assets (4,450)     (5,258)     (3,135)     (6,377)     
Prepayment and other assets (4,500)     (1,000)     -             -             
Trade and other payables 32,935    5,046      (21,600)   3,200      
Employee benefits (1,535)     (349)       -             -             
Provisions (2,600)     (975)       (800)       -             
Contract liabilities (13,200)   (14,210)   (1,350)     (4,345)     

Net cash generated from/(used in) operations 61,788    88,976    (52,209)   18,520    

Income tax paid (32,200)   (5,800)     (8,700)     (800)       
Interest received 600        300        100        100        
Interest paid (15,598)   (12,866)   (6,361)     (2,930)     

Net cash from/(used in) operating activities 14,590    70,610    (67,170)   14,890    

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 18(ii) (98,430)   (34,950)   (15,830)   (12,890)   
Proceeds from disposal of property, 
   plant and equipment 500        1,000      500        300        
Purchase of investment properties (4,600)     (1,000)     (13,600)   (1,300)     
Purchase of intangible assets (116,800) (3,450)     (107,800) (2,300)     
Proceeds from disposal of other investments 4,920      14,120    1,000      21,100    
Purchase of other investments -             (23,160)   (10,650)   (10,000)   
Acquisition of a subsidiary, net of cash acquired (20,000)   -             (25,000)   -             
Proceeds from disposal of a subsidiary, 
   net of cash disposed 600        -             1,100      -             
Repayment of loan by a subsidiary -             -             10,000    -             
Proceeds from government grants related to assets 9,000      6,900      3,700      2,300      
Dividend received 1,500      1,350      1,050      1,000      
Repayment by finance lease receivables 5,000      4,400      -             -             
Change in pledged deposits (500)       -             -             -             

Net cash used in investing activities (218,810) (34,790)   (155,530) (1,790)      

1 
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101.10(d) 

101.113 

107.10 

107.18(b) 
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107.33 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 (CONTINUED) 
 
 

2022 2021 2022 2021
Restated Restated

Note RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000
Cash flows from financing activities 18(iii)
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares 148,000  -             148,000  -             
Proceeds from issuance of convertible bonds 99,500    -             99,500    -             
Repurchase of treasury shares -             (10,000)   -             (10,000)   
Drawdown of term loans 27,800    16,000    15,800    16,000    
Repayment of term loans (20,800)   (19,225)   (4,735)     (3,365)     
Drawdown of revolving credits 500         125         135         65          
Repayment of medium-term notes (7,800)     -             -             -             
Payment of lease liabilities (1,300)     (1,200)     -             -             
Drawdown of hire purchase xxx xxx -             -             
Repayment of hire purchase (xxx) (xxx) -             -             
Proceeds from government loan 12,000    -             -             -             
Acquisition of interest in subsidiary (10,000)   -             (10,000)   -             
Dividend paid
- Owners of the Company (20,000)   (15,000)   (20,000)   (15,000)   
- Non-controlling interests (4,000)     (3,000)     -             -             

Net cash from/(used in) financing activities 223,900  (32,300)   228,700  (12,300)   

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 19,680    3,520      6,000      800         

18,000    15,200    6,500      5,700      
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash 
   and cash equivalents (180)       (720)       -             -             
Cash and cash equivalents at the end 
   of the financial year 18(i) 37,500    18,000    12,500    6,500      

Group Company

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning 
   of the financial year

 
 

Commentary: 
 
 MFRS 107 Statement of Cash Flows and other standards do not specify where cash flows from 

interest and dividends received and paid should be presented. Cash flows from interest and dividends 
received and paid shall each be disclosed separately in a consistent manner from period to period as 
either operating, investing or financing activities. 
 
In accordance with MFRS 107, an entity has a policy choice for the classification of interest paid and 
interest and dividends received in statements of cash flows, either: 
▪ classified as operating cash flows because they enter into the determination of profit or loss; or 
▪ classified as financing cash flows and investing cash flows respectively, because they are costs 

of obtaining financial resources or returns on investments. 
  

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 

1 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
1.  CORPORATE INFORMATION 

 
Flying Colours Berhad (“the Company”) is a public limited liability company, incorporated and 
domiciled in Malaysia and is listed on the Main Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. The 
registered office of the Company is located at Flying Colours Tower, Level 30, Avenue 5, Bangsar 
South City, 59200 Kuala Lumpur. The principal place of business of the Company is located at 
Flying Colours Tower, Level 50, Avenue 5, Bangsar South City, 59200 Kuala Lumpur. 
 
The immediate and ultimate holding companies are Flying Colours Sdn Bhd and Flying Colours 
Holdings Sdn Bhd respectively. Both companies are incorporated in Malaysia and produce financial 
statements for public use. 
 
The principal activities of the Company are investment holding, property development and provision 
of construction services. The principal activities of its subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 10.  
 
There have been no significant changes in the nature of these activities during the financial year 
except for the service concession arrangements entered into with the State Governments as 
disclosed in Note 9(b). 
 
The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors in accordance with a 
resolution of the directors on (date). 
 
 

2.  BASIS OF PREPARATION 
 
2.1 Statement of Compliance 
 

The financial statements of the Group and of the Company have been prepared in 
accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards (“MFRSs”), the International 
Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia. 
 

2.2 Adoption of amendments/improvements to MFRSs and explanation of change in 
accounting policy 
 
(a) Adoption of amendments/improvements to MFRSs  

 
The Group and the Company have adopted the following amendments/improvements 
to MFRSs for the current financial year: 
 
Amendments/Improvements to MFRSs 
MFRS 1 First-time Adoption of Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards 
MFRS 3 Business Combinations 
MFRS 9 Financial Instruments 
MFRS 116 Property, Plant and Equipment 
MFRS 137 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets 
MFRS 141 Agriculture 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
2.  BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED) 

 
2.2 Adoption of amendments/improvements to MFRSs and explanation of change in 

accounting policy (continued) 
 
(a) Adoption of amendments/improvements to MFRSs (continued) 

 
The adoption of the above amendments/improvements to MFRSs did not have any 
significant effect on the financial statements of the Group and of the Company and did 
not result in significant changes to the Group’s and the Company’s existing accounting 
policies.  
 

Commentary: 
 
 When the initial application of the amendments/improvements to MFRSs have significant 

effect on the financial statements, the illustrative disclosures are as follows: 
 
The adoption of the above amendments/improvements to MFRSs did not have any significant effect 
on the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, and did not result in significant changes 
to the Group’s and the Company’s existing accounting policies, except for those as discussed below. 
 
Amendments to MFRS 9 Financial Instruments 
 
The amendments clarify the fees an entity includes when assessing whether the terms of a new 
or modified financial liability are substantially different from the terms of the original financial 
liability. In determining those fees paid net of fees received, a borrower includes only fees paid 
or received between the borrower and the lender, including fees paid or received by either the 
borrower or lender on the other’s behalf.  
 
The Group and the Company have adopted the amendments to financial liabilities that are 
modified or exchanged on or after the beginning of the annual reporting period in which the 
Group and the Company apply the amendment (the date of initial application). 
 
The effect of applying the amendments to MFRS on the Group’s and the Company’s financial 
statements are disclosed as follows: * 
 
Amendments to MFRS 116 Property, Plant and Equipment 
 
The Group and the Company have adopted the amendments to MFRS 116 for the first time in 
the current year.  
 
The amendments prohibit an entity from deducting from the cost of property, plant and 
equipment amounts received from selling items produced while the entity is preparing the asset 
for its intended use. Instead, an entity shall recognise such sales proceeds and related cost in 
profit or loss. 
 
The effect of applying the amendments to MFRS on the Group’s and the Company’s financial 
statements are disclosed as follows: * 

  
 

1 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
2.  BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED) 

 
2.2 Adoption of amendments/improvements to MFRSs and explanation of change in 

accounting policy (continued) 
 

(a) Adoption of amendments/improvements to MFRSs (continued) 
 

Commentary (continued): 
 
 When the initial application of the amendments/improvements to MFRSs have significant 

effect on the financial statements, the illustrative disclosures are as follows (continued): 
 
Amendments to MFRS 137 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets 
 
The Group and the Company have adopted the amendments to MFRS 137 for the first time in the 
current year. 
 
The amendments specify which costs an entity includes in determining the cost of fulfilling a contract 
for the purpose of assessing whether the contract is onerous. Prior to the application of the 
amendments, the Group had not identified any contracts as being onerous as the Group included 
only incremental costs to fulfil a contract when determining whether the contract was onerous. As a 
result of the amendments, an allocation of other directly related costs have been included by the 
Group in determining the costs of fulfilling the contracts. 
 
The effect of adoption of the above amendment is as follows:  
 

Group Company
 Increase/ 
(Decrease) 

 Increase/ 
(Decrease) 

RM’000 RM’000
Assets
Deferred tax assets xxx xxx

Total assets xxx xxx

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Provisions xxx xxx

Total liabilities xxx xxx

Total adjustment on equity
Retained earnings (xxx) (xxx)

(xxx) (xxx)

Impact on statements of financial position as at 1 January 2022 of the Group and of the
Company:
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
2.  BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED) 

 
2.2 Adoption of amendments/improvements to MFRSs and explanation of change in 

accounting policy (continued) 
 

(a) Adoption of amendments/improvements to MFRSs (continued) 
 

Commentary (continued): 
 
 When the initial application of the amendments/improvements to MFRSs have significant 

effect on the financial statements, the illustrative disclosures are as follows (continued): 
 
Amendments to MFRS 137 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets 
(continued) 
 
The effect of adoption of the above amendment is as follows (continued):  
 

Group Company
 Increase/ 
(Decrease) 

 Increase/ 
(Decrease) 

RM’000 RM’000

Cost of sales xxx xxx

Operating profit xxx xxx

Income tax expenses xxx xxx

Profit for the year xxx xxx

Profit attributable to:
  Owners of the Company xxx xxx
  Non-controlling interests - -

xxx xxx

Impact on statements of comprehensive income for the financial year ended 31 December 2022
of the Group and of the Company:

 
There is no material impact on other comprehensive income, the basic and diluted earnings 
per share or statements of cash flows.  
 
* When the initial adoption of amendments/improvements to MFRSs have an effect of financial 
statements, an entity shall disclose for the current period and each period presented, to the 
extent practicable, the amount of the adjustment: 
a) For each financial statement line item affected; and 
b) Impact on earnings per share. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
2.  BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED) 

 
2.2 Adoption of amendments/improvements to MFRSs and explanation of change in 

accounting policy (continued) 
 
(b) Change in accounting policy  

 
(i)  Accounting policy for investment property 
 

In the previous financial years, investment property was measured at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. During the financial 
year, the accounting policy has been changed to measure the investment property 
at its fair value with changes in fair value to be recognised in profit or loss. This 
voluntary change in accounting policy is to appropriately reflect the change of the 
Group’s business model objective in managing its investment property for fair value 
changes. 
 
The change in accounting policy has been applied retrospectively. The effect of the 
change in accounting policy has been recognised directly in retained earnings and 
disclosed in below.  

 
Statements of financial position 

 
As previously 

reported Adjustments As restated
RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 

Group 

At 1 January 2021
Investment properties               28,600 10,000                           38,600 
Deferred tax liabilities             (11,800) (1,000)                          (12,800)

At 31 December 2021
Investment properties               30,200 13,000                           43,200 
Deferred tax liabilities             (17,500) (1,300)                          (18,800)

Company

At 1 January 2021
Investment properties               11,547 6,053                              17,600 
Deferred tax liabilities                   (895) (605)                                 (1,500)

At 31 December 2021
Investment properties               12,847 8,153                              21,000 
Deferred tax liabilities                (1,385) (815)                                 (2,200)  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
2.  BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED) 

 
2.2 Adoption of amendments/improvements to MFRSs and explanation of change in 

accounting policy (continued) 
 
(b) Change in accounting policy (continued)  

 
(i)  Accounting policy for investment property (continued) 

 
Reconciliation of equity 

 
1.1.2021 31.12.2021
RM'000 RM'000 

Group 

Equity as previously reported 467,400           523,500           

Add:
Effect of change in accounting policy
- Investment properties 10,000             13,000             
- Deferred tax

- Investment properties (1,000)              (1,300)              

9,000                11,700             

Equity (restated) 476,400                       535,200 

Company

Equity as previously reported 250,152           256,662           

Add:
Effect of change in accounting policy
- Investment properties 6,053                8,153                
- Deferred tax

- Investment properties (605)                  (815)                  

5,448                7,338                

Equity (restated) 255,600                       264,000  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
2.  BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED) 

 
2.2 Adoption of amendments/improvements to MFRSs and explanation of change in 

accounting policy (continued) 
 
(b) Change in accounting policy (continued)  

 
(i)  Accounting policy for investment property (continued) 

 
Reconciliation of total comprehensive income 
 

31.12.2021
RM'000 

Group 

Total comprehensive income as previously reported 75,500             

Add/(less):
Effect of change in accounting policy
- Investment properties 3,000                
- Deferred tax

- Investment properties (300)                  

2,700                

Total comprehensive income (restated)               78,200 

Company

Total comprehensive income as previously reported 22,910             

Add/(less):
Effect of change in accounting policy
- Investment properties 2,100                
- Deferred tax

- Investment properties (210)                  

1,890                

Total comprehensive income (restated)               24,800  
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108.29 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
2.  BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED) 

 
2.2 Adoption of amendments/improvements to MFRSs and explanation of change in 

accounting policy (continued) 
 
(b) Change in accounting policy (continued)  

 
(i)  Accounting policy for investment property (continued) 

 
Reconciliation of statements of cash flows 
 
The change in accounting policy does not have any impact on the statements of 
cash flows of the Group and of the Company. 
 
Reconciliation of earnings per share 
 
The change in accounting policy does not have any impact on the earnings per 
share of the Group and of the Company. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Commentary: 
 
 Disclosure requirements for change in accounting policy  

 
When a voluntary change in accounting policy has an effect on the current period or any prior period, 
an entity shall disclose the nature and reasons for the change in accounting policy as well as the 
amount of the adjustment. 
 
Financial statements of subsequent periods need not repeat these disclosures. 
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108.30&31 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
2.  BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED) 

 
2.3 New MFRS and amendments/improvements to MFRSs that have been issued, but yet 

to be effective 
 

(a) The Group and the Company have not adopted the following new MFRS, and 
amendments/improvements to MFRSs that have been issued, but yet to be effective: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
#  Amendments as to the consequence of effective of MFRS 17 Insurance Contracts  

 

  Effective for 
financial 
periods 

beginning on 
or after 

New MFRS 
MFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 1 January 2023 
   
Amendments/Improvements to MFRSs 
MFRS 1 First-time Adoption of Malaysian Financial 

Reporting Standards 
1 January 2023# 

MFRS 3 Business Combinations 1 January 2023# 
MFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and 

Discontinued Operations 
1 January 2023# 

MFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures 1 January 2023# 
MFRS 9 Financial Instruments 1 January 2023# 
MFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements Deferred 
MFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 1 January 2023# 
MFRS 16 Leases 1 January 2024 
MFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 1 January 2023 
MFRS 101 Presentation of Financial Statements 1 January 2023/ 

1 January 2023#/ 
1 January 2024 

MFRS 107 Statements of Cash Flows 1 January 2023# 
MFRS 108 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting 

Estimates and Errors 
1 January 2023 

MFRS 112 Income Taxes 1 January 2023 
MFRS 116 Property, Plant and Equipment 1 January 2023# 
MFRS 119 Employee Benefits 1 January 2023# 
MFRS 128 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures Deferred/ 

1 January 2023#  
MFRS 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation 1 January 2023# 
MFRS 136 Impairment of Assets 1 January 2023# 
MFRS 137 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent 

Assets 
1 January 2023# 

MFRS 138 Intangible Assets 1 January 2023# 
MFRS 140 Investment Property 1 January 2023# 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
2.  BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED) 

 
2.3 New MFRS and amendments/improvements to MFRSs that have been issued, but yet 

to be effective (continued) 
 

(b) The Group and the Company plan to adopt the above applicable new MFRS and 
amendments/improvements to MFRSs when they become effective. A brief discussion 
on the above significant new MFRS and amendments/improvements to MFRSs are 
summarised below. 

 
Amendments to MFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and MFRS 128 
Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures 

 
These amendments address an acknowledged inconsistency between the requirements in 
MFRS 10 and those in MFRS 128, in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between 
an investor and its associate or joint venture. 

 
The main consequence of the amendments is that a full gain or loss is recognised when a 
transaction involves a business, as defined in MFRS 3. A partial gain or loss is recognised 
when a transaction involves assets that do not constitute a business. 
 
Amendments to MFRS 16 Leases 

 
The amendments clarify how an entity should subsequently measure the leaseback liability 
that arise in a sale and leaseback transaction. Although MFRS 16 includes requirements 
on how to account for a sale and leaseback at the date the transaction takes place, it has 
not specified how to measure the sale and leaseback transaction when reporting after that 
date. 
 
The amendments add subsequent measurement requirements for the right-of-use assets 
and lease liability arising from a sale and leaseback transaction by clarifying that a seller-
lessee in a sale and leaseback transaction shall apply paragraphs 29 to 35 to the right-of-
use asset arising from the leaseback and paragraphs 36 to 46 to the lease liability arising 
from the leaseback. The amendments will not change the accounting for leases other than 
those arising in a sale and leaseback transaction. 
 
Amendments to MFRS 101 Presentation of Financial Statements 
 
The amendments include specifying that an entity’s right to defer settlement of a liability for 
at least twelve months after the reporting period must have substance and must exist at the 
end of the reporting period; clarifying that classification of liability is unaffected by the 
likelihood of the entity to exercise its right to defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve 
months after the reporting period ; clarifying how lending conditions affect classification of a 
liability; and clarifying requirements for classifying liabilities an entity will or may settle by 
issuing its own equity instruments. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
2.  BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED) 

 
2.3 New MFRS and amendments/improvements to MFRSs that have been issued, but yet to 

be effective (continued) 
 

(b) The Group and the Company plan to adopt the above applicable new MFRS and 
amendments/improvements to MFRSs when they become effective. A brief discussion 
on the above significant new MFRS and amendments/improvements to MFRSs are 
summarised below. (continued) 

 
Amendments to MFRS 101 Presentation of Financial Statements (continued) 
 
In another amendments, an entity is required to disclose its material accounting policy 
information rather than significant accounting policies. The amendments, amongst others, 
also include examples of circumstances in which an entity is likely to consider an accounting 
policy information to be material to its financial statements. To support this amendments, 
MFRS Practice Statement 2 was also amended to provide guidance on how to apply the 
concept of materiality to accounting policy information disclosures. The guidance and 
examples provided in the MFRS Practice Statement 2 highlight the need to focus on entity-
specific information and demonstrate how the four-step materiality process can address 
standardised (or boilerplate) information and duplication of requirements of MFRSs in the 
accounting policy information disclosures. 
 
The latest amendments to MFRS 101 clarify how conditions with which an entity must comply 
within 12 months after the reporting period affect the classification of a liability. As such, the 
amendments specify that covenants to be complied with after the reporting date do not affect 
the classification of debt as current or non-current at the reporting date. Instead, the 
amendments require an entity to disclose information about these covenants in the notes to 
the financial statements. 
 
Amendments to MFRS 108 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates 
and Errors 

 
The amendments revise the definition of accounting estimates to clarify how an entity should 
distinguish changes in accounting policies from changes in accounting estimates. The 
distinction is important because the changes in accounting estimates are applied 
prospectively to transactions, other events, or conditions from the date of that change, but 
changes in accounting policies are generally also applied retrospectively to past transactions 
and other past events. 

 
Amendments to MFRS 112 Income Taxes 

 
The amendments specify how an entity should account for deferred tax on transactions such 
as leases and decommissioning obligation.  
 
In specified circumstances, MFRS 112 exempts an entity from recognising deferred tax 
when it recognises assets or liabilities for the first time. There had been some 
uncertainties about whether the exemption from recognising deferred tax applied to 
transactions such as leases and decommissioning obligations – transactions for which 
an entity recognises both an asset and a liability. The amendments clarify that the 
exemption does not apply and that entity is required to recognise deferred tax on such 
transactions. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
2.  BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED) 

 
2.3 New MFRS and amendments/improvements to MFRSs that have been issued, but yet 

to be effective (continued) 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
  
 

At 31 December 
20XX-1 
RM’000 

Adjustments 
due to adoption 

of MFRS XX 
RM’000 

At 1 January 
20XX 

RM’000 
XXX xxx xxx xxx 
XXX xxx xxx xxx 
Retained earnings xxx xxx xxx 
Non-controlling interests xxx xxx xxx 

 
The total estimated adjustment (net of tax) to the Group’s equity at 1 January 20XX is RMXXX. The main 
components of the estimated adjustment are as follows: 
▪ … 
▪ … 
 

The actual impacts of adopting the above standards at 1 January 20XX may change because the Group 
has not finalised the assessment of the impacts and the new accounting policies are subject to change until 
the Group presents its first financial statements that include the date of initial application. 
 
Illustrative disclosure where an entity still in the midst to quantify the estimated financial 
impact 
 
The Group and the Company are currently performing a detailed analysis to determine the election of 
the practical expedients and to quantify the financial effects arising from the adoption of the new 
MFRSs, amendments/improvements to MFRSs, new IC Int and amendments to IC Int. 
 
OR 
 
The Group and the Company are currently assessing the impact of initial application of the above 
applicable amendments/improvements to MFRSs. Nevertheless, the Group and the Company expect 
that the initial application is unlikely to have material financial impacts to the current period and prior 
period financial statements of the Group and of the Company. 
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Commentary:

Illustrative disclosure where an entity has quantified the estimated financial impact

Other than the estimated financial  impact arising from the adoption of MFRS XX, the detailed analysis 
on the financial  effects  of the adoption  of other new MFRSs , amendments /improvements  to MFRSs , 
new IC Interpretation (“IC Int”) and amendments to IC Int are currently still being assessed by the Group 
and the Company.

Estimated impact of the adoption of MFRS XX
The impact of the adoption of MFRS XX on the Group’s financial statements as at 1 January 20XX is 
estimated to be, as follows: 

Estimated impact of adoption of MFRS XX
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
2.  BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED) 

 
2.4 Functional and presentation currency  
 

The individual financial statements of each entity in the Group are measured using the 
currency of the primary economic environment in which they operate (“the functional 
currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia (“RM”), 
which is also the Company’s functional currency, and has been rounded to the nearest 
thousand, unless otherwise stated. 
 

2.5 Basis of measurement 
 

The financial statements of the Group and of the Company have been prepared on the 
historical cost basis, except as otherwise disclosed in Note 3. 
 

Commentary: 
 
Illustrative disclosure where an entity has made changes in accounting estimates 

 
2.X Change in method of computation for amortisation of an intangible asset 
 

In the previous financial years, amortisation of an acquired trademark license was computed based 
on the straight-line basis over the tenure of the trademark license granted by the owner. With effect 
from 1 January 20XX, amortisation of this intangible asset has been computed based on the units-of-
production method over the tenure of the trademark licence. This change in method reflects more 
accurately the consumption or use of the intangible asset. The effect of the change in method of 
computation has been applied prospectively, commencing in the current financial year ended 31 
December 20XX. This change has resulted in an increase in amortisation expense of RMXXX for the 
current financial year. It is impracticable to estimate the effect of this change in estimate in future 
financial years. 
 

Illustrative disclosure when there are significant doubts about going concern but mitigating actions 
judged sufficient to make going concern appropriate and material uncertainties about going 
concern remain after considering mitigating actions (Material Uncertainty Related to Going 
Concern) 
 
Financial statements are prepared on going concern assumption. The disclosure of going concern is 
by exception. If there are material uncertainties affecting the ability of a reporting entity to continue as 
a going concern, those uncertainties should be disclosed together with the reasons supporting the 
preparation of the financial statements as a going concern. Accordingly, the management shall 
adequately disclose the following: 
a) the principal events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s ability to continue 

as a going concern; 
b) management’s plans to deal with these events or conditions; and 
c) the material uncertainty related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s 

ability to continue as a going concern and, therefore, that it may be unable to realise its assets and 
discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business. 
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101.25 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
2.  BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED) 

 
Commentary (continued):  
 
Illustrative disclosure when there are significant doubts about going concern but mitigating actions 
judged sufficient to make going concern appropriate and material uncertainties about going 
concern remain after considering mitigating actions (Material Uncertainty Related to Going 
Concern) (continued) 
 
The illustrative disclosure is as follows: 
 
2.X  Fundamental accounting principle 
 

The financial statements of the Group have been prepared on the assumption that the Group will 
continue as a going concern. The application of the going concern basis is based on the assumption 
that the Group will be able to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of 
business. 
 
During the financial year ended 31 December 20XX, the Group incurred a net loss of RMXXX and, as 
of that date, the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by RMXXX. These events or 
conditions indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. 
 
The ability of the Group to continue as a going concern will be dependent on: 
(a) … 
(b) … 
(c) … 
(d) … 
 
In the event that these are not forthcoming, the Group may be unable to realise its assets and 
discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business. Accordingly, the financial statements of the 
Group may require adjustments relating to the recoverability and classification of recorded assets and 
liabilities that may be necessary should the Group be unable to continue as going concern. 
 
The directors of the Company are of the opinion that the preparation of the financial statements of the 
Group and of the Company on a going concern basis remains appropriate as they believe XXX, and 
accordingly, realise their assets and discharge their liabilities in the normal course of business. 
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101.112(a) 

101.117(b) 

101.119 
 
 
 
10.B92 

10.19 

10.B87 
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10.7 
 
 
10.20 

 
 
 
3.4 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3.B1-B4 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 
Unless otherwise stated, the following accounting policies have been applied consistently to all the 
financial years presented in the financial statements of the Group and of the Company. 
 
3.1 Basis of consolidation  
 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and 
its subsidiaries. The financial statements of the subsidiaries, associates, and joint ventures 
used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are prepared for the same 
reporting date as the Company. Consistent accounting policies are applied to like 
transactions and events in similar circumstances.  

 
(a) Subsidiaries and business combination  

 
Subsidiaries are entities (including structured entities) over which the Group is exposed, 
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the acquirees and has the 
ability to affect those returns through its power over the acquirees.  
 
The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial 
statements from the date the Group obtains control of the acquirees until the date the 
Group loses control of the acquirees.  
  
The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations from 
the acquisition date.  
 
 
 
 

Commentary: 
 
 In cases where merger accounting is applied: 

 
The Group applies the acquisition method of accounting except for those business combinations 
which were accounted for using merger method of accounting. Three subsidiaries (i.e. ABC Sdn Bhd, 
DEF Sdn Bhd and GHI Sdn Bhd) are consolidated using acquisition method of accounting, the rest 
of the subsidiaries are accounted for using the merger method of accounting.  

 
A business combination involving entities under common control is a business combination in which 
all the combining entities or subsidiaries are ultimately controlled by the same party and parties both 
before and after the business combination, and that control is not transitory. Subsidiaries acquired 
which have met the criteria for pooling of interest are accounted for using merger accounting 
principles. Under the merger method of accounting, the results of subsidiaries are presented as if the 
business combination had been affected throughout the current and previous financial years. The 
assets and liabilities combined are accounted for based on the carrying amounts from the perspective 
of the common control shareholder at the date of transfer. On consolidation, the difference between 
costs of acquisition over the nominal value of share capital of the subsidiaries is taken to merger 
reserve or merger deficit. 
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101.112(a) 

101.117(b) 
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 3.B19

 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

3.1 Basis of consolidation (continued) 
 

(a) Subsidiaries and business combination (continued) 
 

Commentary (continued): 
 
 In cases where reorganisation scheme is applied: 

 
Acquisition of entities under a reorganisation scheme does not result in any change in economic 
substance. Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements of the Company are a continuation of 
the acquired entity and is accounted for as follows: 
 
▪ the assets and liabilities of the acquired entity are recognised and measured in the consolidated 

financial statements at the pre-combination carrying amounts, without restatement to fair value; 
 
▪ the retained earnings and other equity balances of acquired entity immediately before the 

business combination are those of the Group; and 
 
▪ the equity structure, however, reflects the equity structure of the Company and the differences 

arising from the change in equity structure of the Group will be accounted for in other reserves. 
  
 In cases where reverse acquisition is applied: 

 
On XXX, the Company had entered into a share sales agreement to acquire the entire equity interests 
in ABC Sdn Bhd. The said acquisition was completed on XXX and ABC Sdn Bhd became a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company. 
 
In substance, ABC Sdn Bhd is the accounting acquirer although legally the Company is regarded as 
the legal parent and ABC Sdn Bhd is regarded as the legal subsidiary as ABC Sdn Bhd has the 
power to govern the financial and operating policies of the Company so as to obtain benefits from its 
activities. 
 
Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements of the Group prepared following a reverse 
acquisition represent a continuation of the financial statements of ABC Sdn Bhd. Under the reverse 
acquisition accounting: 
(a) the assets and liabilities of ABC Sdn Bhd are recognised and measured at their pre-

combination carrying value; 
(b) the retained earnings and other equity balances of ABC Sdn Bhd immediately before the 

business combination are those of the Group; 
(c) the amount recognised as issued equity instruments in the consolidated financial statements is 

determined by adding to the issued equity interest of ABC Sdn Bhd outstanding immediately 
before the business combination the cost of combination. However, the equity structure reflects 
the equity structure of the Company, including the equity interests issued by the Company to 
effect the combination; and 

(d) the comparative information presented in the consolidated financial statements is that of ABC 
Sdn Bhd. 
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10.B99 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

3.1 Basis of consolidation (continued) 
 

(a) Subsidiaries and business combination (continued) 
 

For a new acquisition, goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the 
following: 
▪ the fair value of the consideration transferred, calculated as the sum of the 

acquisition-date fair value of assets transferred (including contingent 
consideration), the liabilities incurred to former owners of the acquiree and the 
equity instruments issued by the Group. Any amounts that relate to pre-existing 
relationships or other arrangements before or during the negotiations for the 
business combination, that are not part of the exchange for the acquiree, will be 
excluded from the business combination accounting and be accounted for 
separately; plus 

▪ the recognised amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree either at fair 
value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets at the 
acquisition date (the choice of measurement basis is made on an acquisition-by-
acquisition basis); plus 

▪ if the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition-date fair value of 
the previously held equity interest in the acquiree; less 

▪ the net fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities (including 
contingent liabilities) assumed at the acquisition date.  

 
The accounting policy for goodwill is set out in Note 3.8(a).  
 
When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognised immediately in 
profit or loss at the acquisition date. 
 
Transaction costs, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities, 
that the Group incurs in connection with a business combination are expensed as 
incurred.  
 
If the business combination is achieved in stages, the Group remeasures the previously 
held equity interest in the acquiree to its acquisition-date fair value, and recognises the 
resulting gain or loss, if any, in profit or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the 
acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have previously been recognised in other 
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss or transferred directly to retained 
earnings on the same basis as would be required if the acquirer had disposed directly 
of the previously held equity interest. 

 
If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the 
reporting period in which the business combination occurs, the Group uses provisional 
fair value amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. The provisional 
amounts are adjusted to reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances 
that existed as of the acquisition date, including additional assets or liabilities identified 
in the measurement period. The measurement period for completion of the initial 
accounting ends as soon as the Group receives the information it was seeking about 
facts and circumstances or learns that more information is not obtainable, subject to the 
measurement period not exceeding one year from the acquisition date. 
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10.B98 
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10.B96 
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10.App A 
 
 
10.B94 
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128.10 

 
 
128.10 

 
 
 
128.38 

128.39 
 
 
 
128.22(b) 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

3.1 Basis of consolidation (continued) 
 

(a) Subsidiaries and business combination (continued) 
 

Upon the loss of control of a subsidiary, the Group derecognises the assets and liabilities 
of the former subsidiary, any non-controlling interests and the other components of 
equity related to the former subsidiary from the consolidated statement of financial 
position. Any gain or loss arising on the loss of control is recognised in profit or loss. If 
the Group retains any interest in the former subsidiary, then such interest is measured 
at fair value at the date that control is lost. Subsequently, it is accounted for as an 
associate, a joint venture or a financial asset.  
 
Changes in the Group’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of 
control are accounted for as equity transactions. The difference between the Group’s 
share of net assets before and after the change, and the fair value of the consideration 
received or paid, is recognised directly in equity. 
 

(b) Non-controlling interests 
 

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries not attributable, directly or 
indirectly, to owners of the Company and are presented separately in the consolidated 
statement of financial position within equity. 
 
Losses attributable to the non-controlling interests are allocated to the non-controlling 
interests even if the losses exceed the non-controlling interests. 
 

(c) Associates 
 

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant influence, but not control, 
to the financial and operating policies.  
 
Investment in associates are accounted for in the consolidated financial statements 
using the equity method. 
 
Under the equity method, the investment in associates are initially recognised at cost. 
The cost of investment includes transaction costs. Subsequently, the carrying amount 
is adjusted to recognise changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the associate.  
 
When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in an associate, the carrying 
amount of that interest including any long-term investments is reduced to zero, and the 
recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Group has an 
obligation or has made payments on behalf of the associate. 
 
When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an associate, any retained 
interest in the former associate at the date when significant influence is lost is measured 
at fair value and this amount is regarded as the initial carrying amount of a financial 
asset. Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate upon loss of 
significant influence and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from 
disposal is recognised in profit or loss. 
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 10.B86(c)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

3.1 Basis of consolidation (continued) 
 

(c) Associates (continued) 
 

When the Group’s interest in an associate decreases but does not result in a loss of 
significant influence, any retained interest is not remeasured. Any gain or loss arising 
from the decrease in interest is recognised in profit or loss. Any gains or losses 
previously recognised in other comprehensive income are also reclassified 
proportionately to the profit or loss if that gain or loss would be required to be reclassified 
to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities. 
 

(d) Joint arrangements 
 

Joint arrangements arise when the Group and another party or parties are bound by a 
contractual arrangement, and the contractual arrangement gives the Group and the 
other party or parties, joint control of the arrangement. Joint control exists when there is 
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement whereby decisions about the 
relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. 
 
Joint arrangements are classified and accounted for as follows: 
▪ A joint arrangement is classified as a “joint operation” when the Group has rights to 

the assets and obligations for the liabilities relating to the arrangement. The Group 
accounts for its share of the assets (including its share of any assets held jointly), 
the liabilities (including its share of any liabilities incurred jointly), its revenue from 
the sale of its share of the output arising from the joint operation, its share of the 
revenue from the sale of the output by the joint operation and its expenses 
(including its share of any expenses incurred jointly). 

▪ A joint arrangement is classified as “joint venture” when the Group has rights to the 
net assets of the arrangements. The Group accounts for its interest in the joint 
venture using the equity method in accordance with MFRS 128 Investments in 
Associates and Joint Ventures.  

 
The Group has assessed the nature of its joint arrangement and determined them to be 
a joint venture and accounted for its interest in the joint venture using the equity method. 
 

(e) Transactions eliminated on consolidation 
 

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising 
from intra-group transactions are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial 
statements.  
 
Unrealised gains arising from transactions with equity-accounted associates and joint 
ventures are eliminated against the investment to the extent of the Group’s interest in 
the investee. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but 
only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment. 
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121.28 

9.B5.7.2 
 
121.15 

121.32 
121.41 
 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

3.2 Separate financial statements 
 

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investment in subsidiaries, joint ventures 
and associates are measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses, unless the 
investment is classified as held for sale or distribution. The cost of investment includes 
transaction costs.      The policy for the recognition and measurement of impairment losses 
shall be applied on the same basis as would be required for impairment of non-financial 
assets as disclosed in Note 3.16(b). 
 
Contributions to subsidiaries are amounts for which the settlement is neither planned nor 
likely to occur in the foreseeable future is, in substance, considered as part of the Company’s 
investment in the subsidiaries. 
 

3.3 Foreign currency transactions and operations 
 

(a) Translation of foreign currency transactions 
 

Foreign currency transactions are translated to the respective functional currencies of 
the Group entities using the exchange rates prevailing at the transaction dates.  
 
At the end of each reporting date, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies 
are retranslated at the exchange rates prevailing at the reporting date.  
 
Non-monetary items denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value 
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the dates the fair values were determined. 
Non-monetary items denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at historical 
cost are translated at the historical rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. 
  
Foreign exchange differences arising on settlement or retranslation of monetary items 
are recognised in profit or loss except for monetary items that are designated as hedging 
instruments in either a cash flow hedge or a hedge of the Group’s net investment of a 
foreign operation. When settlement of a monetary item receivable from or payable to a 
foreign operation is neither planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future, 
exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss in the separate financial statements 
of the parent company or the individual financial statements of the foreign operation. In 
the consolidated financial statements, the exchange differences are considered to form 
part of a net investment in a foreign operation and are recognised initially in other 
comprehensive income until its disposal, at which time, the cumulative amount is 
reclassified to profit or loss.  
 

Commentary: 
 MFRS 127 Separate Financial Statements does not define cost. Cost is, in simple terms, the fair 

value of consideration paid by the purchaser. 
 

Hence, an entity that uses the cost method in its separate financial statements to account for its 
investment in a subsidiary, associate or joint ventures should develop and consistently apply an 
accounting policy to either expense transaction costs in profit or loss, or capitalise them as part of the 
cost of the investment. 
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7.B5 

9.3.1.1 

 
 
 
9.5.1.1 

9.5.1.3 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

3.3 Foreign currency transactions and operations (continued) 
 

(a) Translation of foreign currency transactions (continued) 
 

The gain or loss arising on translation of non-monetary items measured at fair value is 
treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on the change in fair value of the 
item (i.e. translation differences on items whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in 
other comprehensive income or profit or loss are also recognised in other 
comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).  
 

(b) Translation of foreign operations 
 

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations denominated in the functional currency 
different from the presentation currency, including goodwill and fair value adjustments 
arising on acquisition, are translated into the presentation currency at exchange rates 
prevailing at the reporting date. The income and expenses of foreign operations are 
translated at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.  
 
Exchange differences arising on the translation are recognised in other comprehensive 
income. However, if the foreign operation is a non-wholly owned subsidiary, then the 
relevant proportionate share of the translation difference is allocated to the non-
controlling interests. 
 
When a foreign operation is disposed of such that control, significant influence or joint 
control is lost, the cumulative amount in foreign exchange translation reserves related 
to that foreign operation is reclassified to profit or loss.  For a partial disposal not 
involving loss of control of a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, the 
proportionate share of cumulative amount in foreign exchange translation reserve is 
reattributed to non-controlling interests. For partial disposals of associates or joint 
ventures that do not result in the Group losing significant influence or joint control, the 
proportionate share of the cumulative amount in foreign exchange translation reserve is 
reclassified to profit or loss.  

 
3.4 Financial instruments 

 
Financial instruments are recognised in the statements of financial position when, and only 
when, the Group and the Company become a party to the contractual provisions of the 
financial instruments. 
 
Except for the trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for 
which the Group and the Company have applied the practical expedient, the financial 
instruments are recognised initially at its fair value plus or minus, in the case of a financial 
asset or financial liability not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset and financial liability. 
Transaction costs of financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed 
in profit or loss. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or 
for which the Group and the Company have applied the practical expedient are measured at 
the transaction price determined under MFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

3.4 Financial instruments (continued) 
 

An embedded derivative is recognised separately from the host contract and accounted for 
as a derivative if, and only if, it is not closely related to the economic characteristics and risks 
of the host contract; it is a separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded 
derivative would meet the definition of a derivative; and the hybrid contract is not measured 
as fair value through profit or loss. The host contract, in the event an embedded derivative is 
recognised separately, is accounted for in accordance with the policy applicable to the nature 
of the host contract. 
 
A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing a financial asset host is not 
accounted for separately. The financial asset host together with the embedded derivative is 
required to be classified in its entirety as a financial asset at fair value through profit or loss. 

 
(a) Subsequent measurement 

 
The Group and the Company categorise the financial instruments as follows: 
 
(i)  Financial assets 

 
For the purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in 
four categories: 
▪ Financial assets at amortised cost  
▪ Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income with 

recycling of cumulative gains and losses upon derecognition 
▪ Financial assets designated at fair value through other comprehensive income 

with no recycling of cumulative gains and losses upon derecognition  
▪ Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

 
The classification depends on the entity’s business model for managing the 
financial assets and the contractual cash flows characteristics of the financial 
assets. 
 
The Group and the Company reclassify financial assets when and only when their 
business models for managing those assets change. 
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 9.4.1.2A

 9.5.7.10
 9.5.7.11
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

3.4 Financial instruments (continued) 
 

(a) Subsequent measurement (continued) 
 

The Group and the Company categorise the financial instruments as follows (continued): 
 
(i)  Financial assets (continued) 

 
Debt instruments 
 
Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s and the 
Company’s business model for managing the asset and the cash flow 
characteristics of the asset. There are three measurement categories into which 
the Group and the Company classify their debt instruments: 
 
▪ Amortised cost 

Financial assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and those 
cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest are measured 
at amortised cost. Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently 
measured using the effective interest method and are subject to impairment. 
The policy for the recognition and measurement of impairment is in 
accordance with Note 3.16(a). Gains and losses are recognised in profit or 
loss when the financial asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.  

 
▪ Fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) 

Financial assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for 
selling the financial assets, and the assets’ cash flows represent solely 
payments of principal and interest, are measured at FVOCI. For debt 
instruments at FVOCI, interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and 
impairment losses or reversals are recognised in profit or loss and computed 
in the same manner as for financial assets measured at amortised cost. The 
remaining fair value changes are recognised in other comprehensive income. 
The policy for the recognition and measurement of impairment is in 
accordance with Note 3.16(a). Upon derecognition, the cumulative fair value 
change recognised in other comprehensive income is recycled to profit or loss. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

3.4 Financial instruments (continued) 
 

(a) Subsequent measurement (continued) 
 

The Group and the Company categorise the financial instruments as follows (continued): 
 
(i)  Financial assets (continued) 

 
Debt instruments (continued) 
 
▪ Fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”) 

Financial assets at FVPL include financial assets held for trading, financial 
assets designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss, 
or financial assets mandatorily required to be measured at fair value. Financial 
assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of 
selling or repurchasing in the near term. Derivatives, including separated 
embedded derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless they are 
designated as effective hedging instruments. Financial assets with cash flows 
that are not solely payments of principal and interest are classified and 
measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business 
model. Notwithstanding the criteria for debt instruments to be classified at 
amortised cost or at FVOCI, as described above, debt instruments may be 
designated at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition if doing so 
eliminates, or significantly reduces, an accounting mismatch. 
 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the statements 
of financial position at fair value with net changes in fair value recognised in 
the profit or loss.  
 

Equity instruments 
 
The Group and the Company subsequently measure all equity investments at fair 
value. Upon initial recognition, the Group and the Company can make an 
irrevocable election to classify its equity investments that is not held for trading as 
equity instruments designated at FVOCI. The classification is determined on an 
instrument-by-instrument basis. 
 
Gains and losses on these financial assets are not recycled to profit or loss. 
Dividends are recognised as other income in the profit or loss when the right of 
payment has been established, except when the Group and the Company benefit 
from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in which 
case, such gains are recorded in other comprehensive income. Equity instruments 
designated at FVOCI are not subject to impairment assessment. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

3.4 Financial instruments (continued) 
 

(a) Subsequent measurement (continued) 
 

The Group and the Company categorise the financial instruments as follows (continued): 
 
(ii)  Financial liabilities 

 
The Group and the Company classify their financial liabilities in the following 
measurement categories: 
 
▪ Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 
▪ Financial liabilities at amortised cost 

 
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 
 
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held 
for trading, including derivatives (except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee 
contract or a designated and effective hedging instrument) or financial liabilities 
designated into this category upon initial recognition.  
 
Subsequent to initial recognition, financial liabilities at fair value through profit or 
loss are measured at fair value with the gain or loss recognised in profit or loss. 
 
Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or 
loss are designated at the initial date of recognition, and only if the criteria in MFRS 
9 Financial Instruments are satisfied. The Group and the Company have not 
designated any financial liability as at fair value through profit or loss. 

 
Financial liabilities at amortised cost 
 
Subsequent to initial recognition, other financial liabilities are measured at 
amortised cost using effective interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in 
profit or loss when the financial liabilities are derecognised and through the 
amortisation process. 

 
(b) Financial guarantee contracts 

 
A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified 
payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to 
make payment when due in accordance with the original or modified terms of a debt 
instrument. 
 
Financial guarantee contracts are recognised initially as a liability at fair value, net of 
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, the liability is measured at the higher of the amount of 
the loss allowance determined in accordance with Section 5.5 of MFRS 9 and the 
amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative amount of income 
recognised in accordance with the principles of MFRS 15. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

3.4 Financial instruments (continued) 
 

(c) Regular way purchase or sale of financial assets 
 

A regular way purchase or sale is a purchase or sale of a financial asset under a contract 
whose terms require delivery of the asset within the time frame established generally by 
regulation or convention in the marketplace concerned. 
 
A regular way purchase or sale of financial assets shall be recognised and 
derecognised, as applicable, using trade date accounting (i.e. the date the Group and 
the Company commit themselves to purchase or sell an asset).   
 
Trade date accounting refers to: 
(i) the recognition of an asset to be received and the liability to pay for it on the trade 

date; and 
(ii) derecognition of an asset that is sold, recognition of any gain or loss on disposal 

and the recognition of a receivable from the buyer for payment on the trade date. 
 
Generally, interest does not start to accrue on the asset and corresponding liability until 
the settlement date when title passes. 
 

(d) Derecognition 
 

A financial asset or a part of it is derecognised when, and only when: 
(i) the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the financial asset expire; or 
(ii) the Group and the Company have transferred their rights to receive cash flows from 

the asset or have assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows in full 
without material delay to a third party; and either (a) the Group and the Company 
have transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group 
and the Company have neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks 
and rewards of the asset, but have transferred control of the asset. 

 
The Group and the Company evaluate if, and to what extent, they have retained the 
risks and rewards of ownership. When they have neither transferred nor retained 
substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, nor transferred control of the asset, 
the Group and the Company continue to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of 
their continuing involvement. In that case, the Group and the Company also recognise 
an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured 
on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group and the Company have 
retained. 
 

Commentary: 
 
 According to MFRS 9.B3.1.3, opting for either trade date accounting or settlement date accounting 

is a policy choice. An entity shall apply the same method consistently for all purchases and sales of 
financial assets that are classified in the same way. Refer the accounting policy for settlement date 
accounting in MFRS 9.B3.1.6. 
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 9.6.5.2(c)

 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

3.4 Financial instruments (continued) 
 

(d) Derecognition (continued) 
 

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is 
measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum 
amount of consideration that the Group and the Company could be required to repay. 
 
On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount 
(measured at the date of derecognition) and the consideration received (including any 
new asset obtained less any new liability assumed) is recognised in profit or loss. 
 
A financial liability or a part of it is derecognised when, and only when, the obligation 
specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. On derecognition of a 
financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount and the consideration paid, 
including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit 
or loss. 

 
(e) Offsetting of financial instruments 

 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is presented in the 
statements of financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the 
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, to realise the 
assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously. 
 
In accounting for a transfer of a financial asset that does not qualify for derecognition, 
the entity shall not offset the transferred asset and the associated liability. 
 

(f) Derivatives 
 

The Group and the Company use interest swap contracts to hedge the exposure of 
floating interest rate. Such derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair 
value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 
remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as financial assets when the fair value 
is positive and as financial liabilities when the fair value is negative. Any gains or losses 
arising from changes in the fair value of derivatives are taken directly to the profit or loss. 

 
(g) Hedge accounting 

 
For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as: 
▪ Fair value hedge when hedging the exposure to changes in the fair value of a 

recognised asset or liability or an unrecognised firm commitment 
▪ Cash flow hedge when hedging the exposure to variability in cash flows that is 

either attributable to a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability 
or a highly probable forecast transaction or the foreign currency risk in an 
unrecognised firm commitment 

▪ Hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

3.4 Financial instruments (continued) 
 

(g) Hedge accounting (continued) 
 

At the inception of a hedge relationship, the Group and the Company formally designate 
and document the hedge relationship to which it wishes to apply hedge accounting and 
the risk management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge. 
 
The documentation includes identification of the hedging instrument, the hedged item, 
the nature of the risk being hedged and how the Group and the Company will assess 
whether the hedging relationship meets the hedge effectiveness requirements (including 
the analysis of sources of hedge ineffectiveness and how the hedge ratio is determined). 
A hedging relationship qualifies for hedge accounting if it meets all of the following 
effectiveness requirements: 
 
▪ There is ‘an economic relationship’ between the hedged item and the hedging 

instrument. 
▪ The effect of credit risk does not ‘dominate the value changes’ that result from that 

economic relationship. 
▪ The hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as that resulting from the 

quantity of the hedged item that the Group and the Company actually hedge and 
the quantity of the hedging instrument that the Group and the Company actually 
use to hedge that quantity of hedged item. 

 
Fair value hedge 
 
The change in the fair value of a hedging instrument is recognised in the profit or loss 
as other expense (or other comprehensive income, if the hedging instrument hedges an 
equity instruments for which the Group and the Company have elected to present 
changes in fair value in other comprehensive income). The change in the fair value of 
the hedged item attributable to the risk hedged is recorded as part of the carrying value 
of the hedged item and is also recognised in the profit or loss as other expense. If the 
hedged item is an equity instrument for which the Group and the Company have elected 
to present changes in fair value in other comprehensive income, those amount remain 
in other comprehensive income. 
 
For fair value hedges relating to items carried at amortised cost, any adjustment to 
carrying value is amortised through profit or loss over the remaining term of the hedge 
using the effective interest rate method. The effective interest rate amortisation may 
begin as soon as an adjustment exists and no later than when the hedged item ceases 
to be adjusted for changes in its fair value attributable to the risk being hedged. The 
amortisation is based on a recalculated effective interest rate at the date of amortisation 
begins. 
 
If the hedged item is derecognised, the unamortised fair value is recognised immediately 
in profit or loss. 
 
When an unrecognised firm commitment is designated as a hedged item, the 
subsequent cumulative change in the fair value of the firm commitment attributable to 
the hedged risk is recognised as an asset or liability with a corresponding gain or loss 
recognised in profit or loss. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

3.5 Property, plant and equipment 
 

(a) Recognition and measurement 
 

Property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
any accumulated impairment losses. The policy for the recognition and measurement of 
impairment losses is in accordance with Note 3.16(b). 
 
Cost of assets, other than bearer plants, includes expenditures that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition of the asset and any other costs that are directly 
attributable to bringing the asset to working condition for its intended use, and the costs 
of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located. 
The cost of self-constructed assets also includes cost of materials, direct labour, and 
any other direct attributable costs but excludes internal profits. For qualifying assets, 
borrowing costs are capitalised in accordance with the accounting policy on borrowing 
costs in Note 3.24. 
 
Cost of bearer plants consists of plantation development costs incurred from the 
commencement of planting of oil palm seedlings up to the maturity of the crop cultivated. 
Capitalisation of plantation development and other operating costs ceases upon the 
commencement of commercial harvesting of the agricultural produce.  
 
Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is 
capitalised as part of that equipment.  
 
When significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful 
lives, they are accounted for as separate items of property, plant and equipment. 

 
(b) Subsequent costs 

 
The cost of replacing a part of an item of property, plant and equipment, other than 
bearer plants, is included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate 
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that the future economic benefits 
associated with the part will flow to the Group or the Company and its cost can be 
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other 
repairs and maintenance are charged to the profit or loss as incurred. 
 
When bearer plants reached the end of its useful life and is replanted, the carrying 
amount of the old bearer plants are derecognised. 
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116.67 

116.68 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

3.5 Property, plant and equipment (continued) 
 

(c) Depreciation 
 

Freehold land has an unlimited useful life and therefore is not depreciated. Assets under 
construction included in property, plant and equipment are not depreciated as these 
assets are not yet available for use.  
 
All other property, plant and equipment are depreciated on straight-line basis by 
allocating their depreciable amounts over their remaining useful lives. 
 

 Useful lives 
(years) 

Buildings 50 years   
Manufacturing plant   
- Bare plant 30 years   
- Significant components 5-8 years 
Machinery and equipment   5-10 years  
Motor vehicles 5 years  
Furniture, fixtures and fittings 3-5 years  
Bearer plants (oil palm trees) 25  years 
Spare parts, stand-by equipment and servicing equipment  XX years  

 
The residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed at the end of 
each reporting period and adjusted as appropriate. 
 

(d) Derecognition 
 

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no 
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising 
on derecognition of the asset is recognised in profit or loss.  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

3.5 Property, plant and equipment (continued) 
 

Commentary: 
 
In accordance with MFRS 116, an entity has a policy choice for the measurement of property, plant 
and equipment after initial recognition. An entity may choose either the cost model or the revaluation 
model for entire classes of property, plant and equipment.  
 
For revaluation surplus that is included in equity, it is the Company’s policy choice to either: 
▪ transfer the revaluation reserve in full directly to retained earnings when the asset is 

derecognised; or  
▪ transfer the revaluation reserve to retained earnings as the asset is being used, where the 

amount of revaluation reserve transferred would be the difference between depreciation based 
on the revalued carrying amount of the asset and depreciation based on the asset’s original cost.   

 
Illustrative accounting policy where the entity accounts for certain class of property, plant and 
equipment at revaluation model 
 
Property, plant and equipment (other than land and buildings) are measured at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. The policy for the recognition and 
measurement of impairment losses is in accordance with Note 3.16(b). 
 
Freehold land and buildings are measured at fair value, based on valuations by external independent 
valuers, less accumulated depreciation on buildings and any accumulated impairment losses 
recognised after the date of revaluation. Valuations are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure 
that the fair value of the freehold land and buildings does not differ materially from the carrying amount. 
Any accumulated depreciation as at the date of revaluation is eliminated against the gross carrying 
amount of the asset and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset.  
 
A revaluation surplus is recognised in other comprehensive income and credited to the revaluation 
reserve. However, the increase shall be recognised in profit or loss to the extent that it reverses a 
revaluation decrease of the same asset previously recognised in profit or loss. If an asset’s carrying 
amount is decreased as a result of a revaluation, the decrease shall be recognised in profit or loss. 
However, the decrease shall be recognised in other comprehensive income to the extent of any credit 
balance existing in the revaluation reserve in respect of that asset.  
 
The revaluation reserve is transferred to retained earnings as the assets are used. The amount of 
revaluation reserve transferred is the difference between depreciation based on the revalued carrying 
amount of the asset and depreciation based on the asset’s original cost. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

3.6 Leases 
 

(a) Definition of lease 
 

At inception of a contract, the Group and the Company assess whether a contract is, or 
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to 
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. 
To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset, 
the Group and the Company assess whether: 

 
▪ the contract involves the use of an identified asset; 
▪ the Group and the Company have the right to obtain substantially all of the 

economic benefits from use of the asset throughout the period of use; and 
▪ the Group and the Company have the right to direct the use of the asset.  
 

(b) Lessee accounting 
 

At the lease commencement date, the Group and the Company recognise a right-of-use 
asset and a lease liability with respect to all lease agreements in which it is the lessee, 
except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease term of 12 months or less) 
and leases of low value assets.  
 
The Group and the Company present right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition 
of investment property in Note 5 and lease liabilities in Note 23.     [or The Group and 
the Company present right-of-use assets and lease liabilities as separate lines in the 
statements of financial position.] 
 
Right-of-use asset 

 
The right-of-use asset is initially recognised at cost, which comprises the initial amount 
of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the 
commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to 
dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site 
on which it is located, less any lease incentives received. 
 
The right-of-use asset is subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation 
and any accumulated impairment losses, and adjust for any remeasurement of the lease 
liabilities .      The  right -of-use  asset  is  depreciated  using  the  straight-line  method  from

 
the

 commencement  date  to  the  earlier  of  the  end  of  the  useful  life  of  the  right-of- use
 

asset
 

or
 the  end  of  the  lease  term.  If  the  Group  and  the  Company  expect  to  exercise

 
a

 
purchase

 option ,  the  right -of-use  asset  is  depreciated  over  the  useful  life
 

of
 

the
 

underlying
 

asset .
 The  policy  for  the  recognition  and  measurement  of  impairment

 
losses

 
is

 
in

 
accordance

 with  Note  3.16(b).  
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 16.36(c)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

3.6 Leases (continued) 
 

(b) Lessee accounting (continued) 
 

Lease liability 
 
The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that 
are not paid at the commencement date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the 
lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, the Group and the Company use their 
incremental borrowing rate. 
 
Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise: 
▪ fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease 

incentives; 
▪ variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using 

the index or rate at the commencement date; 
▪ the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees; 
▪ the exercise price of a purchase option, if the lessee is reasonably certain to 

exercise that option; and 
▪ payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee 

exercising an option to terminate the lease. 
 

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect 
interest on the lease liability and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease 
payments made. 
 
The Group and the Company remeasure the lease liability (and make a corresponding 
adjustment to the related right-of-use asset) whenever: 
▪ the lease term has changed or there is a change in the assessment of exercise of 

a purchase option, in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting 
the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate. 

▪ the lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in 
expected payment under a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease 
liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using the initial 
discount rate (unless the lease payments change is due to a change in a floating 
interest rate, in which case a revised discount rate is used). 

▪ a lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a 
separate lease, in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the 
revised lease payments using a revised discount rate. 

 
Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are not included in 
the measurement of the lease liability and the right-of-use asset. The related payments 
are recognised as an expense in the period in which the event or condition that triggers 
those payments occurs and are included in the line “other expenses” in the statements 
of comprehensive income. 
 
The Group and the Company have elected not to separate non-lease components and 
account for the lease and non-lease components as a single lease component. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

3.6 Leases (continued) 
 
(b) Lessee accounting (continued) 

 
Short-term leases and leases of low value assets  
 
The Group and the Company have elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and 
lease liabilities for short-term leases and leases of low value assets. The Group and the 
Company recognise the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line 
basis over the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more representative 
of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed. 

 
(c) Lessor accounting 

 
A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and 
rewards incidental to ownership. All other leases that do not meet this criterion are 
classified as operating leases. 
 
When the Group and the Company are intermediate lessors, they account for the head 
lease and the sublease as two separate contracts. The sublease is classified as a 
finance or operating lease by reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head 
lease. If a head lease is a short-term lease to which the Group applies the exemption 
described in Note 3.6(b), then it classifies the sub-lease as an operating lease. 
 
If an entity in the Group is a lessor in a finance lease, it derecognises the underlying 
asset and recognises a lease receivable at an amount equal to the net investment in the 
lease. Finance income is recognised in profit or loss based on a pattern reflecting a 
constant periodic rate of return on the lessor’s net investment in the finance lease. 
 
If an entity in the Group is a lessor in an operating lease, the underlying asset is not 
derecognised but is presented in the statements of financial position according to the 
nature of the asset. Lease income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss 
on a straight-line basis over the lease term, unless another systematic basis is more 
representative of the time pattern in which use benefit derived from the leased asset is 
diminished. 
 
When a contract includes lease and non-lease components, the Group and the 
Company apply MFRS 15 to allocate the consideration under the contract to each 
component. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

3.6 Leases (continued) 
 

Commentary: 
 
 According to MFRS 16.52, a lessee shall disclose information about its leases for which it is a lessee 

in a single note or separate section in its financial statements. However, a lessee need not duplicate 
information that is already presented elsewhere in the financial statements, provided that the 
information is incorporated by cross-reference in the single note or separate section about leases. 

  
 After the commencement date, a lessee shall measure the right-of-use asset applying a cost 

model, unless it applies either fair value model or the revaluation model.  
 
If a lessee applies the fair value model in MFRS 140 Investment Property to its investment 
property, the lessee shall also apply that fair value model to right-of-use assets that meet the 
definition of investment property in MFRS 140. 
 
If right-of-use assets relate to a class of property, plant and equipment to which the lessee applies 
the revaluation model in MFRS 116, a lessee may elect to apply that revaluation model to all of the 
right-of-use assets that relate to that class of property, plant and equipment. 

  
 

3.7 Investment properties 
 

Investment properties are properties held to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or 
both. 
 
Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent 
to initial recognition, investment properties are measured at fair value. Gains and losses 
arising from changes in the fair values of investment properties are recognised in profit or 
loss for the period in which they arise. 
 
Cost includes purchase price and any directly attributable costs incurred to bring the property 
to its present location and condition intended for use as an investment property. The cost of 
a self-constructed investment property includes the cost of material, direct labour and any 
other direct attributable costs. For qualifying assets, borrowing costs are capitalised in 
accordance with the accounting policy on borrowing costs in Note 3.24. 
 
An investment property is derecognised on its disposal or when it is permanently withdrawn 
from use and no future economic benefits are expected from its disposal. Any gains and 
losses arising from derecognition of the asset is recognised in the profit or loss. 
  
Transfers are made to or from investment property only when there is a change in use. For 
a transfer from investment property carried at fair value to owner-occupied property, the 
deemed cost for subsequent accounting is the fair value at the date of change in use. For a 
transfer from owner-occupied property to investment property, any difference arising on the 
date of change in use between the carrying amount of the item immediately prior to the 
transfer and its fair value is recognised directly in equity as a revaluation of property, plant 
and equipment. 
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140.30 
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140.79 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.32 

3.B63(a) 

 
 
 
 
 
128.32(a) 

128.42 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

3.7 Investment properties (continued) 
 

Commentary: 
 
In accordance with MFRS 140, an entity has a policy choice to account for investment properties either 
in accordance with the fair value model or the cost model. The model selected is applied to all 
investment properties (subject to exception cases when the entity is unable to determine fair value 
reliably on certain property – See Paragraph 53 and 54 of MFRS 140).   
 
When a lessee uses the fair value model to measure an investment property that is held as a right-of-
use asset, it shall measure the right-of-use asset, and not the underlying property, at fair value. 
 
If the entity accounts for investment property using cost model, then it discloses the depreciation 
method and the useful lives or the depreciation rates used, as well as the fair value of such investment 
property. 
 
Illustrative accounting policy where the entity accounts the entire investment properties at 
cost model 
 
The Group uses the cost model to measure its investment properties after initial recognition. Accordingly, 
investment properties are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment 
losses. The policy for the recognition and measurement of impairment losses is in accordance with Note 
3.16(b). 
 

 
3.8 Goodwill and other intangible assets 

 
(a) Goodwill 
 

Goodwill arising from business combinations is initially measured at cost, being the 
excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the amount recognised for 
non-controlling interests, and any previous interest held, over the net identifiable assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed. After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost 
less any accumulated impairment losses. The policy for the recognition and 
measurement of impairment losses is in accordance with Note 3.16(b). 
 
In respect of equity-accounted associates and joint venture, goodwill is included in the 
carrying amount of the investment and is not tested for impairment individually. Instead, 
the entire carrying amount of the investment is tested for impairment as a single asset 
when there is objective evidence of impairment.  
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138.68(a) 

138.71 
 
 
138.74 

 
 
 
 
 
138.118(a) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
138.118(a) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

3.8 Goodwill and other intangible assets (continued) 
 
(b) Research and development costs 
 

Research costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.  
 
An intangible asset arising from development is recognised when the following criteria 
are met: 
▪ it is technically feasible to complete the intangible asset so that it will be available 

for use or sale; 
▪ management intends to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it; 
▪ there is an ability to use or sell the asset; 
▪ it can be demonstrated how the intangible asset will generate probable future 

economic benefits;  
▪ adequate resources to complete the development and to use or sell the intangible 

asset are available; and 
▪ the expenditures attributable to the intangible asset during its development can be 

reliably measured.  
 
Other development costs that do not meet these criteria are recognised in profit or loss 
as incurred. Development costs previously recognised as an expense are not recognised 
as an intangible asset in a subsequent period. 
 
Capitalised development costs are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and 
accumulated impairment losses. The policy for the recognition and measurement of 
impairment losses is in accordance with Note 3.16(b). 
 

(c) Licenses 
 

Licenses acquired in a business combination are recognised at fair value at the 
acquisition date. The licenses have been acquired with the option to renew at little or no 
cost to the Group. As a result, those licenses are assessed as having an indefinite useful 
life. The policy for the recognition and measurement of impairment losses is in 
accordance with Note 3.16(b).  
 

(d) Computer software 
 

Computer software that are acquired by the Group and the Company, which have finite 
useful lives, are measured at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any 
accumulated impairment losses. The policy for the recognition and measurement of 
impairment losses is in accordance with Note 3.16(b). 
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138.118(a) 

138.118(b) 

 
 
 
 
138.104 

 
 
 
 
141.12 

141.26 

 
 
 
 
102.9 

102.36(a) 

 
102.10 

102.12 

102.13 

102.25 
 
 
102.6 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

3.8 Goodwill and other intangible assets (continued) 
 
(e) Concession rights 
 

Service concession arrangements are recognised using the intangible assets model as 
the Company receives a right to charge users of the public service. The policy for the 
recognition and measurement of service concession arrangements are disclosed in Note 
3.11. 
 

(f) Amortisation 
 

The amortisation methods used and the estimated useful lives are as follows: 
 
 Method Useful lives 

(years) 
Development costs Units of production 5 years 
Computer software Straight-line 4 years 
 
The residual values, useful lives and amortisation methods are reviewed at the end of 
each reporting period.  
 

3.9 Biological assets 
 
The biological assets of the Group include produce growing on bearer plants, which are the 
fresh fruit bunches of the oil palm trees, are measured at fair value less costs to sell and 
changes in fair value less costs to sell are recognised as gain and loss in profit or loss. 
 

3.10 Inventories 
 
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  
 
Costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition are 
accounted for as follows: 
▪ raw materials: purchase costs on a first-in first-out basis. 
▪ finished goods and work-in-progress: costs of direct materials and labour and a 

proportion of manufacturing overheads based on normal operating capacity. These 
costs are assigned on a weighted average cost basis. 

 
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the 
estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.  
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141.13 

 
 
 
 
 
 
IC Int 12.5 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

3.10 Inventories (continued) 
 
Property under development 
 
Cost includes: 
▪ freehold and leasehold rights for land 
▪ amounts paid to contractors for construction 
▪ borrowing costs, planning and design costs, costs for site preparation, professional fees 

for legal services, property transfer taxes, construction overheads and other related 
costs 

 
The cost of inventory recognised in profit or loss is determined with reference to the specific 
costs incurred on the property sold and an allocation of any non-specific costs based on the 
relative sale value of the property sold. 
 
Produce stocks 
 
The costs of produce stocks comprise agricultural produce transferred from biological assets 
is its fair value less costs to sell at the point of harvest. The fair value less costs to sell is 
treated as deemed cost for the purpose of subsequent processing of the agricultural produce 
into final agricultural commodities.  
 

3.11 Service concession arrangements 
 
The Company entered into various public-to-private service concession arrangements to 
construct, operate and maintain infrastructures used to provide a public service for a specified 
period of time. Under these concession arrangements, the grantor controls significant 
residual interest in the infrastructure at the end of the concession period.  
 
The Company accounts for the construction services under the service concession 
arrangements using the intangible asset model as the Company receives a right to charge 
users of the public service.  
 
The Company measures the consideration indirectly by reference to the stand-alone selling 
price of the construction services by reference to the costs of providing such services plus a 
reasonable profit margin.  
 
The Company amortises its concession intangible asset using straight-line method over its 
expected useful lives of twenty-five years in a way that reflects the pattern in which the asset’s 
economic benefits are consumed by the Company, starting from the date when the right to 
operate begins. Based on these principles, the intangible asset is amortised in line with the 
actual usage of the specific public facility, up to the maximum of the duration of the 
concession. 
 
Any asset carried under concession arrangements is derecognised upon disposal or when 
no future economic benefits are expected from its future use or disposal. 
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IC Int 12.17 

 

IC Int 12.16 

 

IC Int 12.18 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

3.11 Service concession arrangements (continued) 
 

Commentary: 
 
The service concession arrangements are accounted for based on the nature of the consideration as 
follows: 
▪ The intangible asset model is used to the extent that the Group receives a right (a license) to 

charge users of the public service;  
▪ The financial asset model is used when the Group has an unconditional right to receive cash or 

another financial asset from or at the direction of the grantor for the construction services; or   
▪ When the unconditional right to receive cash covers only part of the service, the two models are 

combined to account separately for each component. 
 
Illustrative accounting policy where the entity accounts for its service concession 
arrangements under the financial asset model 
 
The Company accounts for its service concession arrangements under the financial asset model as 
the Company has an unconditional right to receive cash or another financial asset from or at the 
direction of the grantor for the construction services. The consideration received and receivable is 
allocated by reference to the relative stand alone selling price of the various services delivered, when 
the amounts are separately identified. The Company estimates the relative stand alone selling price 
of the services by reference to the costs of providing each service plus a reasonable profit margin.  
 
In the financial asset model, the amount due from the grantor meets the definition of a receivable 
which is measured at the amount of consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled. It is 
subsequently measured at amortised cost. The amount initially recognised plus the cumulative interest 
on that amount is calculated using the effective interest method.   
 
Any asset carried under concession arrangements is derecognised when the contractual rights to the 
financial asset expire. 
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15.App A 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.6 

5.7 

5.8 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.15 

5.18 

 
 
 
5.5 

5.23 

5.21 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.25 

128.20 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

3.12 Contract assets/(liabilities) 
 

Contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for goods or services transferred to 
the customers when that right is conditioned on something other than the passage of time 
(for example, the Company’s future performance). The policy for the recognition and 
measurement of impairment losses is in accordance with Note 3.16(a). 

 
Contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or services to customers for which the 
Group and the Company have received the consideration or have billed the customers.  

 
3.13 Non-current assets or disposal groups held for sale 

 
Non-current assets or disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount 
will be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. 
The criteria for held for sale classification is regarded as met only when: 
▪ the asset or disposal group is available for immediate sale in its present condition; 
▪ the management is committed to a plan to sell the asset and the asset or disposal group 

is actively marketed for sale at a price that is reasonable in relation to its current fair 
value; and 

▪ the sale is expected to be completed within one year from the date of classification and 
actions required to complete the plan indicates that it is unlikely that significant changes 
to the plan will be made or that the sale will be withdrawn. 

 
Immediately before classification as held for sale, the assets, or components of a disposal 
group, are remeasured in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies. Thereafter, 
generally the assets or disposal groups are measured at the lower of carrying amount and 
fair value less costs to sell. 
 
Any impairment loss on the disposal group is first allocated to goodwill, and then to remaining 
assets and liabilities on pro-rata basis, except that no loss is allocated to inventories, financial 
assets, deferred tax assets, employee benefit assets and investment property that is 
measured at fair value, which continue to be measured in accordance with the Group’s 
accounting  policies .     Impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale and 
subsequent  gains or losses on remeasurement  are recognised  in profit  or loss. A gain for 
any subsequent  increase in fair value less costs to sell of an asset is recognised  but not in 
excess of the cumulative impairment loss that has been recognised. 

 
Intangible assets and property, plant and equipment once classified as held for sale are not 
amortised or depreciated. In addition, equity accounting of equity-accounted associates and 
joint venture ceases once classified as held for sale. 

1 
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Assets and liabilities classified as held for sale are presented separately as current items in 
the statements of financial position.

101.54(j)
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5.19 

 

 

 

 

 

5.32 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

3.13 Non-current assets or disposal groups held for sale (continued) 
 

Commentary: 
 
 The measurement provisions of MFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued 

Operations do not apply to the following non-current assets whether individually or as part of a 
disposal group: 
(a) Deferred tax assets (MFRS 112 Income Taxes) 
(b) Assets arising from employee benefits (MFRS 119 Employee Benefits) 
(c) Financial assets within the scope of MFRS 9 Financial Instruments 
(d) Non-current assets that are accounted for in accordance with the fair value model in MFRS 140 

Investment Property 
(e) Non-current assets that are measured at fair value less costs to sell in accordance with MFRS 

141 Agriculture 
(f) Contractual rights under insurance contracts as defined in MFRS 4 Insurance Contracts 

 
On remeasurement of a disposal group, an entity must remeasure those non-current assets listed 
above, current assets and all liabilities in accordance with applicable MFRSs. 

  
 

 
3.14 Discontinued operation 

 
A disposal group qualifies as discontinued operation if it is a component of an entity that 
either has been disposed of, or is classified as held for sale, and: 
▪ represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations; 
▪ is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or 

geographical area of operations; or 
▪ is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale. 

 
Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon disposal or when the operation 
meets the criteria to be classified as held for sale. When an operation is classified as a 
discontinued operation, the comparative statements of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income is re-presented as if the operation has been discontinued from the 
start of the comparative period. 

 
3.15 Cash and cash equivalents 

 
For the purpose of the statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash 
on hand, bank balances and deposits and other short-term, highly liquid investments with a 
maturity of three months or less, that are readily convertible to known amount of cash and 
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash and cash equivalents 
are presented net of bank overdrafts. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1 

68



 
 
 
 
 

  Reference  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.5.5.1 

9.App A 

 
 
 
 
 
9.5.5.3 

9.5.5.5 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 9.5.5.15

 

 
 
 9.5.5.11

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7.35G(a)(i)&(ii)

 

 
 
7.B8A

 

7.35F(b)

 

9.B5.5.37

 

7.35G(a)(iii)

 

 
 
 
 
9.B5.5.23

 
7.35G(a)(i)

 

 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

3.16 Impairment of assets 
 

(a) Impairment of financial assets and contract assets 
 

Financial assets measured at amortised cost, financial assets measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”), lease receivables, contract assets, a 
loan commitment and financial guarantee contracts will be subject to the impairment 
requirement in MFRS 9 which is related to the accounting for expected credit losses on 
the financial assets. Expected credit losses are the weighted average of credit losses 
with the respective risks of a default occurring as the weights. 
 
The Group and the Company measure loss allowance at an amount equal to lifetime 
expected credit losses, except for the following, which are measured as 12-month 
expected credit losses: 
▪ debt securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and 
▪ other debt securities and bank balances for which credit risk (i.e. risk of default 

occurring over the expected life of the financial instrument) has not increased 
significantly since initial recognition.  

 
For trade receivables, contract assets and lease receivables, the Group and the 
Company apply the simplified approach permitted by MFRS 9 to measure the loss 
allowance at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses.  
 
When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly 
since initial recognition and when estimating expected credit losses, the Group and the 
Company consider reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available 
without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information 
and analysis, based on the Group’s and the Company’s historical experience and 
informed credit assessment and including forward-looking information. 
 
The Group and the Company assume that the credit risk on a financial asset has 
increased significantly if it is more than 30 days past due. 
 
The Group and the Company consider a financial asset to be in default when: 
▪ the borrower is unable to pay its credit obligations to the Group and the Company 

in full, without taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group and 
the Company; or 

▪ the contractual payment of the financial asset is more than 90 days past due unless 
the Group and the Company have reasonable and supportable information to 
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.  

 
The Group and the Company consider a debt security to have low credit risk when its 
credit risk rating is equivalent to the globally understood definition of ‘investment grade’. 
The Group and the Company consider this to be BBB. The Group and the Company use 
the ratings from the [Agency X] to determine whether the debt instrument has 
significantly increased in credit risk and to estimate expected credit losses. 
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9.App A 

 
 
 
9.5.5.19 

9.B5.5.38 

 
 
9.B5.5.28 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 9.App A

 7.35F(d)

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

3.16 Impairment of assets (continued) 
 

(a) Impairment of financial assets and contract assets (continued) 
 

Lifetime expected credit losses are the expected credit losses that result from all possible 
default events over the expected life of a financial instrument. 
 
12-month expected credit losses are the portion of lifetime expected credit losses that 
represent the expected credit losses that result from default events on a financial 
instrument that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date. 
 
The maximum period considered when estimating expected credit losses is the 
maximum contractual period over which the Group and the Company are exposed to 
credit risk. 
 
Expected credit losses are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses (i.e. the 
present value of all cash shortfalls) over the expected life of the financial instrument. A 
cash shortfall is the difference between the cash flows that are due to an entity in 
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the entity expects to receive. 
 
Expected credit losses are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial assets. 
 
At each reporting date, the Group and the Company assess whether financial assets 
carried at amortised cost and debt securities at FVOCI are credit-impaired. A financial 
asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the 
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a 
financial asset is credit-impaired include observable data about the following events: 
▪ significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower; 
▪ a breach of contract, such as a default of past due event; 
▪ the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the 

borrower’s financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that 
the lender(s) would not otherwise consider; 

▪ it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial 
reorganisation; 

▪ the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial 
difficulties; or 

▪ the purchase or origination of a financial asset at a deep discount that reflects the 
incurred credit losses. 

 
The amount of impairment losses (or reversal) shall be recognised in profit or loss, as 
an impairment gain or loss. For financial assets measured at FVOCI, the loss allowance 
shall be recognised in other comprehensive income and shall not reduce the carrying 
amount of the financial asset in the statements of financial position. 
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 136.104
 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

3.16 Impairment of assets (continued) 
 

(a) Impairment of financial assets and contract assets (continued) 
 

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either partially or in full) to 
the extent that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when 
the Group and the Company determine that the debtor does not have assets or source 
of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the 
write-off. However, financial assets that are written off could still be subject to 
enforcement activities in order to comply with the Group’s and the Company’s procedure 
for recovery of amounts due. 

 
(b) Impairment of non-financial assets 

 
The carrying amounts of non-financial assets (except for inventories, contract assets, 
deferred tax assets, assets arising from employee benefits, investment properties 
measured at fair value, biological assets and non-current assets or disposal groups 
classified as held for sale) are reviewed at the end of each reporting period to determine 
whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the Group 
and the Company make an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount. For goodwill and 
intangible assets that have indefinite useful life and are not yet available for use, the 
recoverable amount is estimated at each reporting date. 
 
For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest 
group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely 
independent of the cash inflows of non-financial assets or cash-generating units 
(“CGUs”). Subject to an operating segment ceiling test, for the purpose of goodwill 
impairment testing, CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated are aggregated so that 
the level at which impairment testing is performed reflects the lowest level at which 
goodwill is monitored for internal reporting purposes. The goodwill acquired in a 
business combination, for the purpose of impairment testing, is allocated to a CGU or a 
group of CGUs that are expected to benefit from the synergies of business combination. 
 
The recoverable amount of an asset or a CGU is the higher of its fair value less costs of 
disposal and its value-in-use. In assessing value-in-use, the estimated future cash flows 
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset or 
CGU. In determining the fair value less costs of disposal, recent market transactions are 
taken into account. If no such transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation 
model is used. 
 
Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the carrying 
amount of asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognised in 
respect of a CGU or groups of CGUs are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of 
any goodwill allocated to those units or groups of units and then, to reduce the carrying 
amount of the other assets in the unit or groups of units on a pro-rata basis. 
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136.24 

136.110 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

3.16 Impairment of assets (continued) 
 

(b) Impairment of non-financial assets (continued) 
 

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss, except for assets that were previously 
revalued with the revaluation surplus recognised in other comprehensive income. In the 
latter case, the impairment is recognised in other comprehensive income up to the 
amount of any previous revaluation. 
 
Impairment losses in respect of goodwill are not reversed. For other assets, an 
assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that 
previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. 
An impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to 
determine the assets recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. 
Reversal of impairment loss is restricted by the asset’s carrying amount that would have 
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. 
Such reversal is recognised in profit or loss unless the asset is measured at revalued 
amount, in which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase. 
 

3.17 Share capital 
 

(a) Ordinary shares 
 

Ordinary shares are equity instruments. An equity instrument is a contract that evidences 
a residual interest in the assets of the Company after deducting all of its liabilities. 
Ordinary shares are recorded at the proceeds received, net of directly attributable 
incremental transaction costs. Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in equity in 
the period in which they are declared. 

 
(b) Preference shares 

 
Preference shares are classified as equity if it is non-redeemable, or is redeemable but 
only at the Company’s option, and any dividend payments are discretionary. Dividends 
thereon are recognised as distributions within equity. 
 
Preference shares are classified as financial liability if it is redeemable on a specific date 
or at the option of the equity holders, or if dividend payments are not discretionary. 
Dividends thereon are recognised as interest expense in profit or loss as accrued. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

3.17 Share capital (continued) 
 

(c) Treasury shares 
 

When share capital recognised as equity is repurchased, the amount of consideration 
paid is recognised directly in equity. Repurchased shares that have not been cancelled 
including any attributable transaction costs are classified as treasury shares and 
presented as a deduction from total equity.  
 
When treasury shares are sold or reissued subsequently, the difference between the 
sales consideration and the carrying amount is presented as a movement in equity. 

 
3.18 Compound financial instruments 
 

Compound financial instruments issued by the Company comprise convertible notes that can 
be converted to share capital at the option of the holder, and the number of shares to be 
issued does not vary with changes in their fair value. 
 
The liability component of a compound financial instrument is recognised initially at the fair 
value of a similar liability that does not have an equity conversion option. The equity 
component is recognised initially as the difference between the fair value of the compound 
financial instrument as a whole and the fair value of the liability component. Any transaction 
costs that are directly attributable are allocated to the liability and equity components in 
proportion to the allocated proceeds. 
 
Subsequent to initial recognition, the liability component of a compound financial instrument 
is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The equity component of 
a compound financial instrument is not remeasured subsequent to initial recognition except 
on conversion or expiry. 

 
3.19 Employee benefits 
 

(a) Short-term employee benefits 
 

Short-term employee benefit obligations in respect of wages, salaries, social security 
contributions, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, sick leave and non-monetary benefits 
are recognised as an expense in the financial year where the employees have rendered 
their services to the Group and the Company. 

 
(b) Defined contribution plans 

 
As required by law, the Group and the Company contribute to the Employees Provident 
Fund (“EPF”), the national defined contribution plan. Such contributions are recognised 
as an expense in the profit or loss in the period in which the employees render their 
services. 
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119.68 

119.83 

 
 
 
 
 
119.122 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

3.19 Employee benefits (continued) 
 

(c) Defined benefit plans 
 

The Group operates defined benefit pension plans (funded) and provides a post-
employment healthcare benefit (unfunded) plan to employees as provided in the 
employment agreements between the companies in the Group and their employees. 
 
The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries using the 
projected unit credit method. The present value of the defined benefit obligation is 
determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of 
high-quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits 
will be paid, and that have terms to maturity approximating to the terms of the related 
defined benefit obligation. In countries where there is no deep market in such bonds, 
the market rates on government bonds are used. 
 
Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability, which comprise actuarial gains and 
losses, the return on plan assets (excluding amounts included in net interest on the net 
defined benefit liability) and the effect of the asset ceiling (excluding amounts included 
in net interest on the net defined benefit liability), are recognised immediately in other 
comprehensive income. Remeasurements are not reclassified to profit or loss in 
subsequent periods. 
 
The net interest is calculated by applying the discount to the net balance of the defined 
benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets. 
 
The Group recognises the following costs in profit or loss: 
▪ Service costs comprising current service costs, past service costs, gains and 

losses on curtailments and non-routine settlements 
▪ Net interest expense or income 

 
(d) Other long-term employee benefits 

 
The Group’s and the Company’s other long-term employee benefits include long term 
paid absences, long term disability benefits and other long service benefits.  
 
Liability recognised in respect of other long-term employee benefits are measured at the 
present value of the estimated future cash outflows expected to be made by the Group 
and the Company in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date. 
The net total of the following amounts should be recognised in profit or loss, except to 
the extent that another MFRS requires or permits their inclusion in the cost of an asset: 
▪ service cost; 
▪ net interest on the net defined benefit liability or asset; and 
▪ remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability or asset. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

3.19 Employee benefits (continued) 
 

Commentary: 
 
In the case of where the Group and the Company provide termination benefits, the illustrative 
disclosure is as follows: 
 
(e)  Termination benefits  
 

Termination benefits are expensed at the earlier of when the Group and the Company can no 
longer withdraw the offer of those benefits and when the Group and the Company recognise costs 
for restructuring. If benefits are not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months of the end of 
the reporting period, then they are discounted. 

 
 

3.20 Share-based payments 
 
(a) Equity-settled share-based payment 

 
The cost of equity-settled share-based payment is determined by the fair value at the 
date when the grant is made using an appropriate valuation model. Details regarding 
the determination of the fair value of equity-settled share-based payments are set out in 
Note 22(d). 
 
The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments 
is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the Company’s 
estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase in 
equity. At the end of each reporting period, the Company revises its estimate of the 
number of equity instruments expected to vest. The impact of the revision of the original 
estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects 
the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the share option reserve. 

 
Equity-settled share-based payments with parties other than employees are measured 
at the fair value of the goods and services received, except where that fair value cannot 
be estimated reliably, in which case they are measured at the fair value of the equity 
instruments granted at the date the Company obtains the goods or the counterparty 
renders the service. 

 
Commentary: 
 
In cases where the Company provides cash-settled share-based payment, the illustrative 
disclosure is as follows: 
 
For cash-settled share-based payment, a liability is recognised for the goods or services acquired, 
measured initially at the fair value of the liability. At the end of reporting period until the liability is 
settled, and at the date of settlement, the fair value of the liability is remeasured, with any changes in 
the fair value recognised in profit or loss for the financial year. 
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  Reference  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
137.14 

 
 
 
 
137.45 

137.47 

137.60 
 
 
 
137.59 

 
 
 
 
 
137.39 

 
 
 
 
 
 
137.21 

 
 
 
 
 
137.16 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
116.16(c) 

137.45 

 
137.47 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

3.21 Provisions 
 

Provisions are recognised when the Group and the Company have a present obligation (legal 
or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic 
resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount of the obligation can be 
estimated reliably. 
 
If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions that are determined based on 
the expected future cash flows to settle the obligation are discounted using a current pre-tax 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the increase in the provisions due to 
passage of time is recognised as finance costs. 
 
Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best 
estimate. If it is no longer probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to 
settle the obligation, the provision is reversed. 
 
(a) Warranties 

 
Provision related to assurance-type warranty cost for expected warranty claim is 
recognised when the product is sold or service is provided to the customer. Initial 
recognition is based on historical experience of the level of repairs and returns within 
the warranty period. 

 
(b) Site restoration costs 

 
In accordance with the Group’s published environmental policy and applicable legal 
requirements, a provision for site restoration in respect of contaminated land, and the 
related expense, is recognised when the land is contaminated. 

 
(c) Legal claims 

 
For lawsuit provisions, a probability-weighted expected outcome is applied in the 
measurement, taking into account past court judgements made in similar cases and 
advice of legal experts. 
 

Commentary: 
 
Other illustrative accounting policy for provisions: 
 
Illustrative accounting policy for decommissioning liability  
 
The Group records a provision for decommissioning costs of a manufacturing facility for the production 
of retardant materials. Decommissioning costs are provided at the present value of expected costs to 
settle the obligation using estimated cash flows and are recognised as part of the cost of the particular 
asset. The cash flows are discounted at a current pre-tax rate that reflects the risks specific to the 
decommissioning liability. 
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137.66 

 
137.68 

 

137.69 

 
 
 
 137.71

 137.72

 137.82

 
 
 
 3.56

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 15.2

 

 
 
 15.7

 

 15.4

 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

3.21 Provisions (continued) 
 

Commentary (continued):  
 
Other illustrative accounting policy for provisions (continued):  
 
Illustrative accounting policy for onerous contracts  
 
A provision for onerous contracts is recognised when the expected benefits to be derived by the Group 
from a contract are lower than the unavoidable cost of meeting its obligations under the contract. The 
provision is measured at the lower of the present value of the expected cost of terminating the contract 
and the present value of the expected net cost of continuing with the contract. Before a provision is 
established, the Group recognises any impairment loss on the assets associated with that contract. 
 
Illustrative accounting policy for restructuring 
 
A provision for restructuring is recognised when the Group has approved a detailed formal 
restructuring plan, and the restructuring either has commenced or has been announced publicly. 
Future operating losses are not provided for. 
 
Illustrative accounting policy for contingent liabilities acquired in a business combination 
 
A contingent liability acquired in a business combination is initially measured at fair value at the 
acquisition date. Subsequently, it is measured at the higher of the amount that would be recognised 
in accordance with MFRS 137 and the amount initially recognised less, if appropriate, cumulative 
amount of income recognised in accordance with the principles of MFRS 15.  
 
 

 
3.22 Revenue and other income  

 
The Group and the Company recognise revenue that depict the transfer of promised goods 
or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group and 
the Company expect to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. 
 
Revenue recognition of the Group and the Company are applied for each contract with a 
customer or a combination of contracts with the same customer (or related parties of the 
customer). For practical expedient, the Group and the Company applied revenue recognition 
to a portfolio of contracts (or performance obligations) with similar characteristics if the Group 
and the Company reasonably expect that the effects on the financial statements would not 
differ materially from recognising revenue on the individual contracts (or performance 
obligations) within that portfolio. 
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  Reference  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
15.48-49 

 
 
 
 
15.53 

 
 
 
 
 
15.73-74 

15.79(b) 
 
 
 
 
15.32 

 
 
15.31 

15.32 

 
 
15.18 

 
 
15.20 

15.21 

 

 

15.63 

15.129 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

3.22 Revenue and other income (continued) 
 
The Group and the Company measure revenue at its transaction price, being the amount of 
consideration to which the Group and the Company expect to be entitled in exchange for 
transferring promised good or service to a customer, excluding amounts collected on behalf 
of third parties, adjusted for the effects of any variable consideration, constraining estimates 
of variable consideration, significant financing components, non-cash consideration and 
consideration payable to customer. If the transaction price includes variable consideration, 
the Group and the Company use the expected value method by estimating the sum of 
probability-weighted amounts in a range or possible consideration amounts, or the most likely 
outcome method, depending on which method the Group and the Company expect to better 
predict the amount of consideration to which it is entitled. 
 
For contract with separate performance obligations, the transaction price is allocated to the 
separate performance obligations on the relative stand-alone selling price basis. If the stand-
alone selling price is not directly observable, the Group and the Company estimate it by using 
the expected cost plus margin approach [or adjusted market assessment approach or 
residual approach]. 
 
Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised by reference to each distinct 
performance obligation in the contract with customer, i.e. when or as a performance 
obligation in the contract with customer is satisfied. A performance obligation is satisfied 
when or as the customer obtains control of the good or service underlying the particular 
performance obligation, which the performance obligation may be satisfied at a point in time 
or over time.  
 
A contract modification is a change in the scope or price (or both) of a contract that is 
approved by the parties to the contract. A modification exists when the change either creates 
new or changes existing enforceable rights and obligations of the parties to the contract. The 
Group and the Company have assessed the type of modification and accounted for as either 
creates a separate new contract, terminates the existing contract and creation of a new 
contract; or forms a part of the existing contracts. 

 
Financing components   
 
The Group and the Company have applied the practical expedient for not to adjust the 
promised amount of consideration for the effects of a significant financing components if the 
Group and the Company expect that the period between the transfer of the promised goods 
or services to the customer and payment by the customer will be one year or less. 
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  Reference  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
15.119(a) 

 
 
 
 
 
 15.119(b)

 15.60
 15.105
 

 
 15.119(b)

 15.47
 

 
 15.53(a)

 15.56
 

 
 
 
 
 15.119(d)

 15.53(a)
 15.56

 
 
 
 
 
 15.55

 15.B21(b)
 

 

 15.B21(c)
 

 
 15.16

 

 
 
 15.B30

 15.119(c)

 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

3.22 Revenue and other income (continued)  
 
(a) Sale of goods – manufacturing 

 
The Group manufactures and sells a range of plastic mould products to local customers. 
Revenue from sale of manufactured goods are recognised at a point in time when 
control of the products has been transferred, being when the customer accepts the 
delivery of the goods [Revenue from sale of goods is recognised at a point in time when 
control of goods is transferred to the customer, generally on the delivery of goods].  
 
Sales are made with a credit term of 30 days, which is consistent with market practice, 
therefore, no element of financing is deemed present. A receivable is recognised when 
the customer accepts the delivery of the goods as the consideration is unconditional 
other than the passage of time before the payment is due. 
 
The manufactured goods are often sold with volume discounts based on aggregate 
sales over a 12-month period. Revenue is recognised based on the price specified in 
the contract, net of the estimated volume discounts. Accumulated experience with the 
customer’s purchasing pattern is used to estimate and provide for the discounts, using 
the expected value method. [The Group uses the expected value method because it is 
the method that the Group expects to better predict the estimated volume discounts to 
which it will be provided to the customers.] The estimated volume discounts recognised 
is constrained to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal in the 
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the uncertainty 
associated with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved. 
 
The Group’s customary business practice is to allow a customer to return any unused 
product within 30 days and receive a full refund. The Group uses its experience in 
estimating returns for this product and customer class. [The Group uses the expected 
value method because it is the method that the Group expects to better predict the 
amount of consideration to which the products will be refunded.] With that, upon transfer 
the control of the product, the Group does not recognise revenue for products that it is 
highly probable to be returned. 
 
A contract liability is recognised for expected volume discounts payable to customers 
and for products expected to be returned from customers in relation to sales made until 
the end of the reporting period. 
 
A right to recover goods from customer on settling the refund liability is recognised as 
an asset and included as part of inventories for the goods expected to be returned.  
 
Where consideration is collected from customer in advance for sale of manufactured 
good, a contract liability is recognised for the customer deposits. Contract liability would 
be recognised as revenue upon sale of manufactured goods to the customer. 
 
The Group’s obligation to provide a refund for faulty products under the standard 
warranty terms is recognised as a provision in Note 26. 
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  Reference  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
15.119(c) 

15.22 

 
15.73 

15.79(b) 
 
 
15.119(a) 

 
 
 
15.35(c) 

 
15.39 

 
15.B18 

 
 
 
15.35(c) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
15.38 

 

 

15.119(b) 

15.60 

15.117 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

3.22 Revenue and other income (continued)  
 

(b) Property development 
 

The Group and the Company develop and sell residential and commercial properties. 
Contracts with customers may include multiple distinct promises to customers and 
therefore accounted for as separate performance obligations. In the contract with 
customer contains more than one performance obligation, when the stand-alone selling 
price are not directly observable, they are estimated based on expected cost plus margin 
approach. 
 
Revenue from residential and commercial properties are recognised as and when the 
control of the asset is transferred to the customer. Based on the terms of the contract 
and the laws that apply to the contract, control of the asset is transferred over time as 
the Group’s and the Company’s performance do not create an asset with an alternative 
use to the Group and the Company and the Group and the Company have an 
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date. Revenue is recognised 
over the period of the contract by reference to the progress towards complete 
satisfaction of that performance obligation. The progress towards complete satisfaction 
of a performance obligation is determined by the proportion of property development 
costs incurred for work performed to date bear to the estimated total property 
development costs (an input method).  
 
Revenue from commercial properties are recognised as and when the control of the 
asset is transferred to the customer. Based on the terms of the contract and the laws 
that apply to the contract, control of the asset is transferred at a point in time as the 
Group’s and the Company’s performance do not create an asset with an alternative use 
to the Group and the Company but the Group and the Company do not have an 
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date. Revenue is recognised 
at a point in time when the properties have been completed and delivered to the 
customers. 
 
Revenue from other promises such as club house/club membership are recognised over 
time over the membership period. 
 
The consideration is due based on the scheduled payments in the contract, therefore, 
no element of financing is deemed present. When a particular milestone is reached in 
excess of the scheduled payments, a contract asset will be recognised for the excess 
of revenue recognised to date under the input method over the progress billings to-date 
and include deposits or advances received from customers. When the progress billings 
to-date and include deposits or advances received from customers exceeds revenue 
recognised to date then the Group and the Company recognise a contract liability for 
the difference.  
 

1 

4  

80



 
 
 
 
 

  Reference  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
15.16 

 
 
 
 
 
15.119(b) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
15.B30 

15.119(e) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
15.119(c) 

 
 
 
 
15.119(a) 

 
15.35(b) 

 
15.39 

 
15.B18 

 
 
15.119(b) 

15.60 
 
 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

3.22 Revenue and other income (continued)  
 

(b) Property development (continued) 
 

Consistent with market practice, the Group and the Company collect deposit from 
customers for sale of properties. A contract liability is recognised for the customer 
deposits as the Group and the Company have obligations to transfer the goods or 
services to the customer in respect of deposits received. Customer deposits would be 
recognised as revenue upon transfer of goods or services to the customer. 
 
[Based on the Group’s and the Company’s customary business practice, the customers’ 
legal fees are borne by the Group and the Company. Revenue is recognised based on 
the transaction price agreed in the contracts, net of the customers’ legal fees. The Group 
and the Company use its experience in estimating the legal fees to be incurred. The 
Group and the Company use the expected value method because it is the method that 
the Group and the Company expect to better predict the amount of consideration to 
which they will be entitled. The amount of revenue recognised does not include any 
customers’ legal fees which is constrained]. 
 
For residential properties, as part of the statutory requirements, the Group’s and the 
Company’s obligations to repair and made good of any defect, shrinkage or other faults 
in the building or in the common property which have become apparent within a period 
of 24 months after the customer takes vacant possession of the building are recognised 
as a provision in Note 26. 
 

(c) Construction contracts 
 

The Group and the Company construct commercial and industrial properties under long-
term contracts with customers. Construction service contracts comprise multiple 
deliverables that require significant integration service and therefore accounted as a 
single performance obligation. 
 
Under the terms of the contracts, control of the commercial and industrial properties is 
transferred over time as the Group and the Company create or enhance an asset that 
the customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced. Revenue is recognised over 
the period of the contract by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of 
that performance obligation. The progress towards complete satisfaction of a 
performance obligation is determined by the proportion of construction costs incurred 
for work performed to date bear to the estimated total construction costs (an input 
method). 
 
Billings are made with a credit term of 30 days, which is consistent with market practice, 
therefore, no element of financing is deemed present. The Group and the Company 
become entitled to invoice customers for construction of commercial and industrial 
properties based on achieving a series of performance-related milestones.  
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  Reference  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
15.117 

 

 

 

 

 

 

15.B30 

15.119(e) 

 

 
 

15.119(a) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

15.119(b) 

15.60 

15.105 

 

 

 

 IC Int 12.13
 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

3.22 Revenue and other income (continued)  
 

(c) Construction contracts (continued) 
 

The Group and the Company recognised a contract asset for any excess of revenue 
recognised to date over the billings-to-date. Any amount previously recognised as a 
contract asset is reclassified to trade receivables at the point when invoice is issued or 
timing for billing is due to passage of time. If the milestone billing exceeds the revenue 
recognised to date and any deposit or advances received from customers then the 
Group and the Company recognise a contract liability for the difference. 
 
Defect liability period is usually XX months from the date of Certificate of Practical 
Completion as provided in the contracts with customers. 
 

(d) Sale of agricultural commodities 
 

The Group sells a range of agricultural commodities such as crude palm oil and palm 
kernel. Revenue from sale of agricultural commodities is recognised net of discount and 
taxes collected on behalf at a point in time when control of the agricultural commodities 
has been transferred to the customer. The control transfers upon delivery of the 
agricultural commodities to a location specified by the customer and acceptance of the 
agricultural commodities by the customer. 
 
Sales are made with a credit term of 30 days and no element of financing is present. A 
receivable is recognised when the customer accepts the delivery of the goods as the 
consideration is unconditional other than the passage of time before the payment is due. 
 

(e) Service concession  
 

Revenue related to construction service under service concession arrangement is 
recognised over time, consistent with the Company’s accounting policy on construction 
contracts as disclosed in (c) above. Operation or service revenue is recognised in the 
period in which the services are provided by the Company. If the service concession 
arrangement contains more than one performance obligation, then the consideration 
received is allocated with reference to the relative stand-alone selling prices of the 
services delivered. 
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15.119 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
15.129 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

3.22 Revenue and other income (continued)  
 

(f) Interest income 
 

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method. 
 

(g) Dividend income 
 

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established. 
 

(h) Rental income 
 

Rental income from investment property is recognised on a straight-line basis over the 
term of the lease. Lease incentive granted is recognised as an integral part of the total 
rental income, over the term of the lease. 

 
(i) Rendering of services 

 
Revenue from a contract to provide services is recognised over time as the services are 
rendered because the customer receives and uses the benefits simultaneously. This is 
determined based on the time elapsed (output method). 
 
 

Commentary: 
 
 An entity shall disclose information about its performance obligations in contracts with customers, 

including a description of all of the following: 
(a) when the entity typically satisfies its performance obligations (e.g. upon shipment, upon delivery, 

as services are rendered or upon completion of service), including when performance obligations 
are satisfied in a bill-and-hold arrangement; 

(b) the significant payment terms (e.g. when payment is typically due, whether the contract has a 
significant financing component, whether the consideration amount is variable and whether the 
estimate of variable consideration is typically constrained in accordance with MFRS 15 
paragraphs 56–58); 

(c) the nature of the goods or services that the entity has promised to transfer, highlighting any 
performance obligations to arrange for another party to transfer goods or services (i.e. if the entity 
is acting as an agent); 

(d) obligations for returns, refunds and other similar obligations; and 
(e) types of warranties and related obligations. 

 
 If an entity elects to use the practical expedient in MFRS 15.63 (about the existence of a significant 

financing component), the entity shall disclose that fact. 
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15.33 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 15.38

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 FRSIC

 Consensus 
 23, 24, 25

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 120.7

 

 
 120.12

 120.24
 120.26
 120.29
 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

3.22 Revenue and other income (continued)  
 

Commentary (continued): 
 
 Control of an asset refers to the ability to direct the use of, and obtain substantially all of the remaining 

benefits from, the asset. Control includes the ability to prevent other entities from directing the use of, 
and obtaining the benefits from, an asset. The benefits of an asset are the potential cash flows 
(inflows or savings in outflows) that can be obtained directly or indirectly in many ways, such as by: 
(a) using the asset to produce goods or provide services (including public services);  
(b) using the asset to enhance the value of other assets;  
(c) using the asset to settle liabilities or reduce expenses;  
(d) selling or exchanging the asset;  
(e) pledging the asset to secure a loan; and  
(f) holding the asset. 
 
To determine the point in time at which a customer obtains control of a promised asset and the entity 
satisfies a performance obligation, entity shall consider indicators of the transfer of control, which 
include, but are not limited to, the following: 
(a) The entity has a present right to payment for the asset 
(b) The customer has legal title to the asset 
(c) The entity has transferred physical possession of the asset 
(d) The customer has the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the asset 
(e) The customer has accepted the asset 

  
 MIA issued FRSIC Consensus 23, 24 and 25 to address the timing of revenue recognition for 

residential properties in Malaysia which states that entities which enter into SPAs with purchasers in 
the prescribed form required by the Housing Development Regulation in Malaysia satisfy the criteria 
of paragraph 35(c) of MFRS 15 and accordingly revenue from the sale of residential properties shall 
be recognised over time. 
 
However, for sale of commercial properties, assessment shall be on contract-by-contract basis to 
determine if the contract meets the 2 conditions for revenue to be recognised over time: 
(a) Performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the entity; and 
(b) The entity has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date. 

  
 

3.23 Government grants 
 

Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be 
received and all attached conditions will be complied with.  
 
Where the grant relates to an asset, it is recognised as deferred income in the statements of 
financial position and transferred to profit or loss over the expected useful life of the related 
asset. Where the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised in profit or loss, under the 
heading of “other income”, on a systematic basis over the periods that the related costs, for 
which it is intended to compensate, are expensed. 
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120.10A 

 
 
 
 
 
123.5 

 
 
123.8 

 
 
 123.5

 123.8
 

 
 
 123.17

 

 
 
 
 
123.12

 

 
 
 
 
 
112.6

 

112.58

 

 
 
 112.46

 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

3.23 Government grants (continued) 
 

The benefit derived from a government loan at a below-market rate of interest is treated as 
a government grant, measured as the difference between proceeds received and the fair 
value of the loan based on prevailing market interest rates. 

 
3.24 Borrowing costs 
 

Borrowing costs are interests and other costs that the Group and the Company incur in 
connection with borrowing of funds.  
 
Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production 
of a qualifying asset are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method. 
 
Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of 
qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get 
ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets, until 
such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. 
 
The Group and the Company begin capitalising borrowing costs when the Group and the 
Company have incurred the expenditures for the asset, incurred related borrowing costs and 
undertaken activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale. 
 
Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their 
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for 
capitalisation. 

 
3.25 Income tax 
 

Income tax expense in profit or loss comprises current and deferred tax. Current and deferred 
tax are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to a business 
combination or items recognised directly in equity or other comprehensive income. 

 
(a) Current tax 

 
Current tax is the expected taxes payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss 
for the financial year, using the tax rates that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect 
of previous financial years. 
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112.15 

112.24 

112.34 

 
 
 
 
 
 
112.15 

112.24 

 
 
 
 
112.39 

112.44 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
112.37

 
112.56

 

 

 

 

 

 112.47

 

 
 
 112.51C

 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

3.25 Income tax (continued) 
 

(b) Deferred tax 
 

Deferred tax is recognised using the liability method on temporary differences at the 
reporting date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts 
in the statements of financial position. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised 
for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for 
all deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses and unused tax credits, to the 
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the 
deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses and unused tax credits can be 
utilised.  
 
Deferred tax is not recognised if the temporary differences arise from the initial 
recognition of assets and liabilities in a transaction which is not a business combination 
and that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred 
tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial 
recognition of goodwill.  
 
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with 
investments in subsidiaries, branches, associates and interests in joint ventures, except 
where the Group is able to control the reversal timing of the temporary differences and 
it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such 
investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there 
will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary 
differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future. 
 
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be 
available to allow the benefit of part or all of that deferred tax asset to be utilised. 
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are 
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow 
the deferred tax assets to be utilised. 
 
Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when 
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have 
been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.  
 
Where investment properties are carried at fair value in accordance with the accounting 
policy as disclosed in Note 3.7, the amount of deferred tax recognised is measured 
using the tax rates that would apply on sale of those assets at their carrying value at the 
reporting date unless the property is depreciable and is held within the business model 
whose objective is to consume substantially all the economic benefits embodied in the 
property over time, rather than through sale.  
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112.61A 

 
 
 
112.71 

112.74 
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133.31 

 

 

 

 

 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

3.25 Income tax (continued) 
 

(b) Deferred tax (continued) 
 

Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside 
profit or loss. Deferred tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying 
transaction either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. 
 
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable 
right to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to 
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on the same taxable entity, or on 
different tax entities, but they intend to settle their income tax recoverable and income 
tax payable on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised 
simultaneously. 
 

(c) Sales and services tax 
 

Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of sales and services 
tax except: 
 
▪ where the sales and services tax incurred in a purchase of assets or services is not 

recoverable from the taxation authority, in which case the sales and services tax is 
recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense 
item as applicable; and 

▪ receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of sales tax included. 
 

The net amount of sales and services tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation 
authority is included as part of receivables or payables in the statements of financial 
position.  
 

3.26 Earnings per share 
 

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (“EPS”) data for its ordinary shares. 
Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of 
the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the 
period, adjusted for own shares held.  
 
Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders 
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding, adjusted for own shares 
held, for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

3.27 Operating segments 
 

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided 
to the chief operating decision-maker. The Chief Executive Officer of the Group, who is 
responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, 
has been identified as the chief operating decision-maker that makes strategic decisions. 

 
3.28 Fair value measurements 

 
Fair value of an asset or a liability, except for share-based payment and lease transactions, 
is determined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability 
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The 
measurement assumes that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes 
place either in the principal market or in the absence of a principal market, in the most 
advantageous market. 
 
For a non-financial asset, the fair value measurement takes into account a market 
participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best 
use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and 
best use. 
 
When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group and the Company use 
observable market data as far as possible. Fair value is categorised into different levels in a 
fair value hierarchy based on the input used in the valuation technique as follows: 
Level 1:  Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that 

the Group and the Company can access at the measurement date. 
Level 2:  Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the 

asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. 
Level 3:  Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. 
 
The Group and the Company recognise transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy 
as of the date of the event or change in circumstances that caused the transfers. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

3.29 Contingencies 
 

A contingent liability or asset is a possible obligation or asset that arises from past events 
and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of uncertain 
future event(s) not wholly within the control of the Group and of the Company. 
 
Contingent liability is also referred as a present obligation that arises from past events but is 
not recognised because: 
(a) it is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be 

required to settle the obligation; or 
(b) the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability. 
 
Contingent liabilities and assets are not recognised in the statements of financial position. 

 
3.30 Contract costs 

 
(a) Recognition and measurement 

 
Contract costs include costs of obtaining and fulfilling a contract. 
 
The incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs that the Group and the 
Company incur to obtain a contract with a customer which they would not have incurred 
if the contract had not been obtained. The incremental costs of obtaining a contract with 
a customer are recognised as part of contract costs when the Group and the Company 
expect those costs are recoverable. 
 
The costs incurred in fulfilling a contract with a customer which are not within the scope 
of another MFRSs, such as MFRS 102 Inventories, MFRS 116 Property, Plant and 
Equipment or MFRS 138 Intangible Assets, are recognised as part of contract costs 
when all of the following criteria are met: 
(a) the costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated contract that can be 

specifically identified; 
(b) the costs generate or enhance resources of the Group and of the Company that 

will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy) performance obligations in the 
future; and 

(c) the costs are expected to  be recovered. 
 

(b) Amortisation 
 

The costs of obtaining and fulfilling a contract are amortised on a systematic basis that 
is consistent with the transfer to the customer of the goods or services to which the asset 
relates. The amortisation shall be updated subsequently to reflect any significant change 
to the expected timing of transfer to the customer of the goods or services to which the 
asset relates in accordance with MFRS 108 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting 
Estimate and Errors. 
 

 
 

89



 
 
 
 
 

  Reference  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
15.101-104 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 15.94

 15.129

 

 
 
 
 
 15.129

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

3.30 Contract costs (continued) 
 

(c) Impairment  
 

Impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of 
the contract cost exceeds:  
(a) the remaining amount of consideration that the Group and the Company expect to 

receive in exchange for the goods or services to which the asset relates; less  
(b) the costs that relate directly to providing those goods or services and that have not 

been recognised as expenses. 
 
Before an impairment loss is recognised for contract costs, the Group and the Company 
shall recognise any impairment loss for assets related to the contract that are recognised 
in accordance with another MFRSs, such as MFRS 102, MFRS 116 and MFRS 138. 
The Group and the Company shall include the resulting carrying amount of the contract 
costs in the carrying amount of the cash-generating unit to which it belongs for the 
purpose of applying MFRS 136 Impairment of Assets to that cash-generating unit. 
 
An impairment loss is reversed when the impairment conditions no longer exist or have 
improved. Such reversal is recognised in profit or loss. 
 

The Group and the Company have applied the practical expedient to recognise the 
incremental costs of obtaining contracts as an expense when incurred if the amortisation 
periods of the asset that the Group and the Company otherwise would have recognised are 
one year or less.  

 
Commentary: 
 
 If an entity elects to use the practical expedient in MFRS 15.94 (about the incremental costs of 

obtaining a contract), the entity shall disclose that fact. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS  
 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with MFRSs requires the use of certain critical 
accounting estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the 
reported amounts of the revenue and expenses during the reporting period. It also requires directors 
to exercise their judgement in the process of applying the Group’s and the Company’s accounting 
policies. Although these estimates and judgement are based on the directors’ best knowledge of 
current events and actions, actual results may differ. 
 
The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity that have the most significant effect 
on the Group’s and the Company’s financial statements, or areas where assumptions and estimates 
that have a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment to the Group’s and the Company’s 
financial statements within the next financial year are disclosed as follows: 

 
(a) Determining the functional currency 

 
Certain subsidiaries of the Group operate in overseas jurisdictions but conduct sales, 
purchases and other transactions in multiple currencies. Judgement is applied in determining 
the functional currency wherever the indications are mixed. The Group uses, in a hierarchy, 
sale indicators as the primary basis, followed by purchase and operating expense indicators, 
and in the event that those indicators are not conclusive, the currency in which borrowings 
and other funds are raised for financing the operations. 
 

(b) Classification between investment properties and property, plant and equipment 
 

Certain property comprises a portion that is held to earn rental income or capital appreciation, 
or for both, whilst the remaining portion is held for use in the production or supply of goods 
and services or for administrative purposes. If the portion held for rental and/or capital 
appreciation could be sold separately (or leased out separately as a finance lease), the Group 
and the Company account for that portion as an investment property. If the portion held for 
rental and/or capital appreciation could not be sold or leased out separately, it is classified 
as an investment property only if an insignificant portion of the property is held for use in the 
production or supply of goods and services or for administrative purposes. Management uses 
judgement to determine whether any ancillary services are of such significance that a 
property does not qualify as an investment property. 
 

(c) Classification of a service concession asset 
 
The Company has entered into service concession arrangements with the Governments of 
Malaysia and China to construct and operate public infrastructures (a convention center in 
Malaysia and a power plant in China). In an arrangement where the consideration is in cash 
receivable or a guaranteed purchase of the output produced by the infrastructure, the amount 
receivable will be accounted for using the financial asset model. If the consideration is in the 
form of a license to charge the public for use of the infrastructure, the amount receivable will 
be accounted for using intangible asset model. Management uses judgement in deciding the 
appropriate classification. 
 
As disclosed in Note 9, the management has accounted the two service concession 
arrangements using intangible assets model. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS (CONTINUED)  
 

(d) Control over an investee 
 

As disclosed in Note 10, the Company holds a 40% equity interest in Ding Berhad, a company 
listed on the Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. The Company is the single largest 
shareholder of Ding Berhad. The other shareholders of Ding Berhad are thinly spread out 
among the investing public shareholders and none of the other shareholders have any 
agreement to make collective decisions. In applying judgement, the Company assesses and 
concludes that it has the power to direct the relevant activities of Ding Berhad. The Company 
is able to appoint, remove and set compensation of the key management personnel of Ding 
Berhad and actively dominates the decision-making process of Ding Berhad through its board 
representations. Accordingly, Ding berhad has been treated as a subsidiary of the Company. 
 

(e) Joint control or significant influence over the investee 
 
As disclosed in Note 11, the Company holds 20% equity interest in Slime Sdn Bhd. The 
Company has no representation on the Board of Directors of Slime Sdn Bhd but actively 
participates in the strategic policy decisions in the latter’s Executive Committee meetings. 
For mutual benefits, the Company and Slime Sdn Bhd undertake significant sales and 
purchases of goods and services, and there are frequent interchanges of managerial 
personnel. On the basis of these fact patterns, the Company concludes that it exercises 
significant influence over Slime Sdn Bhd and thus treats the latter as an associate. 
 
As disclosed in Note 12, the Company and another investor hold 25% and 50% respectively 
in the equity shares of Argus Sdn Bhd. The balance of the equity shares of Argus Sdn Bhd 
is evenly spread out among five other investors, each holding 5%. In the arrangement, 
decisions about the relevant activities of Argus Sdn Bhd require 75% of voting rights of 
shareholders. The Company determines that on the basis of the terms in the arrangement, 
the Company has joint control in Argus Sdn Bhd and thus treats it as a joint arrangement. 
 

(f) Determination of lease term 
 

The Group and the Company determine the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the 
lease, together with any periods covered by an option to extend the lease if it is reasonably 
certain to be exercised, or any periods covered by an option to terminate the lease, if it is 
reasonably certain not to be exercised. 

 
As disclosed in Note XX, the Group and the Company have several lease contracts that 
include extension and termination options. The Group and the Company apply judgement in 
evaluating whether they are reasonably certain to exercise the option to renew or terminate 
the lease. The Group and the Company consider all relevant factors that create an economic 
incentive for them to exercise the renewal or termination. After the commencement date, the 
Group and the Company reassess the lease term if there is a significant event or change in 
circumstances that is within its control and affects its ability to exercise or not to exercise the 
option to renew or to terminate. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS (CONTINUED)  
 

(g) Transfer of control in property development 
 

The Group’s and the Company’s property development activities comprises both “sell and 
build” model and “build and sell” model. For the purpose of revenue recognition, the directors 
use their judgement to determine whether control of residential and commercial properties 
under development is transferred to customers over time or at a point in time. The Group and 
the Company use the criterion of control from the perspective of a customer, judged in 
relation to the customer’s ability to obtain economic benefits of the asset under development. 
The Group and the Company consider that if the asset under development has been 
assigned to a customer and the asset has no alternative use to the Group and the Company 
and the Group and the Company have enforceable rights to payments, control of the asset 
is transferred over time to the customer. Revenue is recognised over time based on the 
progress towards complete satisfaction of performance obligation. If a customer does not 
obtain control when the asset is under development, such as in build and sell units, revenue 
is recognised at a point in time when the construction of the asset is completed and handed 
over to the customer. 
 
The carrying amounts of the assets arising from property development activities are disclosed 
in Note 8 and Note 15A. 

 
(h) Disposal group classified as held for sale 

 
As disclosed in Note 19(a), on 30 September 2022, the Board of Directors approved and 
announced a plan to sell a subsidiary, PT BLK Construction, which operates in Indonesia. 
The Board of Directors considered that the subsidiary met the criteria to be classified as 
disposal group classified as held for sale at that date for the following reasons: 
▪ PT BLK Construction is available for immediate sale and can be sold to a potential buyer 

in its current condition; 
▪ The Board of Directors had entered into preliminary negotiations with a potential buyer. 

Should negotiations with the party not lead to a sale, a number of other potential buyers 
have been identified; and 

▪ The Board of Directors expects negotiations to be finalised and the sale to be completed 
by June 2023.  

 
The disposal group held for sale is measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair value 
less costs to sell. The calculation for the fair value less costs to sell is subject to judgement 
due to a range of potential sales prices and assumptions around the method are involved.  
 
The carrying amounts of the disposal group held for sale are disclosed in Note 19(a). 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS (CONTINUED)  
 

(i) Provision 
 

The Group and the Company use a “best estimate” as the basis for measuring a provision. 
Management evaluates the estimates based on the Group’s and the Company’s historical 
experience and other inputs or assumptions, current developments and future events that 
are reasonably possible under the particular circumstances. In the case when a provision 
relates to large population of customers (such as a warranty provision), a probability-
weighted estimate of the outflows required to settle the obligation is used. In the case of a 
single estimate (such as a provision for site restoration costs), a reference contractor’s price 
or market price is used as the best estimate. If an obligation is to be settled over time, the 
expected outflows are discounted at a rate that takes into account the time value of money 
and the risk that the actual outcome might differ from the estimates made.  
 
The carrying amounts of the Group’s and the Company’s provisions are disclosed in Note 
26. 
 

(j) Depreciation and useful lives of property, plant and equipment 
 
As disclosed in Note 3.5, the Group and the Company review the residual values, useful lives 
and depreciation methods at the end of each reporting period. Estimates are applied in the 
selection of the depreciation method, the useful lives and the residual values. The actual 
consumption of the economic benefits of the property, plant and equipment may differ from 
the estimates applied and therefore, future depreciation charges could be revised.  
 
The carrying amounts of the Group’s and the Company’s property, plant and equipment are 
disclosed in Note 5.  
 

(k) Fair value of biological assets 
 
The Group’s consumable biological assets (produce growing on bearer plants) are measured 
at fair value less costs to sell. In measuring the fair value of fresh fruit bunches (“FFBs”) 
growing on oil palms, management uses estimates of cash flows using inputs or assumptions 
about expected yield of FFBs and the observable market price of FFBs. The expected yield 
of FFBs is based on the Group’s past experience and taking into consideration of the effects 
of adverse weather conditions that may affect productivity. As prices in agricultural business 
are volatile, the actual cash flows may not coincide with the estimates made and this may 
have a significant effect on the Group’s financial position and results.  
 
The carrying amount of the Group’s biological assets and the key assumptions used to 
determine the fair value less costs to sell are disclosed in Note 7. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS (CONTINUED)  
 

(l) Impairment of goodwill 
 

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually and at other times when such indicators exist. This 
requires an estimation of the value-in-use of the cash generating units to which goodwill is 
allocated. When value-in-use calculations are undertaken, the Group uses its judgement to 
decide the discount rates to be applied in the recoverable amount calculation and 
assumptions supporting the underlying cash flow projections, including forecast growth rates, 
inflation rates and gross profit margin. Cash flows that are projected based on those inputs 
or assumptions may have a significant effect on the Group’s financial position and results if 
the actual cash flows are less than the expected. 
 
The carrying amount of the Group’s goodwill and key assumptions used to determine the 
recoverable amount for different cash-generating units, including sensitivity analysis, are 
disclosed in Note 9(e). 
 

(m) Impairment of financial assets and contract assets 
 
The impairment provisions for financial assets and contract assets are based on assumptions 
about risk of default and expected loss rate. The Group and the Company use judgement in 
making these assumptions and selecting inputs to the impairment calculation, based on the 
Group’s and the Company’s past history, existing market conditions as well as forward 
looking estimates at the end of each reporting period.  
 
The Group and the Company use a provision matrix to calculate expected credit losses for 
trade receivables and contract assets. The provision rates are depending on the number of 
days that a trade receivable is past due. The Group and the Company use the grouping 
according to the customer segments that have similar loss patterns. The criteria include 
geographical region, product type, customer type and rating, collateral or trade credit 
insurance. 
 
The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s and the Company’s historical observed 
default rates. The Group and the Company will calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical 
credit loss experience with forward-looking information. At every reporting date, the historical 
observed default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are 
analysed. 
 
The assessment of the correlation between historical observed default rates, forward-looking 
estimates and expected credit losses is a significant estimate. The amount of expected credit 
losses is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast of economic conditions over the 
expected lives of the financial assets and contract assets. The Group’s historical credit loss 
experience and forecast of economic conditions may also not be representative of customer’s 
actual default in the future.  
 
The information about the impairment losses on the Group’s and the Company’s financial 
assets and contract assets are disclosed in Note 39(b). 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS (CONTINUED)  
 

(n) Measurement of income taxes 
 

The Group and the Company operate in various jurisdictions and are subject to income taxes 
in each jurisdiction. Significant judgement is required in determining the Group’s and the 
Company’s estimation for current and deferred taxes because the ultimate tax liability for the 
Group as a whole is uncertain. When the final outcome of the tax payable is determined with 
the tax authorities in each jurisdiction, the amounts might be different from the initial 
estimates of the tax payables. Such differences may impact the current and deferred taxes 
in the period when such determination is made. The Group and the Company will make 
adjustments for current or deferred taxes in respect of prior years in the current period on 
those differences arise.  
 
The income tax expense of the Group and the Company are disclosed in Note 35. 
 

(o) Deferred tax assets  
 
Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses 
and unabsorbed capital allowances based on the projected future profits of the subsidiaries 
to the extent that is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the temporary 
differences can be utilised. Significant management judgement is required to determine the 
amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based on the future performance and 
taxable profits of the subsidiaries.  
 
The carrying amount of the Group’s recognised deferred tax assets is disclosed in Note 13. 
 

(p) Defined benefit liabilities 
 
The Group has defined benefit plans for their employees. The measurement of the present 
value of defined benefit obligations is based on a number of assumptions and factors that 
are determined on an actuarial basis. The assumptions used in the measurement of the 
defined benefit costs and the related liabilities or assets include projected employee salaries, 
employee turnover, inflation, interest cost and an appropriate discount rate using yields of 
high qualify corporate bonds in each jurisdiction. Any changes in these assumptions will have 
an impact on the carrying amount of the defined benefit obligations.  
 
The carrying amount of the Group’s employee benefits and the details of these actuarial 
assumptions and the sensitivity of the changes in key assumptions are disclosed in Note 24. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS (CONTINUED)  
 

(q) Share-based payments 
 

The Company grants share options to directors who have met the specified conditions. The 
share options granted are measured at fair value at grant date using a binomial option pricing 
model. The key assumptions or inputs used in the binomial option pricing model include: (a) 
the current price, (b) the exercise price, (c) the risk-free rate, (d) the volatility of the share 
price (e) the dividend yield and (f) the time period to maturity, and with an adjustment for an 
early exercise of option based on the Group’s and the Company’s past experience with earlier 
exercises. As the volatility of the share price is estimated based on past price movements, 
the actual volatility may not coincide with the estimates made. Similarly, the actual early 
exercise of options granted may not coincide with the estimates made. These differences 
may affect the fair value measurement of the options granted but they are not adjusted 
retrospectively because the equity component of the options granted is not remeasured to 
fair value subsequent to their initial recognition. 
 
The carrying amount of share option reserve and assumptions and models used for 
estimating fair value for share-based payment transactions are disclosed in Note 22(d). 
 

(r) Write-down of obsolete or slow moving inventories 
 
The Group and the Company write down their obsolete or slow moving inventories based on 
the assessment of their estimated net selling price. Inventories are written down when events 
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. The 
management specifically analyses sales trend and current economic trends when making a 
judgement to evaluate the adequacy of the write-down of obsolete or slow moving 
inventories. Where expectations differ from the original estimates, the differences will impact 
the carrying amount of inventories.  
 
The carrying amounts of the Group’s and the Company’s inventories are disclosed in Note 
8. 
 

(s) Useful lives of other intangible assets 
 
The Group and the Company estimate the useful lives to amortise other intangible assets 
based on the future performance of the assets acquired and management’s judgement of the 
period over which economic benefits will be derived from the assets. The estimated useful 
lives of other intangible assets are reviewed periodically, taking into consideration factors 
such as changes in technology. The amount and timing of recorded expenses for any period 
would be affected by changes in the estimates.  
 
The carrying amounts of the other intangible assets are disclosed in Note 9. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS (CONTINUED)  
 

(t) Impairment of non-financial assets 
 

The Group and the Company assess impairment of non-financial assets whenever the events 
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be 
recoverable i.e. the carrying amount of the asset is more than the recoverable amount. 
 
Recoverable amount is measured at the higher of the fair value less costs of disposal for that 
asset and its value-in-use. The value-in-use is the net present value of the projected future 
cash flows derived from that asset discounted at an appropriate discount rate. The Group 
and the Company use their judgement to decide the discount rates applied in the recoverable 
amount calculation and assumptions supporting the underlying cash flow projections, 
including forecast growth rates, inflation rates and gross profit margin. Cash flows that are 
projected based on those inputs or assumptions may have a significant effect on the Group’s 
and the Company’s financial positions and results if the actual cash flows are less than the 
expected. 
 
The carrying amounts of the non-financial assets are disclosed in Notes 5, 9, 10, 11 and 12. 
 

(u) Classification of equity and liability component of convertible bond 
 
The Company has recognised the compound instruments consisting of an equity and liability 
component. At the issue date, the value of the liability component is determined using a 
prevailing market interest rate. Judgement is made on the market interest rate used for 
classification of equity and liability component. 
 
The carrying amounts of the equity and liability component of convertible bond are disclosed 
in Notes 22 and 23. 
 

(v) Fair value of investment properties 
 
The Group and the Company carry their investment properties at fair value, with changes in 
fair values being recognised in profit or loss. The Group and the Company engaged external 
valuer to determine the fair values. The valuation methods adopted by the valuer include 
sales comparison method, being comparison of current prices in an active market for similar 
properties in the same location and condition and where necessary, adjusting for location, 
accessibility, visibility, time, terrain, size, present market trends and other differences; income 
approach, being the projected net income and other benefits that are the subject property 
can generate over the life of the property capitalised at market derived yields to arrive at the 
present value of the property. Judgement is made in determining the appropriate valuation 
methods and the key assumptions used in the valuations. Any changes in these assumptions 
will have an impact on the carrying amounts of the investment properties. 
 
The carrying amounts of the investment properties are disclosed in Note 6. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS (CONTINUED)  
 

(w) Fair value of derivatives and other financial instruments 
 

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined 
by using valuation techniques. The Group and the Company use their judgement to select a 
variety of methods and make assumptions that are mainly based on market conditions 
existing at the end of each reporting period. The inputs to these models are taken from 
observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgement is 
required in establishing fair values. Any changes in these assumptions will have an impact 
on the carrying amounts of the derivatives and other financial instruments. 
 
The carrying amounts of the derivatives and other financial instruments are disclosed in Note 
39(a). 
 

(x) Contingent liabilities 
 
The Group exercises judgement in measuring and recognising provisions and the exposures 
to contingent liabilities related to pending litigation or other outstanding claims subject to 
negotiated settlement, arbitration or government regulation. Judgement is required to assess 
the likelihood that a pending claim will succeed, or a liability will arise, and to quantify the 
possible range of any financial settlement. The inherent uncertainty of such matters means 
that actual losses may materially differ from estimates. 
 

(y) Business combination 
 
When the Group purchased PT Halia Palm Oil through a transaction with another corporate 
entity, a judgement was made as to whether the transaction should be accounted for as a 
business combination or as a separate purchase of assets. In making this judgement, the 
Group assessed the assets, liabilities, operations and processes that were the subject of the 
transaction against the definition of a business in MFRS 3. The Group assessed that the 
acquisition of PT Halia Palm Oil qualifies as a business combination by applying the definition 
in MFRS 3. 
 
In accounting for the PT Halia Palm Oil under MFRS 3, the fair values of the identifiable 
assets and liabilities acquired, including intangible assets, are recognised. The determination 
of the fair values of acquired assets and liabilities assumed is based on directors’ judgement. 
Any changes in these assumptions will have an impact on the carrying amounts of the 
acquired assets and liabilities assumed. 
 
The fair values of the acquired assets and liabilities assumed are disclosed in Note 10(a). 

 
(z) Property development revenue 

 
The Group and the Company recognised property development revenue in profit or loss by 
using the progress towards complete satisfaction of performance obligation. The progress 
towards complete satisfaction of performance obligation is determined by the proportion that 
property development costs incurred for work performed to date bear to the estimated total 
property development costs. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS (CONTINUED)  

 
(z) Property development revenue (continued) 

 
Significant judgement is required in determining the progress towards complete satisfaction 
of performance obligation, the extent of the property development costs incurred, the 
estimated total property development revenue and costs, as well as the recoverability of the 
development projects. In making the judgement, the Group and the Company evaluate based 
on past experience and by relying on the work of specialists. 
 
The carrying amounts of property development costs, contract assets and contract liabilities 
are disclosed in Notes 8 and 16.  
 

(aa) Construction revenue 
 
The Group and the Company recognised construction revenue in profit or loss by using the 
progress towards complete satisfaction of performance obligation. The progress towards 
complete satisfaction of performance obligation is determined by the proportion that 
construction costs incurred for work performed to date bear to the estimated total construction 
costs. 
 
Significant judgement is required in determining the progress towards complete satisfaction 
of performance obligation, the extent of the construction costs incurred, the estimated total 
construction revenue and costs, as well as the recoverability of the construction projects. In 
making the judgement, the Group and the Company evaluate based on past experience and 
by relying on the work of specialists. 
 
The carrying amounts of contract assets and contract liabilities are disclosed in Note 16. 

 
(bb) Construction revenue recognition in relation to Concession Agreement 

 
In accordance with IC Interpretation 12 Service Concession Arrangements, revenue 
associated with construction works under the Concession Agreement shall be recognised 
and measured in accordance with MFRS 15. The consideration received or receivable from 
construction work rendered by the Group and the Company are measured in accordance 
with MFRS 15, i.e. based on the allocated transaction price. 
 
In order to determine the construction revenue to be recognised, the directors have estimated 
and recognised a construction margin in the construction of the infrastructure asset. The 
estimated margin is based on relative comparison with general industry trend although actual 
margins may differ. 
 
The construction revenue arising from concession agreement that recognised during the year 
is disclosed in Note 28.  
 

(cc) Revenue recognition in relation to sale of manufactured goods 
 
The Group has recognised revenue amounting to RM10 million for sale of manufactured 
goods to a new customer for the financial year ended 31 December 2022. The customer has 
the right to return any unused product within 30 days and receive a full refund.  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS (CONTINUED)  
 

(cc) Revenue recognition in relation to sale of manufactured goods (continued) 
 

Although the returns are outside the Group’s influence, the Group has significant experience 
in estimating returns for this product and customer class. In addition, the uncertainty will be 
resolved within a short time frame (i.e. the 30-day return period). Thus, the Group has 
determined that it is highly probable that a significant reversal in the cumulative amount of 
revenue recognised will not occur as the uncertainty is resolved (i.e. over the return period). 
It is therefore appropriate to recognise revenue on this transaction during 2022 as control of 
the product is transferred to the customer.  
 
The revenue recognised for manufactured goods during the year is disclosed in Note 28. 

 
Commentary :  
 
 Significant judgement, and changes in the judgements, made in the applying MFRS 15 

 
An entity shall disclose the judgements, and changes in the judgements, made in applying this 
Standard that significantly affect the determination of the amount and timing of revenue from contracts 
with customers. In particular, an entity shall explain the judgements, and changes in the judgements, 
used in determining both of the following: 
(a) the timing of satisfaction of performance obligations (see MFRS 15.124–125); and  
(b) the transaction price and the amounts allocated to performance obligations (see MFRS 15.126). 
 

Disclosure requirements Entity shall disclose: 
Judgement to determine the 
timing of satisfaction of 
performance obligations 
 

For performance obligation satisfied over time: 
• The methods used to recognise revenue; and 
• An explanation of why the methods used provide a 

faithful depiction of the transfer of goods or services 
  
For performance obligations satisfied at a point in time:  
• Significant judgements made in evaluating when a 

customer obtains control of promised goods or services 
Judgement to determine the 
transaction price 
 

Information about methods, inputs and assumptions used for 
all of the following: 
• Estimating variable consideration (and its constraint); 
• Considering the effects of time value of money; 
• Measuring non-cash consideration; and 
• Measuring obligations for returns, refunds and other 

similar obligations 
Judgement to determine the 
amounts allocated to 
performance obligations 
 

Information about methods, inputs and assumptions used for 
all of the following: 
• Estimating stand-alone selling prices of promised goods 

or services; and 
• Allocating discounts or variable considerations to a 

specific part of the contract (if applicable) 
Judgement to determine the 
contract costs 

Entity shall describe the judgement to determine the amount 
of the costs incurred to obtain or fulfil a contract with a 
customer 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS (CONTINUED)  
 

Commentary (continued): 
 
 Significant judgement, and changes in the judgements, made in the applying MFRS 15 

(continued) 
 
Illustrative of additional significant judgements made in applying MFRS 15: 
 
Judgements in determining the timing of satisfaction of performance obligations  
 
The Group provides rectification work for goods supplied to customers. There are goods delivered to 
one of the Group’s major customers in the months of January to July 2022, and shortly thereafter 
defects were identified by the customer. Following negotiations, a schedule of works was agreed, 
which will involve expenditure by the Group until 2023. In the light of the problems identified, the 
directors were required to consider whether it was appropriate to recognise the revenue from these 
transactions of RMXX million in the current year, in line with the Group's policy of recognising revenue 
for the sale of goods when those goods are delivered to the customer, or whether it would be more 
appropriate to defer recognition until the rectification work was complete. 
 
In making their judgement, the directors considered the detailed criteria for the recognition of revenue 
set out in MFRS 15 and, in particular, whether the Group had transferred control of the goods to the 
customer. Following the detailed quantification of the Group's liability in respect of rectification work, 
and the agreed limitation on the customer's ability to require further work or to require replacement of 
the goods, the directors are satisfied that control has been transferred and that recognition of the 
revenue in the current year is appropriate, in conjunction with the recognition of an appropriate 
warranty provision for the rectification costs. 
 
The revenue recognised during the year is disclosed in Note XX. 
 
Judgements in allocating the transaction price for material right to customers 
 
The Group operates a loyalty programme where retail customers accumulate points for purchases 
made which entitle them to discount on future purchases. Revenue from the award points is 
recognised when the points are redeemed or when they expire XX months after the initial sale. The 
points provide a material right to customers that they would not receive without entering into a 
contract. Therefore, the promise to provide points to the customer is a separate performance 
obligation.  
 
The transaction price is allocated to the product and the points on a relative stand-alone selling price 
basis. The stand-alone selling price per point is estimated on the basis of the discount granted when 
the points are redeemed and on the basis of the likelihood of redemption, based on past experience. 
The stand-alone selling price of the product sold is estimated on the basis of the retail price.  

 
The revenue recognised during the year for redemption of customer loyalty points is disclosed in Note 
XX. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS (CONTINUED)  
 

Commentary (continued): 
 
 Significant judgement, estimates and assumptions in respect of revaluation of property, plant 

and equipment 
 
Illustrative of additional significant judgements made when the Group and the Company have 
measured the land and buildings at revaluation model: 
 
Valuation of property, plant and equipment 
 
Freehold land, leasehold land and buildings are carried at revalued amount. Revaluation of these 
assets is based on valuation performed by independent professional property valuers. The 
independent professional property valuers may exercise judgement in determining discount rates, 
estimates of future cash flows, capitalisation rate, terminal year value, market freehold rental and 
other factors used in their valuation process. Judgement has been applied in estimating prices for 
less readily observable external parameters. Other factors such as model assumptions, market 
dislocations and unexpected correlations may materially affect these estimates and the resulting 
valuation estimates.  
 
The carrying amounts of the Group’s and the Company’s property, plant and equipment are disclosed 
in Note XX. 

  
 Significant judgement in respect of preparation of the financial statements as a going concern 

 
Illustrative of additional significant judgements made when there are significant doubts about going 
concern of a reporting entity: 
 
When there are significant doubts about going concern but mitigating actions judged sufficient to 
make going concern appropriate and the entity determines no material uncertainties 
 
Close call  
Funding requirements and ability to meet short term obligations 
 
The Group applies judgement in determining the funding requirements and its ability to meet short 
term obligations. The Group considers the facts and circumstances and makes assumptions about 
the future, including the cash flows to be generated from the operations of the Group and the available 
financing facilities. 
 
The details of funding requirements and ability to meet short term obligations are disclosed in Note 
39(b)(ii). 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS (CONTINUED)  
 

Commentary (continued): 
 
 Significant judgement in respect of preparation of the financial statements as a going concern 

(continued) 
 
Illustrative of additional significant judgements made when there are significant doubts about going 
concern of a reporting entity (continued): 
 
When there are significant doubts about going concern but mitigating actions judged sufficient to 
make going concern appropriate and material uncertainties about going concern remain after 
considering mitigating actions. 
 
Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern 
Going concern 
 
The Group applies judgement and assumptions in determining its ability to continue as a going 
concern of at least 12 months from the end of the financial year which is subject to material 
uncertainty. The Group considers the facts and circumstances and makes assumptions about the 
future, including its plan to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of 
business. The directors are confident that the plan would be implemented successfully without any 
material modifications and within the anticipated time frame. 
 
The details of material uncertainty related to going concern are disclosed in Note 2.X. 
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116.74(a) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

116.74(a) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

136.126(a) 

136.130(a) 

136.130(b) 

136.130(d) 

136.130(e) 

136.130(g) 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
5. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 
 

(a) Assets held for sale 
 

Property, plant and equipment transferred to the disposal group classified as held for sale 
amounting to RM10,400,000 relate to assets that are used by PT BLK Construction (part of 
the construction business segment). See Note 19(a) for further details on the disposal group 
classified as held for sale. 

 
(b) Land title restriction 

 
A freehold land with a carrying amount of RM1,000,000 (31.12.2021: RM1,000,000) has been 
alienated to the Company by a State Government in exchange for construction services 
provided by the Company. The Company has yet to obtain title to this land as it is being 
processed by the Land Office. 

 
(c) Assets pledged as security 

 
Freehold land and building with a carrying amount of RM3,000,000 (31.12.2021: 
RM2,500,000) has been pledged as security to secure term loans of the Group and of the 
Company as disclosed in Note 23(a). 
 
Leased assets are pledged as security for the related lease liabilities as disclosed in Note 
23(b). 
 
Motor vehicles with carrying amount of RMXXX (31.12.2021: RMXXX) have been pledged 
as security for hire purchase arrangement as disclosed in Note 23(x). 

 
(d) Impairment loss 

 
During the financial year, an impairment loss of RM1,000,000 was recognised in profit or loss 
under other expenses, representing the impairment of certain machinery and equipment in 
the manufacturing segment, as a result of technological obsolescence. The recoverable 
amount of RM28,800,000 as at 31 December 2022 was based on value-in-use and was 
determined at the level of cash generating unit. In determining the value-in-use for the cash 
generating unit, the cash flows were discounted at a rate of 8% on a pre-tax basis. 
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16.53(j) 

16.53(h) 

16.53(a) 

 
 

16.53(j) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 
16.53(j) 

16.53(h) 

16.53(a) 

 

16.53(j) 

 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
5. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 
 

(e) Right-of-use assets 
 

The Group and the Company lease several assets including leasehold land, buildings and 
motor vehicles.  
 
Information about leases for which the Group and the Company are lessees is presented 
below: 
 

 Leasehold 
land  Buildings 

 Motor 
vehicles  Total 

 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 
Carrying amount
At 1 January 2021  xx  xx  xx  xx 
Additions  xx  xx  xx  xx 
Depreciation  (xx)  (xx)  (xx)  (xx) 

At 31 December 2021  xx  xx  xx  xx 
Additions  xx  xx  xx  xx 
Depreciation  (xx)  (xx)  (xx)  (xx) 

At 31 December 2022  xx  xx  xx  xx 

 Leasehold 
land  Buildings 

 Motor 
vehicles  Total 

 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 
Carrying amount
At 1 January 2021  xx  xx  xx  xx 
Additions  xx  xx  xx  xx 
Depreciation  (xx)  (xx)  (xx)  (xx) 

At 31 December 2021  xx  xx  xx  xx 
Additions  xx  xx  xx  xx 
Depreciation  (xx)  (xx)  (xx)  (xx) 

At 31 December 2022  xx  xx  xx  xx 

Group

Company
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
5. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 
 

(e) Right-of-use assets (continued) 
 

The Group and the Company lease land and buildings for their office space and operation 
site. The leases for office space and operation site generally have lease term between 3 to 
99 years. The Group and the Company also lease motor vehicle with lease term of 1 to 2 
years. 
 
The future cash outflows relating to leases that have not yet commenced are disclosed in 
Note 40(b). 
 
Extension and termination options 
The Group and the Company have several lease contracts that include extension and 
termination options. These options are negotiated by the Group and the Company to provide 
flexibility in managing the leased-asset portfolio and align with the Group’s and the 
Company’s business needs.  
 
The undiscounted potential future rental payments relating to periods following the exercise 
date of extension and termination options that are not included in the lease term are as 
follows: 
 

 Within five 
years 

 More than 
five years  Total 

 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 

Extension options expected 
  not to be exercised  XX  XX  XX 
Termination options expected 
  to be exercised  XX  XX  XX 

 XX  XX  XX 

 Within five 
years 

 More than 
five years  Total 

 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 

Extension options expected 
  not to be exercised  XX  XX  XX 
Termination options expected 
  to be exercised  XX  XX  XX 

 XX  XX  XX 

Group

Company
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16.95 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

16.92(a) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
5. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 
 

Commentary: 
 
 Illustrative additional disclosure of property, plant and equipment 

 
For items of property, plant and equipment subject to operating leases, a lessor shall disaggregate 
each class of property, plant and equipment into assets subject to operating leases and assets not 
subject to operating leases. 
 
Illustrative additional disclosure if items of property, plant and equipment are subject 
to operating leases 
 
(a) Assets subject to operating leases 
 

The Group leases some of its machinery and equipment to third parties. Each lease 
contains an initial non-cancellable period of 1 year with option to renew for subsequent 1 
year. Subsequent renewals are negotiated with the lessee. 

 
Information about leases for which the Group is lessor is presented below: 

 Machinery and 
equipment 
(own use) 

 Machinery and 
equipment 

(subject to operating 
leases)  Total 

 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 
Cost
At 1 January 2021  xxx  xxx  xxx 
Additions  xxx  xxx  xxx 
Disposals  (xxx)  (xxx)  (xxx) 

At 31 December 2021  xxx  xxx  xxx 
Additions  xxx  xxx  xxx 
Disposals  (xxx)  (xxx)  (xxx) 

At 31 December 2022  xxx  xxx  xxx 

Accumulated depreciation
  and impairment loss
At 1 January 2021  xxx  xxx  xxx 
Depreciation charge for the financial year  xxx  xxx  xxx 
Disposals  (xxx)  (xxx)  (xxx) 

At 31 December 2021  xxx  xxx  xxx 
Depreciation charge for the financial year  xxx  xxx  xxx 
Disposals  (xxx)  (xxx)  (xxx) 

At 31 December 2022  xxx  xxx  xxx 

Carrying amount

At 31 December 2021 xxx xxx xxx

At 31 December 2022 xxx xxx xxx

Group
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16.59(c) 

 
 
 
 
 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
5. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 
 

Commentary (continued): 
 

Illustrative additional disclosure of property, plant and equipment (continued) 
 
Illustrative additional disclosures if items of property, plant and equipment or right-of-
use assets are stated at revalued amount in accordance with MFRS 116.77. For 
disclosures required by MFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement, refer to Note 6 Investment 
Properties. 
 
(a) Level 2 fair value 
 

Level 2 fair values of buildings were revalued on XXX using the sales comparison 
approach based on the valuation performed by independent firms of professional valuers. 
Sales prices of comparable buildings in close proximity are adjusted for differences in key 
attributes such as property size. The most significant input into this valuation approach is 
price per square foot of comparable buildings. 

 
(b) Had the revalued land and buildings and right-of-use assets been carried at historical cost 

less accumulated depreciation, the net carrying amount of the land and buildings and 
right-of-use assets that would have been included in the financial statements of the Group 
are as follows: 

 

 31.12.2022  31.12.2021 
 RM’000  RM’000 

Freehold land  xxx  xxx 
Leasehold land  xxx  xxx 
Buildings  xxx  xxx 
Right-of-use assets:

- Leasehold land  xxx  xxx 
- Buildings  xxx  xxx 

Group

 
 

If a lessee measures right-of-use assets at revalued amounts applying MFRS 116, the 
lessee shall disclose the information required by paragraph 77 of MFRS 116 for those right-
of-use assets. 

 
Illustrative disclosure when there are restrictions or covenants imposed by leases 

 
Restrictions 
The Group is restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased assets and some lease 
contracts require the Group to maintain certain financial ratios. 
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16.59(b)(i) 

16.B49 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
5. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 
 

Commentary (continued): 
 

Illustrative additional disclosure of property, plant and equipment (continued) 
 
Illustrative disclosure when the lease contracts contain variable lease payment terms 
 
Some of the property leases in which the Group and the Company are the lessees contain 
variable lease payment terms that are linked to sales generated from the leased stores. 
Variable lease payment terms are used to link rental payments to store cash flows and 
reduce fixed cost. Fixed and variable lease payments for the year ended 31 December 2022 
were as follows: 
 

 
Fixed 

payments 
Variable 

payments 
Total 

payments 

Estimated 
annual impact 

on rent of a 1% 
increase in 

sales 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
     
Leases with lease 

payments based on 
sales xxx xxx xxx xxx 

 
The Group and the Company expect the relative proportions of fixed and variable lease 
payments to remain broadly consistent in future years. 

 
Illustrative disclosure when the lease contracts contain residual value guarantees 
 
The Group guarantees the residual value of certain leased assets at the end of the contract 
term. It monitors the use of these leased assets, and reassesses the estimated amount 
payable under the residual value guarantees at the reporting date to remeasure lease 
liabilities and right-of-use assets. As at 31 December 2022, the Group estimates that the 
expected amount payable under the residual value guarantees is RMXXX. 

 
Illustrative disclosure for sales-and-leaseback transactions  

 
In year 20XX, the Group sold one of its office buildings and leased the building back for 30 
years. The Group has an option to repurchase the building for its market value at the end of 
the contract term. This sale-and-leaseback transaction enabled the Group to access more 
capital while continuing to use the office. The rent is adjusted every five years to reflect 
increase in local market rents for similar properties. 

 
Included in this are motor vehicles under hire purchase arrangements. 

 
Included in this are motor vehicles under leasing arrangements. 

 
 

3 

1 

2 

114



 
 
 
 
 

  Reference  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

140.75(a) 

140.76 

140.76(b) 

140.76(a) 

140.76(d) 

 
140.76(f) 

140.76(e) 

 
140.76 

 
140.75(g) 

 

 

16.92(a) 

 

 

 

 

140.75(g) 

 

 

 

 

 

140.75(f) 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
6. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 

 

 31.12.2022  31.12.2021  31.12.2022  31.12.2021 
 Restated  Restated 

Note  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 
At fair value:
At 1 January 43,200       38,600       21,000       17,600       
Acquisition of a subsidiary 10(a) 20,000       -                -                -                
Additions 4,600        1,000        13,600       1,300        
Net gain arising from fair 
   value adjustment 4,000        3,000        2,000        2,100        
Transfers from inventories -                500           -                -                
Exchange differences -                100           -                -                

At 31 December 71,800       43,200       36,600       21,000       

Group Company

 
 
As at the reporting date, titles to the investment properties with carrying amount of RM35,500,000 
(31.12.2021: RM18,500,000) have yet to be registered under the subsidiaries’ name. 
 
The Group’s and the Company’s investment properties comprise a number of commercial 
properties that are leased to third parties. Each lease contains an initial non-cancellable period of 
10 years with option to renew for subsequent 5 years. Subsequent renewals are negotiated with 
the lessee. 
 
An investment property of a subsidiary with a carrying fair value of RM10,000,000 (31.12.2021: 
RM9,000,000) has been pledged as security to secure term loans and revolving credit granted to 
the Group and the Company as disclosed in Note 23(a) and Note 23(g). Approval of the lender is 
required for any disposal of the investment property. The proceeds from disposal can only be 
remitted to the Group and the Company after full repayment of the term loan. 

 
The following are recognised in profit or loss in respect of investment properties: 
 

2022 2021 2022 2021
RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Rental income 32,698       23,065       3,900        3,500        
Direct operating expenses:
- income generating investment 
properties

26,980       16,780       1,200        1,200        
- non-income generating investment properties xxx xxx xxx xxx

Group Company
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13.93(b) 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
6. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 
 

Fair value information  
 

Fair values of investment properties are categorised as follows: 
 

Level 2 Level 3 Total
 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 

31.12.2022
Freehold land -                   11,800       11,800       
Buildings 30,000       30,000       60,000       
Leasehold land* xxx xxx xxx

30,000       41,800       71,800       

31.12.2021
Freehold land -                   10,000       10,000       
Buildings 10,000       23,200       33,200       
Leasehold land* xxx xxx xxx

10,000       33,200       43,200       

Group

 
 

Level 2 Level 3 Total
 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 

31.12.2022
Freehold land -                10,000       10,000       
Buildings 10,000       16,600       26,600       
Leasehold land* xxx xxx xxx

10,000       26,600       36,600       

31.12.2021
Freehold land -                3,000        3,000        
Buildings 10,000       8,000        18,000       
Leasehold land* xxx xxx xxx

10,000       11,000       21,000       

Company

 
 
* Leasehold land is classified as right-of-use asset. 
 
There are no Level 1 investment properties or transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during the 
financial year ended 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021. 
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13.93(e) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
6. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 
 

Fair value information (continued) 
 

Level 2 fair value 
 
Level 2 fair values of buildings have been derived using the sales comparison approach. Sales 
prices of comparable buildings in close proximity are adjusted for differences in key attributes such 
as property size. The most significant input into this valuation approach is price per square foot of 
comparable buildings. 

 
Level 3 fair value  
 
The following table shows a reconciliation of Level 3 fair values: 
 

31.12.2022 31.12.2021
RM’000 RM’000

At 1 January 33,200       28,600       
Additions 4,600        1,000        
Disposal (xxx) (xxx)
Transfer from inventories -                500           
Transfer into Level 3 xxx xxx
Transfer out of Level 3 (xxx) (xxx)
Gains and losses recognised in profit or loss 4,000        3,000        
Gains and losses recognised in other comprehensive income xxx xxx
Exchange differences -                100           

At 31 December 41,800       33,200       

31.12.2022 31.12.2021
RM’000 RM’000

At 1 January 11,000       7,600        
Additions 13,600       1,300        
Disposal (xxx) (xxx)
Transfer into Level 3 xxx xxx
Transfer out of Level 3 (xxx) (xxx)
Gains and losses recognised in profit or loss 2,000        2,100        
Gains and losses recognised in other comprehensive income xxx xxx

At 31 December 26,600       11,000       

Group

Company
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13.93(d) 

13.93(h)(i) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
13.93(g) 

140.75(e) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

13.93(i) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
6. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 
 

Fair value information (continued) 
 

Level 3 fair value (continued) 
 
The following table shows the valuation techniques used in the determination of fair values within 
Level 3, as well as the significant unobservable inputs used in the valuation models.  
  

Description   
Valuation 
technique   Significant unobservable inputs   

Relationship of 
unobservable inputs to fair 
value 

       

Land and 
buildings 

 Sales 
comparison 
approach 
 

 Price per square feet RM1,102 
(31.12.2021: RM1,000) 

 The higher the price per 
square feet, the higher the fair 
value 

Land and 
buildings 

 Income 
approach 

 Estimated average rental rate per 
square feet per month RM1.35-
RM12.95 (31.12.2021: RM1.45-
RM11.45) 
 

 The higher the estimated 
rental/average rental rate per 
square feet per month, the 
higher the fair value 

    Estimated average outgoings per 
square feet per month RM4.50 
(31.12.2021: RM4.00) 

 The lower the estimated 
outgoings per square feet per 
month, the higher the fair 
value 

 
Valuation processes applied by the Group and the Company 
 
The Group’s and the Company’s finance department includes a team that performs valuation 
analysis of land and buildings required for financial reporting purposes, including Level 3 fair values. 
This team reports directly to the chief financial officer. 
 
The fair value of investment properties is determined by external independent property valuers, 
Messrs Surveyor & Co., a member of the Institute of Valuers in Malaysia, with appropriate 
recognised professional qualifications and recent experience in the location and category of 
property being valued. The valuation company provides the fair value of the Group’s and the 
Company’s investment property portfolio every six months. Changes in Level 3 fair values are 
analysed by the team every six months after obtaining the valuation report from the valuation 
company. There has been no change to the valuation technique during the financial year. 
 
Highest and best use 
 
In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and best use of the properties is their 
current use. 
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140.79(e); 13.97 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

16.56 

 

 
16.53(b) 
16.53(c) 

 
16.53(d) 

 

16 .53 (e) 

 16 .53 (g)
 16.53(i)
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 140.77

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
6. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 
 

Commentary: 
 
 For disclosure requirements on paragraph 91 to 99 under MFRS 13, refer commentary under Note 

39(d). 
  
 MFRS 140 permits investment properties to be carried at historical cost less accumulated 

depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. If the Group accounted for investment 
properties at cost, information about the cost basis and depreciation rates (similar to the requirement 
under MFRS 116) would be required. MFRS 140.79(e) requires disclosure of fair value of the 
properties. For the purpose of this disclosure, the fair value is required to be determined in 
accordance with MFRS 13. Also, in addition to the disclosures under MFRS 140, MFRS 13.97 
requires disclosure of:  
▪ the level at which fair value measurement is categorised i.e., Level 1, Level 2 or Level 3; 
▪ a description of valuation technique and inputs, for Level 2 or Level 3 fair value measurement; 

and  
▪ if the highest and best use differs from the current use of the asset, disclose that fact and the 

reason. 
  
 If right-of-use assets meet the definition of investment property, a lessee shall apply the disclosure 

requirements in MFRS 140. In that case, pursuant to MFRS 16.56, a lessee is required to provide 
the following disclosures for those right-of-use assets. 
▪ interest expense on lease liabilities; 
▪ expense relating to short-term leases (exclude expense relating to leases with a lease term of 

one month or less); 
▪ expense relating to leases of low-value assets (exclude expense relating to short-term leases 

of low-value assets included above); 
▪ expense relating to variable lease payments not included in the measurement of lease liabilities; 
▪ total cash outflow for leases; and 
▪ gains or losses arising from sale and leaseback transactions. 

  
 In determining the carrying amount of investment property under the fair value model, an entity does 

not double-count assets or liabilities that are recognised as separate assets or liabilities. Accordingly, 
the fair value of investment property is recognised at the amount determined in the valuation 
minus/(plus) amount allocated to other assets/(liabilities), if any, such as accrued or prepaid operating 
lease income recognised as a separate asset or liability. 

 
When a valuation obtained for investment property carried at fair value is adjusted significantly for the 
purpose of the financial statements, the entity shall disclose a reconciliation between the valuation 
obtained and the adjusted valuation included in the financial statements, showing separately the 
aggregate amount of any recognised lease obligations that have been added back, and any other 
significant adjustments. 
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141.50(d) 

 
141.50 

 
141.49(a) 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
6. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 
 

Commentary (continued): 
 
 Illustrative disclosure on reconciliation between the valuation obtained and the adjusted 

valuation 
 
The following table shows a reconciliation between the valuation obtained and the adjusted 
valuation: 
 

2022 2021 2022 2021
RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Valuation as per valuer's report xxx xxx xxx xxx
Less: accrued rental income (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx)

71,800       43,200       36,600       21,000       

Group Company

 
 

 
 
7. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS 
 

31.12.2022 31.12.2021
RM’000 RM’000

Produce growing on bearer plants
At 1 January 23,879       26,926       
Change in fair value less costs to sell 68,600       (3,047)       
Harvested crops transferred to inventories (44,879)     -                

At 31 December 47,600       23,879       

Group

 
 
As at 31 December 2022, the biological assets of a subsidiary with a carrying fair value of 
RM20,000,000 (31.12.2021: RM15,000,000) have been pledged as security to secure term loans 
and revolving credit granted to the Group and the Company as disclosed in Note 23(a) and Note 
23(g).  
 
Fair value information  
 
The fair value measurements for the produce growing on bearer plants have been categorised as 
Level 3 fair value based on the inputs to the valuation techniques used. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
7. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (CONTINUED) 
 

Fair value information (continued) 
 
Level 3 fair value  
 
The following table shows a reconciliation of Level 3 fair value: 
 

31.12.2022 31.12.2021
RM’000 RM’000

At 1 January 23,879       26,926       
Additions xxx xxx
Harvested crops transferred to inventories (44,879)     -                
Transfer into Level 3 xxx xxx
Transfer out of Level 3 (xxx) (xxx)
Gains and losses recognised in profit or loss 68,600       (3,047)       
Gains and losses recognised in other comprehensive income xxx xxx
Exchange differences xxx xxx

At 31 December 47,600       23,879       

Group

 
 
The following table shows the valuation techniques used in the determination of fair values within 
Level 3, as well as the significant unobservable inputs used in the valuation models. 
 

Description   
Valuation 
technique   

Significant unobservable 
inputs   

Relationship of 
unobservable inputs to 
fair value 

       

Produce growing 
on bearer plants 

 Discounted cash 
flows 
 

 Estimated yield per hectare 
20-24.5 tonnes (31.12.2021: 
21-25.5 tonnes) 
 

 The higher the estimated 
yield per hectare, the 
higher the fair value 
 

    Average selling price for palm 
oil RM2,509 per tonne 
(31.12.2021: RM2,504 per 
tonne) 

 The higher the average 
selling price per tonne, the 
higher the fair value 

 
Valuation processes applied by the Group  
 
The Group’s finance department includes a team that performs valuation analysis for produce 
growing on bearer plants required for financial reporting purposes, including Level 3 fair values. 
This team reports directly to the chief financial officer. 
 
The fair value of produce growing on bearer plants is determined by external independent valuers, 
Messrs Surveyor & Co., a member of the Institute of Malaysian Palm Oil Board with appropriate 
recognised professional qualifications. The valuation company provides the fair value of the Group’s 
produce growing on bearer plants portfolio every six months. Changes in Level 3 fair values are 
analysed by the team every six months after obtaining the valuation report from the valuation 
company. There has been no change to the valuation technique during the financial year. 
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102.36(b) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
7. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (CONTINUED) 
 

Fair value information (continued) 
 
Highest and best use 
 
In estimating the fair value of the produce growing on bearer plants, the highest and best use of the 
growing produce is their current use. 

 
Commentary: 
 
 For disclosure requirements on paragraph 91 to 99 under MFRS 13, refer commentary under Note 

39(d). 
  

 
 
8. INVENTORIES 
 

 31.12.2022  31.12.2021  31.12.2022  31.12.2021 
 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 

Non-current:
Property held for development

- Freehold land          87,400          29,300          54,150          32,350 
- Development costs          12,300             9,903             4,350             3,750 

         99,700          39,203          58,500          36,100 

Current:
Property under development

- Freehold land          57,600          39,700          14,200             9,650 
- Development costs          13,800          13,000          13,800             3,550 
Completed properties          20,300          18,400          10,300             8,500 
Produce stocks             4,000             3,000                    -                      -   
Raw materials             9,600             8,600             3,000             1,000 
Consumables and spare parts             2,000             1,800             1,000                800 
Work-in-progress             5,300             5,000                    -                      -   
Finished goods          16,900          15,818                    -                      -   

       129,500        105,318          42,300          23,500 

       229,200        144,521        100,800          59,600 

Group Company
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102.36(e) 

 

 

 

 

 102.36(f)
 102.36(g)
 

 

 

 102.36(h)
 

 

 

 123.26(a)
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
8. INVENTORIES (CONTINUED) 
 

(a) The cost of inventories of the Group and the Company recognised as an expense in cost of 
sales during the financial year in respect of continuing operations was RM1,708,130,000 
(2021: RM1,055,620,000) and RM161,810 (2021: RM101,675) respectively. 

 
(b) The cost of inventories of the Group and the Company recognised as an expense in cost of 

sales during the financial year in respect of write-down of inventories to net realisable value 
was RM200,000 (2021: RM240,000) and RM20,000 (2021: RM25,000) respectively, in view 
of the new regulatory restrictions imposed on certain products in the manufacturing segment. 

 
(c) During the financial year, the Group and the Company reversed the previous inventories 

written down value of RM80,000 (2021: RM40,000) and RM30,000 (2021: Nil) respectively, 
as a result of increased sales price in certain markets. The amount of reversal was included 
in cost of sales. 

 
(d) Freehold land included in the properties held for development of RM60,000,000 (31.12.2021: 

RM20,000,000) are pledged as security to secure term loans granted to the Group and the 
Company as disclosed in Note 23(a). 

 
(e) Included in inventories are borrowing costs capitalised in the property development costs 

during the financial year as follows: 
 

 31.12.2022  31.12.2021  31.12.2022  31.12.2021 
 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 

Borrowing costs capitalised 9,500        6,500        3,450        2,130        

Group Company

 
 

 
 
 

123



 
   

R
ef

er
en

ce
 

 

 

         13
8.

11
8(

c)
 

 13
8.

11
8(

e)
(i)

 

13
8.

11
8(

e)
(i)

 

13
8.

11
8(

e)
(i)

 

13
8.

11
8(

e)
(v

ii)
 

 13
8.

11
8(

c)
 

   13
8.

11
8(

c)
 

13
8.

11
8(

e)
(v

i)
 

13
8.

11
8(

e)
(iv

) 

13
8.

11
8(

e)
(v

ii)
 

 13
8.

11
8(

c)
 

 13
8.

11
8(

c)
 

 

N
O

T
E

S
 T

O
 T

H
E

 F
IN

A
N

C
IA

L
 S

T
A

T
E

M
E

N
T

S
 (

C
O

N
T

IN
U

E
D

) 
 9.

 
IN

T
A

N
G

IB
L

E
 A

S
S

E
T

S
 

 
G

ro
u

p

N
o

te
 R

M
’0

00
 

 R
M

’0
00

 
 R

M
’0

00
 

 R
M

’0
00

 
 R

M
’0

00
 

 R
M

’0
00

 
C

o
st

A
t 1

 J
an

u
ar

y 
20

22
   

   
   

   
45

,5
00

 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  -

   
   

   
   

   
28

,0
00

 
   

   
   

   
  8

,3
00

 
  

   
   

   
   

5,
00

0 
   

   
   

   
86

,8
00

 
A

dd
iti

on
s

- 
de

ve
lo

pe
d 

in
te

rn
al

ly
   

   
   

   
   

   
  -

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  -

   
   

   
   

   
  6

,0
0

0 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

- 
  

  
   

   
   

   
   

   
- 

  
   

   
   

   
  6

,0
00

 
- 

ac
qu

si
tio

n 
of

 a
 s

ub
si

di
ar

y
10

(a
)

   
   

   
   

28
,8

00
 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  -
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  -
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  -
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  -
   

   
   

   
   

28
,8

00
 

- 
ac

qu
ire

d
 s

ep
ar

at
el

y
   

   
   

   
   

   
  -

   
   

   
   

 1
04

,0
00

 
   

   
  

   
   

   
   

- 
  

  
   

   
   

   
4,

80
0 

   
   

   
   

  
2,

00
0 

   
   

   
 1

10
,8

00
 

E
xc

ha
ng

e 
di

ffe
re

nc
es

   
   

   
   

   
   

  -
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  -
   

   
   

  
   

   
   

   
- 

  
  

   
   

   
   

   
10

0 
  

   
   

   
   

   
   

- 
  

   
   

   
   

   
  1

00
 

A
t 3

1 
D

ec
em

be
r 

20
22

   
   

   
   

7
4,

30
0 

   
   

   
 1

04
,0

00
 

   
   

   
   

34
,0

00
 

   
   

   
   

13
,2

00
 

   
   

   
   

  7
,0

00
 

   
   

   
 2

32
,5

00
 

A
cc

u
m

u
la

te
d

 a
m

o
rt

is
at

io
n

 a
n

d
 

   
im

p
ai

rm
e

n
t 

lo
ss

A
t 1

 J
an

u
ar

y 
20

22
   

   
   

   
  

3,
00

0 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  -

  
 

   
   

   
   

12
,1

00
 

   
   

   
   

  6
,2

00
 

   
   

   
   

  2
,5

00
 

   
   

   
   

23
,8

00
 

A
m

or
tis

at
io

n 
ch

ar
ge

 fo
r 

th
e 

fin
an

ci
a

l y
ea

r
33

   
   

   
   

   
   

  -
   

   
   

   
   

  4
,0

00
 

   
   

   
   

  2
,6

0
0 

  
   

   
   

   
1,

30
0 

  
   

   
   

   
   

   
- 

  
   

   
   

   
  7

,9
00

 
Im

pa
irm

en
t l

os
s

33
   

   
   

   
   

   
  -

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  -

   
   

   
  

   
   

   
   

- 
  

  
   

   
   

   
   

50
0 

  
   

   
   

   
   

   
- 

  
   

   
   

   
   

  5
00

 
E

xc
ha

ng
e 

di
ffe

re
nc

es
   

   
   

   
   

   
  -

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  -

   
   

   
  

   
   

   
   

- 
  

  
   

   
   

   
   

10
0 

  
   

   
   

   
   

   
- 

  
   

   
   

   
   

  1
00

 

A
t 3

1 
D

ec
em

be
r 

20
22

   
   

   
   

  
3,

00
0 

   
   

   
   

  4
,0

00
 

   
   

   
   

14
,7

00
 

   
   

   
   

  8
,1

00
 

   
   

   
   

  2
,5

00
 

   
   

   
   

32
,3

00
 

C
ar

ry
in

g
 a

m
o

u
n

t

A
t 1

 J
an

u
ar

y 
20

22
   

   
   

   
42

,5
00

 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  -

   
   

   
   

   
15

,9
00

 
   

   
   

   
  2

,1
00

 
  

   
   

   
   

2,
50

0 
   

   
   

   
63

,0
00

 

A
t 3

1 
D

ec
em

be
r 

20
22

   
   

   
   

71
,3

00
 

   
   

   
 1

00
,0

00
 

   
   

   
   

19
,3

00
 

   
   

   
   

  5
,1

00
 

  
   

   
   

   
4,

50
0 

   
   

   
 2

00
,2

00
 

T
o

ta
l

G
o

o
d

w
ill

C
o

n
ce

ss
io

n
 

ri
g

h
ts

D
e

v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t 

co
st

s
C

o
m

p
u

te
r 

so
ft

w
ar

e
A

cq
u

ir
e

d
 

lic
e

n
se

s

 
 

124



 
 

  
 

 
 

Re
fe

re
nc

e 
 

 
 

 
 

         13
8.

11
8(

c)
 

 13
8.

11
8(

e)
(i)

 

13
8.

11
8(

e)
(i)

 

13
8.

11
8(

e)
(v

ii)
 

 13
8.

11
8(

c)
 

   13
8.

11
8(

c)
 

13
8.

11
8(

e)
(v

i) 

13
8.

11
8(

e)
(iv

) 

13
8.

11
8(

e)
(v

ii)
 

 13
8.

11
8(

c)
 

 13
8.

11
8(

c)
 

 

NO
TE

S 
TO

 T
HE

 F
IN

AN
CI

AL
 S

TA
TE

M
EN

TS
 (C

O
NT

IN
UE

D)
 

 9.
 

IN
TA

NG
IB

LE
 A

SS
ET

S 
(C

O
NT

IN
UE

D)
 

 
G

ro
up

N
ot

e
 R

M
’0

00
 

 R
M

’0
00

 
 R

M
’0

00
 

 R
M

’0
00

 
 R

M
’0

00
 

 R
M

’0
00

 
C

os
t

At
 1

 J
an

ua
ry

 2
02

1
   

   
   

   
45

,5
00

 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  -

   
   

   
   

   
26

,0
00

 
   

   
   

   
  7

,3
00

 
   

   
   

   
  4

,5
00

 
   

   
   

   
83

,3
00

 
Ad

di
tio

ns
- d

ev
el

op
ed

 in
te

rn
al

ly
   

   
   

   
   

   
  -

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  -

   
   

   
   

   
  2

,0
00

 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  -

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  -

   
   

   
   

   
  2

,0
00

 
- a

cq
ui

re
d 

se
pa

ra
te

ly
   

   
   

   
   

   
  -

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  -

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  -

   
   

   
   

   
   

  9
50

 
   

   
   

   
   

  5
00

 
   

   
   

   
  1

,4
50

 
E

xc
ha

ng
e 

di
ffe

re
nc

es
   

   
   

   
   

   
  -

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  -

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  -

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 5

0 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  -

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 5

0 

At
 3

1 
D

ec
em

be
r 2

02
1

   
   

   
   

45
,5

00
 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  -
   

   
   

   
   

28
,0

00
 

   
   

   
   

  8
,3

00
 

   
   

   
   

  5
,0

00
 

   
   

   
   

86
,8

00
 

A
cc

um
ul

at
ed

 a
m

or
tis

at
io

n 
an

d 
   

im
pa

irm
en

t l
os

s
At

 1
 J

an
ua

ry
 2

02
1

   
   

   
   

   
   

  -
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  -
   

   
   

   
   

  8
,5

00
 

   
   

   
   

  4
,8

00
 

   
   

   
   

  2
,5

00
 

   
   

   
   

15
,8

00
 

Am
or

tis
at

io
n 

ch
ar

ge
 fo

r t
he

 fi
na

nc
ia

l y
ea

r
33

   
   

   
   

   
   

  -
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  -
   

   
   

   
   

  3
,6

00
 

   
   

   
   

  1
,3

50
 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  -
   

   
   

   
   

  4
,9

50
 

Im
pa

irm
en

t l
os

s
33

   
   

   
   

  3
,0

00
 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  -
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  -
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  -
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  -
   

   
   

   
   

  3
,0

00
 

E
xc

ha
ng

e 
di

ffe
re

nc
es

   
   

   
   

   
   

  -
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  -
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  -
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 5
0 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  -
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 5
0 

At
 3

1 
D

ec
em

be
r 2

02
1

   
   

   
   

  3
,0

00
 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  -
   

   
   

   
   

12
,1

00
 

   
   

   
   

  6
,2

00
 

   
   

   
   

  2
,5

00
 

   
   

   
   

23
,8

00
 

C
ar

ry
in

g 
am

ou
nt

At
 1

 J
an

ua
ry

 2
02

1
   

   
   

   
45

,5
00

 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  -

   
   

   
   

   
17

,5
00

 
   

   
   

   
  2

,5
00

 
   

   
   

   
  2

,0
00

 
   

   
   

   
67

,5
00

 

At
 3

1 
D

ec
em

be
r 2

02
1

   
   

   
   

42
,5

00
 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  -
   

   
   

   
   

15
,9

00
 

   
   

   
   

  2
,1

00
 

   
   

   
   

  2
,5

00
 

   
   

   
   

63
,0

00
 

To
ta

l
G

oo
dw

ill
C

on
ce

ss
io

n 
rig

ht
s

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t 
co

st
s

C
om

pu
te

r 
so

ftw
ar

e
A

cq
ui

re
d 

lic
en

se
s

  

125



 
 
 
 
 

  Reference  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

138.118(c) 

 
138.118(e)(i) 

138.118(e)(i) 

 
138.118(c) 

 

138.118(e)(i) 

138.118(e)(i) 

 
138.118(c) 

 

 
138.118(c) 

138.118(e)(vi) 

 

 
138.118(c) 

138.118(e)(vi) 

 

 
138.118(c) 

 

138.118(c) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
9. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 
 

Company

Note  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 

Cost
At 1 January 2021                      -                 3,500               2,700        6,200 
Additions
- developed internally                      -                    500                      -             500 
- acquired separately                      -                        -                 1,800        1,800 

At 31 December 2021                      -                 4,000               4,500        8,500 
Additions
- developed internally                      -                 2,000                      -          2,000 
- acquired separately          104,000                      -                 1,800   105,800 

At 31 December 2022          104,000               6,000               6,300   116,300 

Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January 2021                      -                 1,000               1,000        2,000 
Amortisation charge for the financial 
  year 33                      -                 1,000               1,000        2,000 

At 31 December 2021                      -                 2,000               2,000        4,000 
Amortisation charge for the financial 
  year 33               4,000               1,000               1,000        6,000 

At 31 December 2022               4,000               3,000               3,000      10,000 

Carrying amount

At 1 January 2021                      -                 2,500               1,700        4,200 

At 31 December 2021                      -                 2,000               2,500        4,500 

At 31 December 2022          100,000               3,000               3,300   106,300 

Concession 
rights

Development 
costs

Computer 
software Total
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IC Int 129.6A 

IC Int 129.7 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
9. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 
 

(a) Amortisation 
 

The amortisation of development costs and computer software (partially) of the Group and 
the Company amounting to RM3,000,000 (2021: RM4,000,000) and RM1,500,000 (2021: 
RM1,500,000) respectively are included in cost of sales; computer software (remaining) is 
included in administrative expenses. The amortisation of the concession rights of the Group 
and the Company of RM4,000,000 (2021: Nil) is included in cost of sales. 
 

(b) Concession rights 
 
During the financial year, the Company entered into two material service concession 
arrangements, one is with the State Government of Penang in Malaysia to construct and 
operate the convention center and the other is with the State Government of Shenzhen in 
China to build and operate a power plant to supply electricity to consumers in a designated 
area. The Company is granted a right to intangible assets or a license to charge public 
customers for the use of the public infrastructure and the concession rights have been 
granted for a period of twenty-five years. 
 
The initial cost of concession rights has been measured at the amount of consideration to 
which the Company expects to be entitled in relation to the construction services rendered to 
the State Governments using an expected cost plus profit margin method.  
 
During the financial year, the amount of revenue and cost of sales recognised in profit or loss 
are as follows: 
 

2022 2021
RM’000 RM’000

Convention center:
Revenue 41,600      -               
Cost of sales      (37,856) -               

        3,744 -               
Power plant:
Revenue 62,400      -               
Cost of sales      (56,784) -               

        5,616 -               

Group and Company

 
 
 

 

127



 
 
 
 
 

  Reference  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

136.126(a) 

136.130(a) 

136.130(b) 

136.130(d) 

136.130(e) 

136.130(g) 

 

 

136.80 

 

 

 

 

 

 

136.134(a) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

136.134(b) 

 

 

 

136.134(c) 

136.134(d)(iii) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
9. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 
 

(c) Development cost 
 

Development costs principally comprise internally generated expenditure on major projects 
where it is reasonably anticipated that the costs will be recovered through future commercial 
activities. 
 

(d) Computer software 
 
During the financial year, an impairment loss of RM500,000 was recognised in profit or loss 
of the Group as other expenses, representing the impairment of the computer software in the 
manufacturing segment to its recoverable amounts due to technological obsolescence. The 
recoverable amount of RM5,100,000 as at 31 December 2022 was based on value-in-use 
and the cash flows were discounted at a rate of 8% on a pre-tax basis. 
  

(e) Impairment of goodwill and licenses 
 
Management reviews the business performance based on the type of products and services 
of the strategic business units which represent its reportable operating segments. For the 
purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated 
to the following Group’s cash generating units (“CGUs”) which are also reportable operating 
segments, which represent the lowest level within the Group at which the goodwill is 
monitored for internal management purposes. 
 
The carrying amounts of goodwill allocated to the CGUs are as follows: 
 

31.12.2022 31.12.2021
RM’000 RM’000

Construction - CGU 1 33,200      4,400        
Manufacturing - CGU 2 16,500      16,500      
Plantation - CGU 3 19,700      19,700      

69,400      40,600      
Multiple units without significant goodwill 1,900        1,900        

71,300      42,500      

Group

 
 
The licenses to operate the oil palm plantation are allocated to the plantation segment. 
Goodwill and licenses are assessed at each reporting date regardless of any indication of 
impairment by comparing the carrying amount with the recoverable amount of each CGU. 
 
The recoverable amount of CGUs has been determined based on value-in-use calculations 
using cash flows projection from financial budgets and forecasts approved by management 
covering a five-year period. The same method has also been used in the previous financial 
year. 
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136.135(e) 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
9. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 

 
(e) Impairment of goodwill and licenses (continued) 

 
CGU 1 
 
Based on the sensitivity analysis performed, management believes that there is no 
reasonably possible change in key assumptions that would cause the carrying values of the 
CGU to exceed its recoverable amounts. The estimated recoverable amount of the CGU 1 
significantly exceeds the carrying amount of the CGU 1. As a result of the analysis, 
management did not identify an impairment for this CGU. 
 
CGU 2 
 
In current financial year, the estimated recoverable amount of the CGU 2 significantly 
exceeds the carrying amount of the CGU 2. As a result of the analysis, management did not 
identify an impairment for this CGU. Based on the sensitivity analysis performed, 
management believes that there is no reasonably possible change in key assumptions that 
would cause the carrying values of the CGU to exceed its recoverable amounts. 
 
CGU 3 
 
Based on the sensitivity analysis performed, management believes that there is no 
reasonably possible change in key assumptions that would cause the carrying value of the 
CGU to exceed its recoverable amount. The estimated recoverable amount of the CGU 3 
significantly exceeds the carrying amount of the CGU 3. As a result of the analysis, 
management did not identify an impairment for this CGU. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Commentary: 
 
If there is a reasonably change in the key assumption(s) that would cause the aggregate of the units’ 
(groups of units’) carrying amounts to exceed the aggregate of their recoverable amounts, the entity 
shall make the following disclosures: 
 
(i) the amount by which the aggregate of the units’ (groups of units’) recoverable amounts exceeds 

the aggregate of their carrying amounts. 
(ii) the value(s) assigned to the key assumption(s). 
(iii) the amount by which the value(s) assigned to the key assumption(s) must change, after 

incorporating any consequential effects of the change on the other variables used to measure 
recoverable amount, in order for the aggregate of the units’ (group of units’) recoverable amounts 
to be equal to the aggregate of their carrying amounts. 
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 136.134(d)(ii)

 

 

 

 

 136.134(d)(ii)

 136.134(d)(iii)

 

 136.134(d)(ii)

 136.134(d)(iii)

 

 

 136.134(d)(ii)

 136.134(d)(iii)

 

 

 

 

 

136.134(d)(iv)

 

 

 

 

136.134(d)(v)

 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
9. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 

 
(e) Impairment of goodwill and licenses (continued) 

 
For each of the CGUs with significant amount of goodwill, the value-in-use calculation is most 
sensitive to the following key assumptions: 
 
31.12.2022 CGU 1 CGU 2 CGU 3
Sales volume (% of annual growth rate) 3.8% 2.9% 4.1%
Sales price (% of annual incremental rate) 5.0% 4.0% 3.0%
Gross margin (% of revenue) 25% 20% 35%
Long-term growth rate 5% 6% 4%
Discount rate 9% 8% 7%

31.12.2021 CGU 1 CGU 2 CGU 3
Sales volume (% of annual growth rate) 2.1% 3.8% 4.1%
Sales price (% of annual incremental rate) 5.0% 4.0% 3.0%
Gross margin (% of revenue) 25% 20% 35%
Long-term growth rate 6% 5% 5%
Discount rate 9% 8% 8%  
 
[The cash flows projections and forecasts have been updated to reflect the decreased 
demand for products and services.] These key assumptions have been used for the analysis 
of each CGU within the operating segments. The values assigned to the key assumptions 
represent management’s assessment of future trends in the respective industry and are 
based on both external sources and internal sources (historical data). 
 
Sales volume is the forecasted annual growth rate over the five-year projection period. It is 
based on the average growth levels experienced over the past five years. 
 
Sales price is the forecasted annual incremental rate over the five-year projection period. It 
is based on current industry trends and includes long-term inflation forecasts for each 
territory. 
 
Gross margin is the forecasted margin as a percentage of revenue over the five-year 
projection period. These are increased over the projection period for anticipated efficiency 
improvements. 

 
  

 
Long-term growth rate does not exceed the long-term average growth rates for the industries 
relevant to the CGU. Cash flows beyond the five-year projection period are extrapolated using 
the long-term growth rates.

 
 
Discount rate was estimated based on the industry weighted average cost of capital. The 
discount rate

 

applied to the cash flow projections is pre-tax and reflects management’s 
estimate of the risks specific to the CGU at the date of assessment.
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127.10(a) 

127.17(c) 
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5Sch(I)7 

127.17(b) 

12.10(a)(i) 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

10. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES 
 

31.12.2022 31.12.2021
RM’000 RM’000

At cost

   Quoted shares 35,800      35,800      
   Unquoted shares 146,600     91,700      

182,400     127,500     
Less: Impairment loss (4,000)       (4,000)       

178,400     123,500     
Loans that are part of net investments 10,000      20,000      

188,400     143,500     

Market value

   Quoted shares 77,800      65,400      

Company

 
 
Loans that are part of net investments represent amount owing by subsidiary which is non-trade in 
nature, unsecured and non-interest bearing. The settlement of the amount is neither planned nor likely 
to occur in the foreseeable future as it is the intention of the Company to treat these amounts as long-
term source of capital to the subsidiary. As this amount is, in substance, a part of the Company’s net 
investment in the subsidiary, it is stated at cost less accumulated impairment loss, if any. 

 
Details of the subsidiaries are as follows: 
 

31.12.2022 31.12.2021
% %

ABC Sdn Bhd Malaysia - 100 Construction services

BBB Sdn Bhd Malaysia 75 75 Oil palm cultivation and
processing of crude palm oil and
palm kernel

CCC Sdn Bhd Malaysia 100 100 Oil palm cultivation and
processing of crude palm oil and
palm kernel

DDD Palm Oil 
  Mills Sdn Bhd

Malaysia 100 100 Milling of crude palm oil and
palm kernel

Ding Berhad Malaysia 40 40 Property development

FFF Sdn Bhd Malaysia 100 100 Property development

GGG Sdn Bhd Malaysia 100 100 Property development and
construction services

Name of 
company

Principal place 
of business/ 
country of 

incorporation

Ownership interest

Principal activities

 

1 

2 
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12.11

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
10. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 

 
Details of the subsidiaries are as follows (continued):  
 

31.12.2022 31.12.2021
% %

HHH 
  Development 
  Sdn Bhd

Malaysia 100 100 Property development and small
equipment leasing

JJJ 
  Manufacture 
  Sdn Bhd

Malaysia 100 100 Production of plastic mould
products and fast-food business

* Jalia Co Ltd Thailand 80 80 Construction services

KKK Sdn Bhd Malaysia 100 100 Property development
* PT Halia Palm 

  Oil #
Indonesia 80 - Oil palm cultivation and processing

of crude palm oil and palm kernel

* PT BLK 
  Construction

Indonesia 100 100 Property development and
construction services

* PLK Ltd  China 100 100 Construction services and
operation of power plant

* Singa Pte Ltd Singapore 75 75 Property development
TKT Sdn Bhd Malaysia 100 100 Property development
XYZ Sdn Bhd Malaysia 80 70 Processing of crude palm oil and

palm kernel

Subsidiary of BBB Sdn Bhd
* MLM Pte Ltd Singapore 100 100 Property development

+ LLL Pte Ltd Singapore 60 60 Property development

Subsidiary of CCC Sdn Bhd
* FFF Co Ltd Thailand 100 100 Oil palm cultivation and processing 

of crude palm oil and palm kernel

Name of 
company

Principal place 
of business/ 
country of 

incorporation

Ownership interest

Principal activities

 
 
* Audited by auditors other than Baker Tilly Monteiro Heng PLT.  
+  Audited by an independent member firm of Baker Tilly International. 
# The statutory financial year end of PT Halia Palm Oil was 31 October 2022 which does not 

coincide with the financial year end of the Group. PT Halia Palm Oil is in the midst of changing 
its financial year end to coincide with the Group. For the purpose of consolidation, the financial 
statements of PT Halia Palm Oil for the financial year ended 31 October 2022 have been used 
and appropriate adjustments have been made for the effects of significant transactions from PT 
Halia Palm Oil’s financial year end to 31 December 2022. 
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3.B64(a) 

3.B64(b) 

3.B64(c) 

3.B64(d) 

3.B64(e) 

 

 

 

 

 
 

107.40(b) 

3.B64(f)(i) 

3.B64(f)(iv) 

3.B64(f)(iii) 

 

 

 
3.B64(f)(iv) 

 

 

 

3.B64(g) 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
10. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 

 
(a) Acquisition of PT Halia Palm Oil 

 
On 31 March 2022, the Company acquired 80% controlling interest in the equity shares of 
PT Halia Palm Oil. PT Halia Palm Oil operates in the agriculture industry, with oil palm 
cultivation and palm oil milling as its core businesses. Its businesses are conducted mainly 
in Indonesia. As a result of the acquisition, the Group has become a significant producer of 
crude palm oil and palm kernel in the oil palm business. By combining the plantation 
operations of PT Halia Palm Oil, the Group expects to extract synergies for the combined 
operations, which would lead to cost reductions and other economies of scale. 
 
(i) Fair value of consideration transferred: 
 

RM’000
(a) Cash consideration 25,000      
(b) 25 million ordinary shares of the Company 50,000      
(c) Liability for contingent consideration 5,000        

80,000       
 
The fair value of the 25,000,000 ordinary shares issued as part of the consideration paid 
for PT Halia Palm Oil was determined on the basis of the closing market price of the 
Company’s ordinary shares of RM2 per share on the acquisition date. 
 
As at the acquisition date, the fair value of the contingent consideration was estimated 
to be RM5,000,000. As part of the purchase agreement, there will be additional cash 
payments of RM5,350,000 to the former shareholders of PT Halia Palm Oil on 31 
October 2023 if the acquiree achieves the guaranteed maintainable profits after tax of 
RM30,000,000 for the 12-month period ending 31 October 2023. If the actual profit is 
above or below the guaranteed level, the amount payable increase or decrease by the 
excess or shortfall in profit. The contingent amount payable is probably in the range of 
RM4,000,000 to RM6,000,000. The fair value is measured based on discounted cash 
flows method. The discount rate applied was 7%. 
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3.B64(i) 

 

 

107.40(d) 

 

 

 
3.B64(h)(i) 
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3.B64(o)(i) 

 

 

 
3.B64(o)(ii) 

 

 

 

 

 

3.B64(h)(ii) 

3.B64(h)(iii) 

 

 

 3.B67(a)
 

 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
10. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 

 
(a) Acquisition of PT Halia Palm Oil (continued) 

 
(ii) Fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities recognised: 

 
RM’000

Assets
Property, plant and equipment (Note 5) 31,500      
Investment properties (Note 6) 20,000      
Inventories 14,600      
Trade and other receivables 8,700        
Cash and cash equivalents 5,000        

Total assets 79,800      

Liabilities
Term loans (4,000)       
Trade and other payables (4,600)       

Total liabilities (8,600)       

Total identifiable net assets acquired 71,200      
Goodwill arising on acquisition (Note 9) 28,800      
Non-controlling interest at fair value (20,000)     

Fair value of consideration transferred 80,000       
 
The fair value of the non-controlling interest was measured by valuing the acquiree’s 
ordinary shares using a price-earnings ratio technique. The key model inputs used in 
the valuation were the estimated maintainable equity earnings of RM15,000,000, a 
reference industry quoted price-earnings ratio of 10 times with a 1/3 reduction for the 
illiquidity and other risks of unquoted shares. 
 
The fair value of the trade and other receivables was an undiscounted amount after 
adjustment for probable uncollectibility. The gross contractual amount of the receivables 
was RM10,000,000 of which RM1,300,000 was not expected to be collected. 
 
Provisional fair values were assigned to the property, plant and equipment, pending 
receipts of the final valuation of those assets. A professional consultant has been 
commissioned to undertake valuation of those assets. The initial accounting for this 
subsidiary is expected to be completed by the second quarter of the following financial 
year. 
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3.B64(e) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.B64(k) 

 

 

3.11 

 

 

 

 

 

 3.B64(m)
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 107.40(a)
 

 107.40(b)
 107.40(c)
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
10. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 

 
(a) Acquisition of PT Halia Palm Oil (continued) 

 
(ii) Fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities recognised (continued): 

 
Goodwill 
 
Goodwill comprises the value of expected synergies arising from the acquisition and 
non-identifiable intangible assets which are not separately recognised. 
 
Non-identifiable intangible assets comprise a customer list and substantial non-
contractual customer relationships with its overseas buyers. Due to the contractual 
terms imposed on acquisition, the customer list is not separable. Whilst, substantial non-
contractual customer relationships with its overseas buyers was not identifiable at the 
acquisition date because it was neither separable from the business as a whole nor 
could it be controlled through legal or other contractual rights. Therefore, these assets 
did not meet the recognition criteria as an intangible asset under MFRS 138. Hence, 
these intangible assets were subsumed in the amount determined for goodwill. None of 
the goodwill recognised is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes. 
 
Included in the administrative expenses of the Group and the Company for the financial 
year ended 31 December 2022 was an amount of RM1,000,000 that represented a 
severance payment made to the former chief executive officer (“CEO”) of PT Halia Palm 
Oil, following the request of the Company to terminate the employment of the CEO. This 
amount was excluded from the business combination accounting. 
 
Acquisition-related costs 
 
Acquisition-related costs of the business combination amounted to RM1,000,000, of 
which RM900,000 was recognised in profit or loss as administrative expense and 
RM100,000 relating to share issue was charged directly to equity. 

 
(iii) Effects of acquisition on cash flows: 

 
RM’000

Fair value of consideration transferred 80,000      
Less: Non-cash consideration (55,000)     
Consideration paid in cash 25,000      
Less: Cash and cash equivalents of a subsidiary acquired (5,000)       

Net cash outflows on acquisition 20,000       
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3.B64(q)(i) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
3.B64(q)(ii) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

107.40(b) 

 

107.40(a) 

10.B98(b)(i) 

10.B98(b)(iii) 
 

10.B98(c) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
10. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 

 
(a) Acquisition of PT Halia Palm Oil (continued) 

 
(iv) Effects of acquisition in statements of comprehensive income 
 

From the date of acquisition, the subsidiary’s contributed revenue and profit net of tax 
are as follows: 
 

RM’000

Revenue 35,000      
Profit for the financial year 3,000         
 
If the acquisition had occurred on 1 January 2022, the consolidated results for the 
financial year ended 31 December 2022 would have been as follows: 
 

RM’000

Revenue 1,918,300  
Profit for the financial year 134,900      

 
(b) Disposal of ABC Sdn Bhd 

 
On 1 June 2022, the Company disposed its 70% equity investment in ABC Sdn Bhd for a 
total consideration of RM20,100,000. The Company classified its remaining 30% equity 
interest in ABC Sdn Bhd as associate given that the Company has significant influence over 
the financial and operating policy decisions of ABC Sdn Bhd. 
 
(i) Summary of the effects of disposal of ABC Sdn Bhd: 
 

RM’000
Recognised:
Cash consideration received         1,100 
Equity and debts instruments       19,000 
Fair value of consideration received       20,100 
Fair value of retained investment treated as an associate (Note 11)         5,000 

      25,100 
Reclassification adjustment of exchange translation reserve         1,000 

      26,100  
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10.B98(a)(i) 

107.40(d) 

 

 

 
107.40(c) 

 

 

 
10.B98(d) 
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 107.40(b)
 107.40(c)
 

 

 

 

 

 10.23
 10.B96

 12.18
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
10. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 

 
(b) Disposal of ABC Sdn Bhd (continued) 

 
(i) Summary of the effects of disposal of ABC Sdn Bhd (continued): 

 
RM’000 RM’000

Derecognised:
Fair value of identifiable net assets at disposal date

Other investment (13,900)     
Inventories (11,000)     
Trade and other receivables (6,000)       
Cash and cash equivalents (500)          
Term loans 4,700        
Trade and other payables 1,000             (25,700)

Gain on disposal of ABC Sdn Bhd            400  
 

(ii) Effects of disposal on cash flows: 
 

RM’000

Fair value of consideration received       20,100 
Less: Non-cash consideration      (19,000)
Consideration received in cash         1,100 
Less: Cash and cash equivalents of subsidiary disposed           (500)

Net cash inflows on disposal            600  
 

(c) Acquisition of additional interest in XYZ Sdn Bhd 
 

On 31 July 2022, the Company purchased an additional 10% equity interest (representing 
5,000,000 ordinary shares) in XYZ Sdn Bhd, a subsidiary of the Group at a price of RM2 per 
share. The Company’s effective ownership in XYZ Sdn Bhd increased from 70% to 80% as 
a result of the additional shares purchased. 
 
Effect of the increase in the Company’s ownership interest is as follows: 
 

RM’000

Fair value of consideration transferred       10,000 
Increase in share of net assets        (7,500)

Excess charged directly to equity         2,500  
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12.10(a)(ii) 

 

 

12.12(a)-(c) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 12.12(f)

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

12.12(e)

 

 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
10. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 

 
(d) Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries 

 
The financial information of the Group’s and the Company’s subsidiaries that have material 
non-controlling interests are as follows: 
 
Equity interest held by non-controlling interests:  
 

 31.12.2022  31.12.2021 
Name of company % %

BBB Sdn Bhd Malaysia 25 25
Ding Berhad Malaysia 60 60
LLL Pte Ltd Singapore 40 40

Principal place of 
business/ country of 

incorporation

Ownership interest

 
 
Carrying amount of material non-controlling interests:  
 

 31.12.2022  31.12.2021 
Name of company  RM’000  RM’000 

BBB Sdn Bhd 50,000       42,500       
Ding Berhad 42,000       21,000       
LLL Pte Ltd 32,000       32,000        
 
Profit or loss allocated to material non-controlling interests:  

 
 31.12.2022  31.12.2021 

Name of company  RM’000  RM’000 

BBB Sdn Bhd (5,500)       5,000        
Ding Berhad 24,000      18,450      
LLL Pte Ltd 5,000        3,000         
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12.12(g) 

 

 

 

 

 
12.B10(b) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

12.B10(b) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

12.B10(b) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

12.B10(a) 

 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
10. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 

 
(e) Summarised financial information of material non-controlling interests  

 
The summarised financial information (before intra-group elimination) of the Group’s and the 
Company’s subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests are as follows: 
 

 BBB 
Sdn Bhd 

 Ding 
Berhad 

 LLL 
Pte Ltd 

 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 
Summarised statements of financial position
As at 31 December 2022
Current assets 100,000     50,000      80,000      
Non-current assets 200,000     100,000     120,000     
Current liabilities (40,000)     (30,000)     (60,000)     
Non-current liabilities (60,000)     (50,000)     (60,000)     

Net assets 200,000     70,000      80,000      

Summarised statements of comprehensive 
  income
Financial year ended 31 December 2022
Revenue 300,000     200,000     250,000     
Profit/(loss) for the finanical year 40,000      (10,000)     20,000      
Total comprehensive income 50,000      20,000      25,000      

Summarised cash flow information
Financial year ended 31 December 2022
Cash flows from operating activities 80,000      60,000      70,000      
Cash flows used in investing activities (90,000)     (50,000)     (50,000)     
Cash flows from financing activities 20,000      15,000      10,000      

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 10,000      25,000      30,000      

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests 3,000                     -   1,000         
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12.B10(b) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

12.B10(b) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

12.B10(b) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
12.B10(a) 

 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
10. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 

 
(e) Summarised financial information of material non-controlling interests (continued)  

 
The summarised financial information (before intra-group elimination) of the Group’s and the 
Company’s subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests are as follows 
(continued):  
 

BBB 
Sdn Bhd

 Ding 
Berhad 

LLL 
Pte Ltd

 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 
Summarised statements of financial position
As at 31 December 2021
Current assets 90,000      40,000      90,000      
Non-current assets 180,000     90,000      110,000     
Current liabilities (40,000)     (35,000)     (70,000)     
Non-current liabilities (60,000)     (60,000)     (50,000)     

Net assets 170,000     35,000      80,000      

Summarised statements of comprehensive 
  income
Financial year ended 31 December 2021
Revenue 280,000     210,000     260,000     
Profit/(loss) for the finanical year 30,000      (20,000)     22,000      
Total comprehensive income 40,000      30,000      28,000      

Summarised cash flow information
Financial year ended 31 December 2021
Cash flows from operating activities 70,000      80,000      75,000      
Cash flows used in investing activities (80,000)     (60,000)     (55,000)     
Cash flows from financing activities 20,000      25,000      15,000      

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 10,000      45,000      35,000      

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests 2,000        1,000                     -    
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136.130(a) 

 

 

127.17(b)(iii) 

 

 12.7
 12.9(b)

 

 

 

 

 

 12.B11
 

 12.B17
 

 

 

 

 12.13(a)

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
10. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 

 
Commentary: 
 
 An entity shall disclose the events and circumstances that led to the recognition or reversal of the 

impairment losses. 
  
 Disclosure of the proportion of the voting rights is required if it is different from the ownership interest. 
  
 The entity shall disclose significant judgements and assumptions made in determining the existence 

of controls over another entity even though it holds less than half of the voting rights of the other 
entity. 

  
 Where we have not acted as auditors, a statement needs to be included in independent auditors’ 

report to state so. 
  
 The summarised financial information shall be the amounts before inter-company eliminations. 
  
 When an entity’s interest in a subsidiary is classified as held for sale in accordance with MFRS 5, the 

entity is not required to disclose summarised financial information for that subsidiary in accordance 
with paragraphs 12.B10–B16. 

  
 

Illustrative disclosure where the holding company or its subsidiary is restricted on its ability 
to access or use the assets and settle the liabilities of the Group 
 
Significant restrictions 
Country A imposed a restriction on its financial control where XXX Ltd is restricted from transferring 
funds to the Group in the form of cash dividends or repay loans or advances made by the Group. 
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136.126 

 

 

 

12.21(b)(iii) 

 

 
 

127.17(b) 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)  
11. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES 

 

 31.12.2022  31.12.2021  31.12.2022  31.12.2021 
 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 

Shares at cost        45,300        40,300        23,600        18,600 
Share of post-acquisition reserves        33,600        18,300               -                 -   
Less: Impairment losses  (xxx)  (xxx)  (xxx)  (xxx) 

       78,900        58,600        23,600        18,600 

Market value
- Quoted shares        13,200        11,600        13,200        11,600 

Group Company

 
 
Details of associates are as follows:  
 

31.12.2022 31.12.2021
% %

SSS Sdn Bhd Malaysia 35 35 Processing of final palm-based
products. The activities contribute
to the Group’s agricultural
business segment.

ABC Sdn Bhd Malaysia 30 - Construction services. The
activities contribute to the Group’s
construction segment.

Slime Sdn Bhd Malaysia 20 20 Property development. The
activities contribute to the Group’s
property development segment.

TTT Sdn Bhd Malaysia 25 25 Marketing and trading of palm oil
and other agricultural commodities. 
The activities enhance the Group’s
operations.

UUU Berhad Malaysia 10 10 Palm oil and rubber commodity
trading. The activities enhance the
Group’s operations.

Name of 
company

Principal 
place of 
business/ 
country of 

incorporation

Ownership interest

Nature of relationship
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3 
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12.21(b)(iii) 

 

 

 

 

 
 

12.21(b)(ii) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
12.B12(b)(i)-(iv) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

12.B14(b) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

12.B12(b)(vi)-(ix) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
12.B12(b)(v) 

 
 

12.B12(a) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
11. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) 
 

(a) Fair value information  
 

As at 31 December 2022, the fair value of UUU Berhad, which is listed on the Main Market 
of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad, was RM13,200,000 (31.12.2021: RM11,600,000) 
based on the quoted market price available on the stock exchange, which has been 
categorised within Level 1 fair value hierarchy. 
 

(b) Summarised financial information of material associates  
 
The following table illustrates the summarised financial information of the Group’s material 
associates, adjusted for any differences made by the Group when using equity method 
including fair value adjustments and differences in accounting policies and reconciles the 
information to the carrying amount of the Group’s interest in the associates: 
 

SSS
Sdn Bhd

TTT
Sdn Bhd

Group  RM’000  RM’000 
31.12.2022
Assets and liabilities:
Current assets 68,500      76,000      
Non-current assets 48,000      70,000      
Current liabilities (6,000)      (8,000)      
Non-current liabilities (16,500)    (19,600)    

Net assets 94,000      118,400    

Reconciliation of net assets to carrying amount:
Group’s share in % 35% 25%
Group's share of net assets       32,900       29,600 
Goodwill         6,000         2,000 

Carrying amount       38,900       31,600 

Results:
Profit from continuing operations 20,657      19,600      
Profit from discontinued operations xxx xxx
Other comprehensive income 3,343       3,200       

Total comprehensive income 24,000      22,800      

Included in the total comprehensive income of the associates is:
Revenue 350,000    80,000      

Dividend received from the associate during the year xxx xxx
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12.21(b)(ii) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
12.B12(b)(i)-(iv) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

12.B14(b) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
12.B12(b)(vi)-(ix) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
12.B12(b)(v) 

 
 

12.B12(a) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
11. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) 
 

(b) Summarised financial information of material associates (continued) 
 

The following table illustrates the summarised financial information of the Group’s material 
associates, adjusted for any differences made by the Group when using equity method 
including fair value adjustments and differences in accounting policies and reconciles the 
information to the carrying amount of the Group’s interest in the associates (continued): 
 

SSS
Sdn Bhd

TTT
Sdn Bhd

Group  RM’000  RM’000 
31.12.2021
Assets and liabilities:
Current assets 45,000      47,600      
Non-current assets 40,000      55,000      
Current liabilities (5,000)      (2,000)      
Non-current liabilities (10,000)    (5,000)      

Net assets 70,000      95,600      

Reconciliation of net assets to carrying amount:
Group’s share in % 35% 25%
Group's share of net assets       24,500       23,900 
Goodwill         6,000         2,000 

Carrying amount       30,500       25,900 

Results:
Profit from continuing operations 8,000       7,760       
Profit from discontinued operations xxx xxx
Other comprehensive income 1,286       800          

Total comprehensive income 9,286       8,560       

Included in the total comprehensive income of the associates is:
Revenue 300,000    50,000      

Dividend received from the associate during the year xxx xxx
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12.21(c)(ii) 

 

 
 

 
 

12.B16 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
12.22(c) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

136.130(a) 

 

 

12.21(a) 

 

 

12.21(a)(iv) 

 

 

12.21(a)(ii) 

 

 

 

12.7(b) 

12.9(d)-(e) 

 

 

 

13.91-99 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
11. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) 
 

(c) Aggregate information of associates that are individually immaterial 
 

31.12.2022 31.12.2021
 RM’000  RM’000 

Aggregate carrying amount 8,400          2,200         

Group's share of results:
Group's share of profit or loss from:
- Continuing operations 1,100          860           
- Discontinued operations xxx xxx
Group's share of other comprehensive income 100             50             

Group's share of total comprehensive income 1,200                      910 
 

 
Commentary: 
 
 Any entity shall disclose the unrecognised share of losses of an associate, both for the reporting 

period and cumulatively, if the entity has stopped recognising its share of losses of the associate 
when applying the equity method. The illustrative disclosure is as follows: 

 
The Group has not recognised its share of losses of XXX Ltd amounting to RMXXX (2021: 
RMXXX) because the Group’s cumulative share of losses has exceeded its interest in that 
associate and the Group has no obligation in respect of these losses. The Group’s cumulative 
accumulated losses not recognised were RMXXX (31.12.2021: RMXXX). 

  
 An entity shall disclose the events and circumstances that led to the recognition or reversal of the 

impairment losses. 
  
 An entity shall disclose the information as required by MFRS 12.21(a) for each associate that is 

material to the Group. 
  
 Disclosure of the proportion of the voting rights is required if it is different from the ownership 

interest. 
  
 For each associate that is material to the Group, an entity shall disclose the nature of the entity’s 

relationship with the associate (e.g. describing the nature of activities of the associate and whether 
they are strategic to the entity’s activities). 

  
 The entity shall disclose significant judgements and assumptions made in determining the 

existence of significant influence over another entity even though it holds less than 20% of the 
voting rights of the other entity or non-existence of significant influence over another entity even 
though it holds 20% or more of the voting rights of the other entity. 

  
 For disclosure requirements on paragraph 91 to 99 under MFRS 13, refer commentary under Note 

39(d). 
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12.B14 

 

 

12.22(b) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

12.22(a) 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
11. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) 
 
Commentary (continued): 
 
 The summarised financial information presented shall be the amounts included in the MFRS 

financial statements of the associate (and not the entity’s share of those amounts). 
 
Illustrative disclosure where an entity has the financial year end which is different from 
the Group 
 
The financial year end of XXX Ltd is 31 October and change of reporting date is not permitted in 
Country A. For the purpose of applying equity method of accounting, the financial statements of 
XXX Ltd for the financial year ended 31 October 2022 have been used and appropriate 
adjustments have been made to account for significant transactions from XXX Ltd’s financial year 
end to 31 December 2022. 

  
 Illustrative disclosure where an entity’s associates are restricted to transfer funds to 

the entity in the form of cash dividends, or to repay loans or advances made by the 
entity 
 
Significant restrictions 
Country A imposed a restriction on its financial control where XXX Ltd is restricted from transferring 
funds to the Group in the form of cash dividends or repay loans or advances made by the Group. 
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127.10(a) 

127.17(c) 

136.126 

 

 

 
 

127.17(b) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)  
12. INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURES 
 

 31.12.2022  31.12.2021  31.12.2022  31.12.2021 
 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 

Shares at cost       15,200       15,200         3,200         3,200 
Share of post-acquisition reserves         3,300         2,700              -                -   
Less: Impairment losses  (xxx)  (xxx)  (xxx)  (xxx) 

      18,500       17,900         3,200         3,200 

Group Company

 
 
Details of joint ventures are as follows: 
 

31.12.2022 31.12.2021
% %

QQQ Sdn Bhd Malaysia 50 50 Processing of final palm-based
products. The activities contribute
to the Group’s agricultural
business segment.

Argus Sdn Bhd Malaysia 25 25 Oil palm cultivation. The activities
enhance the Group’s operations.

RRR Sdn Bhd Malaysia 30 30 Property development. The
activities contribute to the Group’s
property development segment.

Name of 
company

Principal 
place of 
business/ 
country of 

incorporation

Ownership interest

Nature of relationship
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12.21(b)(ii) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
12.B12(b)(i)-(iv) 

 

 

 

 
 

12.B13(a) 

12.B13(b) 

12.B13(c) 

 

 
 

12.B14(b) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
12.B12(b)(vi)-(ix) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
12.B12(b)(v) 

12.B13(d) 

12.B13(e) 

12.B13(f) 

12.B13(g) 

 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
12. INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED) 
 

(a) Summarised financial information of material joint ventures  
 

The following table illustrates the summarised financial information of the Group’s material 
joint ventures, adjusted for any differences made by the Group when using equity method 
including fair value adjustments and differences in accounting policies and reconciles the 
information to the carrying amount of the Group’s interest in the joint ventures: 
 

QQQ Sdn 
Bhd

Group  RM’000 
31.12.2022
Assets and liabilities:
Current assets 25,200       
Non-current assets 26,000       
Current liabilities (5,000)       
Non-current liabilities (14,200)     
Cash and cash equivalents 2,000        
Current financial liabilities (excluding trade and other payables and provisions) 3,000        

4,000        

Reconciliation of net assets to carrying amount:
Net assets 32,000       
Group’s share in % 50%
Group's share of net assets        16,000 
Goodwill          1,000 

Carrying amount        17,000 

Results:
Profit from continuing operations 1,200        
Profit from discontinued operations xxx
Other comprehensive income 600           

Total comprehensive income 1,800        

Included in the total comprehensive income of the joint ventures is:
Revenue 200,000     
Depreciation and amortisation 3,000        
Interest income 500           
Interest expense 1,000        
Income tax expense 2,000        

Non-current financial liabilities (excluding trade and other payables and 
   provisions)
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12.B12(b)(v)

 

12.B13(d)

 

12.B13(e)

 

12.B13(f)

 

12.B13(g)

 

 

 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
12. INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED) 
 

(a) Summarised financial information of material joint ventures (continued)  
 

The following table illustrates the summarised financial information of the Group’s material 
joint ventures, adjusted for any differences made by the Group when using equity method 
including fair value adjustments and differences in accounting policies and reconciles the 
information to the carrying amount of the Group’s interest in the joint ventures (continued): 
 

QQQ
Sdn Bhd

Group  RM’000 
31.12.2021
Assets and liabilities:
Current assets 85,000       
Non-current assets 20,000       
Current liabilities (20,000)     
Non-current liabilities (54,800)     
Cash and cash equivalents 2,000        
Current financial liabilities (excluding trade and other payables and provisions) 3,000        

4,000        

Reconciliation of net assets to carrying amount:
Net assets 30,200       
Group’s share in % 50%
Group's share of net assets        15,100 
Goodwill          1,000 

Carrying amount        16,100 

Results:
Profit from continuing operations 5,400        
Profit from discontinued operations xxx
Other comprehensive income               -   

Total comprehensive income 5,400        

Included in the total comprehensive income of the joint ventures is:
Revenue 100,000     
Depreciation and amortisation 2,000        
Interest income 500           
Interest expense 1,000        
Income tax expense 1,500        

Non-current financial liabilities (excluding trade and other payables and 
  provisions)
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12.21(c)(i) 

 

 

 

 

12.B16 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

12.22(c) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
136.130(a) 

 

 

12.21(a)(iv) 

 

 

12.21(a)(ii) 

 

 

 

12.7 

12.9(d) 

 

12.B14 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
12. INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED) 
 

(b) Aggregate information of joint ventures that are individually immaterial  
 

31.12.2022 31.12.2021
 RM’000  RM’000 

Aggregate carrying amount 1,500        1,800        

Group's share of results:
Group's share of profit or loss from:
- Continuing operations               -                 -   
- Discontinued operations  xxx  xxx 
Group's share of other comprehensive (loss)/income           (300)               -   

Group's share of total comprehensive (loss)/income           (300)               -   
 

 
 

Commentary: 
 
 An entity shall disclose the unrecognised share of losses of a joint venture, both for the reporting 

period and cumulatively, if the entity has stopped recognising its share of losses of the joint venture 
when applying the equity method. The illustrative disclosure is as follows: 

 
The Group has not recognised its share of losses of XXX Ltd amounting to RMXXX (2021: 
RMXXX) because the Group’s cumulative share of losses has exceeded its interest in that joint 
venture and the Group has no obligation in respect of these losses. The Group’s cumulative 
accumulated losses not recognised were RMXXX (31.12.2021: RMXXX). 

  
 An entity shall disclose the events and circumstances that led to the recognition or reversal of the 

impairment losses. 
  
 Disclosure of the proportion of the voting rights is required if it is different from the ownership 

interest. 
  
 For each joint arrangement that is material to the Group, an entity shall disclose the nature of the 

entity’s relationship with the joint arrangement (e.g. describing the nature of activities of the joint 
arrangement and whether they are strategic to the entity’s activities). 

  
 The entity shall disclose significant judgements and assumptions made in determining the 

existence of joint control over another entity. 
  
 The summarised financial information presented shall be the amounts included in the MFRS 

financial statements of the joint venture (and not the entity’s share of those amounts). 
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Reference  

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

12.22(b) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

13.97 

12.21(b)(iii) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

12.22(a) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS  (CONTINUED)  
 
12. INVESTMENT IN JOINT  VENTURES  (CONTINUED)  

 
Commentary (continued): 
 
 Illustrative disclosure where an entity has the financial year end which is different from 

the Group 
 
The financial year end of XXX Ltd is 31 October and change of reporting date is not permitted 
in Country A. For the purpose of applying equity method of accounting, the financial 
statements of XXX Ltd for the financial year ended 31 October 2022 have been used and 
appropriate adjustments have been made to account for significant transactions from XXX 
Ltd’s financial year end to 31 December 2022. 
 
If the Group has investment in joint venture which is quoted or listed on any prescribed stock 
exchange, the market value of such investment, segregating investments quoted in Malaysia and 
outside Malaysia, shall be disclosed. In addition, fair value information is required to be disclosed in 
accordance with MFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement. For the disclosure requirements on paragraph 
91 to 99 under MFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement, refer commentary under Note 39(d). 

  
 Illustrative disclosure where an entity has investment in joint venture with quoted 

market price 
 
As at 31 December 2022, the fair value of XXX, which is listed on the Main Market of Bursa 
Malaysia Securities Berhad, was RMXXX (31.12.2021: RMXXX) based on the quoted market price 
available on the stock exchange, which has been categorised within Level 1 fair value hierarchy. 

  
 Illustrative disclosure where an entity’s joint ventures are restricted to transfer funds to 

the entity in the form of cash dividends, or to repay loans or advances made by the 
entity 
 
Significant restrictions 
Country A imposed a restriction on its financial control where XXX Ltd is restricted from transferring 
funds to the Group in the form of cash dividends or repay loans or advances made by the Group. 
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112.81(e) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

112.81(f) 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
13. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) (CONTINUED) 
 

31.12.2022 31.12.2021 31.12.2022 31.12.2021
Restated Restated

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000
Presented after appropriate offsetting 
  as follows:
Deferred tax assets 4,500        3,700                     -                -   
Deferred tax liabilities (29,400)     (18,800)          (12,100)        (2,200)

(24,900)     (15,100)          (12,100)        (2,200)

Group Company

 
 
Unrecognised deferred tax assets 
 
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following items (stated at gross): 
 

 31.12.2022  31.12.2021 
 RM’000  RM’000 

Unused tax losses         5,000              -   
Unabsorbed capital allowance         5,000         5,000 

      10,000         5,000 

Group

 
 
The availability of unused tax losses for offsetting against future taxable profits of the respective 
subsidiaries in Malaysia are subject to requirements under the Income Tax Act, 1967 and 
guidelines issued by the tax authority.  

 
Unrecognised temporary differences relating to investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint 
ventures 
 
At the reporting date, the Group has unrecognised taxable temporary differences associated with 
undistributed profits of certain of the Group’s foreign subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures 
amounted to RMXXX (2021: RMXXX) which would result in estimated tax payable of RMXXX 
(2021: RMXXX) for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised as: 
(a) The Group has determined that undistributed earnings of its subsidiaries, associates or joint 

ventures will not be distributed in the foreseeable future; 
(b) The joint ventures of the Group cannot distribute its earnings until it obtains the consent of 

both venturers. At the reporting date, the Group does not foresee giving such consent; and 
(c) The Group has an agreement with its associates that the profits of the associates will not be 

distributed until it obtains the consent of the Group. The Group does not foresee giving such 
a consent at the reporting date. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
13. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) (CONTINUED) 
 

Commentary: 
 
 Unused tax losses 

 
Illustrative disclosure where there are unused tax losses arising from foreign subsidiaries 
and local subsidiaries 
 
The unused tax losses are available indefinitely for offset against future taxable profits of the Group 
except for certain unused tax losses which are available for utilisation up to the following financial 
years: 
 
  Group 
  31.12.2022 31.12.2021 
  RM’000 RM’000 
    
2028  xxx xxx 
2029  xxx xxx 
2030  xxx xxx 
2031  xxx xxx 
2032  xxx - 

 
Illustrative disclosure where there are unused tax losses arising from local subsidiaries 
 
The unused tax losses are available for offset against future taxable profits of the Group up to the 
following financial years: 
 
  Group 
  31.12.2022 31.12.2021 
  RM’000 RM’000 
    
2028  xxx xxx 
2029  xxx xxx 
2030  xxx xxx 
2031  xxx xxx 
2032  xxx - 
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101.78(b) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
132.AG9 

 

 

 

 

 
15.116(a) 

 

 

 
7.16A 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
14. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 
 

 31.12.2022  31.12.2021  31.12.2022  31.12.2021 
Note  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 

Non-current:
Non-trade
Amount owing by immediate holding 
  company (a) 5,000        5,000        1,000                      -   
Amount owing by subsidiaries (b)               -                 -   2,000        1,000        
Amount owing by related companies (b) 3,000        3,000                      -   800           
Finance lease receivables (d) 5,100        4,300                      -                 -   
Total trade and other receivables 
  (non-current) 13,100       12,300       3,000        1,800        

Current:
Trade
Trade receivables from contracts 
  with customers (c) 106,400     78,000       51,500       16,200       
Stakeholders sum (c) xxx xxx xxx xxx
Trade receivables from other sources xxx xxx xxx xxx
Less: Impairment losses for trade 
           receivables (currrent) (c) (8,200)              (7,100)        (1,500)        (1,200)

98,200       70,900       50,000       15,000       

Non-trade
Other receivables 11,200       8,390        30,800       4,000        
Amount owing by subsidiaries               -                 -   1,000        1,000        
Amount owing by related companies 6,400        6,400        500           500           
Amount owing by directors 2,300        2,300        500           500           
Finance lease receivables (d) 4,600        4,500                      -                 -   
Deposits 7,900        6,400        1,000        1,000        

32,400       27,990       33,800       7,000        
Total trade and other receivables 
  (current) 130,600     98,890       83,800       22,000       

Total trade and other receivables 
  (non-current and current) 143,700     111,190     86,800       23,800       

Group Company
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124.18(b)(i) 

 

 

 

124.18(b)(i) 

 

 

 

 

 

7.7 

7.31 

 
101.61 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

7.35H 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

7.35I(c) 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
14. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) 
 

(a) Amount owing by the immediate holding company is unsecured, non-interest bearing, 
repayable on demand and is expected to be settled in cash. However, this amount is not 
expected to be settled within the twelve months after the reporting date. 

 
(b) Amount owing by subsidiaries and related companies represent loan to subsidiaries and 

related companies which are unsecured, subject to interest at 5.8% (31.12.2021: 5.6%) per 
annum and repayable in 2024. 

 
(c) Trade receivables 
 

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and normal credit terms offered by the Group and 
the Company ranging from 30 to 90 days (31.12.2021: 30 to 90 days) from the date of 
invoices. Other credit terms are assessed and approved on a case by case basis. 
 
The stakeholders sum which is receivable upon the expiry of defect liability period as 
provided in the contracts with customers, is expected to be collected as follows: 
 

31.12.2022 31.12.2021 31.12.2022 31.12.2021
 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 

Within one year xxx xxx xxx xxx
Later than one year xxx xxx xxx xxx

Total xxx xxx xxx xxx

Group Company

 
Receivables that are impaired 

 
The Group’s and the Company’s trade receivables that are impaired at the reporting date and 
the reconciliation of movement in the impairment of trade receivables are as follows:  
 

31.12.2022 31.12.2021 31.12.2022 31.12.2021
 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 

At 1 January 7,100        6,400        1,200        1,000        
Charge for the financial year
- Individually assessed xxx xxx xxx xxx
- Collectively assessed 1,500        1,500        300           300           
Reversal of impairment losses (100)          -                   -                   -                   
Written off (300)          (800)          -                   (100)          

At 31 December 8,200        7,100        1,500        1,200        

Group Company

 
 
 

1 

158



   
 
 

 
 

 
Reference  

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

7.35L 

 

 

 

 
7.13C 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
14. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) 
 

(c) Trade receivables (continued) 
 

Trade receivables with a contractual amount of RM1,000,000 written off during the period are 
still subject to enforcement activity. 
  
The information about the credit exposures are disclosed in Note 39(b). 

 
Offsetting of financial assets and financial liabilities 
 

Gross 
amount

Balances 
that are set 

off

 Net carrying 
amount in the 
statement of 

financial position 
Group Note  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 
31.12.2022
Trade receivables 126,853     (20,453)     106,400                
Trade payables 27 (89,543)     20,453       (69,090)                

31.12.2021
Trade receivables 90,547       (12,547)     78,000                  
Trade payables 27 (76,800)     12,547       (64,253)                

Company
31.12.2022
Trade receivables 76,155       (24,655)     51,500                  
Trade payables 27 (35,953)     24,655       (11,298)                

31.12.2021
Trade receivables 25,176       (8,976)       16,200                  
Trade payables 27 (36,520)     8,976        (27,544)                 
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7.35H 

 

 

 

7.35H 

7.35I 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
14. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) 
 

(c) Trade receivables (continued) 
 

Commentary: 
 

MFRS 7.35H requires tabular disclosure of a reconciliation from the opening balance to the closing 
balance of the loss allowance by class of financial instrument. The Group has provided this 
required reconciliation for trade receivables and contract assets. 

 
 Illustrative disclosure where there is impairment loss recognised for other receivables using 

general approach 
 
Other receivables 

 
The Group’s and the Company’s other receivables that are impaired at the reporting date and the 
reconciliation of movement in the impairment of other receivables are as follows: 
 

12-month 
ECLs

Lifetime ECLs 
(collectively 

assessed)

Lifetime ECLs 
(individually 

assessed)

Credit-
impaired  

(lifetime ECLs) Total
Group RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

At 1 January 2022 xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx
Individual financial assets 
   transferred to lifetime expected   
   credit losses (ECLs) (xxx) - xxx - xxx
Individual financial assets 
   transferred to credit-impaired 
   financial assets (xxx) - (xxx) xxx xxx
Individual financial assets 
   transferred from credit-impaired 
   financial assets xxx - xxx (xxx) (xxx)
New financial assets originated or 
   purchased xxx - - - xxx
Written off - - (xxx) (xxx) (xxx)
Financial assets that have been 
   derecognised (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx)
Changes due to modifications that 
   did not result in derecognition (xxx) - (xxx) (xxx) (xxx)
Other changes xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx

At 31 December 2022 xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx
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7.35H 

7.35I 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
14. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) 
 

(c) Trade receivables (continued) 
 

Commentary (continued): 
 
 Illustrative disclosure where there is impairment loss recognised for other receivables using 

general approach (continued) 
 
Other receivables (continued) 

 
The Group’s and the Company’s other receivables that are impaired at the reporting date and the 
reconciliation of movement in the impairment of other receivables are as follows (continued): 
 

12-month 
ECLs

Lifetime ECLs 
(collectively 

assessed)

Lifetime ECLs 
(individually 

assessed)

Credit-
impaired  

(lifetime ECLs) Total
Company RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

At 1 January 2022 xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx
Individual financial assets 
   transferred to lifetime expected   
   credit losses (ECLs) (xxx) - xxx - xxx
Individual financial assets 
   transferred to credit-impaired 
   financial assets (xxx) - (xxx) xxx xxx
Individual financial assets 
   transferred from credit-impaired 
   financial assets xxx - xxx (xxx) (xxx)
New financial assets originated or 
   purchased xxx - - - xxx
Written off - - (xxx) (xxx) (xxx)
Financial assets that have been 
   derecognised (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx)
Changes due to modifications that 
   did not result in derecognition (xxx) - (xxx) (xxx) (xxx)
Other changes xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx

At 31 December 2022 xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx
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16.92 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

16.93 

16.94 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
14. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) 
 

(d) Finance lease receivables 
 

Included in the Group’s finance lease receivables are leases on certain items of equipment 
amounting to RM8,500,000 (31.12.2021: RM7,500,000) under finance lease expiring from 
one to five years. At the end of the lease term, the Group has given the lessee the option to 
purchase the equipment at 50% of the market value, a price deemed to be a bargain 
purchase option. There are no contingent rents in the lease. 
 
Gross investment under finance leases together with the present value of minimum lease 
payments receivable are as follows: 
 

31.12.2022 31.12.2021
RM’000 RM’000

Gross investment:
Not later than one year 4,800        4,600        
One to two years 4,000        3,850        
Two to three years 2,000        1,200        
Three to four years xxx xxx
Four to five years xxx xxx
Later than one year and not later than 5 years xxx xxx

10,800      9,650        
Less: Unguaranteed residual values (500)          (400)          
Minimum lease payments receivable 10,300      9,250        
Less: Amount representing unearned finance income (600)          (450)          
Present value of minimum lease payments receivable 9,700        8,800        
Less: Impairment losses xxx xxx

Present value of minimum lease payments receivable 9,700        8,800        

31.12.2022 31.12.2021
RM’000 RM’000

Present value of minimum lease payments receivable:
Not later than one year 4,600        4,500        
Later than one year and not later than 5 years 5,100        4,300        

9,700        8,800        
Less: Amount due within 12 months (4,600)       (4,500)       

5,100        4,300        

Group

Group
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7.8(h) 

7.11A(a) 

7.11A(c) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

7.8(f) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
7.11A(a) 

7.11A(b) 

 

 

 

 

 
 

7.16A 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
15. OTHER INVESTMENTS 
 

31.12.2022 31.12.2021 31.12.2022 31.12.2021
RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Financial assets designated at 
   fair value through other 
   comprehensive income ("DFVOCI")
At fair value: 45,800      39,800      25,500      5,300        
- Quoted equity securities

High Tech Berhad 44,100      38,200      25,500      5,300        
- Unquoted equity securities

Invest Sdn. Bhd. 1,700        1,600                     -                -   

Financial assets at amortised cost
At amortised cost:
- Debt securities 35,600      37,010      27,800      14,500      

Financial assets at fair value through 
   other comprehensive income 
   ("FVOCI")
At fair value: xxx xxx xxx xxx
- Quoted debt securities xxx xxx xxx xxx
- Unquoted debt securities xxx xxx xxx xxx

Total non-current 
   investment securities 81,400      76,810      53,300      19,800      

Group Company

 
 
The Group and the Company hold non-controlling interests (between 2% and 9%) in equity 
securities designated at fair value through other comprehensive income. These investments were 
irrevocably designated at fair value through other comprehensive income as the Group and the 
Company consider these investments as strategic long-term investments and the volatility of market 
prices of these investments would not affect profit or loss.  
 
Debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income include investments in quoted 
government and corporate bonds. Fair values of these debt instruments are determined by 
reference to published price quotations in an active market. The Group and the Company 
recognised the impairment losses on its debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive 
income amounting to RMXXX in 2022. 
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13.91-99 

 

7.11A 

 

 

 

7.11A(e) 

7.11B 

 

 

 

 

 

 
7.11A(d) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
15. OTHER INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

Commentary: 
 
 For disclosure requirements under MFRS 13, refer Note 39(d). 
  
 MFRS 7.11A requires disclosure of which investments in equity instruments have been designated 

to be measured at fair value through other comprehensive income and the fair value of each such 
investment at the end of the reporting period. 
 
Illustrative disclosure where an entity transferred the cumulative gain or loss within equity 
during the period 

 
In 2022, the Group sold its equity interest in Super Sdn. Bhd. as this investment no longer coincides 
with the Group’s investment strategy. The fair value on the date of sale is RMXX and the 
accumulated gain recognised in other comprehensive income of RMXX was transferred to retained 
earnings. 
 
Illustrative disclosure where dividends recognised during the period 
 

2022 2021 2022 2021
 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 

Dividends from equity investments 
   designated at fair value through other 
   comprehensive income recognised in 
   profit or loss in other income

- Related to investments derecognised 
   during the period  xxx  xxx  xxx  xxx 
- Related to investments held at the end 
   of the reporting period  xxx  xxx  xxx  xxx 

 xxx  xxx  xxx  xxx 

Group Company
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15.128(a) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
15.128(b) 

 

 

 

 
15.128(a) 

 
15.99; 

15.128(a) 

 

 

 

 

 
15.128(b) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

15.127(b) 

15.128(b) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
15A. CONTRACT COSTS 
 

 31.12.2022  31.12.2021  31.12.2022  31.12.2021 
 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 

Non-current:
Costs to obtain contracts xxx xxx xxx xxx

Costs to fulfil a contract:
Pre-contract costs xxx xxx xxx xxx
Setup costs xxx xxx xxx xxx

xxx xxx xxx xxx

Less: 
Impairment losses xxx xxx xxx xxx

xxx xxx xxx xxx

Current:
Costs to obtain contracts xxx xxx xxx xxx

Costs to fulfil a contract:
Pre-contract costs xxx xxx xxx xxx
Setup costs xxx xxx xxx xxx

xxx xxx xxx xxx

Less: 
Impairment losses xxx xxx xxx xxx

xxx xxx xxx xxx

Group Company

 
 
Costs to obtain contracts 
 
Costs to obtain contracts relate to incremental commission fees paid to intermediaries as a result of 
obtaining contracts with customers. 
 
The costs to obtain contracts are amortised in accordance with the pattern of transfer of goods or 
services to which the asset relates. In 2022, the amortisation of contract costs of the Group and the 
Company recognised were RMXXX (2021: RMXXX) and RMXXX (2021: RMXXX) respectively. 
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15.127(a) 

 

 

 

15.99; 

15.127(b); 

15.128(b) 

 

 

15.116(a) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
15A. CONTRACT COSTS (CONTINUED) 
 

Costs to fulfil a contract 
 
Pre-contract costs and setup costs are costs incurred for contracts that yet to be approved as at the 
reporting date. These costs will be used in satisfying the performance obligation in the future and 
expected to be recovered.  
 
These costs are amortised in accordance with the pattern of transfer of goods or services to which 
the asset relates. In 2022, the amortisation of contract costs of the Group and the Company were 
RMXXX (2021: RMXXX) and RMXXX (2021: RMXXX) respectively. 
 

 
16. CONTRACT ASSETS      /(LIABILITIES) 
 

 31.12.2022  31.12.2021  31.12.2022  31.12.2021 
 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 

Contract assets relating to property 
   development contracts 7,580        6,043        3,298        2,144        
Contract assets relating to construction 
   service contracts 78,820      72,357      10,102      7,656        

Total contract assets 86,400      78,400      13,400      9,800        

Expected volume discounts (800)          (530)                       -                -   
Refund liabilities (2,780)       (2,513)                    -                -   
Contract liabilities relating to 
   construction service contracts (39,620)     (37,757)     (7,800)       (5,600)       

Total contract liabilities (43,200)     (40,800)     (7,800)       (5,600)       

Group Company
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15.116(a) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

15.118(e); 116(b) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
15.118(b) 

 

 
15.118(d) 

 

 

 
15.118(a) 

 
15.118(c) 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
16. CONTRACT ASSETS      /(LIABILITIES) (CONTINUED) 
 

(a) Significant changes in contract balances  
 

 Contract 
assets 

 Contract 
liabilities 

 Contract 
assets 

 Contract 
liabilities 

 Increase/ 
(decrease) 

 (Increase)/ 
decrease 

 Increase/ 
(decrease) 

 (Increase)/ 
decrease 

Group  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 

Revenue recognised that was 
   included in contract liability at the 
   beginning of the financial year              -   33,757                   -   28,360      

Increase due to consideration  
   received from customers, but 
   revenue not recognised              -   (36,157)                  -   (33,060)     

Increase due to revenue recognised 
   for unbilled goods or services 
   transferred to customers xxx xxx xxx xxx

Increase as a result of changes in 
   the measure of progress       14,050              -         17,458              -   

Transfer from contract assets 
   recognised at the beginning of the 
   period to receivables (5,000)                    -   (2,400)                    -   

Business combination xxx xxx xxx xxx

Impairment losses of contract 
   assets (1,050)                    -   (958)                       -   

 31.12.2022  31.12.2021 
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15.116(a) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

15.118(e); 116(b) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

15.118(b) 

 

 
15.118(d) 

 

 

 

15.118(c) 

 

 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
16. CONTRACT ASSETS      /(LIABILITIES) (CONTINUED) 
 

(a) Significant changes in contract balances (continued)  
 

 Contract 
assets 

 Contract 
liabilities 

 Contract 
assets 

 Contract 
liabilities 

 Increase/ 
(decrease) 

 (Increase)/ 
decrease 

 Increase/ 
(decrease) 

 (Increase)/ 
decrease 

Company  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 

Revenue recognised that was 
   included in contract liability at the 
   beginning of the financial year              -   4,650                     -   6,137        

Increase due to consideration  
   received from customers, but 
   revenue not recognised              -   (6,850)                    -   (3,237)       

Increase due to revenue recognised 
   for unbilled goods or services 
   transferred to customers xxx xxx xxx xxx

Increase as a result of changes in 
   the measure of progress         4,710              -           7,305              -   

Transfer from contract assets 
   recognised at the beginning of the 
   period to receivables (775)                       -   (428)                       -   

Impairment losses of contract 
   assets (335)                       -   (277)                       -   

 31.12.2022  31.12.2021 

 
 
 

1 

2 

3 

168



   
 
 

 
 

 
Reference  

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

15.116(b) 

 

 

 

15.116(c) 

 

 

 
15.116; 15.118 

 

 

 

15.116 

 

 

 

7.35H 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
16. CONTRACT ASSETS      /(LIABILITIES) (CONTINUED) 
 

(b)  Revenue recognised in relation to contract balances 
 

31.12.2022 31.12.2021 31.12.2022 31.12.2021
RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Revenue recognised that was 
   included in contract liability at the 
   beginning of the financial year 33,757      28,360      4,650        6,137        
Revenue recognised from 
   performance obligations satisfied 
   in previous financial year 12,350      14,550      2,231        5,233        

Group Company

 
 
Revenue recognised that was included in the contract liability balance at the beginning of the 
year represented primarily revenue from the sale of property development contracts when 
percentage of completion increases. 
 
Revenue recognised from performance obligations satisfied (or partially satisfied) in previous 
years, mainly due to changes in the estimate of the progress towards complete satisfaction of 
performance obligation of property development contracts. 

 
(c) Impairment 

 
The movement in the impairment of contract assets is as follows: 
 

31.12.2022 31.12.2021 31.12.2022 31.12.2021
RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

At 1 January 958          -                   277          -                    

Charge for the financial year
- Individually assessed xx xx xx xx
- Collectively assessed 1,050       958          335          277           
Reversal of impairment losses -                   -                   -                   -                    
Written off -                   -                   -                   -                    

At 31 December 2,008       958          612          277           

Group Company
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15.108 

15.BC323 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

15.118 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
15.118(b) 

 

 

 

 

15.116(c) 

15.BC347 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
16. CONTRACT ASSETS      /(LIABILITIES) (CONTINUED) 
 

Commentary: 
 
 A right to consideration is unconditional if only the passage of time is required before payment of 

that consideration is due. However, in other cases, an entity satisfies a performance obligation but 
does not have an unconditional right to consideration, for example, because it first needs to satisfy 
another performance obligation in the contract, an entity should recognise a contract asset in 
accordance with MFRS 15. Making the distinction between a contract asset and a receivable is 
important because doing so provides users of financial statements with relevant information about 
the risks associated with the entity’s rights in a contract. That is because although both would be 
subject to credit risk, a contract asset is also subject to other risks, for example, performance risk. 

  
 An entity shall provide an explanation of the significant changes in the contract asset and contract 

liability balances during the reporting period. The explanation shall include qualitative and 
quantitative information. 
 
Alternative illustrative disclosure 
 

31.12.2022 31.12.2021 31.12.2022 31.12.2021
RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

At 1 January xxx xxx xxx xxx
Revenue recognised during the year xxx xxx xxx xxx
Progress billings issued during the year xxx xxx xxx xxx
Exchange differences xxx xxx xxx xxx

At 31 December xxx xxx xxx xxx

Group Company

 
  
 Cumulative catch-up adjustments to revenue that affect the corresponding contract asset or 

contract liability, including adjustments arising from a change in the measure of progress, a change 
in an estimate of the transaction price (including any changes in the assessment of whether an 
estimate of variable consideration is constrained) or a contract modification. 

  
 An entity shall disclose the amount of revenue recognised in the period that relates to amounts 

allocated to performance obligations that were satisfied (or partially satisfied) in previous periods 
(for example, as a result of a change in transaction price or estimates related to the constraint on 
revenue recognised). Disclosing those amounts provides relevant information about the timing of 
revenue recognition that was not a result of performance in the current period and thus provides 
useful information about the current period operating results and on predicting future revenues. 
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7.6 

7.8 

 

 
7.24A 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

7.6 

7.8 

 

 
7.24A 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

7.31 

 

 

 

 

7.31 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
17. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) 
 

 Assets  Liabilities  Assets  Liabilities 
 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 

Group
Derivatives held for trading at 
   fair value through profit or loss:
Interest-rate swap contracts         3,200        (1,000)         2,500        (1,100)

Derivatives used for hedging:
Forward foreign exchange contracts

- buy contracts         2,500 -                       2,600 -               
- sell contracts         2,800        (1,500)         1,400           (800)

        8,500        (2,500)         6,500        (1,900)

Company
Derivatives held for trading at 
   fair value through profit or loss:
Interest-rate swap contracts         1,500 -                       1,600 -               

Derivatives used for hedging:
Forward foreign exchange contracts

- buy contracts         1,200 -                       2,400 -               
- sell contracts         1,500        (1,500)         1,000           (500)

        4,200        (1,500)         5,000           (500)

31.12.2022 31.12.2021

 
 
Interest rate swap is used to achieve an appropriate mix of fixed and floating interest rate exposure 
within the Group’s and the Company’s policy. The notional principal amounts of the Group’s and the 
Company’s outstanding interest rate swap as at 31 December 2022 were RM230,000,000 
(31.12.2021: RM160,000,000) and RM80,000,000 (31.12.2021: RM70,000,000) respectively. 
 
Forward exchange contracts are used to manage the foreign currency exposures arising from the 
Group’s and the Company’s receivables and payables denominated in currencies other than the 
functional currencies of Group entities. Most of the forward exchange contracts have maturities of 
less than one year after the end of the reporting period. Where necessary, the forward contracts are 
rolled over at maturity. 
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7.24A 

7.24B(a) 

 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
17. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) (CONTINUED) 
 

(a) Fair value hedge 

 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 
31.12.2022
Group
Derivatives used for hedging:
Forward foreign exchange 
  contracts
- buy contracts  xxx  xxx  xxx Derivative assets
- sell contracts  xxx  xxx  xxx Derivative assets
- sell contracts  (xxx)  xxx  xxx Derivative liabilities

 xxx  xxx  xxx 
Company
Derivatives used for hedging:
Forward foreign exchange 
  contracts
- buy contracts  xxx  xxx  xxx Derivative assets
- sell contracts  xxx  xxx  xxx Derivative assets
- sell contracts  (xxx)  xxx  xxx Derivative liabilities

 xxx  xxx  xxx 

31.12.2021
Group
Derivatives used for hedging:
Forward foreign exchange 
  contracts
- buy contracts  xxx  xxx  xxx Derivative assets
- sell contracts  xxx  xxx  xxx Derivative assets
- sell contracts  (xxx)  xxx  xxx Derivative liabilities

 xxx  xxx  xxx 
Company
Derivatives used for hedging:
Forward foreign exchange 
  contracts
- buy contracts  xxx  xxx  xxx Derivative assets
- sell contracts  xxx  xxx  xxx Derivative assets
- sell contracts  (xxx)  xxx  xxx Derivative liabilities

 xxx  xxx  xxx 

 
Carrying 
amount 

 Change 
in fair 
value 

 
Nominal 

value 
Line item in the financial 
statements
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7.24A 

7.24B(b) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
17. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) (CONTINUED) 
 

(b) Cash flows hedge 

 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 
31.12.2022
Group
Derivatives used for hedging:
Forward foreign exchange 
  contracts
- sell contracts  xxx  xxx  xxx Derivative assets

Company
Derivatives used for hedging:
Forward foreign exchange 
  contracts
- sell contracts  xxx  xxx  xxx Derivative assets

31.12.2021
Group
Derivatives used for hedging:
Forward foreign exchange 
  contracts
- sell contracts  xxx  xxx  xxx Derivative assets

Company
Derivatives used for hedging:
Forward foreign exchange 
  contracts
- sell contracts  xxx  xxx  xxx Derivative assets

 
Carrying 
amount 

 Change 
in fair 
value 

 
Nominal 

value 
Line item in the financial 
statements
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7.14 

 

 

107.48 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

FRSIC 

Consensus 22 

107.7 

 

 

 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
18. CASH AND SHORT-TERM DEPOSITS 
 

 31.12.2022  31.12.2021  31.12.2022  31.12.2021 
 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 

Cash and bank balances       18,500         8,500         7,500         3,500 
Short-term deposits       20,000       10,000         5,000         3,000 

      38,500       18,500       12,500         6,500 

Group Company

 
 
(i) For the purpose of the statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise the 

following:  
 

 31.12.2022  31.12.2021  31.12.2022  31.12.2021 
 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 

Short-term deposits 20,000      10,000      5,000        3,000        
Less: Pledged deposits (1,000)       (500)                       -                -   

19,000      9,500        5,000        3,000        
Cash and bank balances 18,500      8,500        7,500        3,500        
Bank overdrafts (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx)

37,500      18,000      12,500      6,500        

Group Company

 
 

Included in the deposits placed with licensed banks of the Group, RM1,000,000 (31.12.2021: 
RM500,000) is pledged for revolving credit granted to a subsidiary as disclosed in Note 23(g). 
 
Included in cash and bank balances of the Group and the Company are amount of 
RM9,350,000 (31.12.2021: RM5,380,000) and RM3,290,000 (31.12.2021: RM1,340,000) 
respectively held pursuant to Section 7A of the Housing Development (Control and Licensing) 
Act, 1966 and therefore restricted from use in other operations. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Commentary: 
 
 MIA issued FRSIC Consensus 22 Classification of Fixed Deposits and Similar Instruments as Cash 

and Cash Equivalents to address the issue on the classification of fixed deposits as cash equivalents. 
As stated in MFRS 107.7, an investment is qualified as cash equivalents only when it has a short 
maturity of, say three month or less from the date of acquisition. “Short-term” is not defined in MFRS 
107, but the standard indicates a three-month maturity cut-off. Therefore, it is pertinent and relevant to 
take into account of this three-month presumption when considering whether the fixed deposit is 
classified as cash equivalents or for investment purposes. 
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1 
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107.43 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
18. CASH AND SHORT-TERM DEPOSITS (CONTINUED) 
 

Commentary (continued): 
 
 In our view, as fixed deposits held on lien are not held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash 

commitments, it will be excluded from the cash and cash equivalents. However, the entity may adopt 
the policy of including fixed deposits held on lien in determining the composition of cash and cash 
equivalents provided there are adequate disclosure which includes the policy adopted by the entity, 
the balances that are not available for use by the entity, together with a commentary by the 
management on the nature of the restriction. 
 
IFRS Interpretation Committee ("IFRIC") published an Agenda Decision, namely Demand Deposits 
with Restrictions on Use arising from a Contract with a Third Party (IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows) to 
provide further clarification on demand deposit as a component of cash and cash equivalents in its 
statement of cash flows and financial position when demand deposit is subject to contractual 
restrictions on use agreed with third party.  
 
The IFRIC Committee concluded that restrictions on the use of a demand deposit arising from a 
contract with a third party do not result in the deposit no longer being cash, unless those restrictions 
change the nature of the deposit in a way that it would no longer meet the definition of cash in IAS 7. 
As stated in MFRS 107.6, cash comprises cash on hand and demand deposits. 

  
 

(ii) During the financial year, the Group and the Company made the following cash payments to 
purchase property, plant and equipment. 

 

2022 2021 2022 2021
RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 106,830  34,950    15,830    12,890    
Financed by way of lease arrangements (8,400)     -             -             -             
Cash payments on purchase of property, 
   plant and equipment 98,430    34,950    15,830    12,890    

Group Company
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107.44A 

107.44B 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
18. CASH AND SHORT-TERM DEPOSITS (CONTINUED) 
 

(iii) Reconciliation of changes in liabilities arising from financing activities are as follows:  
 

Foreign
Cash Acquisition/ exchange Fair value

1.1.2022 flows (Disposal) movement changes Others 31.12.2022
RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Group
Term loans 125,700 7,000     (700)          -               -             -           132,000   
Lease 
  liabilities 8,700     (1,300)    8,400        -               -             -           15,800     
Hire purchase
  payables xxx xxxxxx xxxxxx xxxxxx xxxxxx xxxxxx xxx
Government 
  loan -            12,000   -                -               -             (4,000)   8,000       
Convertible 
  bonds -            99,500   -                -               -             (27,600) 71,900     
Medium-term 
  notes 27,800   (7,800)    -                -               -             -           20,000     
Redeemable 
  preference 
  shares 40,000   -            -                -               -             -           40,000     
Revolving 
  credits 2,000     500        -                -               -             -           2,500       

204,200 109,900 7,700        -               -             (31,600) 290,200   

Company

Term loans 37,400   11,065   -                -               -             -           48,465     
Convertible
  bonds -            99,500   -                -               -             (27,600) 71,900     
Medium-term 
  notes 7,000     -            -                -               -             1,000    8,000       
Redeemable 
  preference 
  shares 40,000   -            -                -               -             -           40,000     
Revolving 
  credits 300        135        -                -               -             -           435         

84,700   110,700 -                -               -             (26,600) 168,800   

Non-cash
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107.44B 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

16.53(g) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

16.54 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
18. CASH AND SHORT-TERM DEPOSITS (CONTINUED) 
 

(iii) Reconciliation of changes in liabilities arising from financing activities are as follows: (continued) 
 

Foreign
Cash Acquisition/ exchange Fair value

1.1.2021 flows (Disposal) movement changes Others 31.12.2021
RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Group
Term loans 128,925 (3,225)    -                -               -             -           125,700   
Lease 
  liabilities 9,900     (1,200)    -                -               -             -           8,700       
Hire purchase
  payables xxx xxxxxx xxxxxx xxxxxx xxxxxx xxxxxx xxx
Medium-term 
  notes 26,800   -            -                -               -             1,000    27,800     
Redeemable 
  preference 
  shares 40,000   -            -                -               -             -           40,000     
Revolving 
  credits 1,875     125        -                -               -             -           2,000       

207,500 (4,300)    -                -               -             1,000    204,200   

Company
Term loans 24,765   12,635   -                -               -             -           37,400     
Medium-term 
  notes 5,000     -            -                -               -             2,000    7,000       
Redeemable 
  preference 
  shares 40,000   -            -                -               -             -           40,000     
Revolving 
  credits 235        65         -                -               -             -           300         

70,000   12,700   -                -               -             2,000    84,700     

Non-cash

 
 

(x)  Total cash outflows for leases  
 

During the financial year, the Group and the Company had total cash outflows for leases of 
RMXXX and RMXXX respectively.  

 
Commentary: 
 
 The amounts disclosed shall include costs that a lessee has included in the carrying amount of 

another asset during the reporting period. 
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5.41(a) 

5.41(b) 

5.41(d) 

 

 

 

 

5.38 
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13.93(a) 

13.93(b) 

13.93(d) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
19. ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) OF A DISPOSAL GROUP CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE AND 

DISCONTINUED OPERATION  
 

(a) Assets/(liabilities) of a disposal group classified as held for sale 
 

On 30 September 2022, the Board of Directors approved and announced a plan to sell a 
subsidiary, PT BLK Construction, which operates in Indonesia. The assets and liabilities 
related to PT BLK Construction (part of the construction business segment) have been 
presented as held for sale. The completion date for the transaction is expected by June 2023. 
 
Assets of a disposal group classified as held for sale 

Group
31.12.2022

RM’000

Property, plant and equipment (Note 5) 10,400      
Inventories 8,000        
Trade and other receivables 4,000        
Other assets 3,000        

25,400       
 
Liabilities of a disposal group classified as held for sale 

Group
31.12.2022

RM’000

Trade and other payables 16,500       
 
In accordance with MFRS 5, the assets and liabilities held for sale of the above disposal 
group had been written down to their fair value less costs to sell. This is a non-recurring fair 
value which has been measured using observable inputs, being the prices for recent sales of 
similar businesses, and is therefore within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. The fair value 
has been measured by calculating the ratio of transaction price to annual revenue for the 
similar businesses and applying the average to PT BLK Construction. 

1 2 
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5.33(b) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

112.81(h)(ii) 

 

 

 
112.81(h)(i) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
19. ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) OF A DISPOSAL GROUP CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE AND 

DISCONTINUED OPERATION (CONTINUED) 
 

(a) Assets/(liabilities) of a disposal group classified as held for sale (continued) 
 

The asset classified as held for sale on the Company’s statement of financial position as at 
31 December 2022 is as follows: 
 

Company
31.12.2022

RM’000
Asset:
Investment in a subsidiary 10,000       
 

(b) Discontinued operation 
 

As disclosed in Note (a) above, the Group had discontinued its construction business in 
Indonesia on 30 September 2022. The segment was not a discontinued operation or 
classified as held for sale as at 31 December 2021 and the comparative statements of 
comprehensive income has been re-presented to show the discontinued operation separately 
from continuing operations. 
 
(i) Analysis of the result of discontinued operation and the result recognised on the 

remeasurement of disposal group is as follows: 
 

2022 2021
RM’000 RM’000

Revenue 10,000         8,700           
Expenses (11,000)       (7,000)          

(1,000)          1,700           
Income tax benefit/(expense) 200              (500)             
(Loss)/profit after tax of discontinued operation (800)             1,200           

(2,500)          -                    
Income tax benefit 500              -                    

(2,000)          -                    

(2,800)          1,200           
(Loss)/profit for the financial year from 
   discontinued operation, net of tax

Group

(Loss)/profit before tax of discontinued operation

Loss before tax recognised on the 
   remeasurement of assets of disposal group

Loss for the financial year recognised on the 
   remeasurement of assets of disposal group
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5Sch(I)(10) 

 

 

 

5.33(c) 

 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
19. ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) OF A DISPOSAL GROUP CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE AND 

DISCONTINUED OPERATION (CONTINUED)  
 

(b) Discontinued operation (continued) 
 
(ii) The following items have been (credited)/charged in arriving at profit before tax: 
 

2022 2021
RM’000 RM’000

Auditors' remuneration 45                 40                 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 5) 7,000           6,400           
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (200)             (600)             

Group

 
 

(iii) Cash flows generated from/(used in) discontinued operation: 
 

2022 2021
RM’000 RM’000

Net cash flows from operating activities 9,200           7,900           
Net cash flows used in investing activities           (5,600)           (2,300)
Net cash flows used in financing activities           (1,200)           (1,100)

            2,400             4,500 

Group

 
 

Commentary: 
 
 Presentation requirements for non-current assets or disposal group held for sale: 

 

Nature
CY? PY? Required by CY? PY? Required by

A) Presentation:

(a) ✓ MFRS 5.38 N/A N/A
× MFRS 5.40

(b) ✓ MFRS 5.38 N/A N/A
× MFRS 5.40

Discontinued operations ("DC"):
(c) ✓ MFRS 5.38 ✓ MFRS 5.33(a)

× MFRS 5.40 ✓ MFRS 5.34

(d) N/A N/A ✓ MFRS 5.33(a)
✓ MFRS 5.34

(e) ✓ MFRS 5.38 ✓ MFRS 5.33(a)
× MFRS 5.40 ✓ MFRS 5.36

Statement of
financial position comprehensive income

Non-current asset ("NCA")/ Disposal Group ("DG"):
NCA/DG first classif ied as held for sale

NCA/DG ceased to be classif ied as held for 
sale

Component of an entity held for sale and 
classif ied as a DC

Component of an entity disposed of and 
classif ied as a DC

Component of an entity ceased to be DC

Statement of
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128.20 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
19. ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) OF A DISPOSAL GROUP CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE AND 

DISCONTINUED OPERATION (CONTINUED)  
 

Commentary (continued): 
 
 Measurement requirements for non-current assets or disposal group held for sale: 

 

Nature
CY? PY? Required by CY? PY? Required by

B) Measurement:

(a) ✓ MFRS 5.15 ✓ MFRS 5.25
N/A N/A

(b) × MFRS 5.27 × MFRS 5.28(1)

✓ MFRS 5.28 N/A

(c) Subsi/Ass/JV first classified as held for sale ✓ MFRS 5.15 N/A N/A
N/A

(d) × MFRS 5.28(3) N/A N/A
× MFRS 5.28(3)

NCA/DG/DC first classified as held for sale

Measure in accordance Cease depreciation 
with MFRS 5 (or amortisation)

Non-current asset ("NCA")/ Disposal Group ("DG")/ 
Discontinued operation ("DC"):

NCA/DG/DC ceased to be classified as held for sale

When DG is a subsidiary/associates/joint venture(2):

Subsi/Ass/JV ceased to be classified as held for 
sale

 
 
(1)  The entity shall include any required adjustment to the carrying amount of a non-current asset that 

ceases to be classified as held for sale in profit or loss from continuing operations in the period in 
which the criteria for classification as held for sale are no longer met. 

 
(2) Pursuant to MFRS 128.20, an entity shall apply MFRS 5 to an investment, or a portion of an 

investment, in an associate or a joint venture that meets the criteria to be classified as held for sale 
and cease equity accounting on that investment, or a portion of that investment which classified as 
held for sale. Any retained portion of an investment in an associate or a joint venture that has not 
been classified as held for sale shall be accounted for using the equity method until disposal of the 
portion that is classified as held for sale takes place. 

 
(3) Financial statements for the periods since classification as held for sale shall be amended from the 

date of its classification as held for sale accordingly if the disposal group or non-current asset that 
ceases to be classified as held for sale is a subsidiary, joint operation, joint venture, associate, or a 
portion of an interest in a joint venture or an associate. Accordingly, the investment, or the portion 
of an investment, in associate or joint venture shall be accounted retrospectively using the equity 
method for the period from the date of its classification as held for sale until it ceases to be 
classified as held for sale. 
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101.78(e) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

101.79(a)(ii) 

101.79(a)(iv) 

101.79(a)(iii) 

 

 

 

 

 
101.79(a)(v) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
101.78(e) 

 

101.79(a)(vi) 

101.79(b) 

 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
20. SHARE CAPITAL 
 

 31.12.2022  31.12.2021  31.12.2022  31.12.2021 
 ’000  ’000  RM’000  RM’000 

Issued and fully paid up (no par value):
At 1 January      200,000      200,000 250,000          250,000 
Issued during the financial year       75,000              -   150,000                  -   
Acquisition of a subsidiary       25,000              -   50,000                   -   
Transaction costs of share issue              -                -   (2,000)                    -   

At 31 December      300,000      200,000 448,000          250,000 

Group and Company
Number of ordinary 

shares ------------ Amounts ------------

 
The holders of ordinary shares (except treasury shares) are entitled to receive dividends as 
declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All 
ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets. 
 
During the financial year, the Company: 
(i) issued 25,000,000 new ordinary shares at a price of RM2 per ordinary share as partial 

discharge of the purchase consideration for the acquisition of the 80% equity interest in PT 
Halia Palm Oil pursuant to a share sale agreement dated 20 January 2022; and 

 
(ii) issued 75,000,000 new ordinary shares at a price of RM2 per ordinary share for working 

capital purposes. 
 
The new ordinary shares issued during the financial year rank pari passu in all respects with the 
existing ordinary shares of the Company. 
 
 

21. TREASURY SHARES 
 

Treasury shares relate to ordinary shares of the Company that are repurchased and held by the 
Company. The Company’s share buyback scheme was first approved by the Company’s 
shareholders in the Annual General Meeting held on 30 May 2019 for the Company to repurchase 
10% of its issued ordinary shares within a 5-year period. The directors of the Company believe that 
the repurchase plan are applied in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders. The 
mandate for share buybacks was renewed in each subsequent Annual General Meeting of 
shareholders. The share repurchases made to date were financed by internally generated funds 
and are being held as treasury shares in accordance with the requirement of Section 127 of the 
Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia.  
 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2021, the Company repurchased 5,000,000 shares of its 
issued shares from the open market. The average price paid for the shares repurchased was 
RM2.00. 
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S127(15) 

 

 

 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
21. TREASURY SHARES (CONTINUED) 
 

At 31 December 2022, the Company’s treasury shares are held at a carrying amount of 
RM20,000,000 (31.12.2021: RM20,000,000). 
 
There was no repurchase of the Company’s issued ordinary shares, nor any resale, cancellation or 
distribution of treasury shares during the financial year.  
 

 
22. OTHER RESERVES 
 

 31.12.2022  31.12.2021  31.12.2022  31.12.2021 
 Note  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 

Equity component of convertible 
   bonds (a) 21,400       -                21,400       -                
Fair value reserve of financial assets 
   at FVOCI (b) 9,607        8,045        4,000        1,000        
Cash flow hedge reserve (c) 5,606        4,600        3,900        1,700        
Share option reserve (d) 8,600        8,600        8,600        8,600        
Exchange reserve (e) 36,975       31,550       -                -                

82,188       52,795       37,900       11,300       

Group Company

 
 
(a) Equity component of convertible bonds 
 

This represents the residual amount of convertible bonds after deducting the fair value of the 
liability component. This amount is presented net of transaction costs and deferred tax 
liability arising from convertible bonds. Further details on the convertible bonds are disclosed 
in Note 23(d). 

 
 

Commentary: 
 
 When shares repurchased were cancelled, the costs of the shares to cancel the treasury shares 

shall be applied in the reduction of the retained earnings in accordance with the requirement of 
Section 127(13) of the Companies Act 2016 (“the Act”). 
 
Cancellation of shares shall not be deemed to be a reduction of share capital in accordance with 
the requirement of Section 127(15) of the Act. 
 
Illustrative disclosure if there is subsequent cancellation of treasury shares 

 
The shares repurchased were cancelled and the costs of the shares to cancel the treasury shares 
were applied in the reduction of the retained earnings in accordance with the requirement of 
Section 127(13) of the Companies Act 2016 (“the Act”). 
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2.45(a) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
22. OTHER RESERVES (CONTINUED) 
 

(b) Fair value reserve of financial assets at FVOCI 
 

This reserve comprises the cumulative net change in the fair value of financial assets at fair 
value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) until the investments are derecognised 
or impaired. 
 
The Group and the Company have elected to recognise changes in the fair value of certain 
investments in equity securities in other comprehensive income, as explained in Note 15. 
These changes are accumulated within the fair value reserve of financial assets at FVOCI. 
The Group and the Company transfer amounts from this reserve to retained earnings when 
the relevant equity securities are derecognised. 
 
The Group and the Company also have certain debt investments measured at FVOCI, as 
explained in Note 15. For these investments, changes in fair value are accumulated within 
the fair value reserve of financial assets at FVOCI. The accumulated changes in fair value 
are transferred to profit or loss when the investment is derecognised or impaired. 

 
(c) Cash flow hedge reserve 
 

This reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of 
hedging instruments entered into for cash flow hedges of forecast transactions. 
 

(d) Share option reserve 
 

The share option reserve comprises the cumulative value of director services received for the 
issue of share options. The reserve is recorded over the vesting period commencing from the 
grant date and is reduced by the expiry or exercise of the share options. When the option is 
exercised, the amount from the share option reserve is transferred to share capital. When the 
share options expire, the amount from the share option reserve is transferred to retained 
earnings.  
 
Share options are granted to directors who have rendered services of three years and above. 
The options granted are vesting immediately and settlement is by issuance of fully paid 
ordinary shares. The exercise price in each grant is set 10% below the weighted average of 
the market prices of the Company’s ordinary shares in the last five trading days before the 
grant date. The contractual term of each option granted is five years. There are no cash 
settlement alternatives. The options carry neither rights to dividends nor voting rights. 
Options may be exercised any time from the date of vesting to the date of expiry. 
 
 

184



   
 
 

 
 

 
Reference  

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

2.45(b) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

2.45(b)(i) 

2.45(b)(ii) 
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2.45(b)(iv) 

2.45(b)(iii) 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
22. OTHER RESERVES (CONTINUED) 
 

(d) Share option reserve (continued) 
 

Movement of share options during the financial year 
 
The following table illustrates the number and weighted average exercise prices (“WAEP”) of, 
and movement in, share options: 
 

 Number  WAEP  Number  WAEP 
2022 2022 2021 2021
 ’000  ’000 

At 1 January       10,000 RM1.80 - -
Granted on 30 June 2021              -                -           5,000 RM1.75 
Granted on 31 October 2021              -                -           5,000 RM1.85 
Exercised during the year  xxx  xxx  xxx xxx
Forfeited during the year  xxx  xxx  xxx xxx
Expired during the year  xxx  xxx  xxx xxx

At 31 December 10,000      RM1.80 10,000      RM1.80 

Exercisable at 31 December         1,000 RM1.80         1,000 RM1.75  
 
The options outstanding at 31 December 2022 have exercise prices range from RM1.75 to 
RM1.85 (31.12.2021: RM1.75 to RM1.85) and the weighted average remaining contractual 
life for the share options outstanding as at 31 December 2022 was 3.8 years (31.12.2021: 
4.5 years). 

 
The fair values of the share options granted were determined using a binomial option pricing 
model, and the inputs were: 
 

 31.12.2021 

Fair value of share options and assumptions
Weighted average fair value of share option at grant date (RM) 0.86          

Weighted average share price (RM) 2              
Option life (years) 4.8            
Risk-free rate (%) 4.5            
Expected dividends (%) 3              
Expected volatility (%) 25              

 
The expected volatility is based on the historical share price volatility over the last 3 years. 
When determine the fair value, the management has also taken into consideration of the 
exercise restrictions and exercise behaviour. It was assumed that the directors would 
exercise the options after the vesting date when the share price is three times of the exercise 
price. 
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101.69 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
22. OTHER RESERVES (CONTINUED) 

 
(e) Exchange reserve 
 

The translation reserve comprises all foreign currency differences arising from the translation 
of the financial statements of foreign operations whose functional currencies are different 
from that of the Group’s presentation currency as well as the foreign currency differences 
arising from monetary items which form part of the Group’s net investment in foreign 
operations, where the monetary item is denominated in either the functional currency of the 
reporting entity or the foreign operation or another currency. 

 
 
23. LOANS AND BORROWINGS  
 

 31.12.2022  31.12.2021  31.12.2022  31.12.2021 
Note  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 

Non-current:
Term loans (a)      116,500      112,700        36,900        28,700 
Lease liabilities (b)        13,800          7,700               -                 -   
Hire purchase payables (x) xxx xxx               -                 -   
Government loan (c)          8,000               -                 -                 -   
Convertible bonds (d)        71,900               -          71,900               -   
Medium-term notes (e)        20,000        27,800          8,000          7,000 
Redeemable preference shares (f)        40,000        40,000        40,000        40,000 

     270,200      188,200      156,800        75,700 

Current:
Term loans (a)        15,500        13,000        11,565          8,700 
Revolving credit (g)          2,500          2,000             435             300 
Lease liabilities (b)          2,000          1,000               -                 -   
Hire purchase payables (x) xxx xxx               -                 -   

       20,000        16,000        12,000          9,000 

     290,200      204,200      168,800        84,700 

Total loans and borrowings:
Term loans (a)      132,000      125,700        48,465        37,400 
Lease liabilities (b)        15,800          8,700               -                 -   
Hire purchase payables (x) xxx xxx               -                 -   
Government loan (c)          8,000               -                 -                 -   
Convertible bonds (d)        71,900               -          71,900               -   
Medium-term notes (e)        20,000        27,800          8,000          7,000 
Redeemable preference shares (f)        40,000        40,000        40,000        40,000 
Revolving credit (g)          2,500          2,000             435             300 

     290,200      204,200      168,800        84,700 

Group Company
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7.14 

7.31 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
23. LOANS AND BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)  
 

(a) Term loans 
 

Term loan 1 of a subsidiary of RM40,483,000 (31.12.2021: RM44,485,000) bears interest at 
6.85% (31.12.2021: 6.85%) per annum and is repayable by quarterly instalments of 
RM1,737,000 over ten years commencing from the day of first drawdown and is secured and 
supported as follows: 
(i) Legal charge over the freehold land and building of a subsidiary; 
(ii) Legal charge over the investment properties of a subsidiary; 
(iii) Legal charge over the biological assets of a subsidiary; 
(iv) Legal charge over the freehold land held for development; and 
(v) Corporate guarantee of the Company. 
 
Term loan 2 of a subsidiary of RM31,572,000 (31.12.2021: RM43,815,000) bears interest at 
6.85% (31.12.2021: 6.85%) per annum and is repayable by monthly instalments of 
RM1,223,000 over five years commencing from the day of first drawdown and is secured and 
supported as follows: 
(i) Legal charge over the investment properties of a subsidiary; 
(ii) Legal charge over the biological assets of a subsidiary; 
(iii) Legal charge over the freehold land held for development; and 
(iv) Corporate guarantee of the Company. 
 
Term loan 3 of a subsidiary of RM11,480,000 (31.12.2021: Nil) bears interest at 7.15% 
(31.12.2021: Nil) per annum and is repayable by monthly instalments of RM1,223,000 over 
ten years commencing from the day of first drawdown and is secured and supported as 
follows: 
(i) Legal charge over the investment properties of a subsidiary; 
(ii) Legal charge over the biological assets of a subsidiary; 
(iii) Legal charge over the freehold land held for development; and 
(iv) Corporate guarantee of the Company. 
 
Term loan 4 of the Company of RM19,675,000 (31.12.2021: RM22,379,000) bears interest at 
6.85% (31.12.2021: 6.85%) per annum and is repayable by quarterly instalments of 
RM1,042,000 over ten years commencing from the day of first drawdown and is secured and 
supported as follows: 
(i) Legal charge over the investment properties of the Company; 
(ii) Legal charge over freehold land and building of the Company; and 
(iii) Legal charge over the freehold land held for development of the Company. 

 
Term loan 5 of the Company of RM13,820,000 (31.12.2021: RM15,021,000) bears interest at 
6.85% (31.12.2021: 6.85%) per annum and is repayable by bi-monthly instalments of 
RM370,000 over ten years commencing from the day of first drawdown and is secured and 
supported as follows: 
(i) Legal charge over the freehold land and building of the Company; 
(ii) Legal charge over the investment properties of the Company; and 
(iii) Legal charge over the freehold land held for development of the Company. 
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16.58 

7.39 

7.B11 

 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
23. LOANS AND BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)  
 

(a) Term loans (continued) 
 

Term loan 6 of the Company of RM14,970,000 (31.12.2021: Nil) bears interest at 7.15% 
(31.12.2021: Nil) per annum and is repayable by bi-monthly instalments of RM434,000 over 
eight years commencing from the day of first drawdown and is secured and supported as 
follows: 
(i) Legal charge over the freehold land and building of the Company; 
(ii) Legal charge over the investment properties of the Company; and 
(iii) Legal charge over the freehold land held for development of the Company. 
 
Breach of loan covenants  
 
According to the terms of the agreement, the secured Term loan 3 contains a debt covenant 
that at the end of reporting period, the subsidiary shall maintain a debt to equity ratio of 0.5 
as disclosed in Note 43. As at 31 December 2022, the subsidiary’s debt to equity ratio was 
0.7, resulting in the entire loan to be classified as current liability. The management is 
currently negotiating with the bank to amend the terms of the covenants. 
 

(b) Lease liabilities 
 

Future minimum lease payments together with the present value of net minimum lease 
payments are as follows: 
 

31.12.2022 31.12.2021
RM’000 RM’000

Minimum lease payments:
Not later than one year 2,100        1,050        
Later than one year and not later than 5 years 10,900       8,550        
Later than 5 years 7,400        -

20,400       9,600        
Less: Future finance charges (4,600)       (900)          

Present value of minimum lease payments 15,800       8,700        

Present value of minimum lease payments:
Not later than one year 2,000        1,000        
Later than one year and not later than 5 years 9,100        7,700        
Later than 5 years 4,700        -

15,800       8,700        
Less: Amount due within 12 months (2,000)       (1,000)       

Amount due after 12 months 13,800       7,700        

Group
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132.38 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
23. LOANS AND BORROWINGS (CONTINUED) 
 

(x) Hire purchase payables 
 

Hire purchase payables of the Group of RMXXX (31.12.2021: RMXXX) bears interest ranging 
from xx% to xx% (31.12.2021: xx% to xx%) per annum and are secured by the Group’s motor 
vehicles under hire purchase arrangements as disclosed in Note 5(c).  

 
(c) Government loan 

 
On 31 December 2022, the Group received an interest-free loan of RM12,000,000 from the 
Malaysian government to finance a research project on the refinery of oil palm over a period 
of 5 years. The loan is repayable in full at the end of the fifth year. Using prevailing market 
interest rate of 5.4% for an equivalent loan, the fair value of the loan is estimated to be 
RM8,000,000. The difference of RM4,000,000 between the gross proceeds and the fair value 
of the loan is recognised as deferred income as disclosed in Note 25. Interest expense of 
RM120,000 shall be recognised in the financial year ending 31 December 2023. 

 
(d) Convertible bonds 

 
31.12.2022

Group and Company: RM’000

Proceeds from issue of 100,000,000 convertible bonds 105,000     
Transaction costs (5,500)       
Fair value of convertible bonds issued on 10 September 2022 99,500      
Equity component (Note 22(a)) (28,100)     
Liability component on initial recognition on 10 September 2022 71,400      
Interest expense 500           

71,900       
 
During the financial year, the Company issued 100,000,000 units of convertible bonds at a 
price of RM1.05 per unit. Each bond is convertible at any time up to maturity into 10,000,000 
ordinary shares at the conversion price of RM2 each, which is at a rate of one ordinary share 
for every ten convertible bonds held. Unconverted bonds shall become repayable on 
demand. The bonds mature ten years from the issue date and carry a coupon interest rate of 
6.5% payable on 31 December each year. 
 
The amount of the convertible bonds classified as equity is net of attributable transaction 
costs. Deferred tax liability of RM6,700,000 has been recognised directly to statements of 
changes in equity. 
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132.15 

132.18(a) 

101.79(a)(v) 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
23. LOANS AND BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)  
 

(e) Medium-term notes 
 

The Company and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, HHH Development Sdn Bhd 
(“HHH”) established a multi-currency Medium-Term Notes (“MTN”) Programme arranged by 
Credit Diners (M) Sdn Bhd with the purpose to issue MTN up to RM10,000,000 and 
RM30,000,000 respectively. The MTN programme can be utilised during the 10-year tenure 
commencing from the date of the first issue under the MTN programme on 1 June 2020. The 
net proceeds from the issuance of the MTN is expected to be utilised for general corporate 
purposes, which include financing on potential acquisition, strategic expansion, general 
working capital and capital expenditures. 
 
The salient features of the MTN Programme are as follows: 
(i) The Company and HHH may, subject to compliance with all the relevant laws and 

regulations, from time to time, issue MTN in series or tranches with aggregate nominal 
value of the outstanding MTN not exceeding RM10,000,000 and RM30,000,000 
respectively and agreed between the relevant dealer(s) and the Company and HHH; 

(ii) Each series or tranche of MTN may be issued in various amounts and tenors, and may 
bear fixed, floating, variable or hybrid rates of interest ranging from 7.1% to 7.5% 
(31.12.2021: 7.0% to  7.35%); 

(iii) The payment obligations of HHH under the MTN and certain other obligations under 
the documents pursuant to the MTN Programme (“Programme Documents”) will be 
unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed by the Company in accordance with the 
provisions of the applicable Programme Documents; and 

(iv) The Company and HHH shall maintain their debts to equity ratio of not more than 
1.25  times.  

 
(f) Redeemable preference shares 
 

On 1 June 2020, 40,000,000 redeemable preference shares of RM1 each were issued by the 
Company at an issue price of RM1 per share. The salient features of the redeemable 
preference shares are as follows: 
- They do not carry the right to vote; 
- They carry a fixed cumulative dividend of 5% per annum; 
- They are not convertible to ordinary shares; and 
- They are redeemable at the option of the holders on or after 31 December 2023 at 

RM1.25 each. 
 

(g) Revolving credit 
 

The revolving credit of the Group and the Company are secured by way of: 
(i) a pledge of short-term deposits; 
(ii) legal charge over the investment properties of a subsidiary; and 
(iii) legal charge over the biological assets of a subsidiary. 
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 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
23. LOANS AND BORROWINGS (CONTINUED) 
 

Commentary: 
 
 An entity shall consider the following factors in determining the classification of loans and 

borrowings: 
 

- -

- -Refinancing on a long-term basis is 
agreed after the reporting period. 
(MFRS 101.76(a))

N/A

Unconditional right to defer 
settlement of the liability for at 

least 12 months after the 
reporting period? 
(MFRS 101.69(d))

A right is NOT CREATED as at the 
end of the reporting period by 
agreement entered into AFTER the 
reporting period. Circumstances 
include:

A right is CREATED as at the end of 
the reporting period by agreement 
entered into BEFORE the reporting 
period. Circumstances include:

The liabilities are due to be settled
within 12 months after the reporting
date even if the original term was for
a period longer than 12 months and
an agreement to refinance, or to
reschedule payments, on a long-term 
basis is completed after the reporting
period and before the financial
statements are authorised for issue. 
(MFRS 101.72)

An agreement to refinance or roll over 
a liability is in place at the end of the
reporting period and the entity
expects and has discretion to
refinance or roll over the obligation for
at least 12 months after the reporting
period under an existing loan facility. 
(MFRS101.73)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
23. LOANS AND BORROWINGS (CONTINUED) 
 

Commentary (continued): 
 
 An entity shall consider the following factors in determining the classification of loans and 

borrowings (continued): 
 

- -

- -

- -

Classify the liability as 
CURRENT

Classify the liability as 
NON-CURRENT

The borrower breaches a provision of
a long-term arrangement on or before
the end of reporting period with the
effect that the liabilities becomes
repayable on demand, even if the
lender agrees after the reporting
period not to demand payment, as a
consequences of the breach.
(MFRS101.74)

The borrower breaches a provision of
a long-term arrangement on or before
the end of reporting period with the
effect that the liabilities becomes
repayable on demand, but, the lender 
agrees by the end of the reporting
period to provide a period of grace of
at least 12 months after the reporting
period within which the entity can
rectify the breach and during which
the lender cannot demand immediate
repayment.
(MFRS101.75)

A period of grace is granted after the 
reporting period. (MFRS101.76(c))

N/A

The breach is rectified after the 
reporting period. (MFRS101.76(b))

N/A

 
  
 If, during the period, there were breaches of loan agreement terms other than those described in 

Paragraph 18 of MFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures, an entity shall disclose the same 
information as required by Paragraph 18 if those breaches permitted the lender to demand 
accelerated repayment (unless the breaches were remedied, or the terms of the loan were 
renegotiated, on or before the end of the reporting period). 
 
Amongst others, those information are: 
(a) Details of any breaches of loan agreement terms during the period; 
(b) The carrying amount of the loan payables where the Company has breached the terms of the 

agreement at the end of the reporting period; and 
(c) Whether the breaches of loan agreement terms were renegotiated before the financial 

statements were authorised for issue. 
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119.120(c) 

 
119.139(a) 
 

 

 

 

 

 

119.147(a) 

 

 

 

119.140(a) 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
24. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 
 

31.12.2022 31.12.2021
RM’000 RM’000

Non-current:
Liabilities

Defined benefit pension plan 7,349        5,799        
Post-employment healthcare benefit plan 1,151        1,101        

8,500        6,900        

Note 2022 2021
RM’000 RM’000

Defined benefit pension plan (a) 2,475        2,329        
Post-employment healthcare benefit plan (b) 1,070        970           

3,545        3,299        
Remeasurement

Defined benefit pension plan (a)           (380)        (2,030)

Group

Group

Included in profit or loss (Note 34)

 
 
(a) Defined benefit pension plan 
 

The Group’s defined benefit pension plan requires contributions to be made to a separately 
administered fund. This plan provides benefits to members in the form of a guaranteed level 
of pension payable in perpetuity. The level of benefits provided depends on members’ length 
of service and their salary in the final years leading up to retirement. 
 
The funding requirements are based on the pension fund’s actuarial measurement framework 
set out in the funding policies of the plan. Employees are not required to contribute to the 
plans. 
 
The amounts recognised in the statements of financial position are as follows: 
 

31.12.2022 31.12.2021
RM’000 RM’000

Present value of funded obligations 15,349      14,599      
Fair value of plan assets (8,000)       (8,800)       

Net defined benefit liability 7,349        5,799        

Group
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119.141(a) 

119.141(b) 

 

 

 

 
119.141(c)(i) 

 

 
119.41(c)(ii) 

119.41(c)(iii) 

 

 
119.141(e) 

119.141(g) 

119.141(g) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
24. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (CONTINUED) 

 
(a) Defined benefit pension plan (continued) 
 

Movement in the net defined benefit liability 
 
The following table illustrates a reconciliation of the net defined benefit liability and its 
components: 
 

 Present 
value of 

obligation 

 Fair value 
of plan 
assets 

 Net 
defined 
benefit 
liability 

 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 

At 1 January 2021 (14,900)     9,300        (5,600)       
Included in profit or loss
Current service cost (1,900)       -               (1,900)       
Interest (expense)/income (894)          465           (429)          

(2,794)       465           (2,329)       
Included in other comprehensive income

-               930           930           
- Actuarial (loss)/gain arising from changes in:
   (a) Demographic assumptions (700)          -               (700)          
   (b) Financial assumptions 1,800        -               1,800        

1,100        930           2,030        
Others
Effects of changes in foreign exchange rates 50             50             100           
Benefit payments 651           (651)          -               
Payments on settlement 1,294        (1,294)       -               

At 31 December 2021 (14,599)     8,800        (5,799)       

Remeasurement gain of the net defined 
  benefit liability
- Return on plan assets, excluding amounts 
      included in interest (expense)/income
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119.141(a) 

119.141(b) 

 

 

 

 
119.141(c)(i) 

 

 
119.41(c)(ii) 

119.41(c)(iii) 

 

 
119.141(e) 

119.141(g) 

119.141(g) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
24. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (CONTINUED) 

 
(a) Defined benefit pension plan (continued) 
 

Movement in the net defined benefit liability (continued) 
 
The following table illustrates a reconciliation of the net defined benefit liability and its 
components (continued):  
 

 Present 
value of 

obligation 

 Fair value 
of plan 
assets 

 Net 
defined 
benefit 
liability 

 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 

At 31 December 2021 (continued) (14,599)     8,800        (5,799)       
Included in profit or loss
Current service cost (2,000)       -               (2,000)       
Interest (expense)/income (915)          440           (475)          

(2,915)       440           (2,475)       
Included in other comprehensive income

-               (120)          (120)          
- Actuarial gain/(loss) arising from changes in:
   (a) Demographic assumptions 1,000        -               1,000        
   (b) Financial assumptions (500)          -               (500)          

500           (120)          380           
Others
Effects of changes in foreign exchange rates (100)          30             (70)            
Contribution by employers -               615           615           
Benefit payments 1,765        (1,765)       -               

At 31 December 2022 (15,349)     8,000        (7,349)       

Remeasurement gain/(loss) of the net 
   defined benefit liability
- Return on plan assets, excluding amounts 
      included in interest (expense)/income
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119.142(b) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

119.142(c) 

 

 

 

 

119.142(a) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
119.139(b) 

119.146 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
24. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (CONTINUED) 

 
(a) Defined benefit pension plan (continued) 
 

Components of plan assets 
 
The plan assets comprise: 
 

31.12.2022 31.12.2021
RM’000 RM’000

Equity investments:
- Quoted equity investments in Singapore:
   (a) bank sector investments 700           600           
   (b) trading sector investments 800           600           
- Quoted equity investments in China:
   (a) telecommunication sector investments 500           680           
   (b) manufacturing sector investments 500           420           
- Equity investment funds 300           750           

2,800        3,050        
Debt investments:
- Quoted foreign government bonds 4,000        4,500        
- Structured debts 1,000        1,050        

5,000        5,550        

Cash and cash equivalents 200           200           

8,000        8,800        

Group

 
 
All equity and debts investments are quoted in active markets. All government bonds are 
issued by Malaysian government and are rated AAA or AA, based on Synergy's ratings. In 
general, the Group maintains a mix portfolio of 35-65 in equity and debt instruments 
respectively. 
 
The defined benefit plans expose the Group to actuarial risks, includes longevity risk, 
currency risk, interest rate risk and equity market risk. The Group does not use derivatives to 
manage its risk. The Group actively monitors how the duration and the expected yield of the 
investments are matched with the expected cash outflows. 
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119.141(a) 

119.141(b) 

119.141(g) 

119.141(e) 

 

 
119.141(a) 

119.141(b) 

119.141(g) 

119.141(e) 

 

 

 

119.144 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
24. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (CONTINUED) 

 
(b) Post-employment healthcare benefit plan 
 

The method of accounting and significant assumptions is similar to those used for defined 
benefit pension plan set out above with addition of actuarial assumptions relating to the long-
term increase in healthcare costs of 6% (31.12.2021: 5.8%). 
 
Movement in the defined benefit liability 
 
The following table illustrates a reconciliation of the net defined benefit liability and its 
components: 
 

 Defined 
benefit 

obligation 
 RM’000 

At 1 January 2021 400           
Current service cost 600           
Interest expense 370           
Benefit payments (349)          
Effects of changes in foreign exchange rates 80             
At 31 December 2021 1,101        
Current service cost 730           
Interest expense 340           
Benefit payments (920)          
Effects of changes in foreign exchange rates (100)          

At 31 December 2022 1,151         
 
Significant actuarial assumptions 
 
The significant actuarial assumptions applied in the measurement of defined benefit pension plan 
and post-employment healthcare benefit plan are as follows: 
 

China Singapore China Singapore
 %  %  %  % 

Discount rate 4.7 4.0 4.8 4.1
Future salary growth 5.0 5.0 4.5 4.5
Future increases in employee benefits 3.2 3.1 3.2 3.1
Future increases in healthcare costs 2.7 2.3 2.4 2.2

 31.12.2022  31.12.2021 

 
 
Assumptions on future mortality are determined based on the published past statistics and actual 
experience in each jurisdiction. The measurements assume an average life expectancy of 23 years 
for an employee retiring at age 60. 
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119.145(b) 

 

 

 

 
 

119.145(c) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
24. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (CONTINUED) 

 
Sensitivity analysis  
 
The sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to the significant actuarial assumptions at the end of 
reporting period are shown below: 

 Reasonably possible 
change in assumption 

Group % RM’000 RM’000
31.12.2022
Discount rate 1.0 (2,850)       2,940        
Future salary growth 1.0 1,320        (1,210)       
Future increases in employee benefits 1.0 3,300        (3,080)       
Future increases in healthcare costs 1.0 1,580        (1,370)       

31.12.2021
Discount rate 1.0 (2,650)       2,835        
Future salary growth 1.0 1,220        (1,091)       
Future increases in employee benefits 1.0 3,078        (2,880)       
Future increases in healthcare costs 1.0 1,465        (1,284)       

 Effect on defined 
benefit obligation 

 
 
The sensitivity analysis above has been determined based on a method that extrapolates the 
impact on defined benefit obligation as a result of reasonable changes in significant actuarial 
assumptions occurring at the end of reporting period.  
 

Commentary: 
 
 An entity shall disclose changes from the previous period in the methods and assumptions used in 

preparing the sensitivity analysis and the reason for such change. 
  

 
 
25. DEFERRED INCOME 

 

 31.12.2022  31.12.2021  31.12.2022  31.12.2021 
 Note  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 

Non-current 
Government grants:
At 1 January 10,500       11,600       1,800        1,500        
Received during the financial year (a) 9,000        6,900        3,700        2,300        
Initial difference from valuing 
   government loan at below-market 
   interest rates (b) 4,000        -                -                -                
Released to profit or loss (8,500)       (8,000)       (2,000)       (2,000)       

At 31 December 15,000       10,500       3,500        1,800        

Group Company
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137.84(a) 

137.84(b) 

137.84(c) 

137.84(d) 

137.84(e) 

 

137.84(a) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
25. DEFERRED INCOME (CONTINUED) 
 

(a) Government grants relates to assets 
 

Government grants have been received for the purchase of certain items of property, plant 
and equipment. There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies attached to these grants. 

 
(b) Government loan 
 

On 31 December 2022, the Group received an interest-free loan of RM12,000,000 from the 
Malaysian government to finance a research project on the refinery of oil palm over a period 
of 5 years. The loan is repayable in full at the end of the fifth year. Using the prevailing 
market interest rate of 5.4% for an equivalent loan, the fair value of the loan is estimated to 
be RM8,000,000 as disclosed in Note 23(c). The difference of RM4,000,000 from the net of 
the gross proceeds and the fair value of the loan is recognised as above. Interest expense of 
RM120,000 shall be recognised in financial year ending 31 December 2023.  

 
The deferred income is offset against the research costs when incurred. 

 
 
26. PROVISIONS 
 

 Warranties    

 Site 
restoration 

costs 
 Legal 
claims  Total 

Group RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000
At 1 January 2021 10,400       -                2,000        12,400       
Recognised in profit or loss 1,000        2,000        -                3,000        
Utilised during the financial year (975)          -                -                (975)          
Reversed during the financial year xxx xxx xxx xxx
Unwinding of discount 375           -                -                375           
At 31 December 2021 10,800       2,000        2,000        14,800       
Recognised in profit or loss 5,500        -                1,000        6,500        
Utilised during the financial year        (2,600) -                -                (2,600)       
Reversed during the financial year           (880) -                -                (880)          
Unwinding of discount 280           500           -                780           

At 31 December 2022 13,100       2,500        3,000        18,600       

31.12.2022
Non-current 8,600        2,500        -                11,100       
Current 4,500        -                3,000        7,500        

13,100       2,500        3,000        18,600       

31.12.2021
Non-current 9,300        2,000        -                11,300       
Current 1,500        -                2,000        3,500        

10,800       2,000        2,000        14,800        
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137.84(a) 

137.84(b) 

137.84(c) 

137.84(d) 

137.84(e) 

 
137.84(a) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
26. PROVISIONS (CONTINUED) 
 

 Site 
restoration 

costs 
 Legal 
claims  Total 

Company RM’000 RM’000 RM’000
At 1 January 2021 -                500           500           
Recognised in profit or loss 500           -                500           
Utilised during the financial year xxx xxx xxx
Reversed during the financial year (15)            -                (15)            
Unwinding of discount 15             -                15             
At 31 December 2021 500           500           1,000        
Recognised in profit or loss 2,500        -                2,500        
Utilised during the financial year (800)          -                (800)          
Reversed during the financial year (250)          -                (250)          
Unwinding of discount 50             -                50             

At 31 December 2022 2,000        500           2,500        

31.12.2022
Non-current 2,000        -                2,000        
Current -                500           500           

2,000        500           2,500        

31.12.2021
Non-current 500           -                500           
Current -                500           500           

500           500           1,000         
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137.85(b) 

 

 

 

 

 

137.85(a) 

137.85(b) 

101.125 

101.129 

 

 

 

 

 

 

137.85 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
26. PROVISIONS (CONTINUED) 
 

(a) Warranties 
 

The provision for warranties represents the present value of the directors’ best estimates of 
future economic obligation that will be required under the Group’s obligation for warranties on 
plastic mould sold during the last two financial years. The provision is recognised based on 
estimation made from historical warranty data associated with similar products.  
 

(b) Site restoration costs 
 
A provision of RM2,500,000 was made during the financial year ended 31 December 2022 in 
respect of the Company's obligation to dismantle and remove the items and restore the site 
on which the plant is located in China after the end of six tenure periods. The Company has 
estimated a range of reasonably possible outcomes of the total cost of RM3,250,000, 
reflecting different assumptions about the pricing of the individual components of cost. The 
provision has been calculated using a discount rate of 4.5%, which is the risk-free rate in the 
jurisdiction of the liability. 
 

(c) Legal claims 
 
The provisions relate to a legal action by a former employee on his retrenchment issue and 
legal claims brought against the Group by its customers of the manufacturing operating 
segment. In the directors' opinion, after taking appropriate legal advice, the outcome of these 
legal claims will not give rise to any significant loss beyond the amounts as provided in the 
financial statements. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
27. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 
 

Note  31.12.2022  31.12.2021  31.12.2022  31.12.2021 
 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 

Non-current:
Non-trade
Amount owing to ultimate holding company (c)         4,000         4,000         2,000         2,000 
Amount owing to subsidiaries (c)              -                -           1,000         1,000 
Amount owing to related companies (c)         2,000         2,000         1,000         1,000 

        6,000         6,000         4,000         4,000 

Current:
Trade
Trade payables (a)       69,090       64,253       11,298       27,544 
Retention sum (a)  xxx  xxx  xxx  xxx 

      69,090       64,253       11,298       27,544 

Non-trade
Other payables (b)         9,728         2,347         2,502         2,856 
Contingent consideration         5,262              -           1,000         1,000 
Accruals         8,550         6,400            500            500 
Amount owing to ultimate holding company (c)         3,000         2,300            500            500 
Amount owing to related companies (c)         4,500         6,400         1,000         1,000 
Amount owing to related parties (c)         2,370         4,500              -                -   

      33,410       21,947         5,502         5,856 
Total trade and other payables 
   (current)      102,500       86,200       16,800       33,400 
Total trade and other payables 
   (non-current and current)      108,500       92,200       20,800       37,400 

Group Company

 
 
(a) Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 60-day terms. The 

retention sum which is payable upon the expiry of defect liability period is expected to be 
settled as follows: 
 

 31.12.2022  31.12.2021  31.12.2022  31.12.2021 
 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 

Within one year xxx xxx xxx xxx
Later than one year xxx xxx xxx xxx

Total xxx xxx xxx xxx

Group Company
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15.114-115 

 

15.IE210 

15.B89 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
27. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (CONTINUED) 
 

(b) Other payables are non-interest bearing and have an average term of 6 months. 
(c) Amount owing to ultimate holding company, related companies and related parties are 

unsecured, non-interest bearing, repayable upon demand and is expected to be settled in 
cash. 

 
For explanations on the Group’s and the Company’s liquidity risk management processes, refer to 
Note 39(b)(ii). 

 
 
28. REVENUE  
 

 2022  2021  2022  2021 
 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 

Revenue from contract customers:
Sale of agricultural commodities      476,574      307,300              -                -   
Sale of goods      309,950      256,800              -                -   
Property development      557,760      333,480      102,300       98,600 
Construction contracts      428,918      272,555       40,300       51,900 
Concession arrangement *      104,000              -        104,000              -   

  1,877,202   1,170,135      246,600      150,500 

Revenue from other source:
Rental income from investment 
   property       29,098       20,865         3,900         3,500 

  1,906,300   1,191,000      250,500      154,000 

Group Company

 
 
*   These relate to construction revenue recognised in accordance with IC Interpretation 12 and 

MFRS 15 in respect of the construction of the convention centre and power plant pursuant to the 
concession arrangements as disclosed in Note 9(b). 

 
(a) Disaggregation of revenue  
 

The Group and the Company report the following major segments: plantation, construction 
services, service concession, property development and manufacturing in accordance with 
MFRS 8 Operating Segments. For the purpose of disclosure for disaggregation of revenue, it 
disaggregates revenue into primary geographical markets, major goods or services, timing of 
revenue recognition (i.e. goods transferred at a point in time or services transferred over 
time).  
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15.114 

15.115 

15.IE210 

15.B89 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
28. REVENUE (CONTINUED)  
 

(a) Disaggregation of revenue (continued)  
 

Construction Service Property
Company services concession development Total
2022 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000
Primary geographical market:
Asia           40,300       104,000         102,300  246,600 

Major goods or services:
Construction services           30,300       104,000                  -    134,300 
Engineering services           10,000                -                    -      10,000 
Office properties                  -                  -             42,300    42,300 
Residential units                  -                  -             60,000    60,000 

          40,300       104,000         102,300  246,600 

Timing of revenue recognition:
Over time           40,300       104,000         102,300  246,600  

 
Construction Property

services development Total
2021 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000
Primary geographical market:
Asia            51,900            98,600    150,500 

Major goods or services:
Construction services            21,900                   -        21,900 
Engineering services            30,000                   -        30,000 
Office properties                   -              48,600      48,600 
Residential units                   -              50,000      50,000 

           51,900            98,600    150,500 

Timing of revenue recognition:
Over time            51,900            98,600    150,500  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
28. REVENUE (CONTINUED)  
 

(b) Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations  
 

Group 2023 2024 2025 Total
At 31 December 2022 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000
Revenue expected to be 
   recognised on:
- Construction contracts 250,000     150,000     50,000       450,000     
- Property development contracts 300,000     200,000     60,000       560,000     

550,000     350,000     110,000     1,010,000  

Company 2023 2024 2025 Total
At 31 December 2022 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000
Revenue expected to be 
   recognised on:
- Construction contracts 30,000       20,000                     -   50,000       
- Property development contracts 150,000     60,000       20,000       230,000     

180,000     80,000       20,000       280,000      
 
The Group and the Company apply the practical expedient in paragraph 121(a) of MFRS 15 
and do not disclose information about remaining performance obligations that have original 
expected durations of one year or less.  

 
 
 
Commentary: 
 
 IC Interpretation 22 Foreign Currency Transaction and Advance Consideration clarified the date of 

the transaction for the purpose of determining exchange rate to be used on initial recognition of the 
related asset, expense or income (or part of it) on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset or 
non-monetary liability arising from the payment or receipt of advance consideration in a foreign 
currency. The exchange rate should be based on the rate at the date on which an entity initially 
recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the payment or receipt of 
advance consideration. 

  
 Examples of categories that might be appropriate include, but are not limited to, all of the following: 

(a) type of good or service (for example, major product lines);  
(b) geographical region (for example, country or region);  
(c) market or type of customer (for example, government and non-government customers);  
(d) type of contract (for example, fixed-price and time-and-materials contracts);  
(e) contract duration (for example, short-term and long-term contracts);  
(f) timing of transfer of goods or services (for example, revenue from goods or services transferred 

to customers at a point in time and revenue from goods or services transferred over time); and  
(g) sales channels (for example, goods sold directly to consumers and goods sold through 

intermediaries). 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
28. REVENUE (CONTINUED)  
 
Commentary (continued): 
 
 An entity shall disclose the following information about its remaining performance obligations: 

(a) the aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to the performance obligations that are 
unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied) as of the end of the reporting period; and 

(b) an explanation of when the entity expects to recognise as revenue the amount disclosed in 
accordance with paragraph 120(a), which the entity shall disclose in either of the following 
ways:  
(i) on a quantitative basis using the time bands that would be most appropriate for the 

duration of the remaining performance obligations; or 
(ii) by using qualitative information. 

 
Illustration of qualitative disclosure 
 
“As of 31 December 2022, the aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to the remaining 
performance obligation for property development contracts is RM6.8 million and the entity will 
recognise this revenue as the building is completed, which is expected to occur over the next 12–
18 months.” 

  
 Entity may apply the practical expedient for need not to disclose the information about the 

remaining obligations for a performance obligation that are unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied) if 
either of the following conditions is met:  
(a) the performance obligation is part of a contract that has an original expected duration of one 

year or less; or  
(b) the entity recognises revenue from the satisfaction of the performance obligation when the 

entity has a right to consideration from a customer in an amount that corresponds directly with 
the value to the customer of the entity’s performance completed to date. 

 
If an entity elects to use the practical expedient, it shall disclose the fact. 

  
 Entity shall disclose whether any consideration from contracts with customers is not included in the 

transaction price and, therefore, not included in the information disclosed for the remaining 
obligations of performance obligation that are unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied). 
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140.76(d) 

140.75(f)(i) 

141.40 

 

7.20(a)(i) 

7.20(a)(i) 

101.34(a) 

 
101.34(a) 

101.98(c) 

12.19(b) 

121.52(a) 

 

 

16.53(f) 

16.90(b) 

 

 

 

 
 

16.60A(b) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
29. COST OF SALES 

2022 2021 2022 2021
RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Cost of agricultural commodities sold 433,682    276,570    -              -              
Cost of manufactured goods sold 282,054    231,120    -              -              
Cost of sales of property development units 507,560    300,130    45,700      58,600      
Cost of construction services 390,314    248,000    21,460      43,100      
Service concession costs 94,640      -              94,640      -              
Direct operating expenses of 
   investment properties 26,480      16,080      1,200       1,200       

1,734,730 1,071,900 163,000    102,900    

Group Company

 
 
 
30. OTHER INCOME 

2022 2021 2022 2021
RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Dividend income from financial assets 
   at FVOCI 1,500        1,350        1,050        1,000        
Fair value gain on investment properties 4,000        3,000        2,000        2,100        
Rental income from investment property 3,600        2,200        -               -               
Fair value gain of produce growing 
   on bearer plants 68,600      -               -               -               
Net fair value gain on derivatives 800          -               -               600          
Net fair value gain on fair value hedge -               1,300        -               2,200        
Net fair value gain on disposal of 
   financial asset at FVOCI xxx xxx xxx xxx
Gain on disposal of property, plant 
   and equipment 300          200          500          300          
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary 400          -               -               -               
Net unrealised foreign exchange gain -               4,968        200          -               
Reversal of provisions 880          -               250          15            
Amortisation of government grant income 8,500        8,000        2,000        2,000        
Income from subleasing right-of-use assets xxx xxx xxx xxx
Income relating to variable lease payments 
   not included in the measurement of 
   finance lease receivables xxx xxx xxx xxx
Gain arising from sale and leaseback
   transactions xxx xxx xxx xxx
COVID-19-related rent concession income xxx xxx xxx xxx
Miscellaneous 520          432          2,950        1,785        

89,100      21,450      8,950        10,000      

Group Company
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7.20(b) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

7.20(b) 

 

 

 

 

 
16.53(b) 

137.84(e) 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
31. FINANCE INCOME 
 

2022 2021 2022 2021
RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Interest income on short-term deposits 480           220           100           100           
Interest income on finance lease 
   receivables 120           80             -               -               
Interest income on debt securities 
   measured at amortised cost 2,420        2,870        1,650        1,800        
Interest income on impaired 
   financial assets 80             80             -               -               

3,100        3,250        1,750        1,900        

Group Company

 
 
 

32. FINANCE COSTS 
 

2022 2021 2022 2021
RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Interest expense on:
- Term loans 9,206        9,154        3,016        2,034        
- Revolving credit 248           178           98             75             
- Convertible bonds 2,452        -               2,452        -               
- Medium-term notes 892           1,334        1,295        2,321        
- Redeemable preference shares 2,000        2,000        1,000        500           
- Lease liabilities 1,300        1,200        -               -               
Unwinding of discounts on:
- Contingent consideration 262           -               -               -               
- Provisions 780           375           50             15             

17,140      14,241      7,911        4,945        

Group Company
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101.104 

116.75(a) 

101.98(a) 

136.126(a) 

101.104 

138.118(d) 

136.126(a) 

 

16.53(c) 

16.53(d) 

 

16.53(e) 

 

 

16.53(i) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
16.53(c) 

 

16.53(d) 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

33. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 
 

Other than disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the following items have been 
charged/(credited) in arriving at profit before tax: 
 

Note 2022 2021 2022 2021
RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Auditors' remuneration:
- Malaysian operations
   - current year 250          240          110          100          
   - prior year 50            20            -               -               
- Overseas operations
   - current year 78            65            -               -               
- Non-statutory audit fees:
   - Malaysian operations 60            55            40            38            

Depreciation of property, plant and 
   equipment

5, 
19(b) 12,530     12,350     4,930        4,790        

Impairment loss on property, 
   plant and equipment 5 1,000       1,500       -               -               

Amortisation of intangible assets 9 7,900       4,950       6,000        2,000        
Impairment loss on intangible assets 9 500          3,000       -               -               

Expense relating to short-term lease xxx - xxx -
Expense relating to lease of 
   low value assets xxx - xxx -
Expense relating to variable lease
   payment not included in the 
   measurement of lease liabilities xxx - xxx -
Losses arising from 
   sale and leaseback transactions xxx - xxx -

Group Company

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Commentary: 
 
 To exclude expense relating to leases with lease term of one month or less.  
  
 To exclude expense relating to short-term lease of low-value assets which has been included in the 

disclosure for “expense relating to short-term lease”. 
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141.50(a) 

 

 

7.20(a)(i) 

7.20(a)(i) 

 
136.126(a) 

15.113(b) 

 

 

 

136.126(b) 

 

 

101.98(a) 

 

138.126 

 
121.52(a) 

121.52(a) 

 

 

 

 

 

101.104 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

33. PROFIT BEFORE TAX (CONTINUED) 
 

Other than disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the following items have been 
charged/(credited) in arriving at profit before tax (continued): 
 

Note 2022 2021 2022 2021
RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Fair value loss of produce growing on 
   bearer plants -               3,047        -               -               

Net fair value loss on derivatives -               1,850        100           -               
Net fair value loss on fair value hedge 800           -               3,900        -               

Impairment losses on financial 
   assets and contract assets:
- Impairment loss on trade and 
   other receivables 1,500        1,500        300           300           
- Impairment loss on contract assets 1,050        958           335           277           
- Reversal of impairment losses on 
   trade and other receivables

(100)          
-               -               -               

Inventories written down 200           240           20             25             

Research and development expenditure 1,000        500           -               -               

Net realised foreign exchange loss 6,200        6,500        -               -               
Net unrealised foreign exchange loss 5,838        -               -               500           

Provision for warranties 26 5,500        1,000        -               -               
Provision for site restoration costs 26 -               2,000        2,500        500           
Provision for legal claims 26 1,000        -               -               -               

Employee benefits expense 34 58,600      48,200      24,900      19,900      

Group Company
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101.104 

 

 

 

 

 

 

119.53 

 

2.51(a) 

 

 

 

 

 
5Sch(I)(2)(a) 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

34. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE 
 

Note 2022 2021 2022 2021
RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Wages and salaries 49,255      32,001      22,700      10,000      
Defined contribution plans 5,800        4,300        2,200        1,300        
Defined benefit plans 24 3,545        3,299        -               -               
Share-based payments -               8,600        -               8,600        

58,600      48,200      24,900      19,900      

Included in employee benefits 
   expenses are:
Directors of the Company
Executive directors
- Fees 2,000        2,000        600           600           
- Other emoluments 6,600        6,000        2,200        1,600        

8,600        8,000        2,800        2,200        
Non-executive directors
- Fees xxx xxx xxx xxx
- Other emoluments xxx xxx xxx xxx

xxx xxx xxx xxx

Directors of subsidiaries
Executive Directors
- Fees xxx xxx xxx xxx
- Other emoluments xxx xxx xxx xxx

xxx xxx xxx xxx

8,600        8,000        2,800        2,200        

Group Company
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112.79 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
112.80(a) 

112.80(b) 

 

 

 

 

 

112.80(c) 

112.80(d) 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

35. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 
 

The major components of income tax expense for the financial years ended 31 December 2022 
and 31 December 2021 are as follows: 
 

Note  2022  2021  2022  2021 
 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 

Statements of comprehensive 
   income
Continuing operations
Current income tax:
- Current income tax charge 42,070      22,335      11,050      5,310        
- Adjustment in respect of prior 
      years (570)          (1,335)       250           (110)          

41,500      21,000      11,300      5,200        

Deferred tax:
Origination of temporary differences 3,100        2,400        3,200        750           
Effect of changes in tax rate - (100)          - (50)            

3,100        2,300        3,200        700           

Income tax expense attributable 
   to continuing operations 44,600      23,300      14,500      5,900        
Income tax (benefit)/expense 
   attributable to discontinued 
   operation 19(b) (700)          500           -               -               
Income tax expense recognised 
   in profit or loss 43,900      23,800      14,500      5,900        

Group Company

 
 
Domestic income tax is calculated at the Malaysian statutory income tax rate of 24% of the 
estimated assessable profit for the financial year. 
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112.81(c) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
112.80(e) 

 

 

112.80(f) 

 

 

112.80(g) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

35. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED) 
 

The reconciliations from the tax amount at the statutory income tax rate to the Group’s and the 
Company’s tax expense are as follows: 
 

 2022  2021  2022  2021 
 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 

Profit before tax from continuing operations 178,500     93,200      58,200      27,200      
(Loss)/profit before tax from 
   discontinued operation (3,500)       1,700        - -

Accounting profit before tax 175,000     94,900      58,200      27,200      

Tax at Malaysian statutory income tax 
   rate of 24% 42,000      22,776      13,968      6,528        
Different tax rates in other countries (1,323)       140           - -
Share of results of associates (3,308)       (1,400)       - -
Share of results of joint ventures (150)          (675)          - -
Effect of changes in tax rate - (100)          - (50)            
Adjustments:

Income not subject to tax (12,200)     (9,600)       (418)          (1,328)       
Non-deductible expenses 18,251      13,994      700           860           
Deferred tax not recognised on tax 
   losses and temporary differences 1,200        - - -
Adjustment in respect of current 
   income tax of prior years (570)          (1,335)       250           (110)          
Utilisation of previously 
   unrecognised tax losses and 
   capital allowances xxx xxx xxx xxx
Deferred tax not recognised on 
   previously unrecognised tax 
   losses and temporary differences xxx xxx xxx xxx
Write-down of deferred tax asset / 
   (Reversal of a previously write-down 
   of deferred tax assets) xxx xxx xxx xxx
Adjustment in respect of deferred 
   tax of prior years xxx xxx xxx xxx

Income tax expense 43,900      23,800      14,500      5,900        

Group Company
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133.68 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

37. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE 
 

Basic earnings/(loss) per ordinary share 
 
Basic earnings/(loss) per share are based on the profit/(loss) for the financial year attributable to 
ordinary equity holders of the Company and the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding during the financial year, calculated as follows: 
 

2022 2021
RM’000 RM’000

Profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company:
- Continuing operations 121,000     60,700       
- Discontinued operation (2,800)       1,200        

118,200     61,900       

2022 2021
’000 ’000

250,000     200,000     

2022 2021
Sen Sen

- Continuing operations 48.4          30.4          
- Discontinued operation (1.1)           0.6            

47.3          31.0          

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for 
   basic earnings/(loss) per share

Basic earnings/(loss) per share attributable to ordinary equity 
   holders of the Company
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133.68 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

37. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE (CONTINUED) 
 

Diluted earnings per ordinary share 
 
Diluted earnings/(loss) per share are based on the profit/(loss) for the financial year attributable to 
ordinary equity holders of the Company (after adjusting for interest on the convertible bonds) and 
the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year plus the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares that would be issued on conversion of all the dilutive 
potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares, calculated as follows: 
 

2022 2021
RM’000 RM’000

Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company:
- Continuing operations 121,000     60,700       
Interest expense on convertible bonds 2,452        -                
Profit used to determine diluted earnings per share 123,452     60,700       
(Loss)/profit from discontinued operation (2,800)       1,200        

120,652     61,900       

2022 2021
’000 ’000

250,000     200,000     
Effect of dilution from:
- Convertible bonds 10,000       -                
- Share options 10,000       10,000       

270,000     210,000     

2022 2021
Sen Sen

- Continuing operations 45.7          28.9          
- Discontinued operation (1.0)           0.6            

44.7          29.5          

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic 
   earnings/(loss) per share

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for 
   diluted earnings/(loss) per share

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share attributable to ordinary 
   equity holders of the Company

 
 
There have been no transactions involving ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares since the 
reporting date and before the authorisation of these financial statements other than the issuance 
of 159,400 ordinary shares pursuant to the exercise of ESOS. 
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133.12 

133.66 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

37. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE (CONTINUED) 
 
Commentary: 
 
 An entity shall present in the statement of comprehensive income basic and diluted earnings per 

share for:  
(1) profit or loss from continuing operations attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the 

parent entity; and  
(2) profit or loss attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the parent entity for the period for 

each class of ordinary shares that has a different right to share in profit for the period.  
 
Accordingly, for the purpose of basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per ordinary share calculation, an 
entity shall adjust the profit or loss attributable to the parent entity for the after-tax amounts of 
preference dividends, differences arising on the settlement of preference shares, and other similar 
effects of preference shares classified as equity. 
 
Illustrative disclosure of reconciliation of profit or loss attributable to ordinary equity 
holders of the Company 
 

2022 2021
RM’000 RM’000

xxx xxx
Less: Dividends on non-redeemable preference shares (xxx) (xxx)
Less: Distribution to holders of perpetual securities (xxx) (xxx)
Profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary equity 
   holders of the Company xxx xxx

Profit/(loss) for the financial year attributable 
   to owners of the Company
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110.12 

110.13 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

38. DIVIDENDS 
 

2022 2021
RM’000 RM’000

Recognised during the financial year:
Dividends on ordinary shares:

10,000       -                

-                10,000       

10,000       -                

-                5,000        

20,000       15,000       

Company

- Single tier final dividend for the financial year ended 31 
      December 2021: 5.26 sen per ordinary share

- Single tier final dividend for the financial year ended 31 
      December 2020: 5.12 sen per ordinary share

- Single tier interim dividend for the financial year ended 
      31 December 2022: 3.45 sen per ordinary share

- Single tier interim dividend for the financial year ended 
      31 December 2021: 2.63 sen per ordinary share

 
 
At the forthcoming Annual General Meeting, a single tier final dividend of 5.17 sen (2021: 5.26 
sen) per ordinary share, amounting to RM15,000,000 (2021: RM10,000,000) in respect of the 
current financial year, based on the number of outstanding ordinary shares in issue (net of 
treasury shares) as at 31 December 2022, will be proposed for the shareholders’ approval. 
 
The financial statements for the current financial year do not reflect this proposed dividend. Such 
dividend, if approved by the shareholders, will be accounted for in equity as an appropriation of 
retained earnings in the financial year ending 31 December 2023. 
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7.6 

7.8 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 

(a) Categories of financial instruments 
 

The following table analyses the financial instruments in the statements of financial position 
by the classes of financial instruments to which they are assigned: 
(i) Fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”) 
(ii) Designated fair value through profit or loss (“DFVPL”) 
(iii) Amortised cost 
(iv) Fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) 
(v) Designated fair value through other comprehensive income (“DFVOCI”) 
 

 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 
At 31 December 2022
Financial assets
Group
Other investments      81,400         35,600          -    xxx  xxx   45,800                 -   
Trade and other receivables    143,700       143,700          -    xxx  xxx          -                   -   
Derivative f inancial assets        8,500                -       3,200  xxx  xxx          -              5,300 
Cash and short-term 
   deposits      38,500         38,500          -    xxx  xxx          -                   -   

   272,100       217,800     3,200  xxx  xxx   45,800            5,300 

Company
Other investments      53,300         27,800          -    xxx  xxx   25,500                 -   
Trade and other receivables      86,800         86,800          -    xxx  xxx          -                   -   
Derivative f inancial assets        4,200                -       1,500  xxx  xxx          -              2,700 
Cash and short-term 
   deposits      12,500         12,500          -    xxx  xxx          -                   -   

   156,800       127,100     1,500  xxx  xxx   25,500            2,700 

Financial liabilities
Group
Loans and borrow ings (274,400) (274,400)             -            -            -            -                   -   
Trade and other payables (108,500) (103,238)             -     (5,262)          -            -                   -   
Derivatives f inancial liabilities (2,500)                    -     (1,000)          -            -            -            (1,500)

  (385,400)     (377,638)   (1,000)   (5,262)          -            -            (1,500)

Company
Loans and borrow ings (168,800) (168,800)             -            -            -            -                   -   
Trade and other payables (20,800)   (19,800)               -   (1,000)           -            -                   -   
Derivatives f inancial liabilities (1,500)                    -            -            -            -            -            (1,500)

  (191,100)     (188,600)          -     (1,000)          -            -            (1,500)

Derivatives 
used for 
hedging

Carrying 
amount

Amortised 
cost FVPL DFVPL FVOCI DFVOCI
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9.2.1(b) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

(a) Categories of financial instruments (continued) 
 

 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 
At 31 December 2021
Financial assets
Group
Other investments      76,810         37,010          -    xxx  xxx   39,800                 -   
Trade and other receivables    111,190       111,190          -    xxx  xxx          -                   -   
Derivative f inancial assets        6,500                -       2,500  xxx  xxx          -              4,000 
Cash and short-term 
   deposits      18,500         18,500          -    xxx  xxx          -                   -   

   213,000       166,700     2,500  xxx  xxx   39,800            4,000 

Company
Other investments      19,800         14,500          -    xxx  xxx     5,300                 -   
Trade and other receivables      23,800         23,800          -    xxx  xxx          -                   -   
Derivative f inancial assets        5,000                -       1,600  xxx  xxx          -              3,400 
Cash and short-term 
   deposits        6,500           6,500          -    xxx  xxx          -                   -   

     55,100         44,800     1,600  xxx  xxx     5,300            3,400 

Financial liabilities
Group
Loans and borrow ings (195,500) (195,500)             -    xxx          -            -                   -   
Trade and other payables (92,200)   (92,200)               -    xxx          -            -                   -   
Derivatives f inancial liabilities (1,900)                    -     (1,100)  xxx          -            -               (800)

  (289,600)     (287,700)   (1,100)  xxx          -            -               (800)

Company
Loans and borrow ings     (84,700)       (84,700)          -            -            -            -                   -   
Trade and other payables     (37,400)       (36,400)          -     (1,000)          -            -                   -   
Derivatives f inancial liabilities          (500)                -            -            -            -            -               (500)

  (122,600)     (121,100)          -     (1,000)          -            -               (500)

Derivatives 
used for 
hedging

Carrying 
amount

Amortised 
cost FVPL DFVPL FVOCI DFVOCI

 
 
 
 
 

Commentary: 
 
 To exclude lease liabilities accounted under MFRS 16. 
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7.33(a) 

 

 

7.33(b) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

7.35K(a) 

 

 

 

7.35K(b) 

 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

(b) Financial risk management 
 

The Group’s and the Company’s activities are exposed to a variety of financial risks arising 
from their operations and the use of financial instruments. The key financial risks include 
credit risk, liquidity risk, foreign currency risk, interest rate risk and market price risk. The 
Group’s and the Company's overall financial risk management objective is to optimise value 
for their shareholders. The Group and the Company use derivative financial instruments, 
such as, foreign exchange contracts to hedge certain exposures. The Group and the 
Company do not trade in financial instruments. 
 
The Board of Directors reviews and agrees to policies and procedures for the management 
of these risks, which are executed by the Group’s senior management. The audit committee 
provides independent oversight to the effectiveness of the risk management process. 
 
(i) Credit risk 
 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group and the Company that may arise 
on outstanding financial instruments should a counterparty default on its obligations. 
The Group and the Company are exposed to credit risk from its operating activities 
(primarily trade receivables) and from its financing activities, including deposits with 
banks and financial institutions, foreign exchange transactions and other financial 
instruments. The Group and the Company have a credit policy in place and the 
exposure to credit risk is managed through the application of credit approvals, credit 
limits and monitoring procedures. Credit quality of a customer is assessed based on 
an extensive credit rating scorecard and individual credit limits are defined in 
accordance with this assessment. 
 
Trade receivables and contract assets 
 
As at the end of the reporting period, the maximum exposure to credit risk arising 
from trade receivables and contract assets is represented by the carrying amounts in 
the statements of financial position. 
 
The carrying amount of trade receivables and contract assets are not secured by any 
collateral or supported by any other credit enhancements. In determining the 
recoverability of these receivables, the Group and the Company consider any change 
in the credit quality of the receivables from the date the credit was initially granted up 
to the reporting date. The Group and the Company have adopted a policy of dealing 
with creditworthy counterparties as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss 
from defaults. 

225



   
 
 

 
 

 
Reference  

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

7.34(c) 

7.B8 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

(b) Financial risk management (continued) 
 
(i) Credit risk (continued) 
 

Trade receivables and contract assets (continued) 
 
Credit risk concentration profile 
The Group and the Company determine the credit risk concentration of its trade 
receivables and contract assets by industry sector profile on an ongoing basis. The 
credit risk concentration profile of the Group’s and the Company’s trade receivables 
and contract assets at the reporting date are as follows: 
 
Trade receivables: 

Group  RM'000 %  RM'000 %
Crude palm oil and palm kernel       42,900 44%       16,723 24%
Construction services       29,801 30%       23,455 33%
Property development       20,189 21%       24,189 34%
Plastic mould manufacturing         1,855 2%         1,938 3%
Others         3,455 3%         4,595 6%

      98,200 100%       70,900 100%

Company
Construction services       25,874 52%         6,352 42%
Property development       23,875 47%         8,284 55%
Others            251 1%            364 3%

      50,000 100%       15,000 100%

31.12.2022 31.12.2021

 
 
Contract assets: 

Group  RM'000 %  RM'000 %
Construction services       78,820 91%       72,357 92%
Property development         7,580 9%         6,043 8%

      86,400 100%       78,400 100%

Company
Construction services       10,102 75%         7,656 78%
Property development         3,298 25%         2,144 22%

      13,400 100%         9,800 100%

31.12.2022 31.12.2021
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7.35F(c) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

7.35M 

7.35N 

7.IG20D 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

(b) Financial risk management (continued) 
 
(i) Credit risk (continued) 
 

Trade receivables and contract assets (continued) 
 
The Group and the Company apply the simplified approach to provide for impairment 
losses prescribed by MFRS 9, which permits the use of the lifetime expected credit 
losses provision for all trade receivables and contract assets. To measure the 
impairment losses, trade receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk 
characteristics and the days past due. The impairment losses also incorporate 
forward looking information. Forward-looking information considered includes 
consideration of various external sources of actual and forecast economic 
information that relate to the Group’s and the Company’s core operations. 
 
The information about the credit risk exposure on the Group’s and Company’s trade 
receivables and contract assets using provision matrix are as follows: 
 

Group Current
> 30 days 
past due

> 60 days 
past due

> 90 days 
past due Total

At 31 December 2022
Expected credit loss rate  x-x%  x-x%  x-x%  x-x%  x-x%  x-x% 
Gross carrying amount 
   at default      87,450  xxx  xxx  xxx  xxx    106,400 
Impairment losses        1,050  xxx  xxx  xxx  xxx        1,500 

At 31 December 2021
Expected credit loss rate  x%  x%  x%  x%  x%  x% 
Gross carrying amount at 
   default      79,358  xxx  xxx  xxx  xxx      78,000 
Impairment losses           958  xxx  xxx  xxx  xxx        1,500 

Contract 
assets

Trade receivables

 
Company

At 31 December 2022
Expected credit loss rate  x-x%  x-x%  x-x%  x-x%  x-x%  x-x% 
Gross carrying amount 
   at default        13,735  xxx  xxx  xxx  xxx        51,500 
Impairment losses              335  xxx  xxx  xxx  xxx              300 

At 31 December 2021
Expected credit loss rate  x%  x%  x%  x%  x%  x% 

Gross carrying amount at 
   default        10,077  xxx  xxx  xxx  xxx        16,200 
Impairment losses              277  xxx  xxx  xxx  xxx              300 
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7.33(b) 

7.35K(a) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

7.35F(a) 

9.B5.5.5 

7.35G(a) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

(b) Financial risk management (continued) 
 
(i) Credit risk (continued) 
 

Trade receivables and contract assets (continued) 
 
For construction contracts, as there are only a few customers, the Group and the 
Company assessed the risk of loss of each customer individually based on their 
financial information, past trend of payments and external credit ratings, where 
applicable. 
 
The significant changes in the gross carrying amounts of trade receivables and 
contract assets contributed to the changes in the impairment loss allowance during 
the financial year 2022 is due to the growth of the Group’s business in Asian resulted 
in increase in trade receivables of RMXXX and increase in the Group’s impairment 
losses in the financial year 2022 of RM XXX. 

 
Other receivables and other financial assets 
 
For other receivables and other financial assets (including investment securities, 
cash and cash equivalents and derivatives), the Group and the Company minimise 
credit risk by dealing exclusively with high credit rating counterparties. At the 
reporting date, the Group’s and the Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk 
arising from other receivables and other financial assets is represented by the 
carrying amount of each class of financial assets recognised in the statements of 
financial position. 
 
The Group and the Company consider the probability of default upon initial 
recognition of asset and whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk 
on an ongoing basis throughout each reporting period. To assess whether there is a 
significant increase in credit risk, the Group and the Company compare the risk of a 
default occurring on the asset as at the reporting date with the risk of default as at the 
date of initial recognition. It considers available reasonable and supportive forward-
looking information. Especially the following indicators are incorporated: 
▪ internal credit rating 
▪ external credit rating (as far as available) 
▪ actual or expected significant adverse changes in business, financial or 

economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant change to the 
borrower's ability to meet its obligations 

▪ actual or expected significant changes in the operating results of the borrower 
▪ significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments of the same 

borrower 
▪ significant changes in the value of the collateral supporting the obligation or in 

the quality of third-party guarantees or credit enhancements  
▪ significant changes in the expected performance and behaviour of the borrower, 

including changes in the payment status of borrowers in the group and changes 
in the operating results of the borrower 
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7.35G(b) 

 

 

7.35F(a)(ii) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

7.35K(a) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

7.35K(a) 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

(b) Financial risk management (continued) 
 
(i) Credit risk (continued) 
 

Other receivables and other financial assets (continued) 
 
Macroeconomic information (such as market interest rates or growth rates) is 
incorporated as part of the internal rating model. 
 
Regardless of the analysis above, a significant increase in credit risk is presumed if a 
debtor is more than 30 days past due in making a contractual payment.  
 
Some intercompany loans between entities within the Group are repayable on 
demand. For loans that are repayable on demand, impairment losses are assessed 
based on the assumption that repayment of the loan is demanded at the reporting 
date. If the borrower does not have sufficient highly liquid resources when the loan is 
demanded, the Group and the Company will consider the expected manner of 
recovery and recovery period of the intercompany loan.  
 
As at the end of the reporting date, the Group and the Company consider the other 
receivables and other financial assets as low credit risk and any loss allowance 
would be negligible. Refer to Note 3.16(a) for the Group’s and the Company’s other 
accounting policies for impairment of financial assets. 
 
Finance lease receivables   
 
The credit risk associated with finance lease receivables is mitigated by way of 
obtaining security over the leased equipment. At the reporting date, the Group’s 
maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amounts recognised 
in the statements of financial position. 
 
As at the end of the reporting date, the Group and the Company consider the finance 
lease receivables as low credit and any loss allowance would be negligible. 
 
Financial guarantee contracts 
 
The Company is exposed to credit risk in relation to financial guarantees given to 
banks in respect of loans granted to certain subsidiaries. The Company monitors the 
results of the subsidiaries and their repayment on an on-going basis. The maximum 
exposure to credit risks amounts to RM83,535,000 (31.12.2021: RM88,300,000) 
representing the maximum amount the Company could pay if the guarantee is called 
on as disclosed in Note 39(b)(ii). As at the reporting date, there was no loss 
allowance for impairment as determined by the Company for the financial guarantee. 
 
The financial guarantees have not been recognised since the fair value on initial 
recognition was not material as the guarantee is provided as credit enhancement to 
subsidiaries’ secured borrowings. 
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7.35F(a)(ii) 

 

 

 

9.5.5.15(b) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

7.35F(b) 

7.35F(d)-(e) 

7.35G(a) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

(b) Financial risk management (continued) 
 
(i) Credit risk (continued) 

 
Commentary: 
 

An entity shall explain if the presumption in MFRS 9.5.11, that there have been significant 
increases in credit risk since initial recognition when financial assets are more than 30 days past 
due, has been rebutted. 
 
An entity has an accounting policy choice to measure the loss allowance using simplified or general 
approach. That accounting policy shall be applied to all lease receivables but may be applied 
separately to finance and operating lease receivables. 

 
Illustrative disclosure where there is impairment loss recognised for financial assets using 
general approach 
 
A summary of the assumptions underpinning the Company's expected credit loss model is as follows: 
 

Category Definition of category
Basis of recognition of 
expected credit loss provision

Performing Customers have a low risk of default and a
strong capacity to meet contractual cash
flow s

12 month expected loss. Where the expected
lifetime of an asset is less than 12 months,
expected losses are measured at its expected
lifetime.

Underperforming Loans for w hich there is a signif icant increase
in credit risk; as signif icant increase in credit
risk is presumed if interest and/or principal
repayments are 30 days past due (see above
in more detail)

Lifetime expected loss

Non-performing Interest and/or principal repayments are 60
days past due

Lifetime expected loss

Write-off Interest and/or principal repayments are 120
days past due and there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery.

Asset is w ritten off
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7.39(a) 

7.39(b) 

16.58 

 

 

 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

(b) Financial risk management (continued) 
 
(ii) Liquidity risk 

 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group or the Company will encounter difficulty in 
meeting financial obligations when they fall due. The Group's and the Company’s 
exposure to liquidity risk arise primarily from mismatches of the maturities between 
financial assets and liabilities. The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to liquidity 
risk arise principally from trade and other payables, loans and borrowings.  
 
The Group's and the Company’s objective is to maintain a balance between 
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of stand-by facilities. The Group 
and the Company maintain sufficient liquidity and available funds to meet daily cash 
needs, while maintaining controls and security over cash movements. The Group and 
the Company use a series of processes to obtain maximum benefits from its flow of 
funds, such that they are efficiently managed to maximise income from investment 
and minimise cost on borrowed funds. The Group’s and the Company’s treasury 
department also ensure that there are sufficient unutilised stand-by facilities, funding 
and liquid assets available to meet both short-term and long-term funding 
requirements. 
 
Maturity analysis 
The maturity analysis of the Group’s and the Company's financial liabilities by their 
relevant maturity at the reporting date based on contractual undiscounted repayment 
obligations are as follows: 
 
Group

Carrying 
amount

On demand 
or within 1 

year
Between 1 

and 5 years
More than 5 

years Total
At 31 December 2022 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000
Trade and other payables       108,500       102,500            6,000 -       108,500 
Redeemable preference shares          40,000            2,000 54,000 -          56,000 
Convertible bonds          71,900            6,500          26,000 126,000       158,500 
Lease liabilities          15,800            2,100 15,700 -          17,800 
Hire purchase payables  xxx  xxx  xxx  xxx  xxx 
Term loans       132,000          18,000 93,668 29,852       141,520 
Revolving credit            2,500            2,764                   -                     -              2,764 
Government loan            8,000            1,600            1,900            5,450            8,950 
Medium-term notes          20,000            4,000            8,450          11,500          23,950 
Derivative financial liabilities            2,500            2,500 - -            2,500 

      401,200 141,964 205,718       172,802       520,484 

--------------------------------- Contractual cash flows ---------------------------------
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7.39(a) 

7.39(b) 

16.58 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

(b) Financial risk management (continued) 
 
(ii) Liquidity risk (continued)  
 

Maturity analysis (continued) 
The maturity analysis of the Group’s and the Company's financial liabilities by their 
relevant maturity at the reporting date based on contractual undiscounted repayment 
obligations are as follows (continued): 
 
Group

Carrying 
amount

On demand 
or within 1 

year
Between 1 

and 5 years
More than 5 

years Total
At 31 December 2021 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000
Trade and other payables          92,200          86,200            6,000 -          92,200 
Redeemable preference shares          40,000            2,000 54,000 -          56,000 
Lease liabilities            8,700            1,050 8,550 -            9,600 
Hire purchase payables  xxx  xxx  xxx  xxx  xxx 
Term loans       125,700          15,000 73,076 27,564       115,640 
Revolving credit            2,000            2,287                   -                     -              2,287 
Medium-term notes          27,800            8,950          13,050          13,800          35,800 
Derivative financial liabilities            1,900            1,900 - -            1,900 

      298,300 117,387 154,676          41,364       313,427 

Company

Carrying 
amount

On demand 
or within 1 

year
Between 1 

and 5 years
More than 5 

years Total
At 31 December 2022 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000
Trade and other payables          20,800          16,800            4,000 -          20,800 
Redeemable preference shares          40,000            2,000 54,000 -          56,000 
Convertible bonds          71,900            6,500          26,000 126,000       158,500 
Term loans          48,465          12,000 25,500 17,500          55,000 
Revolving credit               435               562                   -                     -                 562 
Medium-term notes            8,000            1,830            2,500            4,930            9,260 
Derivative financial liabilities            1,500            1,500 - -            1,500 
Financial guarantee contracts                   -            83,535 - -          83,535 

      191,100 124,727 112,000       148,430       385,157 
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7.B11F(a) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

(b) Financial risk management (continued) 
 
(ii) Liquidity risk (continued)  
 

Maturity analysis (continued) 
The maturity analysis of the Group’s and the Company's financial liabilities by their 
relevant maturity at the reporting date based on contractual undiscounted repayment 
obligations are as follows (continued): 
 
Company

Carrying 
amount

On 
demand 

or w ithin 
1 year

Between 
1 and 5 

years
More than 

5 years Total
At 31 December 2021 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000
Trade and other payables       37,400       33,340         4,000 -       37,340 
Redeemable preference shares       40,000         2,000 54,000 -       56,000 
Term loans       37,400         9,000 22,800 5,200       37,000 
Revolving credit            300            413               -                 -              413 
Medium-term notes         7,000         2,000         2,650         3,700         8,350 
Derivative f inancial liabilities            500            500 - -            500 
Financial guarantee contracts               -         88,300 - -       88,300 

    122,600 135,553 83,450         8,900     227,903 

--------------------------- Contractual cash flows ---------------------------

 
 
 

Commentary: 
 

Illustrative disclosure when there are significant doubts about going concern but mitigating 
actions judged sufficient to make going concern appropriate and the entity determines no 
material uncertainties (Close call) 

 
As at [31 December XX], the Group’s current liabilities exceeding its current assets by RMXXXX, 
and the Group has RMXXX of borrowings. This includes committed bank facilities that are subject to 
financial covenants. [The Group is required to maintain a maximum debt-to-equity ratio of 0.5 to 
comply with a bank covenant. During the financial year, the Group has breached this covenant.] 
[Subsequent to financial year end, the Group successfully concluded a refinancing plan under which 
the Group received relaxation of covenants in its banking facilities.] 

 
Illustrative disclosure when the Group and the Company have committed borrowing facilities 
that can access to meet their liquidity needs 

 
As at [31 December XX], the Group and the Company have unutilised overdraft facilities of RMXXX 
and RMXXX respectively. The Group and the Company able to drawdown the available overdraft 
facilities to finance their capital expenditure, working capital and other funding requirements and 
there are no restrictions on the available credit facilities for such intended purposes.  

 
  

1 

1 

2 

2 
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Reference  

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

7.33(a) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

7.33(b) 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

(b) Financial risk management (continued) 
 
(iii) Foreign currency risk 
 

Foreign currency risk is the risk of fluctuation in fair value or future cash flows of a 
financial instrument as a result of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group’s 
and the Company’s exposure to the risk of changes in foreign exchange rates relates 
primarily to the Group’s and the Company’s operating activities (when sales, 
purchases and borrowings that are denominated in a foreign currency) and the 
Group’s net investments in foreign subsidiaries. 
 
Management has set up a policy that requires all companies within the Group and 
the Company to manage their treasury activities and exposures. The Group’s and the 
Company’s policy is to hedge all material foreign currency exposures arising from its 
transactions and balances using derivative instruments that have maturity periods 
that match the corresponding maturity periods of the hedged items. In addition, the 
Group and the Company also takes advantage of any natural effects of its foreign 
currencies revenues and expenses by maintaining current accounts in foreign 
currencies. 
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7.40(a) 

7.40(b) 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

(b) Financial risk management (continued) 
 
(iii) Foreign currency risk (continued) 
 

Sensitivity analysis for foreign currency risk 
The Group’s and the Company’s principal foreign currency exposure relates mainly to 
United States Dollar (“USD”) and Singapore Dollar (“SGD”). 
 
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in 
the USD and SGD, with all other variables held constant on the Group’s and the 
Company’s total equity and profit for the financial year. 
 

 Change in 
rate 

 Effect on 
profit 

for the 
financial 

year 
 Effect on 

equity 
% RM’000 RM’000

Group:
31 December 2022
- USD + 15% xxx xxx

- 15% xxx xxx

- SGD + 15% xxx xxx
- 15% xxx xxx

31 December 2021
- USD + 15% xxx xxx

- 15% xxx xxx

- SGD + 15% xxx xxx
- 15% xxx xxx

Company:
31 December 2022
- USD + 15% xxx xxx

- 15% xxx xxx

- SGD + 15% xxx xxx
- 15% xxx xxx

31 December 2021
- USD + 15% xxx xxx

- 15% xxx xxx

- SGD + 15% xxx xxx
- 15% xxx xxx  
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7.33(a) 

7.33(b) 

 

 

 

 

 

7.40(a) 

7.40(b) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

(b) Financial risk management (continued) 
 
(iv) Interest rate risk 
 

Interest rate risk is the risk of fluctuation in fair value or future cash flows of the 
Group’s and the Company’s financial instruments as a result of changes in market 
interest rates. The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to interest rate risk arises 
primarily from their long-term loans and borrowings with floating interest rates. The 
Group’s and the Company’s policy to manage their interest rate risk is to hedge all 
material floating rate borrowings using interest rate swaps. 
 
Sensitivity analysis for interest rate risk 
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in 
interest rates, with all other variables held constant on the Group’s and the Company’s 
total equity and profit for the financial year. 
 

 Change in 
basis 

points 

 Effect on 
profit 

for the 
financial 

year 
 Effect on 

equity 
RM’000 RM’000

Group:
31 December 2022 + 50 xxx xxx

- 50 xxx xxx

31 December 2021 + 50 xxx xxx
- 50 xxx xxx

Company:
31 December 2022 + 50 xxx xxx

- 50 xxx xxx

31 December 2021 + 50 xxx xxx
- 50 xxx xxx  
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7.33(a) 

7.33(b) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

7.40(a) 

7.40(b) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

(b) Financial risk management (continued) 
 
(v) Market price risk 
 

Market price risk is the risk of fluctuation in fair value or future cash flows of the 
Group’s financial instruments, agricultural produce stocks as a result of changes in 
market price (other than interest or exchange rates). 
 
The Group’s and the Company’s investments in quoted equity instruments are subject 
to market price risk. Such exposures are not hedged as the investments are mostly 
stable blue chip companies and government securities, where the risks accepted are 
commensurate with the expected returns. 
 
The Group’s agricultural produce stocks are subject to price risk. The Group’s strategy 
is to hedge forecast sales of expected production of crude palm oil and palm kernel in 
each quarter using the 3-month palm oil and palm kernel futures contracts. The Group 
does not anticipate that prices of other manufactured products will decline significantly 
in the foreseeable future and, therefore, has not entered into derivatives or other 
contracts to manage the risk of decline in prices of manufactured products.  
 
Sensitivity analysis for equity price risk 
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably change in the FTSE 
Bursa Malaysia KLCI (“FBM KLCI”), with all other variables held constant on the 
Group’s and the Company’s total equity and profit for the financial year. 
 

 Change in 
% of 

FBMKLCI 

 Effect on 
profit 

for the 
financial 

year 
 Effect on 

equity 
% RM’000 RM’000

Group:
31 December 2022 + 10% xxx xxx

- 10% xxx xxx

31 December 2021 + 10% xxx xxx
- 10% xxx xxx  
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7.40(b) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

7.40(a) 

7.40(b) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

(b) Financial risk management (continued) 
 
(v) Market price risk (continued) 
 

Sensitivity analysis for equity price risk (continued) 
 

 Change in 
% of 

FBMKLCI 

 Effect on 
profit 

for the 
financial 

year 
 Effect on 

equity 
% RM’000 RM’000

Company:
31 December 2022 + 10% xxx xxx

- 10% xxx xxx

31 December 2021 + 10% xxx xxx
- 10% xxx xxx  

 
Sensitivity analysis for commodity price risk 
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably change of prices of 
palm oil products, with all other variables held constant on the Group’s total equity and 
profit for the financial year. 
 

 Change in 
% of price 

 Effect on 
profit 

for the 
financial 

year 
 Effect on 

equity 
% RM’000 RM’000

Group:
31 December 2022 + 10% xxx xxx

- 10% xxx xxx

31 December 2021 + 10% xxx xxx
- 10% xxx xxx  
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7.21A 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

7.22B(a) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

7.22B(b) 

7.22B(c) 

7.22C 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

7.22B(c) 

7.23D 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

(c) Hedging activities 
 
The Group and the Company are exposed to certain risks relating to its ongoing business 
operations. The primary risks managed using derivative instruments are foreign currency risk 
and interest rate risk. 
 
The Group’s and the Company’s risk management strategy and how it is applied to manage 
risk are explained in Note 39(b). 
 
(i) Fair value hedge 
 

Foreign exchange forward contracts are designated as hedging instruments in fair 
value hedges of forecast sales and forecast purchases in USD. These forecast 
transactions are highly probable, and they comprise about xx% of the Group’s total 
expected sales in USD and about xx% of its total expected purchases in USD. The 
foreign exchange forward contract balances vary with the level of expected foreign 
currency sales and purchases and changes in foreign exchange forward rates. 
 
There is an economic relationship between the hedged items and the hedging 
instruments as the terms of the foreign exchange contracts match the terms of the 
expected highly probable forecast transactions (i.e. notional amount and expected 
payment rate). The Group has established a hedge ratio of 1:1 for the hedging 
relationships as the underlying risk of foreign exchange contracts are identical to the 
hedged risk components. To test the hedge effectiveness, the Group uses the 
hypothetical derivative method and compares the changes in the fair value of the 
hedging instruments against the changes in fair value of the hedged items attributable 
to the hedged risks. 
 
The hedged ineffectiveness can arise from: 
▪ Differences in the timing of the cash flows of the hedged items and hedging 

instruments. 
▪ Different indexes linked to the hedged risk of the hedged items and hedging 

instruments. 
▪ The counterparties’ credit risk differently impacting the fair value movements of 

the hedging instrument and hedged item. 
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7.23B 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

7.23B 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

7.23B 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

(c) Hedging activities (continued) 
 
(i) Fair value hedge (continued) 
 

(a) Fair value hedges of recognised trade receivables: 
 

2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

USD'000 USD'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Group
Forw ard USD 
  foreign currency:
“Sell” contracts:
- 3 months to 
      maturity 3.344 3.2200 5,000 4,000 16,722 12,880 400 100
- 6 months to 
      maturity 3.4800 3.2560 3,000 4,000 10,440 13,024 600 200

8,000 8,000 27,162 25,904 1,000 300

Company
Forw ard USD 
  foreign currency:
“Sell” contracts:
- 3 months to 
      maturity  xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx
- 6 months to 
      maturity  xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx

xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx

Average 
RM/USD rate

Foreign 
currency 
amount Contract value

Fair value loss 
in 

profit or loss

 
 

(b) Fair value hedges of recognised trade payables: 
 

2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

USD'000 USD'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Group
Forw ard USD 
  foreign currency:
“Buy” contracts:
- 3 months to 
      maturity  3.301  3.478 4,000 2,000 13,204 6,956     (200)     (100)

Average 
RM/USD rate

Foreign 
currency 
amount Contract value

Fair value gain 
in 

profit or loss
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7.24B 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

(c) Hedging activities (continued) 
 
(i) Fair value hedge (continued) 
 

(b) Fair value hedges of recognised trade payables (continued): 
 

2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

USD'000 USD'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Company
Forw ard USD 
  foreign currency:
“Buy” contracts:
- 3 months to 
      maturity  xxx  xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx  xxx  xxx 

Average 
RM/USD rate

Foreign 
currency 
amount Contract value

Fair value gain 
in 

profit or loss

 
 

During the financial year, the hedge was 100% effective in hedging the fair value 
exposure to changes in foreign exchange currency. As a result, the carrying amounts 
of trade receivables and payables were adjusted by RM1,000,000 (31.12.2021: 
RM300,000) and RM200,000 (31.12.2021: RM100,000) respectively. The adjustments 
were included in profit or loss simultaneously with the fair value loss of forward foreign 
exchange contracts. 
 
Hedge item in 
financial position

2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000
Group
Trade receivables     8,000 8,000     (1,300) (300)       (1,000) (300)              -            -   
Trade payables   (4,000) 2,000          300 100             200 100               -            -   

    4,000   10,000   (1,000)      (200)      (800)      (200)          -            -   

Company
Trade receivables  xxx  xxx  xxx  xxx  xxx  xxx  xxx  xxx 
Trade payables  xxx  xxx  xxx  xxx  xxx  xxx  xxx  xxx 

 xxx  xxx  xxx  xxx  xxx  xxx  xxx  xxx 

Carrying amount

Accumulated 
fair value 

adjustments
Change in fair 

value

Accumulated 
fair value of 

ceased items

 
 
No ineffectiveness recognised in profit or loss during the financial year. 
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7.22B(a) 

 

 

 

 

 

7.22B(b) 

7.22B(c) 

7.22C 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

7.22B(c) 

7.23D 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
7.23B 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

(c) Hedging activities (continued) 
 
(ii) Cash flow hedge 
 

Foreign exchange forward contracts are designated as hedging instruments in cash 
flows hedges of forecast sales in USD. These forecast transactions are highly 
probable, and they comprise about xx% of the Group’s total expected sales in USD. 
The foreign exchange forward contract balances vary with the level of expected 
foreign currency sales and changes in foreign exchange forward rates. 
 
There is an economic relationship between the hedged items and the hedging 
instruments as the terms of the foreign exchange contracts match the terms of the 
expected highly probable forecast transactions (i.e. notional amount and expected 
payment rate). The Group has established a hedge ratio of 1:1 for the hedging 
relationships as the underlying risk of foreign exchange contracts are identical to the 
hedged risk components. To test the hedge effectiveness, the Group uses the 
hypothetical derivative method and compares the changes in the fair value of the 
hedging instruments against the changes in fair value of the hedged items attributable 
to the hedged risks. 
 
The hedged ineffectiveness can arise from: 
▪ Differences in the timing of the cash flows of the hedged items and hedging 

instruments. 
▪ Different indexes linked to the hedged risk of the hedged items and hedging 

instruments. 
▪ The counterparties’ credit risk differently impacting the fair value movements of 

the hedging instrument and hedged item. 
 

2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

USD'000 USD'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Group
Forward USD 
  foreign currency:
“Sell” contracts:
- 6 months to 
      maturity 3.3150 3.2340 8,000 6,000 26,520 19,404 1,600     3,000     
- 9 months to 
      maturity 3.4510 3.2510 6,000 4,000 20,706 13,004 (3,800)    (1,300)    

14,000 10,000 47,226 32,408     (2,200) 1,700     

Average RM/USD 
rate

Foreign currency 
amount Contract value

Fair value loss/ 
(gain) in other 

comprehensive 
income
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7.24B(b) 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

(c) Hedging activities (continued) 
 
(ii) Cash flow hedge (continued) 
 

2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

USD'000 USD'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Company
Forward USD 
  foreign currency:
“Sell” contracts:
- 6 months to 
      maturity xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx
- 9 months to 
      maturity xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx

xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx

Average RM/USD 
rate

Foreign currency 
amount Contract value

Fair value loss/ 
(gain) in other 

comprehensive 
income

 
 
The hedged highly probable forecast transactions denominated in foreign currency are 
expected to occur at various dates during the next 12 months. Gains and losses 
recognised in the hedging reserve in equity on forward foreign exchange contracts as 
of 31 December 2022 are recognised in the profit or loss in the period or periods 
during which the hedged forecast transaction affects the profit or loss.   
 
The cash flow hedges of the expected future purchases in 2023 were assessed to be 
highly effective, and as at 31 December 2022, a net unrealised loss of RM2,200,000 
was included in other comprehensive income in respect of these contracts. 
Comparatively in prior financial year, the cash flow hedges of the expected future 
purchases in 2022 were also assessed to be highly effective and an unrealised profit 
of RM1,700,000 was included in other comprehensive income in respect of these 
contracts. 
 
The amounts removed from other comprehensive income during the financial year and 
included in the carrying amount of the hedging items as a basis adjustment for 2022 
are detailed in Note 36, totalling decrease of RM800,000 (2021: increase of 
RM400,000). The amounts retained in other comprehensive income at 31 December 
2022 are expected to mature and affect the statement of profit or loss in 2023. 
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13.93(c) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

(c) Hedging activities (continued) 
 
(ii) Cash flow hedge (continued) 

 

2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Group
Trade receivables  xxx  xxx  xxx  xxx  xxx  xxx 

Company
Trade receivables  xxx  xxx  xxx  xxx  xxx  xxx 

Change in fair 
value in the 

financial year

Balance in 
hedge reserve 
for continuing 

hedge

Balance in 
hedge reserve 
for continuing 

hedge

 
 
The effect of the cash flow hedge in the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income (“OCI”) is as follows: 
 

Group

Total 
hedging 

gain/(loss) 
recognised 

in OCI

Ineffectiveness 
recognised in 
profit or loss

Cost of 
hedging 

recognised 
in OCI

Amount 
reclassified 
from OCI to 

profit or loss

Line item in 
the statement 

of profit or 
loss

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000
31 December 2022
Highly probable 
   forecast sales  xxx  xxx  xxx  xxx  xxx 
Highly probable 
   forecast 
   purchases  xxx  xxx  xxx  xxx  xxx 

31 December 2021
Highly probable 
   forecast sales  xxx  xxx  xxx  xxx  xxx 
Highly probable 
   forecast 
   purchases  xxx  xxx  xxx  xxx  xxx  
 

(d) Fair value measurement 
 
The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, short-term receivables and payables 
and short-term borrowings reasonably approximate to their fair values due to the relatively 
short-term nature of these financial instruments. 
 
There have been no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during the financial year 
(31.12.2021: no transfer in either directions). 
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7.29 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

(d) Fair value measurement (continued) 
 
Level 2 fair value 
 
Fair value of financial instruments carried at fair value 
The fair value of interest rate swap contracts is calculated as the present value of the 
estimated future cash flows based on observable market based yield curves. 
 
The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is estimated by discounting the 
difference between the contractual forward price and the current forward price for the 
residual maturity of the contract. 
 
Fair value of financial instruments not carried at fair value 
The fair value of liability component of convertible bonds is calculated based on the present 
value of future principal and interest cash flows, discounted at the market interest rate of 
similar liabilities that do not have a conversion option. 
 
Level 3 fair value 
 
Fair value of financial instruments carried at fair value 
The fair value of unquoted equity investments has been estimated using a discounted cash 
flows model. The valuation requires management to make certain assumptions about the 
model inputs, including forecast cash flows, the discount rate, credit risk and volatility. The 
probabilities of the various estimates within the range can be reasonably assessed and are 
used in the management’s estimate of fair value for these unquoted equity investments. 
 
Fair value of financial instruments not carried at fair value 
The fair value of unquoted debt securities, amount owing by immediate holding company, 
amount owing by subsidiaries, amount owing by related companies, finance lease 
receivables, bank borrowings, government loan, medium-term notes, redeemable 
preference shares, finance lease liabilities, amount owing to ultimate holding company, 
amount owing to subsidiaries and amount owing to related companies are determined using 
the discounted cash flows method based on discount rates that reflects the issuer’s 
borrowing rate as at the end of the reporting period. 

 
 
 
 
Commentary: 
 
Disclosure of the fair values of financial instruments is not required: 
▪ When the carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of fair value (e.g.: short-term trade 

receivables and payables); or 
▪ For lease liabilities. 
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13.93(d) 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

(d) Fair value measurement (continued) 
 
Level 3 fair value (continued) 
 
The following table shows a reconciliation of fair value measurement of investment in 
unquoted equity securities classified as financial asset designated at fair value through 
other comprehensive income: 
 

Group
31.12.2022

RM’000

At 1 January 1,600        
Additions 100           
Disposal (xx)
Transfer into Level 3 xx
Transfer out of Level 3 (xx)
Gains and losses recognised in other comprehensive income xx
Exchange differences xx

At 31 December 1,700         
 
The following table shows the valuation techniques used in the determination of fair values 
within Level 3, as well as the significant unobservable inputs. 
 

Description   
Valuation 
technique   

Significant unobservable 
inputs   

Relationship of 
unobservable inputs to 
fair value 

       

Investment in 
unquoted 
equity 
securities 

 Discounted 
cash flows 

 Long-term growth rate for cash 
flows for subsequent years 
(31.12.2021: 3.5% - 4.5%) 

 Increase in the growth 
rate would result in an 
increase in fair value. 

    Long-term operating margin 
(31.12.2021: 5.0% - 10.0%) 
 

 Increase in margin would 
result in an increase in 
fair value. 
 

    Weighted average cost of 
capital ("WACC") (31.12.2021: 
11.0%-13.0%) 

 Increase in WACC would 
result in a decrease in 
fair value. 
 

    Discount for lack of 
marketability (31.12.2021: 5.0% 
- 12.0%) 

 Increase in the discount 
would result in a 
decrease in fair value. 
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13.93(g) 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

(d) Fair value measurement (continued) 
 
Level 3 fair value (continued) 
 
Valuation processes applied by the Group  
The Group’s and the Company’s finance department include a team that performs valuation 
analysis for unquoted equity securities required for financial reporting purposes, including 
Level 3 fair values. This team reports directly to the chief financial officer.  
 
The main level 3 inputs used by the Group and the Company are derived and evaluated as 
follows: 
a) Discount rates for financial assets are determined using a capital asset pricing model 

to calculate a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 
money and the risk specific to the asset. 

b) Risk adjustments specific to the counterparties (including assumptions about credit 
default rates) are derived from credit risk grading determined by the Group’s and the 
Company’s internal credit risk management group. 

c) Growth rate for unquoted equity securities are estimated based on market information 
for similar types of companies. 

 
Changes in Level 3 fair values are analysed by the team at the end of each reporting 
period. There has been no change to the valuation technique during the financial year. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Commentary: 
 
 Illustrative disclosure where the fair value of unquoted equity investment is determined by 

an external valuer 
 
The Group’s finance department includes a team that performs valuation analysis for unquoted 
equity securities required for financial reporting purposes, including Level 3 fair values. This team 
reports directly to the chief financial officer. 

 
The fair value of unquoted equity securities is determined by external independent valuation 
company, Messrs Advisory & Co., a member of XXX, with appropriate recognised professional 
qualifications and recent experience in valuation of unquoted financial instruments. The valuation 
company provides the fair value of the Group’s and the Company’s unquoted financial instruments 
every year end. Changes in Level 3 fair values are analysed by the team after obtaining the 
valuation report from the valuation company. There has been no change to the valuation technique 
during the financial year. 
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 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

(d) Fair value measurement (continued) 
 
Commentary (continued): 
 
Disclosure requirements under MFRS 13 (Paragraph 91-99) 
 
(a) Recurring :  Includes those that other MFRS require or permit in the statement of financial position 

at the end of each reporting period  
 
(b) Non-recurring :  Includes those that other MFRS require or permit in the statement of financial position 

in particular circumstances 
 
 :  Apply where assets and liabilities not measured at fair value but for which the fair value 

is disclosed [MFRS 13.97] 
 

Assets and liabilities measured at fair values Recurring FV 
measurement 

Non- recurring FV 
measurement 

Level 
1 

Level 
2 

Level 
3 

Level 
1 

Level 
2 

Level 
3 

1 Fair value at the end of the reporting period  
 

93 (a) ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 

2 Reasons for the measurement e.g.: MFRS 5 
 

93(a) X X X ✓ ✓ ✓ 

3 Level of fair value hierarchy  
 

93(b) ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 

4 The amounts of any transfers between Level 
1 and Level 2, the reasons for those transfer 
and the entity’s policy for determining when 
transfers between levels are deemed to have 
occurred. Transfer into each level shall be 
disclosed and discussed separately from 
transfers out of each level.  
 

93(c) ✓ ✓ ✓ X X X 

5  Description of valuation technique(s) and the 
inputs used in the fair value measurement. If 
there has been a change in valuation 
technique, disclose that change and 
reason(s) for making it.  
 

93(d) X ✓ ✓ X ✓ ✓ 

6 Quantitative information about the significant 
unobservable inputs used 
 

93(d) X X ✓ X X ✓ 
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 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

(d) Fair value measurement (continued) 
 
Commentary (continued): 
 
Disclosure requirements under MFRS 13 (Paragraph 91-99) (continued) 
 

Assets and liabilities measured at fair values Recurring FV 
measurement 

Non- recurring FV 
measurement 

Level 
1 

Level 
2 

Level 
3 

Level 1 Level 
2 

Level 
3 

7 A reconciliation from the opening balances 
to the closing balance, disclosing separately 
changes during the period attributable to the 
following: 
(i) total gains or losses recognised in P/L; 
(ii) total gains or losses recognised in OCI; 
(iii) purchases, sales, issues and 

settlements; 
(iv) the amounts of any transfers into or out 

of level 3, the reasons for those transfer 
and the entity’s policy for determining 
when transfers between levels are 
deemed to have occurred. Transfers 
into Level 3 shall be disclosed and 
discussed separately from transfers out 
of Level 3.   

 

93(e) X X ✓ X X X 

8 The amount of the total gains or losses for 
the period in (e)(i) included in profit or loss 
that is attributable to the change in 
unrealised gains or losses at the end of the 
reporting period and the line item in profit or 
loss 
  

93(f) X X ✓ X X X 

9 A description of the valuation processes 
used by the entity (including, for example, 
how an entity decides its valuation policies 
and procedures and analyses changes in fair 
value measurements from period to period).  
  

93(g) X X ✓ X X ✓ 

10 A narrative description of the sensitivity of 
the FV measurement to changes in 
unobservable inputs if a change in those 
inputs to a different amount might result in a 
significantly higher or lower fair value 
measurement.  
 

93(h)(i) X X ✓ X X X 

11 For financial assets and financial liabilities, 
to disclose the fact and effect if changing 
one or more of the unobservable inputs to 
reflect reasonably possible alternative 
assumptions would change fair value 
significantly.  
 

93(h)(ii) X X ✓ X X X 

12 Disclose the fact, if the highest and best use 
of a non-financial asset differs from its 
current use.  
 

93(i) ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 
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16.55 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

40. COMMITMENTS 
 

(a) Commitments 
 

The Group and the Company have made commitments for the following capital 
expenditures: 
 

 31.12.2022  31.12.2021  31.12.2022  31.12.2021 
 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 

- Investment properties          2,000          2,000          2,000             500 
- Intangible assets  xxx xxx xxx xxx
- Property, plant and equipment        15,000        10,000          3,500          1,500 
- Biological assets        25,000        12,000               -   -                

       42,000        24,000          5,500          2,000 

Group Company

 
 
The commitments relating to the Group's and the Company's interest in joint ventures are 
as follows: 
 

 31.12.2022  31.12.2021  31.12.2022  31.12.2021 
 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 

Commitment to fund development 
   costs of joint ventures 8,000         6,000         1,500         1,000         

Group Company

 
 

(b) Lease commitments - as lessee 
 

The Group and the Company have various lease contracts that have not yet commenced 
as at 31 December 2022. The future lease payments for these non-cancellable lease 
contracts are RMXXX within one year, RMXXX within five years and RMXXX thereafter. 
 
At 31 December 2022, the Group and the Company are committed to RMXXX and RMXXX 
for short-term leases respectively that are dissimilar to the portfolio of short-term leases 
expensed during the year.  
 
 
 
 

Commentary: 
 
 A lessee shall disclose the amount of its lease commitments for short-term leases accounted for 

applying paragraph 6 of MFRS 16 if the portfolio of short-term leases to which it is committed at the 
end of the reporting period is dissimilar to the portfolio of short-term leases to which the short-term 
lease expense disclosed applying MFRS 16 paragraph 53(c) relates. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

40. COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

(c) Operating lease commitments - as lessor 
 

The Group and the Company lease several of their investment properties which have 
remaining lease term between two to six years. Rental charges are revised every three 
years to reflect current market conditions. 
 
The maturity analysis of the Group’s and the Company's lease payments, showing the 
undiscounted lease payments to be received after the reporting date are as follows: 
 

 31.12.2022  31.12.2021  31.12.2022  31.12.2021 
 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 

- Not later than one year            500            400  xx  xx 
- One to two years            625            500  xx  xx 
- Two to three years            625            500  xx  xx 
- Three to four years            625            500  xx  xx 
- Four to five years            625            500  xx  xx 
- More than five years            500            400  xx  xx 

        3,500         2,800  xx  xx 

Group Company

 
 

41. CONTINGENCIES 
 

(a) Contingent liabilities 
 

 31.12.2022  31.12.2021  31.12.2022  31.12.2021 
 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 

Legal claims assessed as possible        10,000          5,000          2,000          2,000 
Share of joint ventures' 
   contingent liabilities:
- Restoration costs  xxx  xxx  xxx  xxx 

       10,000          5,000          2,000          2,000 

Group Company

 
 
A competitor has filed a lawsuit against a subsidiary of the Group for a possible 
infringement of a patented product. The subsidiary has filed a counter-claim against the 
plaintiff and the case hearing has been fixed on 28 May 2023 in the High Court. The 
directors are of the opinion that the information required to be disclosed in accordance with 
MFRS 137 is expected to prejudice the position of the Group, pending decision of the High 
Court and subject to appeal to Higher Courts. Accordingly, details of this lawsuit have not 
been disclosed. 
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124.9 

 

124.14 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

41. CONTINGENCIES (CONTINUED) 
 

(b) Contingent assets 
 

Certain land of the Group has been a subject of a Government compulsory land acquisition. 
The Group has disputed the adequacy of the amount of compensation received and filed a 
claim against the Government in the High Court for an additional compensation of 
RM10,000,000. Based on past judgements by the Courts on similar cases and the advice of 
legal experts, the directors are of the opinion that it is probable the claim for additional 
compensation will succeed. 
 

 
42. RELATED PARTIES 
 

(a) Identity of related parties 
 
Parties are considered to be related to the Group if the Group has the ability, directly or 
indirectly, to control the party or exercise significant influence over the party in making 
financial and operational decisions, or vice versa, or where the Group and the party are 
subject to common control. Related parties may be individuals or other entities. 
 
Related parties of the Group include: 
 
(i) Company's holding company; 
(ii) Entities having significant influence over the Group; 
(iii) Subsidiaries; 
(iv) Associates; 
(v) Joint ventures; 
(vi) Entities in which directors have substantial financial interests; and 
(vii) Key management personnel of the Group and the Company’s holding company, 

comprise persons (including directors) having the authority and responsibility for 
planning, directing and controlling the activities directly or indirectly. 
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124.18 

124.19 

124.21 

124.24 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

42. RELATED PARTIES (CONTINUED) 
 

(b) Significant related party transactions 
 
Significant related party transactions other than disclosed elsewhere in the financial 
statements are as follows: 
 

 2022  2021  2022  2021 
 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 

Sales of goods 
Company's holding company 2,000        1,000        600           500           
Entities having significant influence 
   over the Group 500           400           200           200           
Subsidiaries -                -                1,000        1,000        
Associates 2,000        3,000        1,500        2,000        
Joint ventures 3,000        2,000        1,000        1,000        
Key management personnel of the 
   Group and the Company's holding 
   company 500           500           400           400           
Entities in which directors have 
   substantial financial interests 500           400           500           400           

8,500        7,300        5,200        5,500        

Purchase of goods
Subsidiaries -                -                3,000        2,500        
Associates 1,000        1,000        500           500           
Joint ventures 500           500           400           400           

1,500        1,500        3,900        3,400        

Rental income
Subsidiaries -                -                1,000        1,000        
Associates 2,000        2,000        1,000        1,000        
Joint ventures 3,000        3,000        1,000        1,000        

5,000        5,000        3,000        3,000        

Group Company

 
 
Significant outstanding balances with related parties at the end of the reporting period are 
as disclosed in Note 14 and 27. 
 
The Company provides secured corporate guarantees to banks in respect of banking 
facilities granted to the subsidiaries as disclosed in Note 39(b)(i). 
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124.17 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

42. RELATED PARTIES (CONTINUED) 
 

(b) Significant related party transactions (continued) 
 
Significant related party transactions other than disclosed elsewhere in the financial 
statements are as follows (continued): 
 

 2022  2021  2022  2021 
 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 

Management fee
Subsidiaries -                -                3,000        2,500        

Sale of a property
An associate 5,000        4,000        -                -                

Transfer of a software system
Company's holding company * * * *

Group Company

 
 
* During the financial year ended 31 December 2022, the Group received a software 

system from its ultimate holding company, Flying Colours Holdings Sdn Bhd. The 
software system was transferred at nil consideration. The Group expects significant 
economic benefits to be derived from the use of this software system in the Group’s 
operations but the amount of the benefits could not be reasonably quantified for 
reporting purposes. 

 
(c) Compensation of key management personnel 

 

 2022  2021  2022  2021 
 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 

Short-term employee benefits 12,000       11,000       4,500        3,600        
Post-employment employee benefits 3,000        2,500        2,000        1,800        
Share-based payments -                3,000        -                1,000        

15,000       16,500       6,500        6,400        

Group Company

 
 

264



   
 
 

 
 

 
Reference  

  

  

 

 

 

 

101.134 

101.135 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

101.135(e) 

7.19 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

43. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 
 

The primary objective of the Group's and the Company’s capital management is to ensure that 
they maintain a strong credit rating and healthy capital ratio in order to support their business and 
maximise shareholder value. The Group and the Company manage their capital structure and 
make adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust the 
capital structure, the Group and the Company may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, 
return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the objectives, 
policies and processes during the financial years ended 31 December 2022 and 31 December 
2021. 
 
The Group and the Company monitor capital using debt to equity ratio. The debt to equity ratio is 
calculated as total debts divided by total equity. The Group's and the Company’s policy is to keep 
the debt to equity ratio between 30% and 60%. The debt to equity ratio at 31 December 2022 and 
31 December 2021 are as follows: 
 

31.12.2022 31.12.2021 31.12.2022 31.12.2021
Note  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 

Trade and other payables 27 108,500     92,200      20,800      37,400      

Loans and borrowings 23 290,200     204,200     168,800     84,700      

Total debts 398,700     296,400     189,600     122,100     

Total equity 881,800     535,200     512,100     264,000     

Debt to equity ratio 45% 55% 37% 46%

Group Company

 
 
A subsidiary of the Group is required to maintain a debt to equity ratio of 0.5 to comply with a 
bank covenant. The subsidiary has breached this covenant as disclosed in Note 23(a). 

 
 

44. SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR 
 

(a) During the financial year, the Company has entered into two material service concession 
arrangements, one is with the State Government of Penang in Malaysia to construct and 
operate the State Government convention center and the other is with the State 
Government of Shenzhen in China to build and operate a power plant to supply electricity 
to consumers in a designated area.  The Company is granted a right to intangible assets or 
a license to charge public customers for the use of the public infrastructure and the 
concession rights have been granted for a period of twenty five years. Further details are 
disclosed in Note 9(b). 

 
(b) On 31 March 2022, the Company acquired an 80% controlling interest in the equity shares 

of PT Halia Palm Oil for a total purchase consideration of RM80,000,000. Further details 
are disclosed in Note 10(a). 
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110.21 

 

 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

44. SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR (CONTINUED) 
 

(c) On 1 June 2022, the Company disposed its 70% equity investment in ABC Sdn Bhd for a 
total consideration of RM20,100,000. The Company classified its remaining 30% equity 
interest in ABC Sdn Bhd as associate given the Company has significant influence over the 
financial and operating policy decisions of ABC Sdn Bhd. Further details are disclosed in 
Note 10(b). 

 
(d) On 31 July 2022, the Company purchased an additional 10% equity interest (representing 

5,000,000 ordinary shares) in XYZ Sdn Bhd, a subsidiary of the Group at a price of RM2 
per share. Further details are disclosed in Note 10(c). 

 
(e) On 30 September 2022, the Board of Directors approved and announced a plan to sell a 

subsidiary, PT BLK Construction, which operates in Indonesia. The assets and liabilities 
related to PT BLK Construction (part of the construction business segment) have been 
presented as held for sale. The completion date for the transaction is expected by June 
2023. Further details are disclosed in Note 19(a). 

 
(f) On 31 December 2022, the Group received an interest-free loan of RM12,000,000 from the 

Malaysian government to finance a research project on the refinery of oil palm over a period 
of 5 years. The loan is repayable in full at the end of the fifth year. Further details are 
disclosed in Note 23(c). The difference between the gross proceeds and the fair value of 
the loan is recognised as deferred income as disclosed in Note 25. 
 

 
45. SIGNIFICANT EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR 
 

(a) Probable acquisition of a business 
 
On 26 February 2022, the Company entered into a negotiation for an arrangement to 
acquire a 75% equity interest of XYZ Ltd from its controlling shareholder, PQR Ltd. XYZ Ltd 
is in the business of commodity marketing and trading in international markets. The 
directors of the Company believe that the acquisition of a controlling stake in XYZ Ltd would 
create synergies and increase the Group's market shares in agricultural business. 
Negotiation with the controlling shareholder is at the advanced stage and the Company 
expects to complete the agreement by end of November 2023. The estimated financial 
effects of this probable acquisition are as follows: 
 

RM’000
Cash consideration 120,000    
Non-controlling interests at fair value 40,000      

160,000    
Fair value of identifiable net assets acquired (120,000)   

Goodwill arising on acquisition 40,000       
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8.16 

 

 

8.27(a) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
45. SIGNIFICANT EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR (CONTINUED) 

 
(b) Update of information about a lawsuit 

 
A lawsuit was disclosed as a contingent liability at the end of the financial year 2022. The 
Group has, after the end of the reporting period, commenced negotiation with the plaintiff to 
settle the dispute out of court. Negotiation is in the advanced stage and it is possible that 
the claims by the plaintiff will be settled out of court by the end of financial year 2023. The 
amount of the possible settlement is not disclosed because any such disclosure may 
prejudice seriously the position of the Group in the negotiation with the plaintiff or the 
pending court hearing. 
 

 
46. SEGMENT INFORMATION 
 

The Group prepared the following segment information in accordance with MFRS 8 Operating 
Segments based on the internal reports of the Group's strategic business units which are regularly 
reviewed by the Group's Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) for the purpose of making decisions 
about resource allocation and performance assessment.  
 
The five reportable operating segments are as follows: 
 
Segments   Products and services 
   

Plantation  Cultivation of oil palms, milling of fresh fruit bunches and production of 
crude palm oil and palm kernel. 
 

Construction services   Construction of commercial and industrial building and provision of 
mechanical and engineering services.  
 

Service concession   Construction and operation of public infrastructure. 
 

Property development   Development and sales of residential, commercial and/or industrial 
buildings. 
 

Manufacturing   Manufacturing and selling of plastic mould related products. 
 
Other non-reportable segments involved in business of fast-food operation and equipment leasing 
which are below the quantitative thresholds for determining reportable segments. 
 
Inter-segment pricing is determined on negotiated basis. 
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8.23 

8.27(b) 

 

 

 

 

 

8.23 

8.27(c) 

 

 

 

8.23 

8.27(d) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

46. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 
 

Factors used to identify reportable segments 
The oil palm business was developed internally whereas other businesses were acquired as 
individual units, and the management at the time of the acquisition was retained. The oil palm 
cultivation operating segment and the milling operating segment are aggregated into the 
reportable plantation operating segment due to the nature of the production process and they 
shared same methods of distribution and customers’ base. The performance of the two separate 
operations is evaluated internally as a single business unit.  
 
The service concession operating segment and the property development operating segment are 
organised and identified as separate reportable segments due to the regulatory environments in 
which the businesses operate.  
 
The construction operating segment and the engineering service operating segment are 
aggregated into the reportable construction segment due to similar construction technology and 
long-term profit margins. The two operating segments are evaluated internally as a single 
business unit. 
 
Segment profit 
Segment performance is used to measure performance as Group’s CEO believes that such 
information is the most relevant in evaluating the results of certain segments relative to other 
entities that operate within these industries. Performance is evaluated based on operating profit or 
loss which is measured differently from operating profit or loss in the consolidated financial 
statements.  
 
Segment assets 
The total of segment asset is measured based on all assets (excluding investment in associates 
and joint ventures) of a segment, as included in the internal reports that are reviewed by the 
Group's CEO. 
 
Segment liabilities 
Segment liabilities are not included in the internal reports that are reviewed by the Group's CEO, 
hence no disclosures are made on segment liabilities.  
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8.28(a) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

8.28(a) 

 

 

 

8.28(b) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
8.28(c) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

46. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 
 

Reconciliation of reportable segment revenue, profit or loss, assets, liabilities and other material 
items are as follows:  
 
A Revenue from external customers 
 

2022 2021
RM’000 RM’000

Non-reportable segments 59,098       40,865       
Discontinued operation (10,000)     (8,700)       

49,098       32,165        
 

B Inter-segment revenue 
 

Inter-segment revenues are eliminated on consolidation. 
 
C Reconciliation of profit or loss 

 
2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Non-reportable segments 19,270      300           
Share of results of associates and joint ventures 13,830      8,300        

(6,000)       (4,000)       
Unallocated amounts:
- Other corporate expenses (1,000)       (1,000)       

26,100      3,600        
Less: Income tax expense (2,900)       (820)          

23,200      2,780        

Elimination of inter-segment unrealised profits

 
 

D Reconciliation of assets 
 

2022 2021
RM’000 RM’000

Non-reportable segments       19,700         5,000 
Investments in associates and joint ventures       36,900       21,000 
Inter-segment assets  XXX  XXX 

     167,100      126,500  
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8.33(b) 

 

 

8.34 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

46. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 
 

Geographical information  
Revenue and non-current assets information based on the geographical location of customers are 
as follows:  
 

31 December 2022 Revenue
Non-current 

assets
RM’000 RM’000

Malaysia 1,262,854 663,366
United States of America 244,288 28,389
China 190,630 47,315
Singapore 114,378 56,778
Other countries 94,150 37,852

1,906,300 833,700

31 December 2021 Revenue
Non-current 

assets
RM’000 RM’000

Malaysia 759,435 367,902
United States of America 171,755 18,030
China 119,100 30,050
Singapore 71,460 36,060
Other countries 69,250 24,040

1,191,000 476,082  
 
Information about major customers  
For construction segment, revenue from one customer represented approximately 
RM200,000,000 (2021: RM130,000,000) for the Group's total revenue. 
 
 

Commentary: 
 
 If the Group operates predominantly in Malaysia, the illustrative disclosure is as follows: 

 
The Group operates predominantly in Malaysia and hence, no geographical segment is presented. 

  
 Non-current assets exclude financial instruments, deferred tax assets, post-employment benefit 

assets and rights arising under insurance contracts. 
  
 If revenues from transactions with a single external customer amount to 10% or more of an entity’s 

revenues, the entity shall disclose that fact, the total amount of revenues from each such customer, 
and the identity of the segment or segments reporting the revenues. 

  
 

1 

1 

2 

2 

3 

3 
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Reference 
S251(2)

 STATEMENT BY DIRECTORS
(Pursuant to Section 251(2) of the Companies Act 2016) 
 
 
 
We, HASHID ALIM BIN SAMAD and WONG KAH HIM, being two of the directors of FLYING 
COLOURS BERHAD, do hereby state that in the opinion of the directors, the accompanying financial 
statements set out on pages 13 to 272 are drawn up in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting 
Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 
2016 in Malaysia so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the 
Company as at 31 December 2022 and of their financial performance and cash flows for the financial 
year then ended. 
 
Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of the directors. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
……………………………………… 
HASHID ALIM BIN SAMAD  
Director 
 
 
 
 
……………………………………… 
WONG KAH HIM 
Director 
 
 
Petaling Jaya 
 
Date: (date) 
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Reference  

 

S251(1) STATUTORY DECLARATION 
(Pursuant to Section 251(1) of the Companies Act 2016) 
 
 
 
I, LEE KAR TEE, being the officer primarily responsible for the financial management of FLYING 
COLOURS BERHAD, do solemnly and sincerely declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, 
the accompanying financial statements set out on pages 13 to 272 are correct, and I make this solemn 
declaration conscientiously believing the same to be true, and by virtue of the provisions of the 
Statutory Declarations Act, 1960. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
........................................……………… 
LEE KAR TEE 
(MIA Membership No: 12345) 
 
 
Subscribed and solemnly declared by the abovenamed at Petaling Jaya in the State of Selangor Darul 
Ehsan on (date). 
 
 
 
Before me, 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
........................................………. 
Commissioner for Oaths 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF  
FLYING COLOURS BERHAD  
(Incorporated in Malaysia)  

Reference  

  

  

 

AAPG 1 
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the financial statements of Flying Colours Berhad, which comprise the statements of 
financial position as at 31 December 2022 of the Group and of the Company, and the statements of 
comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and statements of cash flows of the Group 
and of the Company for the financial year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including 
a summary of significant accounting policies, as set out on pages 13 to 273. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position 
of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2022, and of their financial performance and their 
cash flows for the financial year then ended in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting 
Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 
2016 in Malaysia. 
 
 
Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and 
International Standards on Auditing. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in 
the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We believe 
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 
 
Independence and Other Ethical Responsibilities 
 
We are independent of the Group and of the Company in accordance with the By-Laws (on 
Professional Ethics, Conduct and Practice) of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (“By-Laws”) and 
the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (“IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the By-Laws and the IESBA Code.  
 
 
Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern1 
 
We draw attention to Note X to the financial statements, which disclosed that the Group incurred a net 
loss of RMXXX during the financial year ended XXX and, as of that date, the Group’s current liabilities 
exceeded its current assets by RMXXX and recorded a capital deficiency of RMXXX, thereby indicating 
the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1 To be included when the use of going concern basis of accounting is appropriate but a material uncertainty 
exists. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF  
FLYING COLOURS BERHAD  
(Incorporated in Malaysia)  

Reference  

  

  

  
Key Audit Matters 
 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in 
our audit of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company for the current financial year. 
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements of the Group and 
of the Company as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 
opinion on these matters. [In addition to the matter described in the Material Uncertainty Related to 
Going Concern section, we have determined the matters below to be the key audit matters to be 
communicated in our report]  
 
Group 
[Description of each key audit matter in accordance with ISA 701.] 
 
Company 
[Description of each key audit matter in accordance with ISA 701.] 
 
 
Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditors’ Report Thereon 
 
The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information 
comprises the information included in the annual report, but does not include the financial statements 
of the Group and of the Company and our auditors’ report thereon. 
 
Our opinion on the financial statements of the Group and of the Company does not cover the other 
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  
 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, our 
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the financial statements of the Group and of the Company or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  
 
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. [or As 
described below, we have concluded that such a material misstatement of the other information exists.  
 
Description of material misstatement of the other information.] 
 
 
Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Statements  
 
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of financial statements of the Group 
and of the Company that give a true and fair view in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting 
Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 
2016 in Malaysia. The directors are also responsible for such internal control as the directors determine 
is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements of the Group and of the Company that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  
 
In preparing the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, the directors are responsible 
for assessing the Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or the Company or to cease operations, or have no 
realistic alternative but to do so.  
 
The directors of the Company are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF  
FLYING COLOURS BERHAD  
(Incorporated in Malaysia)  

Reference  

  

  

  
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements  
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements of the Group 
and of the Company as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and 
to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with approved standards on 
auditing in Malaysia and International Standards on Auditing will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of these financial statements.  
 
As part of an audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International 
Standards on Auditing, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:  
▪ identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements of the Group and 

of the Company, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

▪ obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Group’s and the Company’s internal control.  

▪ evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.  

▪ conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s or the Company’s ability to continue as a 
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in 
our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the Group or the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.  

▪ evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements of the Group and 
of the Company, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements of the Group and 
of the Company represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation.  

▪ obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the financial statements of the Group. 
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain 
solely responsible for our audit opinion. 
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We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit.  
 
We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions 
taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.  
 
From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company for the current 
financial year and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report 
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare 
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the 
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest 
benefits of such communication. 
 
 
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 
 
In accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia, we report that the 
subsidiaries of which we have not acted as auditors, are disclosed in Note 10 to the financial 
statements. 
 
 
Other Matters 
 
This report is made solely to the members of the Company, as a body, in accordance with Section 266 
of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility to 
any other person for the contents of this report. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Baker Tilly Monteiro Heng PLT  Cheah Pooi Lin 
201906000600 (LLP0019411-LCA) & AF 0117                    No. 03462/11/2023 J 
Chartered Accountants Chartered Accountant             
 
 
 
Kuala Lumpur 
 
Date: (date) 
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Kuala Lumpur Head Office
Baker Tilly Tower
Level 10 Tower 1 Avenue 5
Bangsar South City
59200 Kuala Lumpur

T: +603 2297 1000
F: +603 2282 9980

 
Penang
9-2, 9th Floor, Wisma Penang Garden
42, Jalan Sultan Ahmad Shah
10050 Penang
 
T: +604 227 9258
F: +604 227 5258
 

Johor Bahru
38-02, Jalan Sri Pelangi 4
Taman Pelangi
80400 Johor Bahru

T: +607 332 6925 / 332 6926 / 289 2925
F: +607 332 6988

Kota Kinabalu
1-3-1A, 3rd Floor
Block B, Kolam Centre Phase II
Jalan Lintas, Luyang
88300 Kota Kinabalu

T: +6088 233 791
F: +6088 249 691

 

Batu Pahat
33 Jalan Penjaja 3
Ground Floor
Kim’s Park Business Centre
83000 Batu Pahat

T: +607 431 5403
F: +607 431 4840

 
Seremban
Level 2, Wisma Sim Du
37 Jalan Dato’ Bandar Tunggal
70000 Seremban
 
T: +606 762 2518 / 763 8936
F: +606 763 6950

Labuan
1st Floor, U0509
Lazenda Commercial Centre
Phase 11, Jalan Tun Mustapha
87000 Labuan

T: +608 744 0800

Phnom Penh (Cambodia)
No. 87 Street 294
Sangkat Boueng Keng Kang I
Khan Chamkarmon
Phnom Penh, Cambodia

T: +855 23 987 100
F: +855 23 987 388

www.bakertilly.my


	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	



